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			Praise for I Am on the Hit List

			“If you want to understand the grave threat to democracy in present-day India, and South India in particular, you could do no better than to read Rollo Romig’s gripping book of reportage. It’s a murder mystery, travelogue, and deeply felt homage to Romig’s adopted country. Reading it will inform and outrage you. (It will also make you crave a dosa.)”

			—Suketu Mehta, author of Maximum City

			“Rollo Romig expertly crafts this tale of an awful murder and its ramifications while bringing alive the dark underbelly of India’s Silicon City, Bangalore. You may never have heard of Gauri Lankesh, but her assassination has serious ramifications for everyone everywhere who fears escalating political violence.”

			—Paul French, author of Midnight in Peking

			“Rollo Romig is a powerful storyteller. In I Am on the Hit List, he charts India’s strident march toward autocracy by telling the remarkable story of Gauri Lankesh—her life, death, and the ideas that made her dangerous. Romig writes with lyricism and empathy, fear and hope in equal measure, telling stories within stories that meander across three southern states.”

			—Suchitra Vijayan, author of Midnight’s Borders

			“Romig’s fascinating book carries the beguiling title of a Bollywood potboiler, but I Am on the Hit List is much more than that. It is a gripping, multifaceted inquiry into the nature of India itself—an exploration of its mythologies, its faiths, and of the battle currently being lost by secularists in the face of rising Hindu nationalism in the era of Narendra Modi. Along the way, readers meet a cast of characters that include bluntly spoken journalists, philosophical mobsters, and mystical preachers of violence. What emerges is a portrait of an India caught in the grip of rapid change and a scarily uncertain future.”

			—Jon Lee Anderson, author of Che Guevara
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			Born and raised in Detroit, Rollo Romig is a journalist, essayist, and critic. He has been reporting on South India since 2013, most often for The New York Times Magazine.
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			INTRODUCTION

			THE INESCAPABLE FACT OF Bangalore is its traffic. Its once sleepy streets are now choked, a congestion that calcifies as the day wanes. Stuttering yellow autorickshaws, all of them occupied. Infinite white Ubers, none of them the one you’re waiting for. Dripping water tankers. Overloaded two-wheelers. Sometimes, like an apparition from the lost past, the rare bullock cart, trapped in exhaust fumes from the thousand idling engines surrounding it. Old-timers will reminisce about how legendarily navigable Bangalore’s streets once were; new transplants will grouse that the traffic is the only major blemish fouling Bangalore’s reputation as India’s most livable city. Like the rent in New York and the rain in London, the topic of traffic dominates Bangalore small talk, clogging the spaces between worthier subjects just as the traffic itself clogs the spaces between where you are and where you want to be.

			Some find ways to adapt to it. The Bangalore-based fiction writer Vasudhendra dedicated one of his books to the city’s traffic, because he wrote his stories during traffic jams on his commute to his tech job (which the books’ success allowed him to quit). No one can evade it. Even Gauri Lankesh, who made a career of mocking tradition, of scoffing at convention, of impishly living as she wished, spent the last thirty minutes of her life in the most ordinary Bangalore way: in traffic.

			She described herself as an “activist-journalist,” and she worked as the editor of a weekly newspaper that bore her name: Gauri Lankesh Patrike, the word “patrike” meaning simply “newspaper” in Kannada, the primary mother tongue of the state of Karnataka, whose capital is Bangalore (known officially as Bengaluru). Gauri Lankesh Patrike went to press on Wednesdays, and on Tuesday nights she usually would have been late at the office, finalizing the articles. But on Tuesday, September 5, 2017, she drove home early, around 7:30 p.m. She and her younger sister, Kavitha, had gotten hooked on the American tearjerker This Is Us, but Gauri’s TV was on the fritz, and she had an evening appointment with the cable guy to fix it.

			She got in her car—a white Etios Liva, the cheapest hatchback Toyota sells in India—and drove alone through Basavanagudi, the neighborhood where she worked for the last seventeen years of her life and where she’d grown up as a child. At the time of her death she was fifty-five and a half years old, five feet and a half inch tall—she always insisted on the half inch, her ex-husband said—and some friends thought she’d become alarmingly thin, probably due to her heavy smoking and her tendency to skip meals, so busy she was with her newspaper and with her activism and with fighting the court cases that had been filed against her all over Karnataka.

			The first streets she drove through were full of young women. Her office was near the BMS College for Women, and at that hour its students would have been ducking in and out of the many little sweets and snacks shops that cater to the college crowd. Half of her route home took her down 50 Feet Road, a commercial artery that supplies all the raw materials the city needs to keep expanding itself: pipes, plywood, fixtures, glass, steel. The face of Rajkumar, Bangalore’s greatest and most deeply mourned movie star, smiled from the signboards of everything from music shops to hardware stores.

			On Mysore Road, which repeatedly crosses the twisting Vrishabhavathi River, the traffic finally eased, granting her one last stretch of open road. As she accelerated, her neighborhood’s newest “ultraluxury” high-rise slid into view: the Birla Apple Spire, twenty-five glimmering stories topped with a helicopter pad. It would open for occupancy nine months after she died. Nearing home, she passed the elaborate pink-and-gold RR Nagar arch, built some twenty years ago in pseudo-seventeenth-century style, and the Gopalan Arcade shopping mall, whose facade is tricked out to simulate a Nawabi palace.

			There are five million two-wheelers—motorcycles and scooters—on the streets of Bangalore, more than in nearly any other city in the world. So it’s unlikely she would have paid any mind to the motorcycle with two riders that started following her near Netaji Memorial Park, around the corner from her house.

			Her friends smile even now when they recall the crowded parties she threw in that house—a small, simple, single-story, white-and-red building, angular in a modernist sort of way. On party nights it would fill with conversation and cigarette smoke until nearly morning. But she lived alone, and on most nights her street was an unusually quiet and dimly lit pocket of this megacity of twelve million. The plots on both sides of hers were vacant and overgrown. She and the motorcycle with two riders passed a wall that read, in Kannada, “Thank you for your cooperation in keeping this place tidy.” Her house was tidy, too: never any clutter indoors, and a well-kept garden in front. Two weeks earlier, Gauri’s mother had gotten the bushy plants in Gauri’s front yard removed, afraid they might hide snakes. Gauri had planned to plant vegetables in the newly empty plots.

			Gauri had made one other concession to her family’s concerns for her safety. Half a year earlier, she’d installed several closed-circuit infrared TV cameras on the premises—cameras that captured some, but not all, of what happened next.

			Just after 8:00 p.m. she parked her car in front of her house at an indifferent angle, then jumped out to open the gate. The moment she got it open, the motorcycle’s passenger rushed up and shot her with a small semiautomatic pistol. Two bullets hit her in the abdomen, one passing through her liver. She turned to run, and the third shot missed her and struck a wall. A fourth bullet hit her in the back, passing through a lung and grazing her heart before exiting through the left cup of her bra. She collapsed on her front step. Blood spread across her pale blue kurta. Her flip-flop sandals were still on her feet.

			News of her assassination spread immediately. Over the next few hours, hundreds of Bangaloreans crowded around her house. First neighbors. Then policemen, and journalists, and the state’s home minister, and dozens of shocked friends and colleagues crowded under the kanuga tree in front of her house.

			“There was so little security,” Gauri’s friend Chandan Gowda told me months later as he showed me the spot where she fell. “Everybody was here. There was a semblance of a cordon, some tape, but people were just getting in underneath it. This is the evidence area. Nobody should be here. But there were dozens of people. You would not believe this was the scene of a murder.” As the police found the four bullet cartridges, he said, they showed them off to bystanders before placing them in an evidence envelope. Bangalore’s police commissioner, T. Suneel Kumar, blamed the press for the chaos, saying that they should have cleared the crime scene while the forensic team did its work.

			Among the crowd was Malavika Avinash, a popular actress who lived nearby and who’d known Gauri since childhood. In recent years they’d become ideological opposites. Gauri’s paper was unabashedly left wing and scathing in its criticism of India’s ruling party, the BJP; Avinash had become a BJP spokesperson. “There was that churning in my stomach when I heard of it—and when we actually saw her lying there, bullet-ridden,” Avinash told a TV journalist. “What a way for a friend to have died. I felt the churn further in my stomach when some of her friends arrived…and when her body was being lifted and taken away from that compound, a lot of faces that were there were looking at me and saying…you killed her, you rightists, you killed her. That instant reaction of politicizing the whole thing.”

			The crowd thinned only after midnight, when heavy rain began to fall.

			

			•   •   •

			THIS IS HOW AN ordinary day becomes a holy day. To everyone who loved her, and even to many who’d never heard of her until she died by gunfire, September 5 became a day to commemorate, a day used to mark time.

			The next day, protests arose nationwide, large and small. In Delhi, Mumbai, Chennai, Hyderabad, Chandigarh, Lucknow, Thiruvananthapuram, and many other Indian cities, crowds gathered to hold vigils and protests, bearing large banners with Gauri’s face, which they’d gotten printed with impressive speed. In Talaguppa, a tiny place two hundred miles from Bangalore, a woman named Poornima stood alone for an hour in the village market square holding a placard that read I Too Am Gauri, then walked ten miles to the nearest town and held up her sign for an hour there, too. Gauri’s murder seemed to capture the outrage of countless Indians in a way that few crimes ever did. On the steps of Bangalore Town Hall, where Gauri herself had sat for so many protests, hundreds sat to protest her murder, the fresh ink on their signs bleeding in the continuing rain. At Ravindra Kalakshetra, a cultural center in the heart of Bangalore, Gauri Lankesh, her body wrapped tight in white cloth and her nostrils stuffed with cotton, was displayed in a transparent refrigerated casket garlanded with carnations. (Forty-five years earlier, Ravindra Kalakshetra staged two plays written by Gauri’s father; in one of them, an adaptation of Oedipus Rex, ten-year-old Gauri had a walk-on role.) Ten thousand people, watched over by five hundred police officers, waited under a sea of umbrellas for a chance to see her.

			Just before 5:00 p.m., at the Lingayat cemetery in Chamarajpet, Gauri’s body was lowered into a grave. She was given a state funeral, but she would have hated it if the ceremony had included any religious rituals, so there were none. A pen and a copy of the latest issue of her newspaper were buried with her. “Look, the seed that’s sown here has sprouted all over the world,” her tombstone reads.

			On September 12, one week after the murder, some twenty thousand people thronged the streets of Bangalore for a rally in her honor. Her friends and family marveled not only at the number of protesters but at their variety: writers, students, activists, Dalits, Adivasis, transgender women, autorickshaw drivers, landless farmers, sex workers, Muslims, Christians. “It was huge,” said the journalist Ammu Joseph. “The procession just never seemed to end. She had obviously connected, at some very deep level, people who you wouldn’t have imagined.” The scale of the reaction was so unexpected that it was almost baffling. Her father, P. Lankesh, who died in 2000, had been a legendary literary figure in Kannada, and her newspaper was an offshoot of a profoundly popular and influential tabloid—called simply Lankesh Patrike—that he had founded, edited, and wrote for prolifically. But it was conceded even among those who admired her most that she’d never rivaled her father as a writer, and her paper certainly was far less influential than his. Even at its peak, the circulation of Gauri Lankesh Patrike never exceeded four digits.

			At the time of her death, the paper was far from its peak. Money had always been tight, due in large part to her refusal to allow advertisements in the newspaper, which she felt was necessary to shield it from the corruption and outside pressure that often compromise the Indian press. Its cover price was a pittance: 15 rupees, or around 20 cents, to keep it affordable. Just before her death, the paper’s financial situation had become so dire that she had decided to run ads for the first time, in a forthcoming special holiday issue. That’s what her final conversation was about: just before leaving the office on September 5, she’d asked Satish, the paper’s IT manager, to start soliciting the ads the next day. Newspapers were folding all over India, and her colleagues knew it was likely that Gauri Lankesh Patrike would end soon, too.

			Why would she have been a target for assassination? How had she known and moved and unified so many different kinds of people? The full scope of her life seemed to have eluded even those who knew her best.

			

			•   •   •

			I’D BEEN IN BANGALORE just a few weeks before Gauri’s murder, the latest of several recent monthlong visits I’d made to the city, in part because my family and I had grown so fond of the place that we were trying to decide if we should move there. There were plenty of things to like about Bangalore: its mild climate, its easygoing attitude, its endless variety of excellent food. But what loomed largest in my imagination was its bookstores. There’s nothing I enjoy more than to kill an afternoon hunting through the shelves of an overstuffed bookstore—preferably a used-book store with a haphazard or eccentric approach to organization—and Church Street, in the very nucleus of Bangalore, is the greatest booksellers’ row I’ve ever had the pleasure of browsing. There are so many books in the bookstores of Church Street, arranged with precisely the right degree of imprecision to maximize the book buyer’s sense of discovery, that even if you systematically worked your way through every bookstore in the neighborhood and scanned every shelf, by the time you circled back to the shop where you began, many days later, its stock would be so fully refreshed that you’d have to begin the circuit all over again.

			You might begin at a scruffy subterranean operation called Goobe’s Book Republic, which rarely stocks bestsellers, preferring an unpredictable jumble with a specialty in science fiction. Next you must steel yourself for an overwhelming expedition up and down the stairs of Blossom Book House, a four-story Goliath with what’s likely the largest selection of used books anywhere in India. Then you might take a slight detour to MG Road for Higginbothams, the city’s oldest bookshop, a white-columned palace of new releases. Back on Church Street, Blossom’s has, incredibly, a second location that’s nearly as large and equally labyrinthine as the first. A few steps down, there’s the Bookworm, a tucked-away treasure trove that seems to keep expanding the longer you spend inside.

			If somehow you haven’t found satisfaction in any of these shops, you could try the Bookhive or Gangarams Book Bureau. And on some nights, the literary stars align and there are book events at several of these shops on the same evening—a book launch at Higginbothams, a reading at Goobe’s, a discussion at Blossom’s—and you can move at whim among them, mingling with favorite writers and fellow readers, the street spilling over with novelists and translators and poets in Bangalore’s cool evening air.

			But to visit my favorite shop in central Bangalore, you must search around several corners until you find a faded yellow sign with the words Select Book Shop and the slogan “A rendezvous for like minds.” Founded in 1945, Select operates on an entirely different model of bookselling. Upon your entrance to its crowded warren of rooms, the bookseller—often the founder’s grandson, Sanjay—invites you to sit down on a stool and then interviews you about your interests, to determine if he has anything that aligns with them. It is a process that resists too specific an inquiry. If you name a title you’re hoping to find, Sanjay might respond, smiling, “Ah, yes, we could have it upstairs.” Then comes a reflective pause. “But it might be difficult to place our hands on it.” Then comes a longer pause, during which no one makes a move to search for the book, and the interview resumes: “What else are you interested in?”

			If you surrender to the process, Sanjay and his colleagues will reveal to you books that you’d never heard of and avenues of inquiry that you’d never considered. (When I mentioned to the Select staff that I was writing about the Gauri Lankesh case, they immediately started itemizing other local injustices I should also attend to, along with the books that would best aid each investigation.) I’m not sure it’s even accurate to call Select Book Shop a business; on one visit, Sanjay recommended a book to me that I didn’t have enough cash to pay for, but he urged me to take it anyway and seemed unconcerned whether I ever returned to settle the debt.

			Gauri, too, haunted these shops. Shortly after her murder, the writer Satyavrat K. K. published a panegyric to Church Street’s bookshops that pivoted, in its last paragraph, into a warning: “The bullets of those who would rather do away with this part of Bengaluru’s topography, the voices it contains and the power of the ideas that resonate within it, have claimed Gauri Lankesh, someone who I had simply assumed would always be a permanent presence in my corner of the world.” He concluded, “We mustn’t allow them to hijack the environs that made her.”

			Four months after Gauri’s murder, I returned to Bangalore to begin trying to understand the mystery of her death and of her afterlife. I thought I’d devote a few months to the project. Instead, I kept looking for years, speaking to dozens and dozens of people who knew her or her world, but also returning again and again to the bookshops of Church Street. The more I searched and listened and read, the more I came to see Bangalore not as a city of bookshops but as a city of authors. At times it felt as if nearly everyone connected to her murder case—her friends, her parents, her rivals, the other victims, several of the accused, their guru, the prosecutor, a local mafia don—had written a book (if not many books) or edited a periodical or both, in English or in Kannada or both. But that’s just one small specimen of my shifting perspective. What drew me to Gauri’s murder was the shock of it—the way it instantly exploded the vague sense I had that such a thing wasn’t really possible in Bangalore (a sense that many lifelong Bangaloreans shared). What kept me searching was the way this tragedy uncloaked so many hidden aspects of Bangalore, and of India, that I’d never imagined.

			At last count, India has twenty-eight states and eight “union territories,” and these thirty-six entities are often grouped into six loosely defined cultural and geographical regions: North, South, West, East, Central, and Northeast. It’s generally accepted that South India comprises the states of Kerala, Tamil Nadu, Karnataka, Andhra Pradesh, and Telangana. Bangalore lies almost directly at the center of South India.

			Over a quarter of a billion people live in the five states of South India—far more than live in all of western Europe. If South India were its own country, it would be, by population, the world’s fifth largest. But for such an extraordinarily particular region of the world, South India rarely gets its due, even within India. North India gets all the attention, with its New Delhi and its Taj Mahal and its Ganges and its Kashmir and its Hindi. North Indian ways are presumed to be the default; in Indian mass culture, as the South Indian writer Nisha Susan puts it, “all Indians are north Indian unless proven otherwise.” That’s one of the quirks of vast mega-countries like India and China: huge swaths of human variety are tucked within them, often overlooked in favor of more famous precincts, in a way they’d never be if they were their own separate countries. Most of my fellow Americans, provincial as we are, could easily list touchstones of, say, Spanish culture, despite its distance from us: bullfighting, flamenco, tapas, Picasso. And yet Spain’s population is half that of a single South Indian state, each of which has its own languages, literatures, cinemas, cuisines, for which we can’t conjure up even a stereotype.

			Geographically, what sets South India apart from the rest of the country is that it’s a peninsula, jutting like a stalactite between the Bay of Bengal and the Arabian Sea. “When you have a peninsula, there’s always trade,” the South Indian historian Manu Pillai told me. “Trade has a direct correlation with literacy. Being a peninsula also changes cultural outlooks. Your attitude to foreigners is different because you’re used to seeing people of different colors, different religions, come and go.” The South Indian politician Shashi Tharoor echoed this idea. “In the South we have a much more expansive spirit towards the world,” he told me. “Whereas in the North, the historical memory is of being invaded and attacked. Psychologically, that’s a fundamental difference. Kerala, for example, is one place where minorities don’t have a minority complex. You will never meet a Muslim or a Christian who feels that he is in any way different from a Hindu in Kerala. He feels just as much a stakeholder and owner of this place, its culture.”

			In this book I’ll be telling three southern stories, each centered on a different state. The central story is that of Gauri Lankesh, through which I’ll be exploring not just the investigation into her murder but also her life, the world she came out of, and her beloved city, Bangalore. But when it comes to India, sticking to one narrative path never seems enough. One story is a nest for many other stories, whose relevance only becomes clear through the telling. I’ve included two other stories in the form of interludes that mirror the detours I felt compelled to take over the years in which I researched this book in South India. The first interlude digs into the mysteries of ancient Kerala; the second explores the kitchens of modern Tamil Nadu.

			This structure is in part an homage to the stories within stories of the Indian oral epic tradition. The poet and scholar A. K. Ramanujan tells us that until the nineteenth century every Indian text had a context or a frame: “The Rāmāyana and Mahābhārata open with episodes that tell you why and under what circumstances they were composed. Every such story is encased in a metastory. And within the text, one tale is the context for another within it; not only does the outer frame-story motivate the inner sub-story; the inner story illuminates the outer as well. It often acts as a microscopic replica for the whole text.” Or, as another scholar, Arshia Sattar, writes of the epics, “Their stories move forward episodically, in fits and starts. Where one might expect a grand elaboration, there is none. Action is often slowed down by a digression into another story or a long description of nature. While the central story does always come to a satisfactory conclusion, it winds and meanders through a ‘chaotic’ abundance of other tales and side tales, diversions into philosophies and moral discourses, genealogies and cosmologies, looping back on itself, framing one story after another, until finally it comes to rest.”

			One reason I cherish stories within stories is that they suggest infinite possible outcomes. Right now I’m frankly terrified of the outcome India seems to be racing toward. The southern harmony and inclusion Shashi Tharoor spoke of already feel like things of the past. My own life became tied to India, and led to this book, when I married a South Indian Muslim; I now fear for my in-laws’ safety in a way I never dreamed I’d have to.

			Even as India’s profile has risen globally, it has made a rapid descent toward autocracy at home. The murder of Gauri Lankesh offers a key to India’s current crisis and its many facets: The dysfunction and capture of India’s entire justice system, from policing to trial. The collapse of the press under the pressure of the ruling party. The increasing criminalization of all dissent. The dominance of an enormously popular demagogue who leads an ultranationalist movement that seeks, among other things, to obliterate regional and religious variety in favor of a homogenized Hindu rashtra, or Hindu nation, in which hundreds of millions of non-Hindus are to be second-class citizens. And the real danger of genocide as the forces of hate are further empowered and emboldened. The situation is, I fear, much worse than even many engaged observers realize, and Gauri’s story illustrates how it got there and where it’s going.

			The national elections of 2024 will have occurred before this book is published; I’ve finished writing it before the results are known. No matter what those results are, a poisonous hatred has already so deeply permeated this country I love these past ten years that it will not easily be cleared. Over the years of reporting this book, though, I’ve had the honor of meeting countless brave Indians who, like Gauri, are ready to do that work no matter the cost, without the privilege that protects me by way of my skin and my passport.

		

	
		
			PART ONE

			January 2018

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 1

			Why Gauri?

			WHEN I LANDED BACK in Bangalore in January 2018, four months after Gauri’s death, the first person I met was Kavitha Lankesh, Gauri’s younger sister by three years. She looks quite like Gauri—the same wide smile, the same light eyes, but more athletic and with long black hair. Her neighborhood, Chikkalasandra, is not too far from Gauri’s, but is distinctly more upscale. Kavitha is a film director, and as we settled in to her living room—a room both stylish and cozy, with one red wall, a skylight, and an uyyale, or bench swing, hanging from the ceiling—she told me that she’d just finished “a very Enid Blyton–ish” kids’ movie called Summer Holidays, in which Gauri plays a small role as a crusading journalist.

			“More than my sister, I would say she is my best friend,” she said. “My soulmate. We were so alike in many ways.” Anything Kavitha wrote, she said, she’d show it to Gauri first. If she was torn between making a commercial film and a film she actually wanted to make, Gauri “would give me the courage to follow my heart.” Tears flowed silently down her face as she spoke. She cries continuously when she speaks of Gauri, and in the months and years to come, I never saw her pause to collect herself. She just smiles and dries the tears with a tissue as she continues talking, as if already accustomed to the fact that her mourning is a rupture that can never be fixed, only absorbed.

			“People would always mistake us—her for me, me for her,” she said. When she appeared at public events, she said, she was often introduced as a filmmaker, journalist, and activist. She’d try to correct the record and say that she’s a filmmaker only—the journalist and activist is her sister—but they’d laugh it off as if she were being overly humble. Eventually she just let it slide. When Gauri died, some publications ran Kavitha’s photo with the news. One website, she said, posted Gauri’s photo with the words “Kavitha Lankesh is dead.”

			They were different in many ways, too: Gauri was an atheist, while Kavitha prays around five times a day. “You’re like a Muslim,” Gauri would tease her. In the wake of her death, many had accused Gauri of being hostile to religion, but Kavitha insisted that wasn’t true. They celebrated everything together, she said: Hindu holidays at their younger brother Indrajit’s house, Christmas at Kavitha’s house, and the Muslim feast of Eid at Gauri’s house. Gauri loved explaining the meaning of each festival to Kavitha’s and Indrajit’s children.

			Three generations of Lankesh women live in Kavitha’s house: Kavitha; her mother, Indira; and her daughter, Esha. Esha popped in to introduce herself, a bright-eyed thirteen-year-old with very long straight dark hair. She’s an impressive kid and possessed of the preternatural poise of many Indian teenagers. Kavitha is a single mother by choice; Esha’s father is an American whom Kavitha used to date, and when she decided that she wanted to have a child on her own, he agreed to help. Esha calls Kavitha “Amma” and called Gauri “Avva”; both mean “mother.” “Everybody thought that she was Gauri’s daughter, actually,” Kavitha said. Earlier in 2017, Kavitha and Gauri got matching forearm tattoos of Esha’s name: Kavitha’s in English letters, and Gauri’s in the looping script of Kannada, embellished with a peacock feather.

			Gauri spent at least a day with them every weekend, no matter how busy things got at the newspaper. Kavitha is a vegetarian, but she often cooked meat for Gauri, who liked to say she’d eat anything that walked. “She was such a bachelor that she would not cook anything at home, so she took food from here. Every week we’d make curries, chapatis, things like that, and pack them for her.” On the night of the murder, when the police inspected Gauri’s house, they asked Kavitha, “Madam, there is no milk, no nothing, what does she drink or eat?”

			“She had a constant cough—smoker’s cough,” she said. “And she didn’t do any exercise.” Kavitha smokes, too; it’s made her voice husky. I asked her how many cigarettes she goes through a day, and she said, “Fifteen, or thirty.” But Kavitha was also a national yoga champion—for a time she worked as a yoga instructor in New York City—and every day she both works out and walks her dogs four kilometers. For Gauri, who smoked even more, climbing the single flight of stairs to her newspaper office was the only exercise she got. “I tried to force her to work out a bit at least,” Kavitha said. “Once I remember she did some kind of exercise at home and sent us a sweaty picture of herself. That went on for maybe fifteen days. After that, nothing.”

			On the evening of September 5, Kavitha had been playing badminton not far from Gauri’s house and was on her way home when she got a call from their mother that Gauri had apparently fallen down. “I thought maybe she’d gotten dizzy or something like that,” she said. “We had to make sure she ate; even if she came here, sometimes she’d have a drink until 3:00 a.m. and not eat at all, and no breakfast. We were worried about that.”

			Kavitha rushed to Gauri’s house; police and journalists were already there. The news photos were horrible: Gauri’s bloodied body lit harshly by flashbulbs, her right arm jammed unnaturally against her doorstep, her face contorted in a brutal grimace. But if there’s one image from the photos that troubles me above all others, it’s the expression of shock and anguish on Esha’s face at the murder scene. Did it occur to Gauri’s killers that they were also attacking a child? Would they have cared if they’d known?

			I asked Kavitha if she felt frightened. “Absolutely,” she said. “For no reason. Suddenly some car stops, and two guys get out, and you just wonder.” For days, she said, there’d been a car parking nearby where there wasn’t even a house, with a clear view into Kavitha’s house, which has no grilles on the windows as so many other houses have, and at night when their lights were on, they felt so visible and vulnerable. The car was sitting there even as we spoke. She’d asked the police to come check it out. Because didn’t Gauri’s killers likely know this house? The killing seemed to be carefully planned; wouldn’t they at some point have followed Gauri here, too, when they were doing their reconnaissance? And the police investigating Gauri’s murder—who knew what they might be unwittingly unleashing? Four months had passed with no arrests; what if in their desperation to crack the case, the police had beaten someone up, maybe even some innocent person, just to get some information—wouldn’t such a person be angry at such treatment, if it happened, and now be loose on the streets of Bangalore and maybe looking for someone to blame?

			Esha had by then gone upstairs to her room. Kavitha called out a warning: “Esha, I’m smoking, don’t come in here.” She can’t keep all the dangers of the world at bay, and she can’t protect her from all these late-night fears that have now infiltrated even the bright of day. But she can at least put some distance between Esha and secondhand smoke.

			

			•   •   •

			THE NEXT DAY, I spoke to Gauri’s close friend Shivasundar, an eloquently self-effacing fifty-one-year-old with white hair and a near-constant look of amusement who wrote a column for Gauri’s paper for ten years. He invited me to meet him and five other men who’d been close to her through her newspaper or her activism. I found them in the unassuming restaurant of Hotel Paraag, around the corner from Bangalore’s legislative assembly, making plans around milky cups of coffee.

			They’d named their group the Gauri Memorial Trust, and their first order of business was a festival called Celebrating Resistance for Gauri’s birthday, which was two weeks away, on January 29. They’d invited young activists whom Gauri admired from around India to come and give speeches. They were also planning to publish a new weekly newspaper on the model of Gauri Lankesh Patrike, provisionally titled Our Gauri, to keep her memory alive. They hoped to launch it on March 8, for three reasons: it was International Women’s Day, it was the date of the first issue of Gauri Lankesh Patrike, and it was the birthday of P. Lankesh, Gauri’s father.

			Our conversation about Gauri seemed to have a sort of emotional tide: their fond feelings for her would swell, and everyone would talk and laugh, then ebb into sadness and silence. At first the talk kept turning to food and drink. She might not have eaten enough when left to her own devices, but she loved cooking for and eating with her colleagues.

			“She used to cook every day for her associates in the office,” Shivasundar said. “Every day in the afternoon, her assistant cooked rice and she cooked the curry”—usually a vegetarian dish, like sambar. “And they ate together.”

			“But she enjoyed nonvegetarian food,” the journalist Dinesh Amin Mattu said.

			“Ah, she loved it,” said Pradeep K. P., a documentary filmmaker. “She loved fish.”

			“She enjoys her drinks,” added Mattu. Everyone laughed when I asked what drink she preferred.

			“Cottage rum!” Pradeep said.

			“It is a very humble drink,” Mattu explained. “If somebody offers scotch, she will refuse. She wants that rum.”

			And she loved eating beef, Shivasundar noted. Especially because she knew how much it would annoy her ideological opponents, many of whom were adamant about the protection of cows. She wrote with such fearlessness and glee, he said, in her rhetorical attacks on religious nationalism—especially as embodied by the Bharatiya Janata Party, or BJP, the political party that took power in India in 2014. “Her weekly magazine was a weekly threat to their philosophy,” he said. “Every page. Even the film page had something to say about egalitarian values and to condemn these people.”

			The others nodded in proud agreement with everything Shivasundar was saying. “She was enjoying her life,” he said, and the others nodded at that, too. “She had no repentance of the way she lived,” he said, and they smiled in assent. “She enjoyed each and every moment.”

			That last sentence stopped them short. It seemed abruptly to remind them all of her last moments. The table fell quiet.

			“We don’t know what went on in her mind then, when the bullets were fired at her,” Shivasundar finally said. “She was very afraid even of getting an injection. So we feel very bad when we think about it. About what must have gone on in her mind.”

			

			•   •   •

			GAURI WAS MORE VULNERABLE than she sounded on the page. One friend told me that she always reminded him of a sparrow—tiny, with a sharp nose, her head topped with a feathery whorl of short gray hair, bursting with noisy argument but fundamentally gentle and sweet. “She was full of anger and concern,” he said. “But she was a harmless little creature.”

			A few days later I met with Shivasundar alone, and his attempts at bravado on Gauri’s behalf had evaporated. She and her newspaper, he said, had been struggling badly in their final days. “It was in deep trouble,” he said. “It was a kind of weekly wonder. She was suffering huge losses.” Without advertising income, the paper had to rely on newsstand sales, which Gauri supplemented with a modest sideline in publishing test-prep books for students. She could have profited from those books a lot more than she did. She could have asked the government to assign them as required textbooks, which would have guaranteed hundreds of thousands of sales; she had the right connections to do so. But her father had taught her never to accept a personal favor from a politician, let alone ask for one.

			If she had a nemesis, it was Narendra Modi, the prime minister of India. Ever since his election, she’d published a weekly column in her paper devoted to lambasting him, and she called the column Busi Basiya—a Kannada phrase that means “bluff master.” One of Gauri’s fellow activists told me that at a protest full of speeches the day after Gauri’s murder, he wondered what she would have said in her own speech. “She would definitely say, ‘Modi, you are the killer,’ ” he said. “She wouldn’t mince words.” Modi probably had no idea who she was. But in November 2016, he announced a surprise policy called demonetization, and it was calamitous for her. All 500- and 1,000-rupee banknotes—which amounted to 86 percent of the cash in circulation—were canceled, with only a few hours’ warning. The idea was to crack down on corruption and the shadow economy. But the resulting cash shortage eviscerated legitimate small businesses like Gauri’s. Her book and newspaper sales plummeted. To keep the paper afloat, she’d taken out a loan of 1.5 million rupees (or around $20,000). She sometimes had to pawn her jewelry or take an overdraft from the bank to pay her staff’s salaries.

			Shivasundar last spoke to her at 9:00 a.m. on the day she died. She told him that she’d just cashed in her life insurance policy in order to pay her staff. “Now I have nothing,” she told him. “Nobody owes me any money, and I don’t owe anyone.” And then she slammed the phone. He interpreted it as an accusation: What are you doing?

			“She was frustrated that no one was helping her,” he said. “She used to work like a donkey. There were some parts she could not handle, and there was nobody to support her.”

			When Gauri called—and her calls might come at any time, especially in the middle of the night—she often had an argument in mind. Her friend Sugata Srinivasaraju learned to answer the phone with a question: “What are we fighting over today?” But in the dozens of tributes to Gauri that appeared in print in the days after she died, many insisted that she never held a grudge. Her longtime friend Prakash Belawadi, an actor, recalled the moment in 2014 when he declared his support for Modi. Gauri called and screamed at him. “It is the wretched Brahmin in you that has risen,” she told him. He was deeply offended that she would make it about caste, and he unfriended her on Facebook. But six months later he saw her at a party, and “it was the old gang meeting up,” he wrote. “Everything seemed the same. It was as if ideologies did not matter.”

			Many tributes remembered, too, that just as often as arguing, she called when she knew a friend needed help. Often she was the only one who called. Friends and strangers alike knew to call her or write to her or just turn up at her house when they were in trouble, and they knew she’d do whatever she could. She was so energetic that few knew she was stretched so thin.

			In the tributes to Gauri, the same adjectives tended to recur. She was fun loving, they wrote. Free-spirited. Fair-minded. Impatient. Impulsive. Affectionate. Humane. Exasperating. Anxious about injustice. Disputatious to a fault. Quick to laughter, quick to anger, and quick to make friends.

			The word “feisty” appeared with great frequency. But so did the word “frail.” Longtime friends who used to describe her as a party girl had started describing her as ascetic. She’d sworn off dating and stopped dyeing her hair, and several people told me that they were alarmed at how skinny she’d become.

			Who would want to shoot down this tiny, frail, fifty-five-year-old woman with a tiny, failing newspaper? Within two hours after the murder, the city’s police commissioner announced the formation of a Special Investigation Team dedicated to finding out. Its leader would be a seasoned inspector general named B. K. Singh. Its chief investigator would be a young deputy commissioner named M. N. Anucheth. In its early stages, two hundred police officers were assigned to the SIT. But their job was extraordinarily difficult—a “blind case,” as Anucheth described it. There was no known motive. There had been no eyewitnesses. If a professional contract killer had pulled the trigger, it was possible that he had no idea who’d even ordered the killing; it could have been a “cutout” murder, the term that Indian police use for crimes arranged through a chain of middlemen, making it almost impossible to prove who was behind the murder even if the killer is caught. And in India, a vast country of over a billion people, it was easy for an anonymous triggerman to disappear forever.

			

			•   •   •

			
			IN THE ABSENCE OF solid information, theories proliferated in the papers, on the news channels, and across the internet. Some guessed that Gauri had been killed over some sort of real estate dispute—not because there was any evidence that she was party to a real estate dispute, but because in twenty-first-century Bangalore it’s a fair bet that any violent conflict has something to do with real estate. Some floated an unsubstantiated theory that Gauri had been on the verge of publishing a series of explosive exposés of corrupt politicians and industrialists in Karnataka. (“She was obviously silenced,” one newspaper quoted an anonymous “friend.”) Some wondered if she’d been shot in the inadvertent escalation of a bungled robbery. But the news channels soon obtained the CCTV footage of the murder, and it was obvious that this was no robbery. The shooter had fired the moment he dismounted the motorcycle. It was over in six seconds.

			A classical singer named Premalatha Diwakar approached the police with a tip: several years ago, she’d accused a powerful swami named Raghaveshwara Bharathi of rape. The mainstream press had ignored her. Gauri had been the first journalist willing to publish her accusations and often wrote scathingly about the swami in the pages of Gauri Lankesh Patrike. Perhaps, Diwakar suggested, the swami’s followers had targeted Gauri.

			The police questioned the swami. The police questioned Vikram Sampath, the cofounder of the Bangalore Literature Festival, whom Gauri had criticized in her paper. (“Will the SIT be questioning everyone whom Gauri has been critical of?” Sampath asked. He had a point; if they did, it would be a very long list.) They questioned Gauri’s brother, Indrajit, who was rumored to have once pulled a gun on her. They questioned a reformed underworld don named Agni Sreedhar, who had claimed in a speech that he had some inside knowledge about who had killed her. They questioned fifteen separate people who had filed defamation cases against her. They questioned left-wing Naxalites—the Indian term for most Maoist revolutionary guerrillas—whom Gauri had helped emerge from the underground. They questioned right-wing Hindus, including some from a religious community called Sanatan Sanstha, whose associates have been suspected in previous assassinations or bombings, at their ashram in Goa. No arrests were made.

			One obvious investigative avenue was to observe who was happy that Gauri was dead. On the night of her murder, countless social media posts rejoiced in Gauri’s assassination. One right-wing journalist tweeted, “So, Commy Gauri Lankesh has been murdered mercilessly. Your deeds always come back to haunt you, they say. Amen.” A self-professed BJP social media adviser tweeted in Hindi, “As you sow, so shall you reap.” One Twitter account followed by Prime Minister Narendra Modi posted in Hindi, “A bitch died a dog’s death and now all the puppies are wailing the same tune.”

			Some messages were even more alarming, like this one that appeared on Facebook the night Gauri died: “At last a ray of hope. Not an iota of sympathy for d bitch. They should have shredded her body with bullets & even blasted apart her apartment…. Let d shooting of #GauriLankesh serve as example to those antinationals who masquerade as journalists & activists. I hope this is not d last in a should be episode of serial assassinations of all anti nationals.” The author then offered his own list of writers and activists—all women—who he thought should be shot next.

			“The voices that were celebrating Lankesh’s killing are products of the political climate that has been created,” the TV journalist Ravish Kumar said at an event the next day. “We have created a society that smiles around your corpse.” Politics in India have become as bitterly polarized as they are in the United States, to the point where any misfortune on the other side, no matter how gruesome, is met with glee on your own side. And there was no mistaking that the celebratory messages after Gauri’s murder all apparently emanated from right-wing accounts. But the fact that people with right-wing politics were saying such things didn’t prove that right-wingers had killed her. To delight in a monstrous act doesn’t make one culpable for it. Maybe her right-wing opponents were simply more vocal in their abuse. Her paper’s boldness had earned her a wide range of adversaries, not all of them on the right wing. The actual killers might have reason to be silent.

			Some studied Gauri’s own Twitter feed, and some thought they found clues in her final two tweets. At 3:04 on the morning of her murder, she’d posted, “why do i feel that some of ‘us’ are fighting between ourselves? we all know our ‘biggest enemy.’ can we all please concentrate on that?” And three minutes later: “Ok some of us commit mistakes like sharing fake posts. let us warn each other then. and not try to expose each other. peace…comrades.” Some thought these messages strongly suggested that Gauri knew she was in danger, and they seized on the words “fighting between ourselves” from the first tweet and “comrades” from the second as evidence that Naxalites, the Maoist guerrillas, might be responsible.

			And outside Karnataka, some conspiracy theorists looked suspiciously at the name of her paper, Gauri Lankesh Patrike, and made the wild leap that her real last name was Patrick and that she was secretly a Christian. Surely that was why she was buried and not cremated? They didn’t realize that in Kannada “patrike” means “newspaper.” In fact, her family’s religious background was Lingayat—an identity that some observers who were better informed about Kannada culture thought might be the real reason she’d been targeted.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 2

			The Lingayat Question

			EVEN WITHIN INDIA, LINGAYATS aren’t well known outside Karnataka. International press coverage about Gauri rarely mentioned the word “Lingayat.” But when I started talking to Bangaloreans, I found that a political controversy known as the Lingayat question was often floated as a possible reason why Gauri was murdered. It was the sort of cultural nuance that, although crucial, seems to journalists and their editors too much trouble to explain in the context of a newspaper or magazine article, so they end up not mentioning it at all.

			I heard my first proper explanation of the Lingayat question from Gauri’s ex-husband, Chidanand Rajghatta, a columnist for The Times of India who’s long been based in Washington, D.C. He happened to be in Bangalore, and the same day I met Shivasundar, Rajghatta asked me to meet him at the Bangalore Club.

			The city’s most prominent colonial relic, established in 1868 for officers of the British Empire, the Bangalore Club comprises thirteen acres of stately buildings and leafy grounds near the center of the city. Unsurprisingly, Gauri had written scathingly about the Bangalore Club, in a column from 2015. “The Bangalore Club is much admired by a few and despised by the rest,” she wrote. “It represents the oppression of the British.” (Typical of the awkwardness of these colonial institutions that now have Indian proprietors, the Bangalore Club seems weirdly proud of Winston Churchill’s onetime membership—even though Churchill thought of Indians as vermin—and prominently displays in its entrance hall, like a beloved souvenir, an old ledger that records the unpaid bar tab he left behind.) After independence in 1947, Indian civilians became eligible for membership, but the club remains highly exclusive. Its waiting list is decades long. Its dress code strains reason. As I approached the entrance, the doorman looked stricken when he noticed that I was wearing sandals, as most people do most of the time most places in India, given the climate. I had forgotten that many members-only clubs in India refuse admission to anyone not wearing closed shoes.

			He asked me to lift my pant leg, and sighed in relief. “Ah, they’re Roman sandals,” he said—meaning that they had a strap behind the heel. Apparently that strap, invisible though it was under my cuff, had sufficiently civilized the sandals, and he opened the door for me with a flourish, as if he’d never considered doing otherwise.

			I found Rajghatta on the leafy grounds, and we sat at a vacant table. He and Gauri had divorced in 1990, after five years of an increasingly quarrelsome marriage. But typical of Gauri’s relationships, they’d remained dear friends. She’d become close to Rajghatta’s current wife, Mary, and their two children. When Rajghatta’s mother died in 2017 and he couldn’t get to India in time for the funeral, Gauri went in his place, then wrote him an email: “let me just say that you, mary, diya and sharana were there today because you are my family and i am part of your family, legalities be damned!”

			Round-faced, soft-spoken, with rimless glasses and a thick head of gray-dusted hair, Rajghatta is generally upbeat and slightly professorial, but with enough of a sharp edge to his outlook that you could see how he and Gauri would have made good sparring partners. “She loved a good argument,” he told me. “She was very, very combative. But to me she was incredibly graceful. She was hard-edged when she fought her ideological and political battles; she could be harsh, abusive, a raging tempest,” he said, his eyes widening at the thought of Gauri at her most furious. “But at heart she was just the kindest person you could ever meet.” After the divorce, he said, she often demanded money from him—so that she could pass it along to some young woman she’d met who couldn’t afford her school fees or who was trying to escape an abusive relationship. “You owe me this,” she’d insist. “I didn’t ask you for a cent in alimony!”

			Yet he spoke little about her directly. I was expecting to hear anecdotes from their marriage, but Rajghatta kept shifting the conversation back to history and politics, to events that had happened in Karnataka or elsewhere in India decades or centuries earlier. Later I came to understand why. As modern as Gauri was, her life had been steered by events from the distant past. In some ways she embraced these legacies. In some ways they had trapped her. And there might have been a direct line from these ancient forces to her murder in 2017.

			Gauri and he were both from a community known as Lingayats, Rajghatta told me, but that identity had nothing to with bringing them together when they met, as undergraduates, in the early 1980s. Some people say Lingayats are a sect of Hinduism. Some call it a caste. Some even say it’s its own religion. At the time, Gauri and Rajghatta couldn’t have cared less. Both were rationalists—as nonreligious, anti-superstitious atheists are called in India—and proud of it. Neither knew much of anything about Lingayat traditions, and in their urbane journalistic circles they met few people who did. Typically in India there’s pressure to marry only inside your community—sometimes enormous pressure. Neither Gauri nor Rajghatta had cared a bit about doing that, either, so it was just a funny coincidence to them that they’d accidentally married inside their community anyway. They bonded instead over a shared obsession with the hilarious stories of the British writer P. G. Wodehouse. “We were completely anglicized,” he said. “Deracinated. We’d forgotten our roots.”

			But as Gauri delved deeper into the politics of Karnataka, she became fascinated by the Lingayat story. She never became a believer—perish the thought—but she found a kindred spirit in the founder of the Lingayat tradition: a twelfth-century poet named Basavanna.

			Born in the year 1105 in what’s now northern Karnataka, Basavanna was a royal accountant who rose in rank to minister to the local king. But he used his position to battle all forms of human hierarchy. He and his spiritual comrades, then known as sharanas—ones who have surrendered—were an astonishing collective of mystical revolutionaries fervently devoted to the worship of the god Shiva, one of the major deities of Hinduism. Sharanas came from every class and caste; Basavanna was himself a Brahmin, but his fellow sharanas were blacksmiths, oarsmen, prostitutes. They wrote some of the greatest, most surprising devotional poetry in history—brief, vivid, free-verse poems called vachanas, which are brazenly irreverent toward everything but Shiva, and sometimes even toward him.

			Basavanna rejected rituals, temples, cremation, and the authority of the foundational scriptures called the Vedas. “Loaded with the burden of the Vedas,” he wrote, “the Brahmin is a veritable donkey.” He insisted on the dignity of labor, open discussion, and a gender equality so radical that it transcended gender. But above all, Basavanna and his fellow sharanas rejected the hierarchies that are now known as caste.

			

			•   •   •

			WHAT IS MEANT BY the word “caste”? It’s not a word of Indian origin. The Portuguese imported it when they arrived to colonize India in 1498. (In the Portuguese language, “casta” means “breed” or “lineage.”) Like the word “race” in America, “caste” does not coherently describe the social phenomena it’s applied to, but we’re stuck with it, and, imprecise as it is, the word has taken on too significant a life of its own to ignore.

			Sometimes “caste” seems to refer to the varna system, a concept from ancient Hindu scriptures that assigns four social classes: Brahmins, the priestly class; Kshatriyas, the warrior class; Vaishyas, the farming or merchant class; and Shudras, the laboring class. The fifth category is everyone excluded from the four varnas. These Indians have been called many things over the centuries: untouchables, outcastes, avarnas, ati-Shudras, pariahs. Gandhi called them Harijans, or “children of God.” Their own preferred name nowadays tends to be Dalit, which means broken or oppressed.

			Sometimes “caste” seems to refer to jati, a word that means “birth,” and which roughly means clan or ethnicity: India’s thousands of extended-family groups, which vary widely from region to region, and which are often associated with a particular hereditary occupation, sometimes indicated by a person’s surname. Even as many of the traditional occupations associated with a particular jati have become defunct, the concept of jati has stubbornly persisted. Christian and Muslim communities, too, often find themselves divided along jati lines. Strikingly, the word “jati” appears in nearly every Indian language. So while the practice of jati has a great deal of local variation, the concept of jati is nearly universal across India. (A partial exception are India’s many indigenous tribes, which make up approximately 8 percent of the population; known as Adivasis, or “original inhabitants,” these communities live all over India, particularly in the country’s Northeast, and often in forests.) Varna and jati are not at all synonymous, but even among Indians these two methods of categorization get conflated when caste is discussed.

			The history and origins of caste are highly contested. (And there’s long been debate over whether caste is intrinsically “Hindu,” or whether it’s an unfortunate social phenomenon that happens to be specific to South Asia—much like the debate over whether female circumcision is a Muslim or a regional problem.) At some point, though, the jatis started hardening into rigid hierarchies, with a great deal of regional variation. Intermarriage between jatis became taboo, and when it did occur, violence was the typical result. The Brahmins had the power of the priesthood and the pen, and they therefore dictated the hierarchies, ensuring, naturally, that their own jatis held the uppermost ranks.

			What made these hierarchies particularly insidious is that they were based on purity. The lower in rank your community, the less pure you were considered. There was a slender possibility of mobility—of gradually elevating your jati to a purer position. But Dalits were condemned as categorically impure, with no hope of escape. They were banned from all aspects of collective village life—temples, wells, the homes of caste Hindus—and forced to perform a village’s most scorned tasks, like disposing of shit and skinning carcasses. Some were required to wear brooms, to erase from the earth the supposed pollution of their footprints. Some were required to wear bells, to announce their approach and prevent their neighbors from the supposed pollution of looking at them. The position of Dalits relative to Brahmins was, as the writer Sujatha Gidla puts it in the title of her excellent memoir of growing up Dalit in South India, like that of “ants among elephants.”

			But there have long been daring rebels against caste. Basavanna and his fellow sharanas were among the earliest and bravest, and Gauri loved them for it.

			Basavanna’s story ends in a disaster that was also the culmination of his uncompromising egalitarianism. Two sharanas, an outcaste and a Brahmin, agreed to demonstrate their shared commitment to a casteless society by uniting their children in marriage. To caste-minded Hindus, this was the most outrageous of all possible weddings: a Brahmin woman with an untouchable man. Basavanna blessed their union. The king went berserk. He ordered that the groom’s eyes be gouged out and that the couple’s fathers be tied to the legs of elephants and dragged to death. A young sharana retaliated by assassinating the king. And the king’s son ordered a ferocious crackdown that killed thousands of sharanas. Basavanna fled, his revolution dead.

			But his community persisted. Over time, the sharanas’ descendants came to be known as Lingayats, named for the small linga—a stone symbolizing the god Shiva—that many of them wear. Temple culture, idol worship, and a host of rituals slipped back into their tradition. The priestly class reasserted itself among them. In a horrible irony, Lingayats came to be seen as just another caste group, with its own internal hierarchies of some ninety-nine castes and subcastes, some of them claiming a status even higher than Brahmins. Gauri’s own subcaste among Lingayats is Nonaba Vokkaliga, which is considered “high” caste. Shivasundar told me that for most of her life she wasn’t even aware which subcaste she belonged to—a telling sign that one’s caste is privileged.

			

			•   •   •

			OVER THE PAST CENTURY and a half, caste has become in some ways even more entrenched than it was in Basavanna’s time. Between 1872 and 1931, British colonial rulers conducted a census of India once a decade, and to each person surveyed, they assigned a caste—the better to pit Indians against one another, which would limit rebellion, and to promote Indians whom they viewed as superior, particularly Brahmins. In doing this, the British census takers tried to map each of India’s thousands of jatis (regional clans) to one of the four varnas (the scriptural class categories), which made no sense at all. But they forced it anyway, thereby making the caste system even less flexible and intelligible than what preceded it. And they added their own cruelties. The British condemned entire communities—particularly those who resisted their rule—as “criminal castes,” guilty by birth. Some of these communities they sent en masse to prison camps.

			Then, in 1947, after nine decades of struggle, came independence. Drafted by the great Dalit freedom fighter B. R. Ambedkar and promulgated in 1950, the Indian Constitution abolished the practice of untouchability, on paper at least. The days of Dalits wearing brooms and bells are over, but 27 percent of Indians continue to practice untouchability, avoiding contact with their neighbors who are Dalits (and those are just the ones willing to admit such a thing to a pollster). Only 5 percent of Indians marry outside their caste. Intercaste marriages still sometimes result in murder. Caste, at every level of the hierarchy, remains very much alive; like racism in America, it’s often invisible to those who wield and benefit from it the most, and a crushing daily reality to those whom it was designed to oppress.

			And in independent India, caste has gotten even more complex. A program of caste-based affirmative action, known in India as reservations, now sets aside jobs and other benefits for members of historically oppressed communities. These reservations are an urgent corrective to the caste system’s deeply entrenched inequities, but they’ll always be a frustratingly imprecise tool, and in their own way reservations have further entrenched caste, too. They effectively require any Indian who wishes to benefit from them to retain a caste-based identity, and they’ve provoked a predictable (and sometimes violent) backlash from caste groups who fall outside their scope. Furthermore, politicians have come to see caste communities as distinct constituencies—known as vote banks—whose members might offer or withhold their support as a bloc. In many Indian elections, caste is the single most significant determining factor.

			In Karnataka, no vote bank is more important than Lingayats. And at the time of Gauri’s murder, the most inflammatory political issue in the state was the Lingayat question: Were Lingayats really Hindus, or were they a separate religion?

			Massive rallies of Lingayats who favored a return to Basavanna’s philosophy, with crowds as strong as 200,000, had been gathering for months to demand recognition as a minority religion, distinct from Hindus. And Gauri had been highly vocal in their defense. The final four issues of her newspaper all highlighted the Lingayat question, arguing in column after column that Lingayats are not Hindus. “Basavanna and all sharanas rejected everything about the Hindu religion and rebelled against it,” Gauri wrote on August 8, 2017, less than a month before her murder. “If Buddhism, Jainism, and Sikhism—which were also born against the tenets of Hinduism—can be considered separate religions, then why not Lingayats?” Meanwhile, state elections in Karnataka were fast approaching. The BJP and its main rival, the Congress, seemed to have an equal shot at taking power—depending in part on which way the Lingayats went.

			In one crucial way, the BJP is no ordinary political party: it’s the electoral subsidiary of the RSS, an enormous and powerful Hindu-nationalist paramilitary organization. The animating philosophy of the RSS and its offshoots is Hindutva: a fundamentalist, majoritarian political movement that seeks to codify and enforce orthodox Hinduism and to define India as an explicitly Hindu country. (Hindutva is not at all synonymous with Hinduism; the relationship is roughly equivalent to that of Islamism and Islam.)

			The conventional wisdom was that if Lingayats were really Hindus, they’d stick with the BJP. If Lingayats were a separate religion, they’d shift their votes to the Congress, a party that supposedly defends the rights of minorities. In 2008, the Lingayat vote had brought the BJP to power in Karnataka for five years—the only time the party had ever governed a southern state—but the evolving question of Lingayat identity could easily swing the 2018 state election.

			“You can’t prove any of this,” Gauri’s friend Chandan Gowda told me in 2018, “but I have thought long and hard about what may have possibly been the reason, who would have really wanted her killed, and the most probable conclusion is that she was supporting the delinking of Lingayats from Hindus, and that is a huge obstacle for the BJP’s plans in the state. Their support base is in North Karnataka, and if the support base comes out declaring that they are not Hindus, it makes it that much harder for them to play that card.” To assassinate a separatist Lingayat religious leader, he speculated, would have been electorally suicidal. But to kill Gauri would suffice to send a message: Lingayats should stay in their place.

			It was a compelling theory—exasperatingly confusing for anyone not steeped in Lingayat politics, but logical within the dynamics of Karnataka. The problem was that if Gauri’s murder had been meant as a message, it was a weirdly cryptic one. As the venerable Bangalore journalist T. J. S. George pointed out, assassins in India used to be “straightforward and honest.” When Nathuram Godse assassinated Mohandas Gandhi, he made a lengthy statement before the court, later published as a book titled Why I Assassinated Gandhi, in which he clearly and even eloquently explained his motivations. When Prime Minister Indira Gandhi’s Sikh bodyguards shot her to death in 1984, everyone knew who they were and exactly why they’d done it. Seven years later, when a bomb killed her son the former prime minister Rajiv Gandhi, it was perfectly obvious that Sri Lankan militants from the Tamil Tigers were behind it. “Today’s ideologues are different,” George wrote. “They are ready to use the violence demanded of them, but they lack the conviction to own it.” No one had had the nerve to take credit for Gauri’s murder. So if there was a message intended, it was anyone’s guess what it was.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 3

			The Undeclared Emergency

			ONE MORNING KAVITHA SHOWED me around the newspaper office that had been the home of the Lankesh family’s newspapers since 1995. A massive portrait of P. Lankesh dominated the newsroom. “The soul of my father is here,” she said. “Now my sister’s is here.” The downstairs neighbors were renovating, and the office was full of dust because the windows wouldn’t close properly. “It’s not a great building,” she said. “My father built it badly. But I can’t let it go.”

			Kavitha gave me a tour of all the rooms. A closet stuffed with the exam-prep books that the paper sold as a sideline. The editor’s office, which used to be Lankesh’s. A small kitchenette that doubled as a nap room. “They had a system where they made lunch, and everybody washed their own plates,” Kavitha said. “A community kind of thing.” Prasad, a slight man in his forties who’d worked as the paper’s “office boy” since 2005, had been sleeping there since Gauri died. In the newsroom, one of Gauri’s staffers had started dusting off the row of ancient computers on which, in a normal week, he’d be helping assemble her paper’s sixteen-page layout, using PageMaker—a desktop publishing program so outdated that Adobe started phasing it out in 2001.

			They’d close the latest issue of Gauri Lankesh Patrike every Wednesday; because she died on a Tuesday, the last edition she was working on never came out. But Kavitha edited one final tribute issue that came out a week after Gauri died. Then they shut the paper down.

			When I spoke to Gauri’s journalist colleagues about the possible motives for her murder, the Lingayat theory was rarely mentioned. Nearly all of the tributes to her that appeared in newspapers in the days after her murder took for granted that she had been targeted because she was a journalist. It was a depressingly reasonable assumption, given how frequently journalists are attacked and murdered in India with impunity. The Committee to Protect Journalists has been keeping track of forty-two cases of Indian journalists murdered specifically for their work since 1992. Only three of these cases have resulted in a successful conviction. (In another case, police summarily executed the suspected killer.) Nonfatal attacks on journalists are tougher to track; journalists often don’t bother reporting attacks, knowing it will be a waste of time. In sixty-three cases of attacks on Indian journalists that the Thakur Foundation tracked between 2014 and 2018, none had resulted in a conviction.

			“There’s very little to stop someone from killing a journalist, because it’s so rarely prosecuted,” Steven Butler, the head of CPJ’s Asia program, told me in December 2017, three months after Gauri’s murder. “Crowds attack journalists. The police are really uninhibited about beating up journalists when they don’t like what they’re doing. There seems to be a license that people feel to attack journalists in India.” As we spoke, his phone buzzed: another journalist had been arrested in Kashmir.

			On average, an Indian journalist is murdered every few months. Late 2017 was an especially deadly season: within three months of Gauri’s death, one Indian journalist was beaten to death, in the northeastern state of Tripura, and two others were shot dead, in Tripura and in the northern state of Uttar Pradesh. But none of these other murders of journalists inspired anything comparable to the sustained, nationwide wave of protests that followed Gauri’s murder. In part the reaction can be attributed to region; murders of journalists are much less common in the South than in northern, northeastern, or central India, so the fact it had happened in Bangalore had come as a particular shock. “In this job, a lot of people get threats,” the Bangalore-based journalist Dhanya Rajendran told me, and she would know: a week before Gauri’s murder, Rajendran had been the subject of an unrelenting onslaught of online abuse from fans of a movie star whom she’d been mildly critical of. “But we don’t think those threats are going to get converted into real-life incidents, because whenever you hear of a journalist being shot dead in India, it’s always somewhere in Chhattisgarh, or Orissa, or Assam. So we never think it’s going to come to our doorsteps.”

			It was highly unusual, too, that Gauri was a woman—the only female Indian journalist anyone could think of who’d ever been murdered. But in several key ways her killing did fit the profile of a typical journalist murder in India. She didn’t belong to, and therefore didn’t enjoy the protection of, a major media conglomerate. She wrote about dangerous things: as one journalist points out, the three deadliest beats for an Indian reporter are crime, corruption, and politics—“three beats often closely intertwined.” Gauri wrote frequently, and often provocatively, about all three, especially politics. And she wrote in a language other than English.

			English is sometimes treated as India’s lingua franca, even more so than Hindi, whose speakers are concentrated in the North. And English newspapers have a disproportionate influence on the country’s elite. But English fluency is mostly limited to that small elite; only 4 percent of Indian print media is published in English. It’s the regional-language news media that is most important for most Indians. “By being intensely local, they [have] the capacity to generate intense local rage,” the newspaper scholar Robin Jeffrey writes about regional-language Indian journalists. “The nearness to readers—of the people written about and the language written in—[makes] such local reporting immensely potent within its own sphere.” Gauri Lankesh Patrike might have been tiny, but its uncompromising, sometimes jeeringly inflammatory Kannada-language reports on intensely local issues might have provoked an outsize backlash.

			The position of the press in India is a paradox: it’s exceptionally vigorous and unusually suppressed. India’s rate of print newspaper readership is the highest in the world, and these readers have over twenty thousand papers in over 180 languages to choose from. Several of the founders of independent India were themselves journalists: Gandhi, Nehru, and Ambedkar all founded and wrote prolifically for their own newspapers. India is one of the only countries in the world whose print newspaper circulation actually grew in the twenty-first century (although it’s finally begun to decline in the past few years, probably due to the belated but now widespread adoption of smartphones).

			India’s constitution promises its citizens the right to freedom of speech and expression—there’s no mention of freedom of the press—but then immediately stipulates a long list of exceptions, inviting governments to ban, if they wish, the utterance or publication of anything that might disturb public order, decency, morality, friendly relations with foreign states, and so on. India’s criminal code includes a number of laws that further restrict the press. It’s important to note that these laws were adopted wholesale from the colonial criminal code that the British designed explicitly to subjugate Indians, and their language remained intact even after India’s Parliament supposedly overhauled the code in December 2023. Section 292 outlaws obscenity. Section 300 outlaws any speech or even gestures “with deliberate intent to wound religious feelings.” Section 194A outlaws any speech that promotes “enmity between different groups” on any grounds whatsoever. You can imagine how broadly each of these laws might be interpreted, and they often are.

			Independent India has nearly always been ruled by one of two political parties: either the Indian National Congress or the BJP. Under the leadership of Mohandas Gandhi and Jawaharlal Nehru, the country’s first and longest-serving prime minister, Congress led the freedom struggle from the British. As with any political party that came to power by way of righteous revolution, it’s been degenerating embarrassingly from that moral pinnacle ever since. On paper Congress is a liberal, democratic-socialist party, but in practice its politics have become vague and opportunistic. The BJP is often described as right wing, a designation that fits in the sense that it’s a stridently religious-nationalist party. But the BJP’s economic policy is difficult to distinguish from Congress’s incoherent blend of crony capitalism and populist welfarism. Congress was India’s dominant political party throughout the twentieth century. The BJP has been the dominant political party of the twenty-first century. There’s been a lot of debate over which party has been more hostile to the press. That’s because both have been quite hostile indeed, especially in the last fifty years, but in different ways.

			The first big clampdown began in 1975. Prime Minister Indira Gandhi, who was Nehru’s daughter (but no relation to Mohandas Gandhi), was in the thick of a political crisis. On the night of June 25, she declared that India was in a state of “emergency,” which enabled her to rule by decree, demand perfect loyalty from government institutions, and have tens of thousands of her opponents imprisoned. Her first move was to crush the press. She ordered that police cut electricity to New Delhi’s newspaper district, and the capital awoke the next morning to a nearly newsless world. Over the twenty-one months that the emergency period lasted, she put over 250 journalists in jail. She forced four major news agencies to consolidate, the better to funnel the party line. She abolished the Press Council. At the time India had only one TV channel, the government-run broadcaster Doordarshan, and unlike her predecessors she insisted on personally censoring its news scripts before broadcast. For the most part, the press was compliant. Self-censorship picked up where Gandhi’s repressions left off; many newspapers became uselessly bland. As the BJP leader L. K. Advani later put it, journalists were told to bend and chose to crawl.

			And yet, as Robin Jeffrey writes in his book India’s Newspaper Revolution, “inside the bottle into which Mrs. Gandhi had jammed a cork in 1975, immense curiosity built up. Once she was defeated in the 1977 elections, tens of millions of people searched eagerly for news of what had happened around them” during the emergency. The unbottled press exploded. Newspaper circulations surged, and independent, inventive, outspoken new periodicals proliferated nationwide. The press shook off its longtime docility, seized its role as a check on government, and cultivated an incisive new tradition of investigative journalism. The 1980s and 1990s were a sort of golden age for Indian newspapers. It’s no surprise that this was the era when Gauri, Rajghatta, and P. Lankesh (Gauri’s father) all jumped in to journalism.

			The second big clampdown is now. The day after I met Rajghatta, I discussed the press climate with Ramachandra Guha, who is arguably the preeminent historian of independent India, a two-time biographer of Gandhi, and a regular columnist for three major Indian newspapers. We met where writers most often suggest meeting in Bangalore: Koshy’s Parade Café, the city’s coziest old sanctuary of fried food and surely its most famous restaurant.

			Guha said he had run into Gauri several times there. “She was a very likable, affectionate, warm, endearing person,” he said. “She was just very open. Even her arguments were open.” Koshy’s dining room has been open since 1952 and has apparently changed very little since: yellow walls with framed photographs of old Bangalore, brown wainscoting and seating, high ceilings with ever-spinning fans, and an aquarium built into the wall, glowing with purple light. The mustachioed waiters, some of whom have waited tables there for more than forty years, drift across the floor in white tunics carrying pewter coffeepots.

			The climate for journalism has been steadily worsening, Guha said, for ten or fifteen years. “One factor is the rise of right-wing fundamentalism,” he said. “The rise of intolerance, both religious-based and caste-based. But it’s not just political or ideological. It’s also connected to economic liberalization, and particularly the quick profits made on illegal mining of different kinds.”

			India’s extraordinary building boom during these years, he explained, means that crucial natural resources like sand and stone have suddenly found an easy, lucrative criminal market that’s often linked with crooked politicians. And many journalists who’ve tried to expose the horrifying environmental consequences of rampant mining—typically regional-language journalists—have been attacked or killed for doing so. This puts the journalists in an exceedingly tricky position. Illegal mine operators often try to pay off both local journalists and local police to ignore their operations. And the paid-off police might additionally pay the journalists to keep quiet about their own complicity. It’s not always easy to turn such money down. Regional journalists invariably make unlivable wages, and the alternative to getting payouts from police and miners is getting beaten by them. The now-widespread impression that regional journalists are in cahoots with crooks has tarnished the whole profession (and sometimes makes Indians less likely to sympathize when a journalist is murdered—because maybe it was just a swindle gone wrong).

			“That is one part of the story,” Guha said. “What has happened over the last two or three years”—since the BJP took power—“is an attempt by the government to intimidate and muzzle the press. Most TV channels are compromised. Most newspapers are afraid of taking on the ruling party.” Modi and his right-hand man, Amit Shah, “are more or less immune from criticism in large sections of the Indian press.”

			“In what form does the intimidation—” I started to ask.

			“Tax raid,” he said. Guha often started answering my questions before I finished asking them, always guessing accurately what I wanted to know. “That’s the most typical. Pressure on advertisers not to advertise. A call will come from a senior minister in the central government to a big firm, to the Ambanis, saying don’t advertise in January.”

			Indira Gandhi’s actions during the emergency have become emblematic of what state censorship of the press looks like, and for good reason: her suppression of the press was heavy-handed and unambiguous. “There was a face to the censor,” one journalist told me. What’s happening today is far murkier. “There is a kind of unstated threat, and many of the media, without a formal emergency, have just capitulated,” another journalist said. Rasmus Kleis Nielsen, director of research at the Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism, wrote in 2017 of “a creeping quiet spreading across India’s otherwise loud and lively journalism…an eerie silence on crucial matters even as the hustle and bustle of day-to-day reporting carries on.” A 2018 dispatch on Indian journalism by the Committee to Protect Journalists described an unprecedented climate of self-censorship and fear, reporting, “The media is in the worst state India has ever seen.” The free press in India isn’t dead—there are still many brave journalists reporting openly on what’s happening in the country. But their numbers are dwindling, they’ve been pushed to the margins, and their work now exists mostly online. There’s a dark joke that often circulates in countries that have found themselves in this ambiguous stage of repression, and now that joke is circulating in India: there’s freedom of speech, but no freedom after speech.

			Since taking office in 2014, Modi has only once taken questions at a press conference—when he visited the White House in 2023—and never in India. In 2014, a BJP minister started referring to the media as “presstitutes,” and BJP supporters have enthusiastically adopted the slur. “We should stop this habit of raising doubts and questioning the authorities and the police,” another BJP minister lectured the media in 2016. “This is not a good culture.”

			Multiple top news editors and broadcasters found themselves summarily ousted from their jobs long before their contracts expired if they persisted in criticizing the BJP government. Others resigned in protest. In 2016, one broadcast journalist published his resignation letter: “An agenda behind every news, an attempt to deify the Modi government as great in every news show, an attempt in every debate to ‘shoot’ down all of Modi’s opponents…. What is all this? Sometimes when I pause and think about it I feel as if I have gone mad.” The editor Sugata Srinivasaraju told me he’d been edged out of two big editorships during the Modi era. “They create an environment where you just can’t function, where you feel humiliated,” he said. Gauri, too, had had a taste of such treatment; in 2015 and 2016 she wrote a weekly column, in English, for the Bangalore Mirror. “Pressure was brought on the newspaper’s management to have the column stopped,” Guha wrote shortly before I met him. “To their eternal shame, the management succumbed.” She’d been using her paycheck from the Mirror to help fund her own paper.

			During Modi’s first term, there were countless examples of journalists forced out of their jobs, but one was especially illuminating: Punya Prasun Bajpai, the host of a popular news show called Masterstroke, which aired on a channel called ABP News. On June 20, 2018, Modi had appeared in a video in which a farmer told him that her income had doubled thanks to a government program. The following month, Bajpai aired a report claiming that the BJP had coached the farmer on what to say. After that broadcast, the channel became mysteriously difficult to tune in whenever Masterstroke was on the air. After a few weeks of this, Bajpai resigned, explaining that his boss at ABP had asked that he stop mentioning Modi’s name or showing his image, which Bajpai found to be a near impossibility on a show that covered politics. The day he resigned, ABP’s mysterious broadcasting glitches ceased.

			Soon after, Bajpai wrote an exposé, for a notably independent news website called The Wire, that offered rare insight into the government pressure campaign against news organizations. On the tenth floor of the headquarters of India’s Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Bajpai had discovered, works a two-hundred-person team devoted to monitoring India’s TV news channels, all day, every day, nationwide. Based on their reports, senior members of the team call the editors of those programs with directives on how the government wants their coverage to be adjusted—with a particular emphasis on their coverage of Modi and his loyal deputy, Amit Shah. The calls start off friendly. The directives are presented like suggestions. But if the editors demur, the government leans on the channel’s owners and advertisers, and government officials and spokespeople boycott the channel, until they submit. As the CEO of the news outlet Vice India wrote in an internal memo to her journalists, “We cannot get a call from Amit Shah.”

			Bajpai’s exposé was a bombshell, but for obvious reasons it was little repeated in other sectors of the media. In a follow-up article, Bajpai reported that the monitors were now being monitored, their phones confiscated upon arrival at work to help ensure no further leaks of their operations.

			At her own paper, Gauri had little of the reach of ousted editors and broadcasters like Bajpai. Their readers and viewers were often in the millions; hers were in the thousands. It’s unlikely that her paper was being monitored by the central government. What set it apart for outsize backlash was its eagerness not just to criticize but to mock. Gauri Lankesh Patrike was a tabloid in every sense, gleefully sensational and indifferent to decorum. Its mission was earnest, but its tone was typically puckish (often in ways that defy translation into English). The cover image on the issue published the week before Lankesh was murdered depicted the bald head of Amit Shah under the headline The Story of a Saffron Egg. (Saffron is Hindutva’s chosen color, and the headline nodded to a popular Kannada movie about a bald guy, The Story of an Egg.) “Did Gani eat cow dung?” taunted a cover line.

			“Everything on the cover was harsh,” Sugata Srinivasaraju told me. “A lot of times it was below the belt.” One frequently recurring example that seemed to especially annoy her opponents: Gauri’s paper almost exclusively referred to members of the RSS—the right-wing paramilitary group that is the BJP’s parent organization—as “chaddis,” a word that literally means “underpants,” in mockery of the khaki shorts that until recently were part of the RSS uniform.

			I asked Guha if he thought that Gauri’s rhetoric went overboard at times. “There is no such thing as overboard,” he insisted, and then pointedly paraphrased an adage that had been a favorite of the former BJP prime minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee: “The answer to a piece of writing is another piece of writing. It’s not murdering someone.”

			But in India it can be easy to get away with murdering someone. That’s what happens, Guha explained, in a country with wide freedoms but weak institutions. “In any free society, with freedom of movement, anyone can walk into my house and kill me, like they did with Gauri Lankesh,” he said, frowning over his porcelain cup of milky coffee. “In China you can’t be killed because everything is so controlled and regulated.” (And, indeed, China has one of the lowest murder rates in the world.) “Random violence against individuals and groups can never be removed in a free society. It’s impossible. In America, or in England, or in France, or in Sweden, you will have murders. But in a free society with robust public institutions and investigative agencies, with a competent and incorruptible police and judiciary, you’re likely to track down a fair proportion of perpetrators. You’ll never catch all the perpetrators—but the perpetrators are more likely to be caught and identified than in India.” The situation was getting worse, he said. Indian public institutions are declining steadily. “Law and order, the courts, the police, the Parliament—these were already weak and becoming more corroded every year. We have a flawed investigative system, and our police and judiciary are slow, lazy, and inefficient all across. The Karnataka police today is less capable than it was ten years ago. Likewise with the Bihar police or the Tamil Nadu police. This is all India.”

			I started to ask why this decline—

			“Excessive politicization,” he said. “Lack of autonomy. Policemen are promoted because of proximity to politicians. So the commissioner of police of Bangalore is not necessarily the one to best run the city. He’s the person of the right caste, right community, right contacts. But that’s true everywhere.”

			Guha sighed and looked around the time-capsule dining room. The waiters in their crisp white tunics drifted across the floor as they have for decades. A day after Gauri’s murder, Guha had said in an interview that the murderer was “very likely” affiliated with the network of the RSS. The BJP’s youth wing sent him a letter, written by a former BJP state attorney general, demanding that Guha apologize for the statement or face defamation charges. “Of course it’s all part of an attempt to silence and intimidate,” Guha told me. “The BJP, which is a cadre-based, ideological party, is increasingly a party of thugs and vigilantes. And that spreads. And so instead of making speeches, you intimidate and threaten. And of course there’s acquiescence from the top leadership. They never say anything. Amit Shah and Modi say nothing if violence is committed in the name of Hindutva—never.”

			Since her murder, Gauri had often been compared with Anna Politkovskaya, the Russian journalist who, like Gauri, had been a bold critic of her government and who had been shot dead outside her home in 2006. The human rights group RAW in WAR had posthumously honored Gauri with its annual Anna Politkovskaya Award. I asked Guha if he thought the comparison was overstated.

			“No, no, there are parallels,” he said. “Patriarchal societies cannot abide independent-minded women. And we are an extremely patriarchal society still. A brave woman journalist in a country like India, or Russia, or Iran, or Turkey is more vulnerable than a brave male journalist.”

			It might have been rare for a woman journalist to be murdered as Gauri was, but women journalists in India are subject to vastly more threats than their male counterparts. “It has become increasingly clear to many of us,” wrote Ammu Joseph, a founder of the journalist collective Network of Women in Media, India, “that there is a special kind of hostility, even hatred—especially in certain quarters—towards women who are strong, have strong views, are unafraid of voicing their opinions and of taking action based on their convictions.” Joseph told me that online harassment and abuse of women journalists had distinctly increased in the year or so before Gauri’s murder. “With women it’s almost always threats to rape or throw acid at them,” she said. But after Gauri’s murder, “you can’t now look at online abuse like something you can just ignore. In her case, in fact, it’s almost like the online abuse has moved into the real world.”

			Much of this harassment emerges directly from the BJP’s own army of boosters and trolls, many of them paid, coordinated by the BJP’s social media office, which it calls its IT Cell. “We should be capable of delivering any message to the public, whether sweet or sour, true or fake,” Amit Shah said of the IT Cell at a party meeting.

			“It was a never-ending drip feed of hate and bigotry against the minorities, the Gandhi family, journalists on the hit list, liberals, anyone perceived as anti-Modi,” the journalist Swati Chaturvedi quoted one former volunteer as saying in her book about the IT Cell, I Am a Troll. One journalist who’s been a particular target of such threats is Rana Ayyub, a friend of Gauri’s best known for her book Gujarat Files, an undercover investigation into the BJP’s complicity in violence against Muslims (which Gauri had published in a Kannada translation). In an essay for The New York Times Ayyub went public with her experience: Her face was grafted on a pornographic video. She was doxxed with both her home address and phone number. Fake tweets circulated widely, doctored to look as if she’d advocated the rape of children in the name of Islam. When she first complained to the police about such attacks, they suggested she get a gun.

			On September 14, nine days after Gauri’s murder, an unknown number of journalists in and around Delhi started receiving anonymous WhatsApp messages threatening them with Gauri’s fate. “Why was Gauri Lankesh killed?” the message read in part, in Hindi. “Because she was a journalist…because Gauri used to write against the Modi government. She used to write against RSS and BJP. She was a traitor. She was antinationalist and anti-Hindu. Now if anyone in this country dares to write anything against Modi, RSS, or BJP, they will not be spared. They will be eliminated along with the Muslims.” Weirdly, some of the journalists who received this message didn’t cover politics at all; some couldn’t point to a single article they’d written that had been particularly controversial. Whoever wrote it seemed to be issuing a blanket threat to the press. The messenger didn’t claim to be responsible for Gauri’s murder, but seemed to be using it simply as a handy, topical reference to drive home the fear.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 4

			Throwing Muck

			RAMACHANDRA GUHA WASN’T THE ONLY person who thought that Gauri’s murder would be traced to some element associated with the RSS. Some pointed to the words of a BJP legislator from northern Karnataka just a month before Gauri was shot. “If I were the Home Minister of this country, I would have issued an order to shoot all these so-called intellectuals for talking badly about the country,” he said. “They enjoy facilities of our country, consume our air and water, but they shout slogans against our nation.” Some of Gauri’s allies insisted that regardless of the triggerman’s organizational affiliation, the RSS was responsible, even if only for creating a climate of violence that made such murders possible. For his part, Narendra Modi never issued a word about Gauri’s assassination, a silence that felt significant given the global outrage it had attracted. Local BJP politicians mostly offered brief condemnations of the murder and left it at that. But a BJP legislator named D. N. Jeevaraj allowed himself some speculation: “Gauri Lankesh used harsh words against the RSS workers, and I respect that. But that might have been the reason for her death.” If she hadn’t criticized the RSS, he asked, “would she still be alive today?”

			I thought it would be worth asking the BJP directly about their perspective on her murder, and when I called the state BJP office, a party spokesman named S. Prakash was happy to arrange a meeting.

			The next morning I went to BJP headquarters, a boxy, saffron-colored building with three stories of wraparound balconies in northwestern Bangalore. The building was crowded with party members and leaders for a big meeting in anticipation of state elections in May. Five BJP representatives met me in the building’s library, including Malavika Avinash—the actress turned BJP spokesperson who’d known Gauri since childhood and who had joined the crowd at her house the night of her murder. As we spoke, a growing assemblage of BJP men crowded against the library’s glass door to catch a glimpse of her.

			“The investigation agencies are clueless about the assailant,” Prakash said. “Whoever is indulging in this crime is smarter than the state police.” He emphasized the lack of any public evidence connecting the murder to the Hindu right wing and complained that the Congress Party was playing politics with the case. “Throwing muck is easy,” Prakash said. “Justify it now.”

			“See, there are two versions to this story,” Avinash said. “Everyone has their own conspiracy theory about who might have killed her or who would have benefited by killing her.” The theory Avinash pointed to was that she’d been killed by the underground Maoist revolutionaries known as Naxalites. In recent years, Gauri had leveraged her access to the state’s chief minister, Siddaramaiah, in an attempt to ease tensions between police and Naxalites in Karnataka. As part of a group called the Citizens’ Initiative for Peace, she’d acted as a liaison between the state government and Naxalites who wanted to forswear violence and reenter society. In 2014, she’d helped negotiate the emergence of nine Naxalites who’d given up arms. To the BJP members, this suggested two possible motives for Gauri’s murder: that the ex-Naxalites were unhappy with the terms of their armistice or that those who remained underground were angry at Gauri’s role in the defections. “There were allegations that she perhaps, in a sense, sold them to the state government,” Avinash said, taking care to float the theory without fully endorsing it. “These discussions were all out in the newspapers. It’s not like we imagined these stories. But nobody knows who did it yet.”

			Prakash wanted to bring to my attention an urgent counter-allegation: since the current Congress Party government came to power in Karnataka four years earlier, he said, no fewer than twenty-four Hindutva activists had been murdered in the state. Gauri’s murder had become an international cause célèbre—as my own presence at this very meeting proved. But no one seemed to care about these twenty-four Hindutva victims. “They may not be as popular as Gauri Lankesh, but they are also human beings,” Prakash said. “They have also been shot mercilessly.”

			At first the BJP representatives spoke cautiously to me about Gauri, but soon their complaints began tumbling out. They repeatedly accused her of yellow journalism, of Hindu bashing, and of “character assassination” against them (an unfortunate choice of words about the victim of a literal assassination). “She was extremely scathing,” Avinash said. “Language that was unbecoming of a journalist.” Anytime they sensed they were piling on too much, they added the caveat that murder, of course, was wrong. “She did live in a very remote place,” Avinash said. “She lived alone and didn’t care, really. She should have perhaps cared for her own safety.”

			Outside the room, the BJP members gathered for the upcoming meeting had erupted into increasingly loud chants of party slogans. After our interview concluded, I followed the noise downstairs and found a crowd festively hoisting a newly minted BJP legislator on their shoulders; they were celebrating the recent defections to the BJP of several politicians from rival parties. In the crowd I met a friendly middle-aged journalist named S. A. Hemantha Kumar. When Kumar learned I was writing about Gauri, he excitedly gave me a copy of an issue of the magazine he writes for, a right-wing weekly called Uday India, with a cover story on Gauri. Kumar’s own article described her as “a so-called journalist with a devious agenda, dubious character & malicious intent.”

			He in turn introduced me to Sabitha Rao, a former reporter for a mainstream newspaper called the Deccan Herald who now works for the BJP. They, too, advanced the theory that Naxalites had killed Gauri, and complained that the police were trying to frame the right wing. They pointed to a press conference that the Special Investigation Team had held in mid-October, at which they’d presented three police sketches of possible suspects. One of the sketches showed a person with a side part in his hair, a mustache, and a tilak—a marking that some Hindus wear on their foreheads. “This is something ominous,” Kumar said. As seen in the CCTV footage captured at Gauri’s house, the killers were both wearing full-cover motorcycle helmets. Many on the right complained that it would have been impossible to see his forehead at all. “Is it not a desperate attempt to fix some Hindutva forces?” Kumar asked. “From day one, the police were prejudiced.”

			It would have been impossible, he said, for Hindutva activists to have committed such a murder. “They’re all hot-blooded young youths who are given to emotions and passions,” he said. “I’ve spoken to a psychologist. He said those who are very emotional and passionate, they can’t be thinking like a professional killer. They cannot. It takes a lot of planning. You have to be really ruthless and brutal in your thinking. Very cold-blooded.”

			He repeatedly insinuated that she made money by rehabilitating Naxalites and that she used her paper to blackmail her targets. “She had a concern for the poor, no doubt about it,” he said of Gauri. “She was a very passionate person, eccentric and perverse. Pervert thinking. She had no children. A strange marriage. But she had a lot of boyfriends. That has nothing to do with it, just telling you. She was taking drugs as of late.”

			“Substances,” Rao said.

			“She was drinking, she was smoking, she had taken to drugs,” Kumar continued. “She lived alone. Huge house.” (For the record, the house is not at all huge, and her mother owned it.) “She was not a good journalist.”

			“Very coarse,” Rao said.

			“Very coarse,” Kumar agreed. “But ultimately, killing is sad. Killing is not acceptable. You cannot justify it.”

			This seemed like the final word, until Rao added: “She behaved like a sixteen-year-old. She was always living on the edge. Reckless, I’d say. She paid for it.”

			I resumed wandering the BJP headquarters. Nearly everyone I spoke to emphasized the twenty-four Hindutva activists they said had been murdered: by “terrorists,” one legislator said; by “Muslim fundamentalists,” said another. They seemed exasperated that I was lavishing so much attention on an already famous case while ignorant of these murders that had hit so close to home for them. And I was ignorant: before entering the BJP building, I’d heard nothing about these twenty-four murders. It gave me pause. Was I living in a bubble where I only cared about murder victims I found sympathetic?

			On the top floor I found Shobha Karandlaje, a member of Parliament whom Gauri had often sparred with, including in one of her final editorials. “Shobha wants to set fires with her stupidities in order to win in the coming elections and become a minister,” Gauri wrote. “Her madness will surely bring ruin to the state.”

			Karandlaje smiled diplomatically when I asked what she thought of Gauri. “She was a nice person,” she said. I asked her what she thought about the allegations that the plot to assassinate Gauri had emerged from some element of the Sangh Parivar, as the network of RSS-affiliated organizations is known. “Sangh Parivar does not believe in killings,” she said. “Not at all. Not even the Muslims.”

			

			•   •   •

			I HADN’T MENTIONED ANYTHING about Muslims, but it was telling that Karandlaje did. For all the BJP members’ talk to me about a Naxalite conspiracy, it is a party obsessed, above all, with Muslims—with getting revenge on Muslims, with putting them in their place, and then with riding that suppression to electoral victory.

			The Bharatiya Janata Party (which means Indian People’s Party) was founded in 1980, but its origins go back to 1925, the founding year of its parent organization, the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh (National Volunteer Organization). The RSS is the most powerful organization in India and the largest and most powerful hard-right organization in the world. When RSS critics describe the group as “fascist,” they don’t just mean it in the loose but pungent way in which progressives call any hard-right group “fascist” in the twenty-first century. At its foundation, the RSS took its inspiration quite directly from Nazism and Italian fascism. The mentor of the RSS’s founder, K. B. Hedgewar, after meeting with Benito Mussolini, wrote that the Italian fascists offered a model for Hindu society to militarize itself, and the RSS explicitly patterned its structure after the Italian fascist youth organization Opera Nazionale Balilla. M. S. Golwalkar, who led the RSS for thirty-three years and who was a hero to both BJP prime ministers, wrote in his 1939 manifesto, We, or Our Nationhood Defined, that the Nazis’ “purging the country of the Semitic races—the Jews”—was “a good lesson for us in Hindustan to learn and profit by.” In another passage, he specified whom he thought should be purged: “Ever since that evil day, when Moslems first landed in Hindustan, right up to the present moment, the Hindu Nation has been gallantly fighting on to take on these despoilers. The Race Spirit has been awakening.”

			The RSS was founded and developed at precisely the period when the freedom movement aimed at ousting the British was at its peak. But the RSS’s militarization project was never aimed at the British, and almost no one from the Hindutva right wing contributed in any meaningful way to the freedom movement. They were militarizing against Indian Muslims, whom they viewed as aliens. Golwalkar wrote that Muslims must “adopt the Hindu culture and language, must learn to respect and hold in reverence Hindu religion, must entertain no idea but those of the glorification of the Hindu race and culture.”

			Even if the RSS didn’t join the freedom movement, its ideology was a direct response to the insults of colonialism. The Hindutva project can be seen as a continuation of bewildered British colonial efforts to codify and streamline Hinduism in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. British missionaries disdained Hindus as superstitious, polytheistic idolaters; in reaction, the RSS promoted a vision of Hinduism that drastically narrowed its extraordinary multiplicity to both Brahminize it and align it more closely with the Abrahamic template. British bigots stereotyped Hindus as a “puny race”; in reaction, the RSS emphasized physical strength and valorized violence. (This is one reason that the RSS despises the skinny, adamantly nonviolent Mohandas Gandhi; Narendra Modi’s frequent boast that he has a “fifty-six-inch chest” is an obvious rejoinder.) And the RSS’s polarization of Hindus and Muslims is a continuation of the British colonial project of divide and rule.

			But European fascism and British colonialism are not the RSS’s only models. Another inspiration, somewhat ironically, is conservative Islam. The RSS assimilates the qualities it perceives and envies in its Muslim enemy: community, unity, masculinity, aggression. Hedgewar’s mentor wrote that he appreciated “the Muslims for the virile vigilance with which they protect their racial interests…which, alas, is visibly lacking in the present-day Hindu race.” The RSS vision of India is an explicitly Hindu country, just as Pakistan is an explicitly Muslim country. Hindutva is becoming more like its enemy in order to fight it, or simply because it’s grown so obsessed with the enemy that it can’t help mirroring it.

			The Indian government has banned the RSS three times. The first ban, which lasted for over a year, came immediately after Gandhi’s assassination in 1948. Gandhi’s assassin, Nathuram Godse, was a direct protégé of the RSS leader Golwalkar. His motivation, he said, was that “Gandhi had betrayed his Hindu religion and culture by supporting Muslims at the expense of Hindus.” The RSS distributed sweets in celebration of the murder.

			Over the next fifty years, the RSS established a vast, pan-Indian ideological network known as the Sangh Parivar, or “family of organizations,” which extends from the center of power to the fringe, with dozens of groups ranging from think tanks of elite ideologues to gangs of battle-ready street toughs. (Because the RSS is the parent group of the Sangh Parivar “family,” the terms “RSS,” “Sangh Parivar,” and simply “the Sangh” are often used interchangeably.) But despite the RSS’s explosive growth, its electoral wing, the BJP, had limited success until near century’s end. A host of economic, cultural, and political factors changed its fortunes.

			One major factor was the long decline of the Congress Party, which had once been almost synonymous with the freedom movement and with the very idea of independent, pluralist India; by the late 1990s it seemed to stand only for patronage, dynasty, and corruption. Another was the BJP’s successful inflammation of anti-Muslim sentiment, particularly in the small city of Ayodhya in the vast northern state of Uttar Pradesh. Barely bigger than a town, with a population well under 100,000, Ayodhya nonetheless looms large as the legendary birthplace of the god-king Rama in the Ramayana and the city from which he wielded his perfect rule. For decades, Hindutva groups had been whipping up outrage over the Babri Masjid, a 450-year-old Mughal mosque that they insisted had been constructed on the very spot where Rama was born. In 1990, the BJP organized an enormous, angry pilgrimage to the site, igniting riots all along its ten-thousand-kilometer route. Their efforts culminated on December 6, 1992, when a mob numbering more than three times Ayodhya’s entire population descended on the Babri Masjid and used hammers, axes, and bare hands to tear it down to the ground. Ensuing nationwide riots left over two thousand people dead, mostly Muslims. (A Pakistani poet wrote in response: “So it turned out you were just like us!”)

			In the 1998 elections, the BJP handed Congress its worst-ever defeat. Atal Bihari Vajpayee was elected prime minister, but only as part of a coalition that required the BJP to tamp down its hard-line positions. The party reached its pinnacle only with the rise of Narendra Damodardas Modi. Born in the western state of Gujarat on September 17, 1950, Modi joined the RSS at age eight and as a teenager became a pracharak, or full-time RSS activist. (Among other things, he helped run logistics for the Ayodhya agitations.) His political talents were so deft that in the fall of 2001, Prime Minister Vajpayee appointed him chief minister of Gujarat, even though he’d never run for any office.

			The crisis that defined Modi’s political career began on February 27, 2002. That morning, a train carrying a rowdy group of Hindutva activists returning from Ayodhya to Gujarat made a stop in the city of Godhra, whose station happens to be located in the middle of a dense Muslim slum. On the train platform, the activists started harassing Muslim tea vendors, and a rumor spread through the slum that the activists were kidnapping Muslim girls. The situation quickly spiraled out of control. In a horrible climax that recalled the worst atrocities of partition—and remains perhaps the most disputed moment in modern Indian history—a mob of local Muslims attacked the train, and a train car went up in flames; the cause of the fire is a particular point of dispute. Fifty-nine people burned to death, including twenty-five women and fourteen children.

			Modi arrived in Godhra at 2:00 p.m. the same day and made a televised address the same evening, describing the fire as a “pre-planned attack,” contrary to local official descriptions. His government ordered that the bodies be transferred to Ahmedabad, the largest city in Gujarat, where an RSS group paraded the corpses through the streets. Modi told the press that Godhra “was a one-sided collective violent act of terrorism from one community.” The situation was clearly incredibly volatile, yet police seemed to disappear from the streets.

			In the days that followed, Hindutva activists launched an almost entirely unchecked assault on the state’s Muslim population: gang-raping, dismembering, burning them alive. The violence is most often referred to as the Gujarat riots but merits the more specific term “pogrom”: NGO estimates place the number of dead at more than two thousand, overwhelmingly Muslim, and tens of thousands of Muslims were driven from their homes.

			Modi made no appearances at the sites of violence and delivered no statements or speeches. He never expressed the slightest remorse for presiding over one of the worst pogroms against Muslims since partition, unless one counts a single quotation that he gave to Reuters in 2013: “If someone else is driving a car and we’re sitting behind, even then if a puppy comes under the wheel, will it be painful or not? Of course it is. If I’m a chief minister or not, I’m a human being. If something bad happens anywhere, it is natural to be sad.” He chose instead the role of majoritarian strongman who never apologizes.

			The 2002 pogrom is often cited as a stain on Modi’s political career. In fact, it was his launching pad. It is a truism of Indian politics that communal violence tends to heighten communal identity at election time. This sentiment is particularly sensitive in Gujarat, which has a long, complicated history with Islam. Over a thousand years ago, it was one of the first regions of India to be invaded by Muslims; now it shares a border with Pakistan, and when the two countries went to war in 1965, Gujarat was a battlefield. Casual anti-Muslim prejudice pervades the state. Given this dynamic, Modi saw an advantage in the pogrom. He moved the next state elections up to December and called his election campaign a Gaurav Yatra—a pride pilgrimage. Throughout his campaign he was introduced as Hindu Hriday Samrat (the Emperor of Hindu Hearts). He framed criticism of his government’s conduct during the pogrom as an attack on the honor of Gujaratis generally and presented himself as the guardian of that threatened honor. His speeches were full of digs against his Muslim constituents. “Relief camps are actually child-making factories,” Modi said at an election rally, referring to the thousands of Muslims whom the pogrom had rendered homeless. “Those who keep on multiplying the population should be taught a lesson.” When the election came, Modi won Gujarat bigger than ever—especially in the districts most heavily hit by the violence.

			For the past two decades it’s been endlessly speculated, but never definitively proved, whether Modi abetted the pogrom or merely allowed it to happen. His behavior was questionable enough that he was denied visas to visit both the United States and the U.K.—until he was elected prime minister of India. (One brave member of Modi’s state cabinet, Haren Pandya, told both a newsmagazine and a tribunal investigating the pogrom that Modi had, in private, given explicit instructions to police not to stop the rioters; he spoke anonymously for fear of being assassinated. In March 2003, he was shot dead outside his home.) Given his position as chief minister and his long history as a top RSS leader in the state of Gujarat—including as the longtime coordinator of the very groups most responsible for the violence—it is unimaginable that Modi had no influence over what occurred. But he pulled it off perfectly: everyone knows he’s responsible for how the pogrom played out, so he’s forever a hero to those who approve of it, but there’s no direct proof, so he can’t be held culpable. The more the English-language media and rival political parties blamed Modi for the pogrom, the more his fans thrilled to his strongmanship.

			Just as significant as what the Modi government did or did not do during the pogrom is what it did after. In prosecuting the Godhra train burning, state police and prosecutors were zealous and aggressive, charging the accused under terrorism law and inventing a preposterous and illogical conspiracy theory that implicated local Muslim religious and political leaders, and bribing and torturing witnesses to go along with the story—which the courts accepted. In prosecuting the Gujarat pogrom, police and prosecutors were anemic, indifferent, and almost entirely ineffectual, sometimes suppressing or falsifying evidence that would have supported the cases that they were supposed to be pursuing and often treating the victims with open hostility.

			

			•   •   •

			AFTER WINNING THE 2002 ELECTIONS in Gujarat, Modi backed away from explicitly endorsing Hindu nationalism in his speeches; the pogrom spoke for itself. He focused on promoting a new identity: Vikas Purush, or Development Man. Gujarat had paid a heavy economic toll for the pogrom; now Modi presented himself as its economic savior. He deftly curried the favor of top industrialists, offering them deregulation and special economic zones. In typical populist style, Modi promised much to the poor and delivered little, but successfully conflated corporate investment with widespread economic uplift in the minds of voters.

			When it came to image building, Modi was a restless innovator. In 2007, the BJP started handing out Modi masks, which were an instant hit, inspiring crowds of both men and women to wear his face. Modi launched his first TV channel, Vande Gujarat (Praise Gujarat), in 2007, and a second, simply called NaMo, in 2012. That same year he started deploying holograms of himself so that he could hold multiple rallies simultaneously. His near-total avoidance of journalists helped keep his carefully constructed image intact, lending him an air of infallibility.

			He also cultivated a sense of victimhood. “Of all the chief ministers that the country has seen in the last sixty years,” he said in a speech, “I have suffered the maximum injustice.” Between 2002 and 2006, Gujarat police claimed to have thwarted no fewer than ten assassins conspiring to kill Modi. In each case, the accused were Muslim, and in each case police shot the supposed assassins dead before they could carry out their alleged plans. Modi boasted in speeches that “jihadis” wanted him dead. With each assassination allegation, Modi’s popularity rose. It turned out that police had been seeking Modi’s favor by bumping off Muslims, some of them petty crooks, in fake “encounters,” and then claiming they were gunning for Modi. After one group of cops was found out and arrested, the encounter killings stopped. “All of a sudden the terrorists have stopped coming to kill Modi,” a lawyer for the victims’ families noted wryly. But the killings served their purpose: they had the triple effect of vilifying Muslims, whipping up public fear of terrorism, and making Modi look like a threatened but unkillable hero.

			In the 2014 national elections, Prime Minister Manmohan Singh of the Congress Party declined to seek a third term. He passed the torch to the seemingly inevitable Rahul Gandhi, whose father, grandmother, and great-grandfather had all served as prime minister. Modi ran on the “Gujarat model”; his campaign slogan was “Achhe din aane waale hain,” or “Good days are coming.” He dodged all discussion of the 2002 pogrom. The alarming authoritarian qualities of his chief ministership—the extrajudicial killings, the intimidation of the press, the brazen manipulation of the police and the judiciary—went almost entirely undiscussed.

			For the national stage, Modi expanded his use of holograms, broadcasting his image to a hundred locations at a time. His speaking style had become famous: macho, authoritative, sarcastic, sometimes almost scolding, always delivered as a direct address to common people. He likes to refer to himself in the third person—“Modi does not lose, does not die”—and often boasts, especially about his tireless work ethic, but also about his mythic childhood and feats of daring. (He has claimed that as a boy he liked to swim in a lake full of crocodiles and that he’s able to survive the ingestion of any kind of poison.) Like Trump—and like Gauri—he has a penchant for assigning insulting nicknames to his opponents. He called Rahul “shehzada,” a title for a Muslim crown prince; his Italian-born mother, Sonia Gandhi, he called “Pastaben,” or Sister Pasta; the Congress government he referred to as “the Delhi Sultanate.”

			Callow and unconvincing, Rahul Gandhi was no match. Modi’s party—and there was no doubt that the BJP fully belonged to Modi now—won the first absolute majority in the Indian Parliament since 1984 (although with just 31 percent of the vote, due to the oddities of the Indian system). Congress had its worst defeat in history.

			

			•   •   •

			BJP POLITICIANS WERE NOT the only ones advancing the theory that Gauri had been murdered by Naxalites. Gauri’s brother, Indrajit, suspected Naxalites, too.

			Indrajit met me poolside at Bangalore’s Grand Mercure hotel. A well-built forty-eight-year-old with a shaved head, aviator sunglasses, and an air of celebrity, he was waiting to meet the music director of his next film, a biopic of a South Indian soft-core porn actress named Shakeela. As a film director, Indrajit is unapologetically commercial, best known for launching the screen careers of models turned actresses. (The Bangalore-raised Bollywood superstar Deepika Padukone made her first appearance in an Indrajit Lankesh film.) “I’m not running an acting school and am not looking at making arthouse cinema,” he said in an interview shortly before Gauri’s death. “Naturally, I have to look at the glamour aspect and I need women who look good on screen. Of course, I do need them to be able to act to some extent.”

			Indrajit has two other careers beyond filmmaking: On TV, he has a regular role as a sort of hype man on a sketch-comedy show called Majaa Talkies. And ever since his father, P. Lankesh, died, Indrajit has been the publisher of Lankesh Patrike, the newspaper his father founded. Indrajit’s version of Lankesh Patrike is hard to find a copy of, and it’s not online; those few I met who’ve read it say it is void of interest or merit.

			I was surprised at the number of people I interviewed who were quick to berate Indrajit on the record as soon as his name arose. “I’m sorry to say, he is a fool,” the playwright Girish Karnad told me. “He’s a really well-rounded idiot,” the journalist Krishna Prasad said. Those were among the milder comments. I’m not sure exactly what’s going on there, but I think it has at least something to do with the impossible standard set by a parent whose genius is undisputed. Gauri, it’s clear, loved Indrajit deeply. One family friend told me that Gauri and her sister, Kavitha, “used to fight over him. If he came to one sister’s house, he had to go another day to the other sister’s house so that they can’t say, oh, he came to my house twice. They were crazy about him.”

			From the outset of our meeting Indrajit seemed troubled and tense. “She was like my second mother,” he said of Gauri. “She was very, very strong in whatever she stood for, but inside she was a very soft person, a very lovable person. She went through a lot of problems in life, personal problems, but she never showed it to anybody. That’s the best part of her. Today I feel so proud about her. You don’t get Gauri’s personality every day.”

			When the subject turned to the murder, Indrajit immediately floated the Naxalite theory. He made pointed mention of her final tweets, in which she cautioned against infighting and used the word “comrades.”

			“You know what ‘comrades’ means, right? Comrades is the left; it’s the Naxals,” Indrajit said, with growing agitation. “Why? I’m just asking, why? Why have you not investigated that angle?”

			He was agonized that the SIT had publicly released the CCTV footage that clearly shows Gauri getting gunned down. He felt that the upcoming state elections, in May, were “definitely, definitely, definitely” affecting the investigation. And he sensed vultures closing in from every direction. “They want to politically benefit from it, everyone and anyone—I mean, not just the politicians, but some of the people who are close to her, everybody wants to take a piece of the cake,” he said. “There is nothing happening, and everybody wants to take political benefit and mileage of it.”

			He was at odds with Kavitha over the direction of the investigation. Kavitha still wanted to give the SIT a chance to finish their work, while Indrajit, since the day after Gauri’s murder, had been insisting that the case be handed instead to the Central Bureau of Investigation (the Indian equivalent of the FBI). These stances had political connotations, given that the SIT answered to the Congress-led state government, while the CBI answered to the BJP-led national government. “The biggest joke is, they gave these sketches and put a tilak on the forehead,” he said of the SIT. “It is so pathetic. It’s a joke. To show that some Hindu extremists have done it, they just put tilak on the forehead and released those pictures. This is the reason why I’m, like, maybe cynical, or maybe against them or whatever. Because they want to have their own narratives, instead of catching the real culprits.”

			For months, Indrajit had been flirting with joining the BJP, but hadn’t yet committed. On July 8, 2017, a conservative Lingayat group held an event at Bangalore Town Hall titled “Leaders on the Path of Basavanna.” Their primary guests were Indrajit, the former BJP chief minister B. S. Yediyurappa, and the BJP legislator Shobha Karandlaje. “Yediyurappa is a new-age Basavanna,” Indrajit said onstage. “I will be his disciple.”

			It was an inapt comparison. Basavanna was unequivocal in his rejection of temples, rituals, and caste. While in office as Karnataka’s first BJP chief minister, Yediyurappa allocated three billion rupees from the state budget to Hindu temples and monasteries and at one point, it was alleged, had practiced untouchability by refusing to eat food in the home of a Dalit constituent. His term was cut short when he was arrested and jailed on corruption charges. Even Yediyurappa himself declined Indrajit’s analogy, pointing out, accurately, that Indrajit’s father, P. Lankesh, would never have assigned such honorifics to a politician. “Walk on his path,” Yediyurappa advised him. “Do not give such titles to anybody.” Kavitha told me that Gauri cried when she learned that Indrajit had participated in the event, and said that their father would be turning in his grave.

			“I’m a fan of Yediyurappa, so people thought that I’m getting into a political party, and they misquoted me, or quoted me, whatever it is,” he said. He insisted that his political differences with Gauri hadn’t come between them. “In forty-eight years of interaction with my sister, I’ve never fought with her, and we never argued,” he said.

			I knew they’d had at least one big fight. In the year 2005, they argued so bitterly over the paper’s coverage of the Naxalite movement that Indrajit fired Gauri as the editor of Lankesh Patrike, which is what prompted her to launch her own paper, Gauri Lankesh Patrike. And I’d heard rumors that amid that argument Indrajit pulled a gun on Gauri. I gingerly asked him if there was any truth to the story.

			In response Indrajit laughed bitterly and spoke very deliberately. He said that she made up the story because she was so upset that he’d fired her. “We had to tell her that you are not going to continue as editor, so in retaliation she said this, that I showed her the gun or whatever it is,” he said, adding that he’d wanted to file a defamation case against her. It “never, never, never happened,” he said. He laughed with exasperation. “How can I show a gun to my sister?”

			He acknowledged that Gauri had reported the incident to the police, but he said he had a B report, also known as a cancellation report—a police document stating that there was not sufficient evidence to file charges against him. He had a picture of it on his phone, which he showed to me briefly, but he wouldn’t share it with me, and his music director had arrived, so he drew the interview to a close.

			

			•   •   •

			FOR SEVERAL WEEKS IN early 2018, more than a hundred activists had been holding a sit-in protest on the grounds of an ashram in central Bangalore. Their cause, trumpeted from dozens of colorful banners and placards, was land reform; their chief demand was five acres of cultivable land for each landless family in Karnataka. In the back of a large tent that served as their headquarters, I found H. S. Doreswamy, who at a hundred years old was the demonstration’s most eminent organizer. One of the oldest surviving leaders of the Indian freedom movement, Doreswamy had been jailed both by the British and during the emergency. Gauri called him “the rock star of Karnataka,” because, she wrote, “no politician, actor, writer or thinker can rock the conscience of the state like this man does.”

			As a young freedom fighter Doreswamy used to tie bombs to the tails of rats and throw them into British document rooms, until Gandhi inspired him to embrace the path of satyagraha, the first rule of which is nonviolence. Like a true Gandhian, he kept as his only possessions a couple sets of homespun cotton clothes, surviving on the modest pension that the Indian government grants to freedom fighters. Along with Gauri he was one of the leaders of the Citizens’ Initiative for Peace that had helped former Naxalites negotiate with the government. “Gauri was a fighting cock,” Doreswamy told me. “She was always for the poor and the downtrodden.”

			I’d come to the protest to meet one of those ex-Naxalites: Noor Zulfikar, an unassuming, bookish-looking fellow with soft features and glasses. As part of his negotiations with the government he had to face criminal charges in four cases (all of which have since been dismissed). Two were gun charges, and the others were that he’d gone to a house and threatened the occupants if they didn’t give him food and that he’d set fire to a motorbike belonging to a landlord.

			It was difficult to match Zulfikar’s mousy appearance with such allegations until he started talking. “Armed struggle is the highest form of struggle,” he told me. “It is the right of the people to rebel if the state negates all their democratic rights. But in the present condition, that is not the situation.” Therefore, he said, he’d concluded that it was foolish to keep pushing for violent revolution in India, and the government should give a fair hearing to Naxalites who want to give up that particular fight. Gauri, he said, had been crucial in persuading the state government to negotiate with them. “Without her,” he said, “we cannot imagine our new life and new struggle.”

			He laughed bitterly when I asked him about the theory that Naxalites had killed Gauri. “It is all bullshit,” he said. He said that Naxalites would never kill a journalist and that he maintained good relations with the Naxalites who remained underground. “Even they have very high regard for Gauri,” he said. “It is unimaginable.”

			It isn’t quite true that Naxalites would never kill a journalist. It might have been true of his particular comrades in Karnataka, but Naxalites elsewhere in India have certainly, if rarely, targeted the press. But as far as I can tell, no Naxalite ever threatened Gauri or ever commented approvingly on her murder. When I asked Gauri’s lawyer, B. T. Venkatesh, what he made of the Naxalite theory, he had a good laugh. “It’s absolute nonsense,” he said. “If there’s ever been a beneficiary of Gauri’s work, it’s Naxalites. She believed in their values. She believed in their ideals. Only thing she said is that their method is absolutely stupid.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 5

			The Pattern

			THERE WAS ANOTHER REASON it was unlikely that Gauri had been killed by Naxalites. Her murder fit into a pattern of murders, none of whose other victims had any affiliation with Naxalites.

			The through line was a modus operandi. Between 2013 and 2015, there’d been three other notable unsolved assassinations committed by two men on a motorcycle. Unlike Gauri, all three of the earlier victims were old men, and all had been shot in the daytime: First the doctor and activist Narendra Dabholkar, aged sixty-seven, in the city of Pune, in the state of Maharashtra, which neighbors Karnataka to the north. Then the lawyer and communist organizer Govind Pansare, aged eighty-one, in Kolhapur, also in Maharashtra. Then the scholar M. M. Kalburgi, aged seventy-six, in Dharwad, in Karnataka. All four victims, including Gauri, had been shot point-blank with a 7.65 mm pistol. All four had been outspoken against India’s political turn to the right. They had varying degrees of influence, but all four victims were little known beyond their particular regions. Perhaps incidentally, all four had reputations for being unusually dedicated and selfless in their work. If you take a map of India and connect the points where the first murder took place to the fourth—an itinerary of five hundred miles from Dabholkar to Pansare to Kalburgi to Gauri—the line goes almost straight down, like an arrow penetrating deeper into South India with each killing.

			Narendra Dabholkar—a slender, energetic man with rimless glasses, thinning white hair, and a wry smile—set out on the morning of August 20, 2013, for his regular morning walk through the streets of Pune. Trained as a doctor, Dabholkar had long since given up his clinics and his private hospital to devote himself to activism: in 1989 he’d founded an organization called the Maharashtra Blind-Faith Eradication Committee (known in its Marathi-language acronym as MANS), whose mission is to combat harmful superstitions and religious charlatans who prey on the desperate and the poor. MANS works on many fronts: fighting for anti-superstition legislation, distributing rationalist literature, setting up sting operations to expose self-described sorcerers peddling medical cures, offering millions of rupees (never claimed) to any astrologer who can accurately predict election results. But its most popular venture is a road show Dabholkar developed in which MANS activists, like magicians revealing their tricks, demonstrate and debunk the miracles supposedly performed by con artists posing as holy gurus—known in Indian parlance as “godmen.” Dabholkar loved to show an audience how a trick prop and some sleight of hand could make it appear that he was impaling his tongue with a trident, or how a bit of chemistry could make it seem as if he were setting ordinary water on fire. (Just slip some calcium carbide into the water, which turns it into acetylene gas.) To this day, MANS anti-miracle shows draw big, laughing crowds in Maharashtra, children screaming with delight at their dramatic reveals of the science behind the scams. “Just remember,” they repeat to their audiences, “miracles can never happen.”

			Dabholkar gave thousands of lively speeches on a wide range of subjects—the night before his murder, he was on TV arguing in support of intercaste marriage—but most of all he spoke of reason and rationalism. He liked to note that Article 51A of the Indian Constitution insists that it is the duty of every citizen “to develop the scientific temper, humanism, and the spirit of inquiry and reform.” His activism had made him many enemies, particularly his tenacious lobbying of his state’s government to enact a law against so-called black magic. Right-wing Hindu groups claimed that the proposed law would criminalize ordinary religious practices. He’d been getting threats for thirty years. “Remember Gandhi” read one threat he received a month before his death. “Remember what we did to him.” But he refused to accept police protection. “If I get security cover, my detractors will go after my comrades,” he told his brother Dattaprasad. “If anyone has to die, let it be me.”

			At around 7:20 a.m. on August 20, 2013, Dabholkar stepped onto the Omkareshwar bridge, named for the temple near its entrance. Before he got halfway across, two men approached, in full view of other morning walkers, and shot him three times with a 7.65 mm pistol. The first bullet pierced his skull, killing him instantly; the second and third entered his neck and abdomen. While Dabholkar bled out onto his purple khadi shirt, the killers jumped onto a motorcycle and disappeared into the narrow city lanes.

			Mourners gathered that evening at Dabholkar’s home, in the town of Satara. An old friend of his told The Caravan magazine that the mood among them was quiet and subdued—until the arrival, late in the evening, of Dabholkar’s friend Govind Pansare. The old lawyer stood alongside the body shouting slogans, and he kept on speaking out in the months to come. “Dabholkar’s assassination is an indicator that there’re fundamentalists and fascists among us who want to quell all rational voices with violence,” Pansare told The Times of India the next day. Like Dabholkar, he dismissed the many threats he received—including a postcard from Pune promising to “make a Dabholkar out of” him.

			Pansare’s legal practice was focused on the poor, and his organizing work kept him in constant motion: leading marches in the streets, addressing workers at the gates of factories. “He loved to fight the baton-wielding police with his own hands,” wrote his comrade and translator Uday Narkar. He had the looks of a bespectacled bulldog and a public-speaking style that might be described as gleefully enraged. Unlike many communists, he insisted that caste was as much of a problem as class. He ran an organization that encouraged intercaste and interreligious marriages, and he beamed with delight as a guest at the resulting weddings. When his indignation peaked, he seemed to furrow not just his brow but his whole furious bald head. “I’m not angry that they lie,” he bellowed in one speech about Hindutva defenders of Nathuram Godse, Gandhi’s assassin. “I’m angry that you believed them.” But he also joked with the cadence and timing of a practiced comedian. In another speech about Godse—a subject that became a preoccupation near the end of his life—he noted with raised eyebrows that some Hindutva devotees had begun celebrating the day Godse killed Gandhi as “Bravery Day.” “Shooting dead an unarmed old man,” Pansare said, with an amused wave of his arm. “What bravery!”

			On February 16, 2015—a year and a half after Dabholkar’s murder—Pansare took a morning walk with his wife, Uma, near their home in Kolhapur. They saw two men sitting on a parked motorcycle near their home, and the men were still there when they returned. “Where does More live?” the motorcycle passenger asked Pansare. Pansare said he didn’t know anyone by that name. The man laughed, pulled out a 7.65 mm pistol, and shot Uma in the head. Then the motorcycle did a U-turn—knocking over a cyclist in the process—and the passenger shot again, hitting Pansare in the nape of the neck and the chest. Uma, despite her fractured skull, survived. Pansare died in the hospital on February 20.

			Six months later and a hundred miles south—this time in the state of Karnataka—it was M. M. Kalburgi’s turn. Unlike Dabholkar and Pansare, Malleshappa Madivalappa Kalburgi was a full-time scholar, not primarily an orator or activist. Kannada literature was his specialty, and he covered it from every imaginable angle: ancient inscriptions, regional folklore, village proverbs, place-name etymology, Lingayat history. Above all, he was the world’s preeminent scholar of vachana poetry. Like Dabholkar and Pansare, Kalburgi was a gray-haired, balding old man; he had a neat white mustache and dark eyes sunken with what looked like worry, perhaps over all the work that remained to be done on behalf of the Kannada language. He was superhumanly prolific, author of over a hundred books and many hundreds of articles. He adopted his father’s ascetic motto as his own: ambali (porridge) and kambali (a blanket) are one’s only property; anything more is excess.

			Self-effacing and indifferent to awards, he was a generous but strict mentor to students and younger writers; he’d reprimand them for delivering talks when they could have been writing, and for writing minor works when they could have been tackling ambitious projects. He told them to think of their writing not as their own work but as their duty to Kannada. He left behind over a hundred unpublished book-length manuscripts when he was murdered.

			Kalburgi had long confronted the specter of assassination. His book Marga-One, a 1989 anthology of his varied writings, included some bits of scholarship that proved hugely contentious among Lingayats. Among other things, Kalburgi had theorized that a prominent sharana had been “low” caste. It might seem that this shouldn’t have been an issue in a religious group founded in large part on adamant opposition to the idea of caste. But some of that sharana’s devotees claimed to be outraged and insulted by the implication, and a Lingayat leader demanded that Kalburgi renounce what he’d written, under threat of death. Kalburgi reluctantly agreed.

			“I did it to save the lives of my family,” he told the magazine India Today in 1989. (As it happens, the interviewer was Chidanand Rajghatta, Gauri’s then husband.) “But I also committed intellectual suicide that day.” And he added, “I will never again pursue any research on Lingayat literature and Basava philosophy.” But he didn’t stick to that promise for long. His sense of duty toward Kannada was stronger than his fear of death; there was too much left to write about. “While critics saw Kalburgi as a serial provocateur and a habitual offender,” Rajghatta wrote later, “his supporters, including Gauri, saw him as a product of the tradition of debate and dissent that was the very essence of Lingayatism, even when they disagreed with him.” He soon became one of the leading voices to insist, backed by ample scholarship, that Lingayats represent the only truly indigenous Kannada religion and cannot be called Hindus—an argument that posed a deep threat to the BJP’s electoral base in Karnataka.

			On the morning of August 30, 2015, Kalburgi was at home in the city of Dharwad with his wife, Umadevi. At around 8:40, two young men arrived at Kalburgi’s house on a motorcycle. The passenger went to Kalburgi’s front door and rang the bell. Umadevi answered. The young man told her he was Kalburgi’s student, and she went to the kitchen to make coffee for the guest. When Kalburgi appeared, the young man claiming to be his student pulled out a 7.65 mm pistol, shot him between the eyes, then fled on the motorcycle.

			That evening, hundreds of people gathered in front of Bangalore Town Hall to protest Kalburgi’s murder. Gauri Lankesh was front and center. (As Gauri’s friend Krishna Prasad put it, “These days the death of every liberal is a moment for other liberals to gather.”) She’d only met Kalburgi twice, briefly each time. But after his death she spoke and wrote about him often—especially to carry forward his argument that Lingayats are not Hindus. On August 26, 2017, she visited Karnataka’s chief minister at his home to urge him to accelerate the investigation into Kalburgi’s death. Ten days later, she, too, was shot dead on her doorstep by two men on a motorcycle with a 7.65 mm pistol.

			It was a compelling commonality that all four victims had been shot with 7.65 mm pistols (a small, semiautomatic handgun of the same caliber that James Bond carried in the Ian Fleming novels, and that Hitler used to kill himself). Even the fact that all four had been killed with guns was notable. Gun crime is quite unusual in India—its rate of homicide by firearm is slightly lower than Sweden’s—in part because India has some of the strictest gun laws in the world. It can take years to get a permit. As a result, armed criminals tend to use illegally manufactured guns, like the ones that killed Dabholkar, Pansare, Kalburgi, and Gauri. Such guns are often called “improvised,” or “country made,” but that doesn’t necessarily mean they’re crude. The likeliest source of country-made guns in India is Munger, a district in the eastern Indian state of Bihar, which has a gun-making tradition that goes back to the eighteenth century. When the demand for legal guns dried up, Munger’s gun artisans turned to the illegal market; for the right price, it’s said, they can produce a perfect facsimile of any branded gun in the world. But even country-made pistols are hard to come by, particularly in the South, and maybe especially in Bangalore, a city where guns are nearly unheard of. One senior police officer told me that sometimes two whole years go by without a single gun fired anywhere in the city—not just no gun murders, but no use of a gun at all. Honestly, I find that hard to believe. But I take the point that gun crime in Bangalore is quite rare. Murders with guns naturally stand out.

			So the MO of these four murders was more or less the same. But were they, in fact, connected? Were the same conspirators responsible for all four? The Dabholkar and Pansare cases certainly seemed linked; they were close friends, and both lived and worked in the state of Maharashtra. And Kalburgi and Gauri seemed connected, too; they were acquainted, they both were vocal about the Lingayat question, and they both lived and worked in Karnataka. But what connected the first pair to the second pair, aside from a generally progressive attitude? It was sometimes said, as a kind of shorthand to connect all four murders, that the victims were all rationalists—a term used in India for people, usually atheists, who champion science and oppose superstition and religion-based politics. But that label didn’t really fit Kalburgi. He was a committed Lingayat in the tradition of Basavanna, criticizing his own religion as an insider. If there was a shared motive for killing all four, the through line wasn’t at all clear.

			At the time of Gauri’s murder, the Dabholkar, Pansare, and Kalburgi cases were each being investigated by a different police force, with little to no coordination among them. At best the investigations seemed sluggish and unmethodical. At worst they were alarmingly bungled.

			The Dabholkar investigation stands out for its flamboyant ineptitude. Gulabrao Pol, the police commissioner of Pune, took a metaphysical approach to the case. In the fall of 2013, Pol hired a former police constable named Manish Thakur—not for his sleuthing abilities, but because Thakur had reinvented himself as a spirit medium. Claiming that he could summon Dabholkar’s soul, Thakur would fill a vessel with water, light a candle, and lie on a bed. Soon his body would shake violently, which meant that Dabholkar’s soul had taken residence, while Thakur’s own soul was temporarily evicted into the water. Then Pol would question “Dabholkar” about his own murder.

			Thakur and Pol conducted many such séances, and even gave a demonstration to a journalist from Outlook magazine. “We worked day and night and picked up suspects from Mumbai and Pune on the basis of the inputs given by the spirits,” one police officer told Outlook. “But detentions were not converted into arrests.” In those crucial early months of the investigation, as genuine evidence grew cold, the only thing Pol proved was the urgent need for Dabholkar’s anti-superstition drive.

			The case had become an embarrassment. On January 17, 2014, five months after Dabholkar’s murder, the state’s home minister—who didn’t even know yet about the séances—gave the Pune police one week to show some progress before he handed over the case to the Central Bureau of Investigation. Three days later, the Pune police announced that they’d made their first arrests: two gunrunners who already happened to be in police custody for an unrelated extortion case. A ballistics report from a forensics lab in Mumbai linked a pistol seized from the gunrunners to the bullets that killed Dabholkar.

			It looked like a breakthrough. But in April the gunrunners were released, because the police had failed to file a charge sheet against them within ninety days, as required by law. The gunrunners were rarely spoken of again. The home minister handed over the case to the CBI. Pol was sacked from his position as police commissioner.

			The police in Maharashtra have a long, sordid history of manufacturing evidence in high-profile cases. It was rumored that the Dabholkar case was no exception. The theory I heard circulating among journalists covering the case is that the Pune police had swapped the bullet shells found at the scene of Dabholkar’s murder with unrelated shells that were associated with the two gunrunners, in a mad attempt to pin the crime on them. If that’s indeed how it happened, the police not only derailed their own investigation but also prevented other investigators from making connections that might have stopped the killings from continuing.

			In all three cases, arrests were few and went nowhere. On September 15, 2015—nearly seven months after Pansare’s murder—the Special Investigation Team pursuing the case finally made its first arrest: a right-wing religious activist named Sameer Gaikwad. But on June 17, 2017—shortly before Gauri’s death—a court signaled its skepticism of Gaikwad’s culpability by ordering his release on bail. On June 10, 2016—over two years after the debacle with the gunrunners—police arrested Dr. Virendra Tawade, an ENT surgeon, in connection with Dabholkar’s murder. But Tawade either had nothing to tell the police or refused to tell it; he remained in prison, but the investigation went silent. No suspects were arrested for Kalburgi’s murder.

			All three men had been murdered brazenly, in public view, in the bright light of morning. But as the investigations sputtered and then fully stalled, it seemed clear that no trials would ever be held, no verdicts passed, no sentences served. The cases would remain permanently cold.

			

			•   •   •

			THERE WAS LITTLE EVIDENCE so far that the investigation into Gauri’s murder was any better. On September 9, 2017, four days after the murder, the state’s home minister, who has authority over the police force, had expressed confidence that the culprits would be caught quickly. On October 2 he said that “we know who it is” but that they couldn’t reveal more until they investigated further. On November 11 he said the killers would “100% be caught” within the next few weeks. Then he stopped saying such things. By the time of my visit in early 2018, a profound cynicism had settled in among her friends with regard to the investigation. Of the dozens of people I spoke to, almost no one, friend or foe, seemed to have any confidence that the police would ever crack the case. “You have to assume that the cops aren’t looking too closely,” the journalist Bobby Ghosh told me. “The cops are corrupt and venal and inefficient, but they know how to stop this shit. They are maybe under political pressure, I don’t know.” Gauri’s friend Sugata Srinivasaraju had a theory that every time the home minister or other police officials made a public statement about supposed progress in the investigation, it functioned as a diversion from something going on politically, because they knew that any news about the Gauri case would dominate headlines for days. “So Gauri is a very convenient tool now,” he said.

			There were two exceptions, two people who still had hope. One was a journalist named Johnson T. A., who’d been covering the case for The Indian Express, one of India’s best newspapers. His careful but confident reporting on the direction of the case, he told me with a smile, had made him “a pariah in the media community.” The other was Gauri’s sister, Kavitha—the only person close to Gauri who was in regular communication with the police. She had a weekly meeting with B. K. Singh, the Indian Police Service officer leading the Special Investigation Team. To avoid newspaper photographers, Singh would wear plain clothes, and they’d meet in some ordinary chain café. “There’s been progress, I think,” she told me. “Every week I have a good feeling when I meet him.”

			One afternoon I had my own meeting with B. K. Singh. An extraordinarily low-key, round-faced man with glasses and a brushy mustache, he spoke with me for as long as I liked but with extreme caution, as I suppose one would hope a high-profile homicide investigator would behave with a journalist. He most often answered my questions after a long pause and then murmuring, with a faint smile, “That I cannot divulge.” Sometimes he simply nodded, so slightly that I wasn’t sure if it counted as a yes or a shrug. But when I asked him about the sketch he’d presented that showed a suspect with a tilak on his forehead, I did manage to extract from him the concession that there had been more witnesses of the killers than was generally known by the public. I asked him why no arrests had occurred despite the home minister’s repeated assurances that arrests were imminent. “See, sometimes,” he said, “because of strategic reasons, we have to…wait.” Otherwise, “I can only say that the investigation is proceeding on right lines,” he said, and paused for a while to calibrate his response. “In the right direction and right lines both.”

			

			•   •   •

			DABHOLKAR, PANSARE, KALBURGI, GAURI—WHO would be the next person to get a visit from two men on a motorcycle with a 7.65 mm pistol? After Kalburgi’s murder, scores of Indian writers returned their awards from the National Academy of Letters to protest both the lack of progress in the murder investigations and the BJP’s seeming indifference to a climate of rising intolerance in India. And Indian progressives started talking about the List: an imagined ranking of who was most likely to die next.

			Gauri had her own version of the List. “We’ve made a list based on how many times the Hindutva groups spew venom on us and how strongly,” she told the Hoot, an organization that monitors Indian media, in a September 2015 interview, a month after Kalburgi’s murder. First on the List, in her estimation, was K. S. Bhagawan, a rationalist academic from the city of Mysore, known for his translations of Shakespeare to Kannada, and also for his bold—some would say reckless—rhetoric against religion. (Some right-wing activists agreed; immediately after Kalburgi’s murder, one Hindutva leader in the coastal city of Mangalore tweeted, “Mock Hinduism and die a dog’s death. And dear KS Bhagawan you are next.”)

			Second on the List, Gauri thought, was the Kannada writer Yogesh Master. In 2013, Master was arrested after Hindutva activists complained that his novel Dhundi insulted the god Ganesh. One court released Master, but another banned the book. In March 2017—six months before Gauri’s murder—she invited Master to attend a public program in honor of her father, P. Lankesh. Afterward, a dozen right-wing activists on motorbikes attacked Master at a tea stall, smearing black oil all over his face in an attempt to humiliate him, and threatened to kill him for defaming Hindu gods. Gauri immediately led a protest march to the nearest police station and registered a complaint. “Apart from arresting the perpetrators of the crime, the conspiracy behind the attack should also be uncovered,” she said. Master said that he could easily identify most of the attackers. No arrests were made.

			Third on Gauri’s version of the List was the Kannada writer Banjagere Jayaprakash, who had offended some Lingayats in 2007 when he claimed that Basavanna was actually a Dalit, and had offended some Hindus in 2016 when he claimed that the nineteenth-century mystic Ramakrishna Paramahamsa ate beef and smoked cigarettes.

			Fourth on the List, Gauri thought, was Gauri herself. “She would joke about it with her friends, saying, ‘I am on the hit list,’ and things like that,” Kavitha told me. “But we never thought she could be in such a kind of threat.”

			None of Gauri’s friends thought she was first on the List. “I would not have put her on the List at all,” the journalist Sugata Srinivasaraju told me. “I never, ever imagined that she would be a target. There were a lot of other big voices. I mean, as editors, we get all those threats, right? If I do a story, I get some ten or fifteen phone calls where they say, ‘We know what to do with you,’ and all that. That’s a routine part of the profession, so you take it, you leave it, and ignore it. You can’t publish anything if you start getting worried about it.”

			Her colleague Shivasundar said that Gauri was always much more worried about the safety of other writers and activists than her own. When Modi was elected in 2014, he said, Gauri’s first dismayed reaction was “What will happen to Teesta?”—referring to Teesta Setalvad, an activist who had filed court cases against Modi in his home state of Gujarat. “Gauri always had a habit of skipping the queue,” Shivasundar told me. “For example, after a meeting, there will be a line to have food. She would skip the queue and get the food. In that way I think even here she has skipped the queue.”

			Shortly after Gauri’s murder, an official version of the List appeared: guided by input from the state police’s Intelligence Department, the Karnataka government offered armed protection to at least sixteen writers and activists. And new names appeared on the List, as friends of Gauri’s found themselves becoming newly outspoken. Chief among them was Prakash Raj, a multilingual movie star and close friend to Gauri’s family. He seemed unable to contain himself, casting blame on BJP leaders and naming names. “His wife is petrified,” Kavitha told me. “They have a small three-year-old child. I messaged him yesterday: Try not to say the names. It shouldn’t be a direct hit. Because that’s when you get targeted.”

			For many in Karnataka, the chill on speech deepened. A young investigative reporter told me that before Gauri was murdered, the example she set by her fearlessness emboldened other female journalists. “Gauri’s murder shook me,” she said.

			Several of Gauri’s friends told me that their families were pleading with them to stay quiet about politics. “People are falling in line,” Chandan Gowda told me. Some were disgusted by this climate of caution. But the fear wasn’t so easy to shake off. “The murder is the message,” the journalist P. Sainath wrote. “The use of the same modus operandi is part of that message: ‘Yes, it’s us. We did it again. And will, yet again. Let this be a warning to all of you.’ The message also says: ‘We’re casting a wider net.’ ”

			But who was sending this message? And what did it mean beyond these terrifying yet vague warnings? I asked Gauri’s friend Shivasundar if he thought the same assassins were behind the murders of Dabholkar, Pansare, Kalburgi, and Gauri. “Our conviction is that the brain is the same. The hand may be different,” he said. “What we are bothered about is, who is the fifth? To avoid the fifth, you should prosecute the brains, not the hands.” But no one, brains or hands, had been prosecuted for any of the killings. No one claimed credit; no one confessed.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 6

			The Eternal Organization

			THERE WAS ONE GROUP, though, that was oddly vocal in its denials of culpability: an obscure spiritual community founded by a reclusive guru named Dr. Jayant Balaji Athavale. The name of the group was Sanatan Sanstha, which translates literally as “the eternal organization.” Several journalists told me, confidentially, that it would be worth looking at in connection with the murders.

			I was fascinated by the aesthetic of Sanatan Sanstha’s website: A soothing palette of soft pastel colors. Every surface clean and smooth and bright. Every face smiling beatifically, symmetrical and unblemished. Highlighted on the home page were the results of an experiment the group had conducted a month earlier, on December 7, 2017. Using an instrument called the Universal Thermo Scanner—which looks like a pair of bright-yellow ray guns with pink nozzles at the ends—a white-gloved technician had taken a reading of Dr. Athavale’s empty lunch box in order to measure its aura. In a prose style that married the empirical and the metaphysical to a degree rarely found outside the literature of Scientology, the report concluded that the lunch box’s aura extended exactly 8.6 times wider than would be expected from an ordinary object.

			Two of the men who had been arrested for suspected involvement in the Dabholkar and Pansare murders—Sameer Gaikwad and Dr. Virendra Tawade—had affiliations with Sanatan Sanstha. But even before those arrests, Sanatan Sanstha’s lawyers and spokesmen and websites were unusually talkative about the murders from the very beginning. On the day Dabholkar died, one Sanatan Sanstha website uploaded to its home page a photo of Dabholkar’s face, crossed out with a red X.

			Born in Maharashtra in 1942, the founder, leader, and guide of Sanatan Sanstha, Jayant Balaji Athavale, had once been a clinical hypnotherapist. He studied and practiced in the U.K. for most of the 1970s, eventually relocating his practice to Mumbai. But over time he lost faith in medical science, pivoting instead toward what he called “spiritual science”—his own idiosyncratic effort to apply the scientific method (or, at any rate, the vocabulary of the scientific method) to matters of faith. By 1987, Dr. Athavale had reinvented himself as a guru. According to his teachings, “There is a definite science underlying every act performed during the ritualistic worship of a Deity.”

			In 1991, Athavale first registered Sanatan Sanstha as a “charitable trust” that organized spiritual training camps across an ever-expanding territory. In 2002, the group built an ashram complex in the hills of Goa: a tiny, west-coast state, sandwiched between Maharashtra and Karnataka, that has an international reputation as a laid-back beach resort, formerly ruled by Portuguese colonizers and currently popular among Russian tourists. The ashram is a large, sprawling, multistory, bright-white building, terraced into the hillside and surrounded by dense trees, like something between a mansion and a fortress. In the photos of the ashram on the group’s website it looks so pristine that it seems to glow.

			Sanatan Sanstha’s Indian devotees tend to be upper-caste professionals—engineers, doctors, lawyers, bureaucrats—from the Konkan region, which stretches from Mumbai to Goa. But its scope is global. “The effect of preaching in India alone will not be long lasting,” Athavale writes in a book called Texts About the Divine Kingdom, “as the materialistic thoughts of other countries shall constantly impinge on India. Hence, Sanatan Sanstha has undertaken the mission of upliftment of the entire human race.” Through live spirituality workshops and appearances at wellness expos, and by way of its international-facing wing, called Spiritual Science Research Foundation, Sanatan Sanstha has a quiet presence in at least twenty countries outside India, including Australia, Bolivia, Germany, Indonesia, Russia, and the United States. It’s estimated that around a hundred visitors enter the group’s Goa ashram every day, augmented by another hundred who live there full-time, an unknown number of whom are foreigners. For whatever reason, professional models seem particularly drawn to Sanatan Sanstha’s ashram life; among the complex’s full-time residents are Sharon Clarke, who represented India in the Miss World competition in 1985; Cyriaque Vallee, a former fashion model who was born in France; and Yoya Vallee, a former fashion model who was born in what was then Yugoslavia. According to Sanatan Sanstha’s percentage-based spiritual ranking system, the latter two have achieved sainthood. (To become a saint, one must reach a “spiritual level” of at least 80 percent; Athavale’s spiritual level is reportedly 94 percent.)

			Sanatan Sanstha is a fringe group, in the sense that its membership is relatively small and its ideology extreme. It is not a member of the Sangh Parivar—the family of Hindutva organizations founded by the RSS—but its political objectives are overwhelmingly synonymous with those of Sangh Parivar organizations. The Sanatan Sanstha and its offshoot, the Hindu Janajagruti Samiti, do sometimes criticize the BJP or RSS—but nearly always the complaint is that those organizations are not pushing Hindu-nationalist policies, such as a nationwide ban on beef, quickly and assertively enough. “If you are in power due to some promises, then you have to fulfill them. It is the duty of Hindu organizations to show them the correct path,” an HJS spokesperson said of the BJP in 2017. “Criticism does not mean opposition.” Its role in relationship to the Sangh Parivar is roughly analogous to the John Birch Society’s relationship to the GOP; it keeps tugging the party to the right, but at a distance that allows the mainstream party to deny affiliation, and with a stridency that makes the mainstream party’s stances look reasonable by comparison.

			Since 2012, Sanatan Sanstha and HJS have hosted an annual All Indian Hindu Convention in Goa dedicated to “the establishment of Hindu Rashtra”—a Hindutva term for an India explicitly dominated by Hindus—that has attracted Hindu nationalists from all over the country, some from the Sangh Parivar, some not. The convention is a reliable wellspring of inflammatory rhetoric; the 2017 meeting began with a speaker insisting that all beef eaters should be hanged. On the official level, the BJP and RSS disavow or embrace the gathering depending on which way the wind is blowing. “We have no connection with the Sanatan Sanstha or the HJS as we differ from them in the very philosophy of Hinduism,” a BJP spokesperson responded when asked about the 2017 convention. “For us, religion cannot be the basis for any nation or state. We treat Hindutva as a way of life.” An RSS leader put a different spin on it, saying that the convention is unnecessary because “our country is already a Hindu rashtra for centuries.” Whereas in 2013, less than a year before he was elected prime minister of India, Narendra Modi sent a message of greeting to be read aloud to the attendees. “I felt proud when I heard about the convention from Hindu Janajagruti Samiti,” Modi wrote. “Great personalities from all over the world will be discussing issues related to the welfare of Hindus. I was happy to get an invitation to attend such a convention. My best wishes for success of this convention, which has a far-reaching effect.”

			As its profile has grown, Sanatan Sanstha has developed a cultish reputation. There’s an oft-told story about a strange incident that happened at Sanatan Sanstha’s Goa headquarters in 2008. Until that year, the land immediately next to the ashram was a rice paddy. Then one day the seasonal monsoon flooded the field, and when the water drained, a stench remained. The local villagers found over a thousand used condoms had washed up in the paddy, and a police investigation concluded that they’d been discarded from the ashram. The villagers never farmed that land again. In a raid of one of the Maharashtra ashrams in September 2016, police seized psychotropic drugs in quantities “only required by a mental hospital,” said Narendra Dabholkar’s son, Hamid Dabholkar, who is a psychiatrist.

			Some former members of Sanatan Sanstha have alleged that the group functions like a cult, too: that its leader is messianic, that it allows no dissent, that it methodically alienates ashram residents from skeptical relatives. In 2011, four petitioners whose family members had cut off ties with them after joining Sanatan Sanstha filed a plea in the Bombay High Court to ban the group, claiming that it controls its followers and manipulates them to violence with “Ericksonian hypnosis.” (Despite Athavale’s acknowledged expertise in hypnosis, even some of his strongest critics dismiss the allegation that he uses it for mind control as distractingly sensational; as Hamid Dabholkar puts it, the point is that whatever technique they use, they’re radicalizing their followers.) The families also claimed that Sanatan Sanstha sought to overthrow the Indian state and asked the court to declare the group a terrorist organization and ban it. The court declined.

			One former member of fourteen years, Amruta Acharya, published a blog in which she detailed how she abandoned her husband and daughter to join the group’s Goa ashram and then fled from the ashram after becoming convinced that she’d joined a cult. Sanatan Sanstha, she writes, targets the naive, the gullible, the misunderstood, especially women.

			In its publications and meetings, Acharya writes, Sanatan Sanstha incessantly emphasizes that Hindu dharma is under attack on all sides and needs to be defended. New recruits are inundated with tales of atrocities against Hindus and signs of the coming apocalyptic religious war. Athavale has variously claimed that the climax of this war would arrive in 2008, 2012, and 2023; when the apocalypse didn’t come, Sanatan Sanstha explained that it was because Athavale had averted it. A paranoid persecution complex takes hold among the devotees—which galvanizes them and bolsters their solidarity. According to Acharya, Sanatan Sanstha relishes it, in fact, whenever they are ridiculed in the press or investigated by police; this only feeds their victim narrative (and offers them free publicity). But they are also told that they are invincible, because the guru protects them. The correct approach to every activity is strictly delineated: how to bathe, how to dress, how to style hair, how to use the toilet. Public feedback from senior devotees is destabilizingly unpredictable. One day they’d offer high praise for a job well done; the next they’d scold harshly for the same job. Most of the devotees’ time is dedicated to eliminating their “personality defects,” which they endlessly record in notebooks and on whiteboards and discuss in long meetings with fellow members. “We become convinced that we are full of defects and only the guru,” Acharya writes, “can rectify these defects.”

			At the ashram, she notes, many of the hallmarks of Hindu practice are absent. Puja, or prayer ritual, is downplayed. The study of scripture by devotees is discouraged; their guru has studied the scriptures on their behalf, they are told, and will transmit to them the proper interpretation. The only practices that are emphasized are naamjap, or chanting, which some devotees do for upward of ten hours a day; seva, or service, the various tasks that keep the ashram running; and above all, something called samashti sadhana, which means, Acharya writes, “propagating the message of Dr. Jayant Athavale, plain and simple. It involves meeting people and converting them to Sanatan. It involves collecting donations. It involves selling the sanstha’s products.” The only festival they celebrate is Gurupoornima—a day of reverence for teachers and gurus.

			Despite the apparent frankness of her blog, Acharya is evasive when it comes to the most serious allegations against Sanatan Sanstha. Its ashram “has several cupboards full of secrets,” she writes. “Most of the occupants are not aware of most of them. Hiding a fugitive from law enforcement agencies is only a small secret. Several secrets are more damaging.”

			Since 2004, Athavale has never appeared in public. Sanatan Sanstha spokespeople explain that he’s been confined to his room at the ashram due to various physical ailments. His only appearances have been in photographs on Sanatan Sanstha’s various websites, in which he looks more like the psychiatrist he once was than the guru he became, with his rimless glasses, slight build, and thin gray hair.

			Sanatan Sanstha’s publications devote a lot of space to describing Athavale’s body. He’s called a divine incarnation whose purpose is no less than to usher in a holy era: “the dispenser of India’s destiny.” Many web pages document his ever-shifting physical characteristics. “From the Divine changes in His body and the Divine auspicious signs appearing on His body,” one claims, “it is proved that He is not an ordinary human being, but God Himself.” In 2015, it was reported that Athavale’s hair had turned golden, that “divine particles” were falling from his body and divine fragrances emanating from his skin, and that the “Om” symbol had manifested itself on his fingernails, his forehead, and his tongue. (The week before this news was published, the Sanatan Sanstha member Sameer Gaikwad was arrested for Pansare’s murder.)

			One Sanatan Sanstha web page recounts that Athavale once asked his own guru why the Hindu saints who preceded him in centuries past did not themselves establish a Hindu rashtra, even though “fanatic Muslims and Christians were torturing Hindus right in front of their eyes.” His guru told him that those saints’ mission was to guide their followers to moksha—the final liberation. But the mission of “incarnations,” like Athavale, is “elimination of evildoers.”

			

			•   •   •

			DR. ATHAVALE AND DR. DABHOLKAR—the first of the four victims in the pattern, the one whose picture the Sanatan Sanstha x-ed out on the day of his assassination—never met, but they’d been at odds for years. Both had discontinued their medical practices to focus instead on investigating the intersection of science and religion: Athavale using science to prove the claims of religion, Dabholkar to debunk them. Both were skilled at building organizations and followings. They even looked somewhat alike: two clean-shaven older men with rimless glasses and thin gray hair. Dabholkar’s anti-superstition organization, MANS, and Athavale’s Sanatan Sanstha started at around the same time, and as they grew, they found themselves increasingly in conflict. For years before he died, Dabholkar had campaigned relentlessly for the Maharashtra legislature to pass an anti-superstition bill, aimed at protecting vulnerable people from exploitative religious practices. Sanatan Sanstha was the bill’s most vocal opponent, and its members disrupted MANS’s public meetings. In their publications they called him “Hindudrohi,” or traitor to Hindus. Over the years, as MANS and Sanatan Sanstha argued back and forth about the bill, Sanatan Sanstha filed eighteen separate criminal or civil defamation cases against Dabholkar in the courts of Maharashtra and Goa. None led to a conviction, but six were still pending at the time of Dabholkar’s death.

			Dabholkar’s murder occurred at the peak of his agitations for the anti-superstition bill. No one knew if that was why he was killed, but if it was, it backfired: outrage over the murder translated into massive momentum in favor of the bill, and in December 2013 the Maharashtra Prevention and Eradication of Human Sacrifice and Other Inhuman, Evil, and Aghori Practices and Black Magic Act became state law.

			The day after Dabholkar was shot down on that bridge in Pune, Sanatan Sanstha’s daily newspaper, Sanatan Prabhat, carried an article about the murder on its front page, written by Athavale. “Births and deaths are predestined, and everybody gets the fruit of their karma,” Athavale wrote. “Instead of dying bedridden through illness, or after some painful surgery, the death Mr. Dabholkar got today was a blessing from God.”

			It’s no wonder that public suspicion immediately turned to Sanatan Sanstha for the murder. Sanatan Sanstha soon held a press conference to explain itself. It wasn’t entirely convincing. One journalist asked why the group had published a photo of Dabholkar with an X through it immediately after the murder. “A cigarette pack also has an ‘X,’ ” a Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson answered mildly, apparently referring to antismoking health warnings.

			Sanatan Sanstha had long been in conflict with Pansare, the second victim in the pattern, too. The group had filed numerous civil and criminal complaints against him, and it had even complained about him to the bar council of Maharashtra and Goa, to which he belonged in his capacity as a lawyer. On September 15, 2015—seven months after Pansare’s murder, and a couple weeks after Kalburgi’s— Sameer Gaikwad, a resident of Sanatan Sanstha’s Goa ashram, became the first person arrested in the Pansare case, on the basis of his phone call records on the day of the murder.

			Sanatan Sanstha held another defensive press conference. This one was much tenser and more aggressive than the one after Dabholkar’s murder. Sanatan Sanstha members launched the event by taking photographs of every journalist in attendance, over their objections. Then a lawyer named Sanjeev Punalekar took the floor. An intense, jowly man with a wide mustache who serves as both a Sanatan Sanstha devotee and the group’s chief lawyer, Punalekar shouted and sweated his way through the meeting, mopping his face with a large white handkerchief. At one point he denounced Anand Patwardhan, a prominent documentary filmmaker who had attended a protest against Kalburgi’s murder, supposedly against police orders. “Why didn’t they break Anand Patwardhan’s bones?” Punalekar demanded in Hindi, jabbing his finger in the air. “Why not? When this happens, we get angry.”

			As it happened, Patwardhan was in attendance, filming the press conference. “I’m standing here, so do what you want!” he called out. Punalekar didn’t take him up on it.

			“Is a faction in your group encouraging terrorism?” another journalist asked.

			Punalekar took a moment to consider the question. “In the Dabholkar, Kalburgi, and Pansare murders, I never said that Hindutva can’t be behind this,” he finally said. “I won’t lie. Because what’s happened has happened. The kinds of speeches Pansare gave, the way he acted, maybe a fanatic killed him. I’m not denying the possibility. We accept that”—and as he finished the sentence, he smiled slightly, and switched from Hindi to English—“Hindu terrorism is in existence.”

			The point of the press conference was, supposedly, to deny that their member Gaikwad had been involved in the murder of Pansare, yet Punalekar didn’t quite rule it out. Instead, he offered a sort of provisional concession. If Gaikwad was found guilty of the murder, he volunteered, he’d sit him down in a room, and everyone could come and beat him with their sandals.

			The following year, another Sanatan Sanstha member was arrested, this time for the murder of Dabholkar. Virendra Tawade was yet another doctor who’d given up his practice: he’d put aside his career as an ENT surgeon to work full-time for Sanatan Sanstha, with a specialty in organizing demonstrations against Dabholkar’s and Pansare’s public meetings. The Pansare investigators likewise took an interest in Dr. Tawade, and in November 2016 they filed a charge sheet naming him as the ringleader in Pansare’s murder and naming three other Sanatan Sanstha members as his accomplices. But all three were missing, and the police were unable to find them, despite offering rewards of 500,000 rupees for their capture. Tawade was singularly uncooperative in custody. The cases again went cold—a reality underlined by the release, in July 2017, of Sameer Gaikwad, the first man arrested in the Pansare case, for lack of evidence.

			Then came Gauri’s murder. A couple weeks later, the Sanatan Sanstha decided to hold another press conference. The lawyer Sanjeev Punalekar once again dominated the proceedings. He conceded that some Sanatan Sanstha members might be in hiding—but only because they were afraid of false charges, he insisted. “As far as Gauri Lankesh is concerned, we did not even know her,” he said. “They keep on saying that Kalburgi and Gauri Lankesh were all the same modus operandi. I’m really alarmed.”

			Another Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson followed up on that point. “It is claimed that the modus operandi in the case is similar to that of Dabholkar and Pansare. What is the basis for ruling out the possibility of someone else using a similar strategy?” he asked. He then began listing alternative motives: that she had been found guilty in court of defamation (true), that she was an extortionist, that she had connections to Naxalites, that she had offended Lingayats, that perhaps she had a property dispute with her brother. “Not discussing these obvious points and only targeting Hindu outfits is quite unfair,” he said. “What is important is that ours is a law abiding, humble outfit. A small outfit.”

			Was the Sanatan Sanstha protesting too much? Or were they so vocal about the murder cases because they were genuinely exasperated about being attached to them? It seemed obvious that only a guilty party would make such a loud show of proclaiming its innocence. It seemed equally obvious that only an innocent party would make such a loud show of proclaiming its innocence.

			Sanatan Sanstha’s history of tensions with Dabholkar and Pansare was well documented. But there was no record that they had any grouse with Kalburgi or Gauri. Sanatan Sanstha was barely known of in Karnataka until their assassinations. The group had never filed any cases against either of them, and as far as I can tell, neither Kalburgi nor Gauri had ever written about the group. Its ashram was three hundred miles away from Bangalore, where Gauri lived and worked. Why would they have bothered with her?

			None of the four murder investigations took any action against Sanatan Sanstha directly. The cases against their members seemed to evaporate before they even got started.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 7

			Swalpa Adjust Maadi

			“OTHER THAN SEVEN OR eight years of intermittent self-imposed exile, I have spent most of my 55 years in Bengaluru,” Gauri wrote in early 2017. “Because this city of mine has time and again beckoned me back to its beautiful and wondrous fold. Bengaluru has been an intrinsic part of my life much more than any partner has been. There was a time when claiming to be a Bengalurean was like wearing a badge of superiority. Our city was blessed and we were everything that others were not…. Unlike the dwellers of other capital cities, we Bengalureans were known as genteel people.”

			Gauri Lankesh’s murder was a shock because she was a journalist, a woman, defenseless, alone, shot in the back on her doorstep. But it was also a shock that it had happened in Bangalore. Several of her friends used the same phrase: it was a “wake-up call.” Until Gauri died, it felt as if armed assassination were possible only elsewhere in India.

			Situated on a plateau at the center of India’s southern triangle, Bangalore has a climate that is mild year-round, requiring (as the local idiom puts it) “neither fan nor fire,” a condition that seems to have nourished the city’s reputation as a mellow, easygoing, tolerant place. It’s often said that the city’s slogan is the Kannadinglish phrase “Swalpa adjust maadi”—or “Please adjust a little.” (Although enough Bangaloreans scoff at this slogan to prove that Bangalore is not immune to the general Indian love of argument.) It’s a city of many nicknames. The Air-Conditioned City. The Garden City. City of Lakes. Pensioner’s Paradise. Silicon Valley of India. Aerospace City. Garment City. Pub Capital. These selling points attract migrants to Bangalore from all over India, few of whom speak Kannada as their primary tongue. In 2005, the novelist U. R. Ananthamurthy proposed, somewhat cheekily, that Bangalore officially change its name to Bengaluru. That’s what Kannada speakers already call it anyway, he reasoned, and the city is known as Bangalore only because the British mangled the pronunciation. Besides, he said, if everyone in the city had to say “Bengaluru,” at least they’d know one Kannada word. In a sign of how seriously Bangalore takes its writers, the city responded with alacrity and officially changed its name on September 27, 2006. Most English speakers have persisted in calling the city Bangalore (which is why I’ve stuck with that spelling in this book).

			Bangalore can’t boast the sacred geography of a city like Varanasi, the imperial grandeur of a city like Delhi, or the offbeat swagger of a city like Mumbai. It feels somehow like a small town even as it has turned into a megacity of over twelve million. Bangalore changed so quickly and dramatically that its nostalgia is suffused with a real disorientation: How is the old life suddenly completely gone? So much in Bangalore is new (and often shoddily new—quickly constructed glass office buildings; crappy fast-food outlets) that it’s almost a surprise to come across any sturdy old thing. Any house that’s managed to survive beyond the mid-twentieth century is likely to accrue rumors that it’s haunted.

			

			•   •   •

			ONE AFTERNOON I VISITED a die-hard Bangalorean just as he was packing to relocate from his haunted house. Girish Karnad is a giant in three art forms: the most influential Indian playwright of his generation, a movie star, and a pioneering film director, all in multiple languages. He’d somehow even made time to work as a high-ranking arts administrator: in the mid-1970s he’d served as director of the Film and Television Institute of India but resigned in protest when Indira Gandhi imposed the emergency.

			He seemed never to fear taking a stance. In 2012, the Tata LitFest in Mumbai gave the Trinidad-born novelist V. S. Naipaul a lifetime achievement award, and two days later invited Karnad to speak about his own career in the theater. Instead, Karnad caused an uproar by devoting all his allotted time to a full-throated denunciation of Naipaul and of the festival’s decision to celebrate him. He conceded that Naipaul was “certainly among the great English writers of our generation,” but insisted that his bigotry, too, be acknowledged. “Naipaul is a foreigner and he is entitled to his opinion,” Karnad said. “But why give an award to a man who calls Indian Muslims ‘raiders’ and ‘marauders’?”

			The month before my visit, he’d had two big releases: the third volume of his Collected Plays was published, and the latest film he’d acted in, the international action thriller Tiger Zinda Hai, had just had the highest-grossing opening weekend in Bollywood history. Aged seventy-eight, Karnad had recently been suffering from a degenerative respiratory disorder that required him to keep an oxygen tank attached to his nose. With typical lack of pretension, he wore the oxygen tubes in the movie, too. “If wearing spectacles is fine, why not this?” he asked. He’d been a lifelong literary peer and rival to Gauri’s father, P. Lankesh, and a mentor in activism to Gauri herself. When M. M. Kalburgi was murdered, Karnad sat right next to Gauri at the protests against his killers.

			I found Girish Karnad’s genial, rambling house in southern Bangalore, behind the dust and noise of multiple construction sites, like a lone mushroom below a forest of high-rises. To no one’s surprise, I was late to our meeting because of traffic. “You see how long it takes to come from one part of Bangalore to here!” Karnad greeted me. “And it’s not that far at all. There was a time when I used to pick up my wife, drop her at her office, and go to my shoot in the morning. Today I wouldn’t be able to do that whole journey in two hours. So the city has become unlivable.”

			“Not unlivable,” demurred Karnad’s son, Raghu, a writer and editor for the fiercely independent Indian news website The Wire. “Just not necessarily travelable.”

			Surrounding us was a jumble of moving boxes. “It’s heart-wrenching to give it up, because we’ve been here twenty-five years,” Karnad said. “The kids grew up here.”

			“It’s not heart-wrenching for me,” Raghu laughed. “It’s time to reorganize. Dump some of the ballast that’s filling this house.”

			“When we came here,” Karnad said, “it was all small houses like this, all the way down. Now look at that building next door, that block of flats—it’s five feet away. It really is like the introduction to Death of a Salesman.”

			Later I looked up the Arthur Miller play, which begins with these stage directions:

			
				Before us is the salesman’s house. We are aware of towering, angular shapes behind it, surrounding it on all sides. Only the blue light of the sky falls upon the house and forestage; the surrounding area shows an angry glow of orange. As more light appears, we see a solid vault of apartment houses around the small, fragile-seeming home. An air of the dream clings to the place, a dream rising out of reality.

			

			It was a perfectly apt description of how Karnad’s twentieth-century house fit into his 2018 neighborhood. Karnad is always ready with precise allusions plucked from anywhere in his global range of reference. At one point he wrestled briefly with the tangle of plastic tubes that connected his nostrils to his portable oxygen tank. “It’s like that classical statue Laocoön,” he said. “You get caught in all kinds of snakes and serpents.”

			This area, Karnad explained, had previously been a Brahmin village called Sarakki—“until five years ago, if you went up the hill you could see all the old hutments people were living in”—that was finally fully absorbed into the metastasizing Bangalore megalopolis.

			“There is a lack of aggression in the people here, which you see in the North,” he said. “For whatever reasons, people are aggressive there: Rajasthan, Haryana, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar. That kind of aggression isn’t here. People come to Bangalore, settle down, they’re accepted. You can have a South Indian neighbor for five years, and you won’t know what caste he is or what his name is, because they behave themselves, they don’t ingress into your residence as a Punjabi family would. A Punjabi family, the next day the woman will come in and say, ‘Ah, how many children do you have, come over, meet my daughter-in-law’—they are aggressive, and friendly, with bearlike groping. It’s not a physical aggression, but emotional. They try to envelop you; they go peering into your window: Who came yesterday? But the South Indians are often withdrawn, and they leave you alone.” He paused to reconsider his theory. “That’s also possibly because the caste system was very strong here. Castes didn’t like other castes peering in.”

			

			•   •   •

			BANGALORE IS, BY MANY METRICS, unimpressive. It wasn’t a significant enough city to appear on most maps of India printed before the late twentieth century, and it didn’t merit mention in the great Indian epics or any other ancient scripture. It has no monuments or attractions spectacular or “exotic” enough to wow a tourist—just “two rambling gardens and a crumbling palace,” as one disappointed visitor put it. But it’s been described as “the only true multilingual metropolis in India,” a city where Tamil, Telugu, Hindi, Urdu, Malayalam, Dakkani, and English are as alive in the streets as the state’s official language of Kannada. “Bengaluru’s biggest gift to its residents,” writes Nisha Susan, is “the confidence to speak whatever you speak badly and get on with your life. Jewellers here speak five languages and so do cooks. You can watch movies in at least six languages every week. And in a world that prizes English as the language of employment, it’s fantastic to see Bengaluru residents with linguistic confidence go at English too without worrying that they are ‘bad’ at it.” Girish Karnad, for example, grew up speaking Konkani, wrote his plays in Kannada or English, depending on how the muse struck, and did his own translations into Marathi.

			If today Bangalore is known as an easygoing place, it wasn’t always that way. It was for many years a British colonial military zone, which can still be detected in many of its street names: Brigade Road, Infantry Road, Cavalry Road, Artillery Road. Its founder was a warlord, Kempe Gowda, who built a mud fort on the site in 1537, although he also had a talent for urban planning. Bangalore is the only major city in India that wasn’t built on a seacoast or the banks of a great river, and Kempe Gowda’s solution was to design an ingenious system of interlinked artificial lakes that harvested groundwater and rainwater and irrigated the city’s many gardens and eliminated the threat of floods.

			The Mughals, in their heyday, conquered Bangalore in 1687, but it interested them little enough that they sold it two years later for 300,000 rupees to some Hindu royal allies, the Wodeyars, who absorbed the city into their Mysore Kingdom. In 1766, the Wodeyars’ leading general usurped the throne and put the Wodeyars under house arrest. His name was Hyder Ali, and his son was Tipu Sultan, who has become one of the most polarizing figures in the history of Karnataka. To this day people argue over whether he should be celebrated or denounced. Right-wing activists dismiss him as a despotic Muslim foreign invader (although he, his father, and his grandfather were all born in what’s now Karnataka). In response, Gauri defended his legacy repeatedly in her columns. Girish Karnad went further, calling him the greatest Kannadiga of the past five hundred years.

			Today everyone knows how closely Bangalore is tied to the United States, via the outsourcing of IT and call center jobs. But the connection goes back centuries. In 1770s America there was a fad of naming racehorses after Tipu Sultan and Hyder Ali. For decades the father-son duo was virtually alone in their struggle to thwart British ambitions to seize all of India. They resisted the British East India Company in a series of fierce wars with widespread British atrocities: mass rape, slaughter of civilians, destroying whole villages with fire. Other Indian maharajas and nawabs, ruling other regions of India, were happy to collaborate with the British as long as their personal interests were protected. But Hyder Ali and Tipu loathed the British. In his palace, Tipu kept a nearly life-size mechanical toy of a tiger mauling an Englishman, complete with sound effects that simulated the tiger’s grunts and the Englishman’s screams of terror. The American founding fathers, as they fought their own war of independence from the British, closely followed the news from Mysore, celebrating Hyder Ali and Tipu’s victories and studying their tactics.

			And American liberty from the British led directly, on the battlefield of Bangalore, to Britain’s near-total subjugation of India. In 1781, General Charles Cornwallis surrendered to French and American forces at Yorktown, Virginia, effectively ending the American Revolutionary War. “The English reverses in this war not only entailed losses of vast colonies in America but struck a great blow to English prestige,” writes the historian M. Fazlul Hasan. “They were, therefore, determined to make good their losses in America by fresh conquests in ‘Hindoostan.’ ” Cornwallis was appointed governor-general of India. Fresh from his humiliation in America, he arrived in India determined to crush Tipu Sultan.

			Tipu had a technological advantage: he’d developed what were at that time the world’s most sophisticated military rockets. “Each Indian battalion has 200 rocketeers in place,” writes the historian Michael Hamilton Morgan, “armed with ample supplies of rockets capable of traveling a thousand yards and tipped with lethal warheads, including gunpowder charges, pointed tips, and even a kind of whirling blade that shreds everything on point of impact like a meat grinder.” Yet in the 1791 Battle of Bangalore—the bloodiest episode in the city’s history—Cornwallis conquered Tipu, and British domination of South India commenced. After killing Tipu in his 1799 last stand, the British installed the five-year-old heir of the pliable Wodeyar royal family on the Mysore throne. They pillaged Tipu’s legendary library and captured his stockpile of rockets, which they reverse engineered and renamed (in classic colonizer style) Congreve rockets. It was these rockets, based on Tipu’s design, with which the British bombarded Fort McHenry in the War of 1812, as witnessed by Francis Scott Key, which inspired him to write the line “And the rockets’ red glare, the bombs bursting in air” in the U.S. national anthem.

			

			•   •   •

			IN INDIA, THE BRITISH flaunted their victory over Tipu by making Bangalore their primary military base in the South. This began Bangalore’s long period as a bifurcated, segregated town. Kannada-speaking Indians lived in the City, a place dense with flat-roofed mud houses and noisy with the clack of silk and cotton looms. British officers and their Indian servants lived in the Cantonment, a place of parade grounds, racetracks, and stately yet eccentric colonial bungalows, with deep verandas and distinctive slanted “monkey-top” hoods over their doors and windows. Rarely did the two Bangalores meet. “The spaciousness, wealth of color, peace, restfulness, and beauty: none of this belonged to us,” wrote a Kannada playwright in the twentieth century. “It was produced by the unconscious alienated labor of our people for the foreigners. If we could forget this, we might enjoy it, but not even a moment’s interaction with the English allowed you to forget that fact.”

			With independence in 1947 came the unification of City and Cantonment. Over decades the two hemispheres of Bangalore have become incrementally less distinguishable, but an invisible gulf persists. As Raghu Karnad has written, “The separateness of ‘City’ and ‘Cantt’ was the main expression, in my life, of all that was colonially designed and had to be postcolonially denied.” Soon, though, a new and different bifurcation divided the city: between “techies” and everyone else.

			Bangalore’s technological bent dates at least as far back as Tipu Sultan’s fascination with rocketry and automatons. It was one of the first cities in Asia to have electric streetlights, powered by one of Asia’s first hydroelectric dams. In 1909, the city became home to the Indian Institute of Science, a public research university whose influence ballooned when the brilliant, irascible physicist Sir C. V. Raman became its director; he also established the Indian Academy of Sciences and the Raman Research Institute nearby. His experiments with the scattering of light had earned him a Nobel Prize, the first awarded to a nonwhite person in any field of science.

			Building on the talent that emerged from the city’s science schools and laboratories, the newly independent Indian government made Bangalore the country’s state technology and scientific-research center and the site of a multitude of giant public-sector units such as Hindustan Aeronautics, Bharat Electronics, and the Indian Space Research Organisation. It’s been said that the modern Indian middle class was born in Bangalore—the first place in India where technical skills could generate a comfortable living on a mass scale.

			But even with all this activity, the city was still small, its character that of a town. Its population began booming in the 1970s, when workers from neighboring states started flooding into the city to work at the garment factories that still hummed away in the City. Then it exploded with the arrival of information technology. With the growth of IT, the U.S.-Bangalore connection resumed. Many Bangaloreans trace the shift to 1985, when Texas Instruments—a tech manufacturing company that Americans of my age will immediately associate with graphing calculators—opened a software-design center in the city. And in 1992, India began rapidly liberalizing its economy, abandoning socialism in favor of free-market capitalism. Homegrown tech companies flourished, especially those that specialized in outsourcing: Infosys, Wipro, TCS. Today these Bangalore firms employ armies of engineers who work around the clock to keep the invisible infrastructure of Western corporations running, and Bangalore is both the international headquarters of back-end tech labor and India’s start-up capital.

			

			•   •   •

			I ASKED GIRISH KARNAD what he made of Bangalore’s IT transformation. “Actually, I became comfortable financially because of Infosys,” he said. He’s vaguely related, he explained, to Nandan Nilekani, one of the company’s founders. Back when they were getting started, and no one understood what IT was, Nilekani had urged Karnad to buy shares in the company. “I said, no, I don’t want to buy shares, I’m not interested in investment,” Karnad said. “He said, take it, take it. I got very irritated; I said to my wife, look, this Nandan Nilekani is irritating me. I told him I don’t want shares, but he won’t let go. And my wife gave a very typically small-town answer: she said, you know, he has such nice parents, they’re such loving relatives to us, why don’t you buy a few shares. So I bought it for family reasons. And suddenly within ten years it had become the miracle firm, and those shares paid for this house. That really pulled me up from being a lower-middle-class family man to a comfortable economic frame. I wish I’d invested more.”

			It wasn’t a boom for everyone. “A large section of the local population feels completely lost,” Karnad said. “In the good old days there was employment for local people, at factories and manufacturing units and so on. They could see where the money came from, how it was related. With information technology, it’s all remote; it’s all happening somewhere electronic. And it’s employing people who have nothing to do with you. It’s a layer of money which is totally incomprehensible to those who came here earlier.”

			Lucky young techies, men and women alike, poured into Bangalore from all over India, liberated upon their arrival in the city by their paychecks, their stock options, and a globalized culture that was the tech companies’ double-edged bequeathal. And liberated by distance: these engineers—so young and so quickly rich—could live a city life untethered by the conservative village-style social mores that had heretofore dictated their every move. And Bangalore rose to meet them. The city mushroomed with café chains and colossal malls and microbreweries and nightclubs to cater to the techies’ fancies and absorb their salaries.

			Many Bangaloreans who’d at first thought of IT as a blessing came to think of it as a curse. Locals began to feel like servants to the techies, just as an earlier generation of locals had been servants to the British (and just as the techies themselves were largely serving Western corporate interests). And they began to feel alienated by their own city. From 1980 to 2000, Bangalore’s population doubled; then from 2000 to 2020, it doubled again. Its streets became more congested with traffic than any city not just in India but in the entire world, an incomprehensible development to old Bangaloreans whose whole self-image was built on the assumption that they lived in a sleepy town. Road-widening projects destroyed countless parks and trees. Smog descended. The temperature elevated. Even as its water needs exploded, unchecked development obliterated hundreds of its famous lakes—the equivalent of paving over eight square miles of urban wetlands. Of the three primary lakes that Kempe Gowda built, none are still functional. For the first time, the city is vulnerable to floods, even as the city threatens to run out of drinking water entirely; many neighborhoods now need to have it trucked in daily. Since 2015, one of the few surviving major lakes has regularly overflowed with a toxic, foul-smelling white foam, as high as ten feet and frothing onto the roadway. Twice while I was in Bangalore the lake also caught fire.

			But the locals knew whom to blame. When tensions erupt over dwindling resources—as in September 2016, when scarce water led to riots in Bangalore—techies are typically the targets, the glass windows of their office towers smashed, their employee buses pelted with stones. The old generation of scientists is as likely as anyone to resent the new generation of tech. Meanwhile, in the United States, “Bangalore” became a pejorative verb: laid-off American workers claimed that they’d been “Bangalored,” that the city had “stolen” their jobs.

			Depending on how you count it, one in ten or even one in five Bangaloreans now work in tech. The locals often complain that the techies are generally divorced from local culture, local history, local language, and local politics. When they do vote, techies tend to vote for the BJP, the right-wing party that promises an India in which traditionalist Hindus dominate—but which also promises a business-friendly India, a free-market India, a privatized India, a technologically uplifted India.

			“All cities grow, all cities have a population of people constantly floating in from outside,” the novelist Shashi Deshpande writes. “But this generally happens over a period of time, giving room for assimilation, for absorption. In Bangalore this process has been just too rapid, so that there are too many people who have no idea of its original culture and yet, because of their incomes and positions, have a great influence over the shape of the city. And therefore the danger that it could be a city completely cut off from its past. An amnesiac city.”

			

			•   •   •

			BANGALORE IS THE KIND OF city that’s long felt a sense of decline, of the best years continuously receding; in part, nostalgia is simply a facet of its personality. Like New York City, Bangalore is a place whose heyday was always before you got there (and you’re constantly schooled on what you missed out on by anyone who got there slightly before you did).

			When Gauri wrote to complain about the transformation of Bangalore, she was unsentimental about it. She didn’t eulogize lost bungalows or shuttered restaurants. She wrote that even as the city grew, its spaces for protest had shrunk: first protesters were banned from demonstrating across from the state legislature building and pushed toward the city’s town hall; then they were pushed toward Freedom Park (the grounds of a former prison), and now some Bangaloreans want to push protesters outside the city limits, where they won’t disrupt traffic. “This way,” she wrote, “protestors have the satisfaction of having raised their voice, the government is happy that it is not being bothered, and the ‘common man’ is blissful in his ignorance since he does not know what’s happening around him.” Or she rued the loss of safety for women in the Bangalore of her youth; when a man was a pest on the street, she wrote, “the atmosphere those days was such that if a girl stood her ground and said ‘haccha,’ or yelled, ‘yenu, chappali seve beka?’ (what, you want me to beat you with my slipper?), they would vamoose faster than Lewis Hamilton.”

			More often, she wrote about the old injustices that hadn’t changed at all: for example, that the new IT companies, for all their reputation of egalitarianism, were just as likely as any other high-prestige industry to pass over “low” caste and Muslim job applicants in favor of Brahmins. And she railed against the idea that Bangalore should benefit disproportionately from state-funded development simply because it now—thanks to IT—generated most of the state’s tax revenues. “Bengaluru sucks from outside, digests the best portions, and throws out the waste,” she wrote. “Money, like garbage, works both ways, folks! Both should be spread around, if not, they start to stink.”

			In these past few pages I’ve made Bangalore sound like hell. But I’m describing a city I love, a city that I dream of living in. I never experienced the old, mourned, and for all I know mythical Bangalore in its golden years, and honestly the Bangalore I do know seems…wonderful, just as I loved the New York City I moved to in 2000, while old-timers assured me that it was already dead and gone. It’s clearly a deep loss that so many of the city’s lakes, trees, and heritage buildings are gone forever. Otherwise, though, I’d argue that Bangalore’s uneasy mash-up of a small-town sensibility in a booming cosmopolitan technopolis is central to its charm. Cities are strange that way: their hellishness is often inseparable from what we love about them. (That’s certainly how I feel about Detroit, the crazy city I grew up in: it was a uniquely stimulating and community-centered place precisely because it was so dysfunctional and fucked up.) It’s notable that nearly everyone who complains about how much better Bangalore used to be keeps living there anyway. Girish Karnad was moving, but he wasn’t moving out of town—he was moving to an apartment closer to Bangalore’s center.

			I asked Karnad what he thought of Gauri as a writer. In his unfailingly frank way, he was dismissive. “Her writing had no power,” he said. “She took stances, and she was bold, courageous.” But her newspaper, he said, was no match for her father’s. “To me, her assassination is a mystery,” he said. “She was not such a powerful journalist. And an underground killing like that, it will cost something; why should someone invest in killing Gauri? Her articles didn’t damage the RSS—I mean, okay, she attacked them and called them chaddis. But her articles didn’t damage anyone.”

			He considered the theory that Dabholkar, Pansare, Kalburgi, and Gauri were all killed by the same conspirators. “They probably were all similarly killed because there is an organization of guns for sale,” he said. “If you try hard enough, you will probably know people who, for a certain amount of money, will come and do the killing. But it must cost.” In the case of Kalburgi, the third victim in the pattern, Karnad thought it was clear who might have underwritten the assassination: elite Lingayats who saw him as an obstacle. “I’m sure the police know who killed Kalburgi,” he went on. “And the inner community knows perfectly well who had him bumped off, and why he was bumped off. Kalburgi mattered, but Gauri was not big enough.” He paused to reflect. “This sad figure of a middle-aged woman coming home after a day’s work, tired, and being shot down—this really wrenched the heart of the country,” he said. “It was the wrongest moment to choose, the wrongest person to choose. And overnight she became an all-India figure, a symbol of martyrdom, motherhood, womanhood, everything. Everything she would have loved to be.”

			He also thought it unlikely that the RSS had ordered her killed. “Because it boosted the opposition to the RSS,” he said. “Suddenly everyone said, the RSS kills women, women who are unprotected, just for saying that they wear chaddis—it’s the image they don’t want. I certainly don’t like them, but I don’t think they are that stupid. And what for? The RSS is too vast for this woman to have affected it.”

			“But, I mean, the RSS is just one tier,” Raghu said, “there must have been other organizations—”

			“That’s what I’m saying,” Karnad said. “There must be some loose cannons.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 8

			Ravana

			TO MANY LITERARY BANGALOREANS, Gauri’s murder felt like the violent announcement of the end of an era—an era that had arguably sprung from the imagination of her father. A commanding figure with enormous eyeglasses and a push-broom mustache, Lankesh was a compulsively productive, endlessly quarrelsome fiction writer, poet, playwright, filmmaker, essayist, and journalist. He dominated and in many ways dictated the cultural and political discourse in the state of Karnataka to a degree unimaginable before or after the twenty years in which he edited Lankesh Patrike, the tabloid he founded in 1980.

			In that tabloid, he brought the ideas and literature of the world to readers of Kannada. But he was no urbane cosmopolitan like Girish Karnad. He never set foot outside India, and rarely left Karnataka. Gauri once described him as “a rough-mannered man. A rural man. A man who lacked Western sophistication.” Karnad described him to me as “a very acerbic character, cantankerous, but brilliant. Temperamental. Very impulsive.” His admirers (current and former) have described him variously as “a principled anarchist,” an “irrepressible gadfly,” a “misanthrope,” a “cultural vigilante,” “a very weird, absurd, weird person,” and “very, very obnoxious.”

			The P in P. Lankesh stands for Paalya, which is the name of his ancestral village. But as South Indian families often do, his wife and children took Lankesh, his given name, as their surname. And it’s an unusual name. It’s another name for Ravana, the lord of Lanka in the epic the Ramayana. Millions of Indians are named after Rama, the hero of the Ramayana. Very few are named after Ravana, who is its archvillain.

			It’s worth taking a moment to offer a very short summary of this very long tale, because references to the Ramayana’s narrative and characters have overwhelming cultural, religious, and increasingly political import. It begins in Ayodhya, a city whose golden age is longed for even more keenly than Bangalore’s or Delhi’s—a utopia in which, as the epic puts it, “men and women were of righteous conduct, fully self-controlled, and in their pure and chaste behavior they equaled the great sages.” Rama is poised to assume the throne, to become the perfect king of this perfect city, but falls victim to his stepmother’s machinations and is instead exiled to fourteen years in the forest, accompanied by his peerless wife, Sita, and his loyal brother Lakshmana. One fateful day, Rama encounters a demon named Shurpanakha, who falls hopelessly in love with him. When Rama rejects her, Shurpanakha attacks Sita in jealousy. Lakshmana retaliates by cutting off Shurpanakha’s nose. And this arouses the ire of Shurpanakha’s brother: Ravana, the ten-headed demon king of Lanka. Ravana kidnaps Sita and tries to woo her to his side. The rest of the tale is devoted to Rama’s and Lakshmana’s efforts to find and rescue Sita, with the help of their talented monkey ally Hanuman. In the end Rama kills Ravana, but one obstacle remains: over the long months of her captivity, Rama has come to doubt that Sita kept her virtue. Outraged and dismayed, she submits to a trial by fire and proves her chastity. In Ayodhya, Rama finally claims his rightful throne, ushering in a legendary era known as Ram Rajya: the pinnacle of human governance. But rumors about Sita persist, and Rama banishes her from his kingdom, unaware that she is pregnant with twins. In exile once again, she gives birth to two sons, who eventually find their father and recite to him an epic story they’ve learned: the Ramayana.

			The Ramayana is not just the best-known and most beloved story in India; it’s probably the most popular tale in all of human history. Why has this story flourished more than any other? Perhaps because it seems to encompass all genres: it’s an action-adventure, a family drama, a fairy tale, a grand romance, a devotional parable, a supernatural comedy, a governance manifesto, a work of philosophy, a meta-narrative, a scripture. Then there is its intriguing ambiguity. Rama is touted as a perfect paragon who never makes a moral misstep, and yet at one point he literally shoots the monkey king Vali in the back, and in the end he treats Sita with such strange cruelty. These episodes have occasioned endless debates about Rama’s actions. On this point, the Ramayana scholar Arshia Sattar quotes her teacher the Kannada scholar and poet A. K. Ramanujan: “An epic is like a crystal: it grows where there is a flaw.”

			At some point in the evolution of this epic, Rama came to be seen not just as the ideal king but as a god, the seventh avatar of Vishnu. In recent years he’s become the most popular deity in the Hindu pantheon. (Two examples to demonstrate the breadth of his appeal: Gandhi said he wanted to die with Rama’s name on his lips, and the first name of his assassin, Nathuram Godse, is a variation on “Rama.”) But the Ramayana is not just a story for the religious; it’s a story that most Indians, Hindu or otherwise, feel they have a stake in. One of the biggest cultural moments in modern Indian history was when state television broadcast a TV serial based on the Ramayana in the late 1980s. The show was cheaply made, hammy, and slow moving. But it was the most popular program ever shown on Indian television. When it aired on Sunday mornings, it’s said that the streets emptied nationwide. In the summer of 1988, North Indian sanitation workers went on strike to demand more episodes. And it wasn’t just Hindus tuning in; my Muslim in-laws watched it as avidly as everyone else. Its effect was paradoxical: The serial was such a pan-Indian experience that it helped forge a common identity among Indians of all religions across a vast, fragmented, still-young country. But it also unwittingly fueled chauvinist Hindu nationalism, with its muscular, authoritarian take on Rama, and was an unintentional influence on the movement, led by the BJP, to tear down the Babri Masjid in Ayodhya.

			Gauri thought the Ramayana serial was ridiculous; she joked that its broadcast hour was the best time to get shopping done. But she was fascinated by the remarkable variety and number of versions of the Ramayana: a Muslim version from Kerala in which Ravana is a sultan; feminist retellings that put Sita’s perspective at the center; Dalit versions that recast the story as a parable of the Brahmin conquest of South India. “We would discuss this often,” her ex-husband, Chidanand Rajghatta, told me. “It’s an incredibly complex thing, and what we are dealing with now is a crowd that says the Ramayana is like the Quran: it’s so holy you can’t question anything, and if you question it, you’re a heretic or an apostate. That’s what we all fought against.”

			In much of India, effigies of Ravana are burned on the festival of Dussehra. But because Hinduism is such an extraordinarily capacious religion—it seems to contain everything and its opposite—there are pockets of India where Ravana is revered for his good qualities: his aesthetic refinement, his musical mastery, his scholarship (he’s said to be the author of many books on a range of subjects: medicine, astrology, linguistics, religion). Ravana is even worshipped in temples devoted to him, particularly among the Gond tribal people of central India. These cases are exceedingly rare when compared with Rama worship, but that’s how Lankesh got his name: his father admired Ravana’s devotion to the god Shiva.

			It’s silly to overinterpret a name. But it’s irresistible to think of the parallels between Ravana and Lankesh: their imposing size, their astonishing variety of talents, their prolific authorship. Both surrounded themselves with entourages, but sometimes alienated loyalists through stubborn quarrelsomeness. Lankesh, at the height of his powers, was as feared as Ravana. When I think of P. Lankesh, I half picture the ten-crowned demon king, large as a mountain peak, sitting on a crystal throne in garments of red silk.

			Lankesh embraced the comparison; he named his own son Indrajit, after Ravana’s son. Rajghatta noted in his book about Gauri that she relished her family’s affiliation with the antagonists of the Ramayana. “Following her assassination, some trolls took to calling Gauri ‘Shurpanakha’ on social media,” he wrote. “But here’s something the troll patrol wouldn’t know: Gauri would have delighted in being called Shurpanakha. I can almost hear her chortling, ‘Rather Shurpanakha than Sita! Thank you!!!’ ”

			And it’s fitting in one particular way that both P. Lankesh and Gauri Lankesh bore the name of Ravana, the archenemy of the ideal king. For all their differences as writers, Lankesh and Gauri both fundamentally rejected and ridiculed the idea that any such thing as a perfect political leader or an impeccably righteous government could ever be possible. Neither hesitated to excoriate whoever held power, regardless of party or persuasion, just as they surely would have ridiculed Ram Rajya if such a rule had ever come to be.

			

			•   •   •

			“GAURI” IS A PERFECTLY ordinary name in India. It’s the name of a goddess, an avatar of Parvati. As one of her colleagues noted in the final issue of her paper, Gauri is the local name for the fire lily, whose blossom looks uncannily like a burst of red flame and which has an abundance of medicinal uses but is also poisonous enough to kill. Gauri’s mother, Indira, named Gauri for her own mother, who died when Indira was two years old. Indira had been raised by a single father, an insurance agent who had an inconceivably tragic married life: he was a widower three times over by the time he was twenty-seven. All three of his late wives died shortly after childbirth.

			Indira lives with Kavitha, and I asked Kavitha if I might interview her mother. She winced at the suggestion. Indira was shattered by the brutal murder of her eldest daughter. It would be too painful for her to discuss it again. I had no desire to press the point. Instead, I read a couple of interviews that Indira had given trusted journalists at local newspapers shortly after the murder. “My daughter was like a mother to me,” she said repeatedly. “Always supporting me, encouraging me, protecting me.” She said that she’d been constantly worried that Gauri would come to harm because of the stances she took in her paper. So every night she’d wait up until she received Gauri’s text message confirming that she was home. “Even now, I look at my phone at night looking for a message from her,” she said. “My heart begins to beat faster, and I open the phone inbox only to find my daughter’s old messages which read ‘Amma, I reached home.’…Nothing can bring my mother—my Gauru—back to me.” Later Kavitha told me that just three months after Gauri’s murder, on top of everything else, Indira had been diagnosed with breast cancer. At first she refused to go to the hospital, but eventually she underwent a mastectomy. “It’s tired her out so much,” Kavitha said.

			One thing Gauri encouraged her mother to do is write, and in the early 2000s, at Gauri’s urging, Indira wrote a memoir, which Gauri published serially in her paper. The memoir is so frank and detailed that it answers every question I would have had for her.

			

			•   •   •

			WHEN INDIRA AND LANKESH first met, in the small city of Shimoga in central Karnataka, her sister thought Lankesh would never propose marriage because he was so handsome, with dazzling eyes whose lashes nearly touched his brows—all three of his children inherited those eyes—and “thighs as thick as tree trunks,” as one aunt put it. “I was lean as a stick,” Indira wrote in her memoir. “My nose was crooked. He was fairer than me.” But they did get engaged. Lankesh’s mother was against the union; she’d wanted Lankesh to marry his niece. And Indira’s father soon regretted giving his blessing as he started hearing stories about how rude Lankesh was.

			As an assistant professor in Shimoga, Lankesh cut a dashingly eccentric figure: he bicycled to the university every day in a suit with a rose pinned to the lapel, but his hair was so unruly that his students once bought him a comb as a joke. And he was angry, known for yelling at students for transgressions as minor as dropping a pen, and frequently in trouble with the administration. “But by then I was in love with the rude Lankesh,” Indira wrote. “So I stood my ground about marrying him!” They married on May 16, 1960. She annoyed her father further when she sold her newly obtained wedding jewelry to upgrade Lankesh’s bicycle to a scooter, then promptly fell off it and injured herself. Marriage to Lankesh, he said, had turned her into a brat.

			Lankesh, Indira soon learned, was a man of many indulgences. He loaded his mouth with cardamom to mask the smell of his smoking and drinking. Despite their modest means, he was reflexively, even recklessly generous; once, when a friend admired a pair of shoes he’d just bought, he handed them over and went home barefoot. But he had a highly disciplined side. Every day before dinner he’d perform a headstand for several minutes. He stuck stubbornly to his principles. He was quixotically inflexible about punctuality. And he maintained a superhuman literary output—stories, poems, novels, essays, plays—no matter what else was going on in his life.

			Gauri was born on January 29, 1962, a beautiful and happy baby. Later that year, they moved from Shimoga to Bangalore, where Lankesh took a job teaching English at Bangalore University. He remained angry, once beating a student—the son of a legislator, no less—for sitting on his parked scooter. It was a heady time. Lankesh and his cohort belonged to, as the theater scholar Aparna Dharwadker puts it, “that first post-Independence generation of Indian artists who had to rethink everything.” Bangalore at that moment was becoming Karnataka’s hub of new-wave literature, cinema, and theater—and Lankesh established himself at the center of all three.

			He first came to prominence as a leading member of the influential Navya (New) literary movement in Kannada. It was a movement that took formal inspiration from Western modernism and ideological inspiration from the Indian socialist Ram Manohar Lohia, who opposed both capitalism and communism. The Navya writers’ output “can be considered essentially as a record of their experiences in the city,” writes the literature professor Rajendra Chenni. “Navya literature produced the image of Bengaluru as the site of existentialist angst, alienation, and sexual liberation.”

			Lankesh’s short stories, always highly local and often rustic in setting and character, conjure an atmosphere of “almost savage bitterness,” as the critic Anna Sujatha Mathai puts it. For example, in “Rotti”—one of the most indelibly disturbing short stories I’ve ever read—a new grandmother, after visiting with her daughter in Bangalore, walks to the train station, where a beggar steals the bread she’s packed for her journey; when she calls out for help, a crowd gathers and jeers at her, and a policeman comes and beats the beggar bloody, and then more police come and beat the crowd.

			Around the time Lankesh wrote that story, his mother died. She and Indira had never gotten along, and one day after burying her, Lankesh blurted out to Indira, “If you’d been more agreeable, Avva wouldn’t have died.” Indira responded by swallowing a bottle of cockroach poison. Lankesh handed Gauri to their landlord and rushed Indira to the hospital; her mouth was foaming. After vomiting, she recovered. Neither could explain why they’d acted the way they did. Years later, Indira’s father did end his own life; in old age, he’d grown ill, and hated the thought of being a burden to others. Lankesh was impressed by his decisiveness. Gauri was oddly unsympathetic about both incidents, even though she was normally her mother’s fiercest defender. “My paternal side is full of doughty fighters who struggled against various vagaries,” Gauri wrote later. “My maternal side, however, abounds with wimps many of whom have taken their own lives. My own mother attempted suicide once. Thankfully for me, I take after my father’s side and would rather sock my tormentors in their face instead of going down meekly.”

			After his mother’s death, Lankesh wrote a tribute called “Avva,” which remains one of the best-known poems in Kannada. Its success prompted him to name his second daughter Kavitha, which means “poem” (although they delayed so long after her birth in naming her that they just called her Baby, as her friends still do to this day). Two of its lines:

			She was mean, crooked, ready to scratch like a monkey;

			her only rule: whatever raises a family.

			

			•   •   •

			LANKESH WAS OFTEN OBLIVIOUS to his own family. He was never sure even what grade his children were in. In one interview Gauri described him as an “absentee father.” “He lived in a world of his own and we grew up in our mother’s world,” she said. Once Indira took her three children on a week’s visit to Shimoga. When she returned to Bangalore, she found their house empty, the door locked, and Lankesh nowhere to be found. They went to a neighbor’s house and pieced it together: it turned out that Lankesh had rented them a new house, without bothering to consult with Indira or even tell her.

			But this new house was in a place that they all fell in love with: a neighborhood called Basavanagudi. Kavitha, the family’s animal lover, remembers the parakeets that left green feathers all over their terrace and the thousands of bats that would fly over from the famous nearby Bull Temple. It was a neighborhood of musicians—especially famous Carnatic singers—and of writers. One barbershop in Basavanagudi offers a menu of styles and services named after the city’s most celebrated authors: the Kuvempu mushroom cut, the Masti head massage, the Ananthamurthy beard trim, the Girish Karnad eyebrow threading, and so on. For Lankesh and his writer friends, Basavanagudi was a paradise of coffeehouses, where their talk had no end. (The Basavanagudi branch of the restaurant Adyar Ananda Bhavan has this sign on its wall: Dear Customers: We Are Requesting to Use Dining Table Only for Eating Purposes. Avoid Real Estate Business Transactions and Political Discussions.) The heart of the neighborhood, just around the corner from the Lankesh home, was Gandhi Bazaar. Set at a diagonal from the surrounding grid of streets, it’s perhaps the city’s most charming commercial strip, its tree-lined pavement crowded with colorful flower and vegetable and trinket vendors in front of all manner of intriguing shops and restaurants. “At dusk, the Gandhi Bazaar main road filled your being,” the author S. Diwakar wrote. Or, as K. S. Nissar Ahmed put it in a famous poem, “My mind is Gandhi Bazaar / Where hundreds of thoughts surge / Like a brakeless car.” Every evening at five o’clock sharp, the great old Kannada writer Masti strolled down Gandhi Bazaar in his signature boxy cap, carrying an umbrella to protect against bird droppings and handing out chocolates to every child he encountered. Gauri adored it there, a place where every shopkeeper knew her name.

			There was little indication in Gauri’s childhood of the gleefully noisy and combative adult she’d grow into. By all accounts she was a quiet child, the most bookish and indoorsy of the siblings; Indira remembers attending a Sports Day at Gauri’s school where Gauri came in dead last. Mature, thoughtful, and good-natured, she was known as the family peacemaker. “I don’t remember her ever fighting with her siblings,” Indira said in an interview.

			Because of Lankesh’s literary fame, it’s often assumed that the Lankesh kids grew up rich, or at least comfortably middle class. In fact, the family had chronic financial difficulties. Lankesh and his peers not only didn’t profit from writing but often had to pay to get their stories printed. The family bought groceries on credit from the local grocer; sometimes the credit ran out, and he refused their business. At their tightest financial point, Lankesh picked up the hobby of betting on horse races. He told Indira repeatedly that he’d stop gambling but did not. “There were a lot of differences like that between my father and mother,” Kavitha says. “I remember a lot of fights in the family.” They couldn’t always afford the children’s school fees. The landlord often had to chase down the rent. They had no running water; Lankesh hauled it in from a well each day. Kavitha remembers that when Indira got skirts stitched for her, she’d tell the tailor to leave a four-inch hem so that she could keep wearing it for years as she grew taller. “In spite of all that I think we were strong and happy,” Kavitha says.

			But her parents were in crisis. One day in the mid-1970s, Indira was emptying the trash can in Lankesh’s office and found a note he’d written, and apparently never sent, to another woman. “I can’t live without you,” he wrote. “I don’t want my wife or children. Let us both go to a faraway place. Please don’t disappoint me.” When Indira confronted Lankesh, he dismissed it as a closed chapter. “The uncertainty of the future surrounded me,” Indira wrote. “I thought about killing my children and committing suicide if I was unable to look after them.” She resolved then to become financially independent, and soon after started a business with a neighbor selling saris.

			Gauri, then fourteen, almost immediately detonated another calamity: she ate contaminated pani poori from a food cart and fell critically ill. Feverish and incoherent, she became unresponsive, screaming when touched. At the hospital, the examining doctor made them wait for hours, appearing only to reprimand the Lankeshes for bad parenting because she’d eaten street food. As Gauri’s condition deteriorated, Lankesh rushed her through the pouring rain to another hospital and saved her life. A spinal tap revealed that she had meningitis, and the new doctor warned that if she survived, she might go blind. Somehow she made a full recovery.

			The incident seemed to awaken in Lankesh an appreciation for his daughters—or maybe he became interested in them because they were finally old enough to hold up their end of a conversation. When they were upset about a personal problem, he’d sit with them and just listen. “Then suddenly he’d come out with one line that made so much sense and meant so much to what was happening in our lives,” Kavitha told me. “He had this knack for saying one line, so deep and profound that it hit a nerve.” Gauri became especially attached to him. They went to see English-language movies together, and they bonded over books. He’d often hand his children a blank check and tell them to buy whatever they wanted at the very greatest of Bangalore booksellers: Premier Bookshop.

			As is inevitable in a city whose best features recede continually into the past, Premier is now gone. There’s never been a bookstore arrayed, or disarrayed, quite like it. Premier was just one room, under four hundred square feet, at the center of which was “a mountain of books, seven or eight layers deep, these representing the sediment of knowledge discarded or scorned by Bangaloreans down the years,” as Ramachandra Guha writes. Shoppers would circumambulate around this mountain, always clockwise, like worshippers participating in a scholarly ritual, presided over by the high priest and oracle T. S. Shanbhag, who knew the precise location of every book in his inventory. Through Premier, Gauri graduated from the juvenile escapades of Enid Blyton to the misadventures of Bertie Wooster (one friend remembers Gauri as “a walking-talking Wodehouse encyclopedia”) to the very adult stories of Saadat Hasan Manto.

			Despite the family’s money troubles, Lankesh next turned to the most expensive of art forms: filmmaking. Between 1976 and 1980 he wrote and directed four features, selling his sole worldly asset—a piece of property back in Shimoga—to finance the first one (over Indira’s objections). They both worried about the film making back its investment. “One time, Lankesh cried bitterly with his head in my lap, saying, ‘What will happen to us if the movie doesn’t make it big?’ ” she wrote. “I wondered if he was the same person who was ready to leave behind his children and wife for someone else.” To save money, Indira cooked meals for Lankesh’s entire crews, even as she continued running the household and her own sari business. All four movies were grim black-and-white art films; three of them won major awards. “I don’t think he was ever really a filmmaker, though he’s the only Kannada guy who’s won the Best Director Award,” Kavitha told me with a laugh. Mise-en-scène was not his métier. The cameraman would ask Lankesh where he wanted a character to sit, and Lankesh, baffled, would snap, “Wherever he sits!”

			Meanwhile, at age fifteen, Gauri started a precollege program at National College, just around the corner from their house. Popular with her classmates, she had become more outspoken, especially when it came to women’s rights and caste discrimination. Implausibly, Indira was pushing Gauri to be a doctor, so she was supposed to be studying science. But she was deeply distracted by her budding romance with a fellow science student, two years her elder, whose parents were also urging him toward medicine: Chidanand Rajghatta. He already knew he wanted to be a writer and hated the sight of blood, so he was just trying to finish college as soon as possible to get on with his life. One day a group of them went to the movies—One Flew over the Cuckoo’s Nest, if Rajghatta remembers correctly—and Gauri and Rajghatta happened to sit next to each other. “She was very pretty and very vivacious,” he said. Within weeks they were dating. He and his friends “were basically comedians, constantly up to pranks,” he told me. “And you realize being funny is the easiest way to be attractive to a girl. So it all began with laughter.”

			A friend tipped off Indira that Gauri was running around with a boy from school. One day she got a look at him in a bakery on Gandhi Bazaar. “I was surprised that my daughter, who was dainty like a peacock, could like this boy who looked like a crow pheasant,” Indira wrote. “In Kannada, that basically means you’re dark and skinny and ugly,” Rajghatta explained to me, then collapsed into laughter. Indira told Lankesh, and Lankesh summoned Rajghatta to meet him. “When you’re a teenager, it’s very intimidating, but I went,” he told me. “And he was mad. Look at you, he said, you’re still young, you’re immature. You guys should be focused on studying. Years later he told me, I liked that you had the balls to actually come.” Gauri promised to stop seeing him and went right on doing so.

			Indira had come to accept that Gauri wasn’t destined for a medical career. “My mother said, if you don’t want to be a doctor, then at least marry a doctor,” Kavitha recalled. She lined up a couple of prospects. And this was the origin of Gauri’s short hairstyle. When one of the doctor suitors dropped by the house to meet her, “Gauri shut the door of her room and did not come out even to see him,” Indira wrote. “A few days later, she headed to the beauty parlor and chopped off her waist-length hair into a bob. Her logic was that the boy’s family was conservative and would not accept a girl with short hair. Well, she was right. My brother could not believe his eyes and slapped her.” Kavitha remembers it as Gauri’s “first rebellious act.”

			Lankesh was having his own scholarly woes. He had no love for teaching; it seemed only to annoy him. He spoke freely against politicians at public meetings, which embarrassed his employers because it was a state university. After one such speech the university administrators asked him to come in and explain himself. Instead, he abruptly resigned, without telling Indira. “I was told that if he goes back after six months and asks for the job, he might get it back,” Indira recalled. “But I knew my husband; he would never do that.” She became the sole breadwinner with her sari business. The arrangement seemed to give Lankesh a new appreciation for her contributions. “My wife earned this food,” he’d boast to visiting friends. Eventually a popular newspaper called Prajavani hired him to write a weekly political column. It was an instant hit. Witty, brash, and ruthlessly critical even of Lankesh’s own friends in politics, his column was a total departure from the staid, cautious style that then dominated the Kannada press. Prajavani’s circulation increased by thousands on the days his column ran. But after a short while the paper abruptly discontinued it, apparently under pressure from the politicians Lankesh had been roasting. Lankesh stormed into the Prajavani office to scold the editors: “If you don’t have the courage to publish me, why did you ask me to write in the first place?”

			In the face of this continued instability, Indira took a gamble and rented a commercial space that would serve as her first sari showroom. She called it Mayura Textiles. Lankesh wrote its slogan: “Where lovely saris for lovely women is a tradition.” And Lankesh made an equally risky bet. Feeling defiant after his column’s unceremonious cancellation, and despite a total lack of experience in publishing, in 1980 he launched the first-ever weekly tabloid in Kannada: Lankesh Patrike.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 9

			Lankesh Patrike

			IT WAS AN INSTANT SENSATION. Before Lankesh Patrike, Lankesh was well known in his niches of literature, film, and theater. After Lankesh Patrike, he became a true celebrity, recognized everywhere on the streets. Each new issue would disappear from newsstands as soon as it appeared. “It had the kind of readership where one person bought a copy and six people would read it,” Girish Karnad told me. Lankesh’s loyalists never missed an issue in twenty years; they spoke to me of the delight of simply having a new one in hand. To hear them speak of it, Lankesh Patrike was the greatest weekly newspaper ever published. They struggled to find superlatives and comparisons that captured its inimitable cultural influence in Karnataka. “There was everything in that paper: great politics, great literature, great gossip,” the journalist Sugata Srinivasaraju told me. “He translated Rimbaud; then he talked about Barthes. You are sitting in this corner of Karnataka and you are being introduced to the world.”

			In the era that Lankesh grew up in, Bangalore culture was heavily influenced not just by the British but also by the courtly, mannered atmosphere of the Mysore monarchy. “The traditional culture of Bangalore had no place for abandon,” writes Chiranjiv Singh. “Dignified restraint was its characteristic feature.” Newspapers were stodgy and impersonal, unadorned by analysis or flair. When it came to scandals or criminal accusations, they were discreet to a fault, their reports heavily euphemized. Into this climate came Lankesh’s newspaper like an eruption of punk rock. Lankesh always named names. The paper’s interviews with public figures were notoriously aggressive—as one reader described them, “juicy, scandalous, face-slapping and gut-wrenching.” One reader remembered the Lankesh Patrike coverage in 1986 of an outrageous scandal in Dharwad—one that implicated some leading politicians and bureaucrats—in which the warden of a hostel at a nurses’ training school forced the students into prostitution: “Lankesh and reporters were very graphical (bordering on pornography) with the details.” (There remained a punk-rock streak in his behavior, too. One former Lankesh Patrike staffer told me that the very first time they met, Lankesh was outside drinking coffee, and when he finished, he threw the glass and smashed it. “Lankesh was like that,” the novelist Vivek Shanbhag told me. “He would suddenly create some violence, for no reason.”)

			Each issue of Lankesh Patrike was an unpredictable cornucopia of investigative journalism, fiction, poetry, criticism, commentary, and humor. Rajghatta called it “a weird mixture of high literary essay combined with low political tattle,” like an unholy merger of The New Yorker and the New York Post, but with a delightful idiom all its own. In retrospect, the 1980s were the perfect time to launch an iconoclastic new publication: the repressions of the emergency were over, and the extreme political polarization that picked up pace in the 1990s was yet to come. “It was like the ground was ready and the seed was sown and you reaped the crop. That cannot be replicated now,” Lankesh’s longtime assistant at the paper, Basuraj, told me. “People were receptive to new thoughts then. These days nobody wants.” Lankesh Patrike “shaped the sensibilities of a couple of generations,” Chandan Gowda told me. His father, he said, “subscribed to the paper just to feel energized week after week.”

			A chief inspiration for Lankesh Patrike was Harijan, the newspaper that Mohandas Gandhi published from 1933 to 1948. It might seem that Lankesh and Gandhi had little in common: Gandhi was devout and ascetic; Lankesh was an atheist and a sensualist. Nataraj Huliyar—a regular contributor to Lankesh Patrike who went on to become the director of Bangalore University’s Centre for Gandhian Studies—told me that despite their philosophical differences, Lankesh learned from Gandhi fearlessness in speaking the truth and the importance of direct language in reaching a wide audience. And despite his atheism, his respect for Buddha and Basavanna often shone through in his columns.

			Countless writers contributed to Lankesh Patrike over its two decades in print, but Lankesh set the tone. “His prose was strong, simple, clear, and straightforward, and people believed him,” Basuraj said. If he praised or, more likely, damned a particular politician, his readers trusted his judgment. He was so persuasive, Vivek Shanbhag told me, that it could be a problem; some readers adopted his opinions too uncritically. “There are some people who think that they are the graduates of Lankesh University,” he said. “I think this spoiled a generation of new writers.” But he knew how to meet a diverse set of readers where they were. That went just as much for the sampling of international literature that Lankesh translated into Kannada and published in the paper. “You could not even imagine Baudelaire reaching the common people, but Lankesh made Baudelaire reach them,” Basuraj said.

			Prior to Lankesh Patrike, Girish Karnad told me, “Lankesh’s frustration was that he was very good at everything but not top ranking in anything. But as a journalist he was an unmatched genius, before or after. He created a new language, a new perception, a new way of looking at things.”

			Kannada is a language, I’m told, with very distinct regional idioms and slangs—giveaways that tell a local exactly where and from which community a speaker originates. Lankesh seemed able to write convincingly in all of them. Readers marveled at his concision of expression. “What I write in a page, Lankesh captures in a sentence,” one of his fellow writers put it. “He would just write simply, but suddenly he would give a twist you never thought of,” the poet Pratibha Nandakumar told me.

			The annoying thing is that the freshness of Lankesh’s writing is impossible to convey in translation. The poet Adil Jussawalla is illuminating on this point:

			
				English writers are lucky with the language they use. Written English has never been allowed to stray very far from spoken English and, when it has, poets like Wordsworth and prose-writers like Shaw and Wells have tugged it back. This has not been so for the modern Indian languages which have sprung from a more constricting classical tradition. A large measure of a contemporary Indian writer’s relevance to his own people depends on what he does to language, the degree to which he may break out of a classical mould, the extent to which he may make his written language approach the spoken. How can these achievements be reproduced in the English language?

			

			Obviously, there is a great wealth of attributes that can be attained from translation; otherwise we wouldn’t bother with it. But only the Kannada reader can really experience the novelty of Lankesh Patrike—and its radical novelty may be the most important attribute to those who cherished it.

			

			•   •   •

			THE PAPER’S IMPACT WAS as much political as literary. Several people told me that Lankesh Patrike’s journalism was instrumental in bringing down the state’s government in 1983, handing power for the first time to a reformist party—and then the paper turned around and savaged the new government’s every move, blew open its scandals, and helped bring it down, too. “He was always in the opposition,” Basuraj said. (This isn’t to say Lankesh was a relativist: like Gauri, he had a particular loathing for the right-wing Hindutva movement, and he excoriated them in his paper at every opportunity.) He was the first to give Karnataka politicians insulting nicknames, referring to two powerful chief ministers solely as “Gum” and “Bum.”

			Readers thrilled to see Lankesh and his stable of writers tear into haughty officials in stinging language, exposing their corruption, nepotism, and sexual affairs. “Believe me, the government used to shiver under his pen,” the Congress Party politician B. K. Hariprasad told me. “I was a victim of his pen, but I admired him. He was a man who wrote irrespective of caste, creed, and power. He showed the world what exactly the pen can do.”

			His ethical rules were ironclad: no gifts, no favors. His paper’s notoriety gave him tremendous personal influence, in theory. He had the power to help Kavitha get a seat at a competitive school or to help Indrajit get a slot on a cricket team with just a word, but he refused to wield it. In 1986, the government awarded him a literary prize, one of whose benefits was a subsidized plot of land. The Lankesh family was still living in a rented house; Indira assumed they’d accept it. “Go ahead and apply,” Lankesh told her, “but if you do, don’t come home.” His journalism sometimes made things awkward for Indira, as when he ran a piece critical of her sari shop’s landlord. On the plus side, tax officials, afraid of Lankesh, would never dare ask her for a bribe. He gave his employees extra money as an “alcohol allowance” so that they wouldn’t be tempted to accept offers of free drinks from politicians. His was the first Kannada newspaper to operate without ads—a significant restriction. For most Indian newspapers, and especially small, regional-language papers, government advertising (local, state, or national) is a massive share of their revenue.

			If Lankesh was impervious to advertising pressure and indifferent to direct political pressure, another way his adversaries could go after him was legal pressure—filing frequent and often frivolous defamation cases against him to harass him. “It used to be a joke that anybody who knew what defamation was could sue Lankesh,” one fan recalled. And then there was physical pressure. “I was open to all kinds of responses from the reading public,” Lankesh once wrote drolly of the times he’d been attacked. Once, at a Karnataka Day celebration, in retaliation for a recent article he’d published about a popular activist, a couple dozen goons rushed the stage and beat Lankesh until his loyal printer, Mani, drove them off. Mani, too, came under intense pressure: politicians tried to pay him to stop printing Lankesh Patrike.

			For its writers, the paper was liberating: honest expression and personal voice were valued over any specific house style. “What others would not publish, Lankesh Patrike would publish,” Basuraj said. Some contributors were regular salaried correspondents situated all over Karnataka; many others were citizen reporters with day jobs. He invited anyone with a good idea to contribute, even if they were students or otherwise inexperienced; the paper gave the first break to many writers and journalists who went on to become famous. That includes Basuraj, who started off as a distributor for Lankesh Patrike but who is now a prominent Kannada journalist in his own right. “I was like a stone,” he told me. “He converted me into a writer, which was unthinkable.”

			The Kannada literary and political scenes had long been dominated by elaborately educated Brahmins. Lankesh Patrike was fresh in part because its contributors came from such a diversity of backgrounds and identities: caste, region, gender, religion, education. It felt like a magazine not just for the urban cognoscenti but for all of Karnataka. Lankesh was interested not only in reaching marginalized and minority communities but in putting their own words in print. The writer Sara Aboobacker, whose stories delve intimately into Karnataka Muslim life, was threatened with a fatwa after her very first piece was published in the paper; Lankesh stood by her and helped her develop into one of the best-known writers in Kannada. Dalit writing, too, was on the rise, and Lankesh gave these writers a platform. “And a lot of these people brought in completely new themes and language,” Vivek Shanbhag writes.

			Yet Lankesh was so mercurial that every few years his entire editorial team would change, either because they quit or because Lankesh dismissed them. With Lankesh, one friend joked, you’d be a member of his circle for only “a Rajya Sabha term”—the length of a stint in the upper house of the Indian Parliament, or six years. Then there’d be some argument or misunderstanding—“silly, ordinary quarrels”—and Lankesh would start over with a new circle of friends and colleagues. After one such purge, Basuraj remembered, Lankesh said to him, “Let all of them go. I will do the writing; you will do the layout,” and he wrote the entire issue.

			He expected people to roll with whatever he said or wrote about them. “Lankesh was a very warm, affectionate person, but totally unreliable in his loyalties,” Girish Karnad told me. “You could be his best friend and then open his paper and find that he has written an article attacking you. He fought with all his friends. I stayed away from him because I was always wary of that kind of a relationship. He didn’t understand how he could hurt people.” He’d write about Karnad, too, in the paper. “Always running me down,” he said. “But this is true for all his writer friends.” And in private he’d often praise the work of fellow writers whom he’d insulted in print.

			Some of these attacks were juvenile and unfounded. The poet Pratibha Nandakumar, a regular contributor to Lankesh Patrike, told me that on several occasions Lankesh referred to her obliquely in his columns as “the Madhva beauty with buck teeth” (Madhva is a variety of Brahmin) and implied that she was having an affair with the writer U. R. Ananthamurthy (she wasn’t). But she defended his attacks on his colleagues’ work. “This is completely gone now,” she told me. “Nobody wants to be criticized. People think what they write is the ultimate Bhagavad Gita. We learned. But today they don’t want to learn.” Vivek Shanbhag echoed these sentiments. “Today people say only nice things. Because nobody wants to take anything head-on. Which means you don’t care. That’s what it means! You criticize because you care. The criticism in Kannada has become so pale. Even in book reviews, if they have to say something negative, it’s hidden in some nice words. They were holding each other to a high standard. From outside it looked to a lot of people like Ananthamurthy and Lankesh hated each other. That’s not the case. When they met, they were very warm, and even till the end they respected each other. To say that these two writers never got along is a very simplistic understanding of their relationship.”

			To be sure, Lankesh was always the most critical. He had the platform to express his criticisms to a wide audience week after week, and he never held back. “Lankesh was a street fighter type,” the artist Pushpamala N. said. “He could be obnoxious and nasty. And he didn’t care—he’d blast.” And he fully expected to be blasted in turn. “He was wide open for criticism,” Basuraj said. “He never hid. Even when he knew he was doing something wrong, he would do it openly. Whether it was his girlfriends or drinking in the afternoon or playing cards or going to races, he would own it. He never worried for a second that somebody might blackmail him or use it against him. You can’t think of anybody like that now.”

			In his fiction, Lankesh was often praised for his complex, fully imagined women characters, with a particular interest, as the critic M. S. Asha Devi puts it, in “different paths of women’s liberation.” “It cannot be denied that Lankesh’s sensibility strengthened women’s discourses in Kannada like never before,” she writes. “It also catalyzed the emergence of genuine women writers through his weekly, Lankesh Patrike, whose writings inspired women to seek liberation on their own.”

			There were also a couple of non-genuine women writers in the pages of Lankesh Patrike. Few fans knew that two of its most popular female bylines were actually written by Lankesh himself. One was Nimmi: supposedly a teenage girl who wrote letters to the paper, telling stories of her daily life and her home city of Mysore, with much social commentary and a vivid cast of characters. Fans fully believed she was real; some searched around Mysore for her house. One hapless actor came to Lankesh’s office with his mother, seeking Nimmi’s hand in marriage. And the other was Neelu, a poet, who has been described as Lankesh’s female alter ego. The Neelu poems were short, direct, sometimes wry, sometimes melancholic, and usually aphoristic. One example, as translated by the writer Ankur Betageri:

			
				The way

				my love

				—who comes crossing

				four streams and ten jungles—stands unable to

				climb

				the wall of my worry makes me cry

			

			“Lankesh understood women’s minds so well,” Indira wrote about Lankesh’s Neelu poems. “I would wonder why he never understood me.”

			Their marriage had reached a certain equilibrium. With the success of Lankesh Patrike and of Indira’s shop, the family was financially secure for the first time. They never regained the love they felt for each other in their early years of marriage, but “Lankesh and I lived with mutual admiration,” Indira wrote. “I had immense respect for his personality and talent. Similarly, Lankesh took pride in the success I saw as a businesswoman. He never belittled me or my achievements.”

			Indira’s sari business fostered her confidence and self-respect. She saved up enough money to finally buy a plot of land in the Rajarajeshwari Nagar neighborhood and build the modest house she dreamed of—without telling Lankesh. (She later gave the house to Gauri; she was killed on its doorstep.) Tired of hiring autorickshaws to commute to work, she bought her own scooter, a Bajaj Priya, at a time when very few women drove them without a man. Soon after, Kavitha bought a motorcycle, a Hero Honda, which even fewer women rode solo; Gauri joined her, and many Bangaloreans recall the Lankesh sisters tearing through the city streets on their choppers.

			In the earlier years of their marriage, as Indira writes very frankly in her memoir, Lankesh slapped her exactly three times: once when she woke him from a nap to tell him that a friend had arrived, once when she was clipping his toenails and accidentally cut him, and once when Indrajit fell and broke a tooth while she was caring for him. And at other times he shouted harshly at her. One day, though, Gauri turned to Lankesh angrily and said, “You cannot scold Amma that way anymore. If you scold her ever again, I will take her to a lawyer myself and get her to file for divorce.” He took Gauri’s words seriously, Indira wrote, and never mistreated her again. Gauri wrote that in the later years of their marriage “they took care of each other and were deeply concerned for one another. When someone speaks ill about my father, Amma pounces on them like a tiger! Appa wouldn’t tolerate even the most trivial slurs thrown at Amma.”

			

			•   •   •

			LANKESH STARTED HIS PAPER right around the time when Gauri graduated from the pre-university program at National College and began a BA in journalism at Bangalore University. The timing was coincidence: she had no idea that he planned to launch Lankesh Patrike, and he didn’t know that she’d decided to become a journalist. Her choice of major was influenced much more by her boyfriend, Rajghatta, than by her father. And the journalism program was easy to get into; even if she’d wanted to go to medical school, which she didn’t, she didn’t have the marks.

			Anyway, she wasn’t fluent in Kannada, so she had only a vague idea of what her father was up to with the paper. “We could not read or appreciate what we were told was the tabloid’s unique vernacular idiom,” Rajghatta wrote. “We were more into Dylan and ABBA than Patrike and Appa.” Many of her peers knew who he was, though; as she entered Bangalore University, a romantic song in Lankesh’s final movie (for which he wrote the lyrics) became a big hit, and male classmates would teasingly sing it to her: “Where were you till now, where have you come from?” Gauri’s parents had accepted by then that she and Rajghatta were a couple, and he’d come over to the house to watch tennis or cricket matches with Lankesh and Indrajit.

			In 1983, Gauri moved to Delhi for a year for a graduate degree in journalism. “It was the first time one of our children was going away all alone,” Indira wrote. “Lankesh was anxious. He never worried too much about her when she was home, but he started paying close attention to the weather forecast in Delhi every day as we watched TV. He was concerned about Gauri suffering in Delhi’s bitter cold or extreme heat.” The journalist Shikha Dalmia was her classmate, and she remembered Gauri at that time as a young woman with “a gentle warmth, profound compassion, and easy forgiveness with a steely, unwavering, moral conviction.” Gauri remembered it as a time that awakened her to the humiliations of racism: several of her classmates were from Africa, and she was shocked at the way strangers would pull on their hair and taunt them. For a while her roommates were three young men from Liberia, Kenya, and Ghana. “I soon realized that my presence was some kind of protection to my African friends,” she wrote later. “Because, when I was with them, no one used to tease or humiliate them. I felt good for them but lousy about the attitude of my country people.”

			She took a scholarship to study in Paris for a year, and when she got back to Bangalore, she started her first job in journalism, on the copy desk at the English-language Times of India. Rajghatta was already reporting for the Bangalore bureau of The Telegraph, another English-language daily. And one day in 1985, Gauri told her parents that they’d be getting married at the Registrar Office sometime in June and invited them to appear as witnesses. “What sort of a wedding is this?” Indira asked. But Lankesh was pleased that they were skipping all the rituals. He shared her delight when she announced proudly that her marriage would cost a total of 15 rupees and 50 paisas (or a little more than a dollar). Rajghatta’s parents were stunned. His mother complained to Gauri that the customs were important and that they hadn’t even been able to invite the extended family. “In the name of customs, the groom’s family always makes the bride’s family spend unnecessarily,” Gauri told her newly minted mother-in-law. “My parents have paid for my education. That is quite enough!” Eventually the newlyweds compromised and held a simple ceremony with a hundred guests at the Lankesh house, although they refused to invite their friends. Lankesh watched the proceedings from his study. At one point he was urged to come toss akshata (rice and turmeric) at the couple as a blessing. “We don’t need to do that. My daughter has my blessings at all times,” he said. But after everyone insisted, he gave in and tossed the rice.

			Gauri’s new in-laws were deeply displeased to be deprived of the full gamut of traditional ceremonies, which typically last several days. “If you curtail the wedding, your married life too will be curtailed,” one of Rajghatta’s relatives complained. “We’ll take the risk,” he shot back. The wedding day ended in the hospital: Indrajit, then sixteen, borrowed Gauri’s motorcycle, crashed, and broke his thighbone. It was his life’s major turning point: he spent a month in the hospital, lost his ability to play his beloved cricket, and dropped out of his pre-university studies. From then on, Indira wrote, Lankesh never said no to anything Indrajit asked.

			

			•   •   •

			GAURI AND RAJGHATTA HAD been married for a year when he was offered a job at the Delhi bureau of The Telegraph. Rajghatta was hesitant to abandon the familiarity of Bangalore. “Not exactly careerists, we saw journalism as a temporary profession before we ventured into the more writerly pursuits that many of our friends and mentors had taken to,” he wrote. But Gauri urged him to give it a try, and in 1986 they made the move; The Times of India gave her a transfer to its Delhi bureau. It was an optimistic time. They rented a barsati, which is the name for a kind of tiny rooftop apartment that is arguably one of the most romantic ways to live in Delhi. The rooms are tiny, and the summer heat is punishing, but expansive views of the city beyond your roof are yours.

			Their capital-city journalism jobs introduced them to the beating heart of Indian politics. “It happens to most of us who are children of famous parents: we have to carve out an identity that’s apart from our father,” said her friend Chaitanya, a director whose father is a famous literary critic. “Lankesh was a journalist of Kannada; he was rooted in Kannada culture and Karnataka issues. Gauri wanted a much bigger space, so she went into English national journalism. But I think toward the end of her father’s life she had begun to recognize how big an icon he was for Karnataka.” And father and daughter became closer than ever, bonding over their unexpectedly shared careers in journalism. As she herself admitted, her career in Delhi wasn’t particularly distinguished, but she was personally popular, widely admired as a warm, fun-loving, compassionate friend.

			Their home life in Delhi, Rajghatta writes, “was bohemian and boisterous, full of love and laughter.” They threw rooftop parties for a wide circle of friends. They shared the housework and cooking equally, thanks to Gauri’s insistence on equity. Preoccupied with their work, they had no immediate plans to have kids. Then, after just a few years, the marriage started to unravel. Their arguments were ferocious. (Infidelity was a factor, though in the years after their divorce neither of them felt it necessary to specify publicly what went wrong between them or to blame each other; both were more likely to blame themselves.) They thought that their marriage was just getting its start in their barsati; by the time they moved out, it was nearly over.

			They moved back to Bangalore in January 1989; Gauri missed her family, and they hoped in vain that the move would help rescue their marriage. A year later Rajghatta returned to Delhi alone and took a job with The Times of India. Gauri stayed in Bangalore and soon quit The Times of India to take a job at a weekly called Sunday. She wanted to move off the copy desk and become a full-time reporter, and this was her chance. It was a fun, lively office, with a wide-open floor plan. At 5:00 p.m., when the business-side staff finished their working day, the journalists would haul a Ping-Pong table into the middle of the newsroom and play for a couple hours until they had to get back to writing their stories.

			Gauri and Rajghatta officially divorced in 1990, after five years of marriage. Still fond of each other despite their differences, they held hands as they waited for the judge to enter the divorce court. “If you want to go your own ways, better disengage,” their lawyer snapped at them. The formalities completed, they went out to lunch together. A few years later, Gauri exploded when she learned that he was in a new relationship. “She was really furious and drunk,” Kavitha told me. “And she took all his photos, the clothes he gave, perfume bottles, everything, and made a bonfire out of it in front of the house. My mother was trying to stop her. And then the perfume bottle burst.”

			Yet she and Rajghatta remained close friends, a friendship, Rajghatta writes, that “swung often from fiercely antagonistic to frosty to familial (almost like siblings, someone said).” She cultivated friendships with his partners, too. “I tried hard to keep her away from them,” he told me, laughing. “I said, ‘You act so damn proprietary about my love life, I don’t want you to meet my girlfriend!’ ” And when Rajghatta and his current wife, Mary, had children, Gauri doted on them like an aunt. (She was delighted that Rajghatta gave his son the middle name Sharana, in tribute to the original Lingayats.) Shortly after Trump’s election in the United States, when Gauri had less than a year to live, she sent Rajghatta a despondent email that pivoted at the end to this note of gratitude: “thanks for having been a part of my life. the good moments we shared are so strong that i cannot remember the bad ones. what’s important is that both of us accept and appreciate what both of us are today. (well, i hope that feeling is mutual. i am not sure:-)) I love the way Mary has given you companionship, a rooting, and a family. My love to you and Mary and Diya and Sharana (I know you call him Dhyan, but i love the name Sharana) will forever be there. just thought that i should say all of this to you.”

			“She didn’t hold rancor or revenge or bad feelings,” Kavitha said. It was the same attitude that Gauri brought to all her relationships: intense emotions coupled with a total inability to hold a grudge. “The best quality in Gauri,” said her friend Chaitanya, “was that one could always argue with her, dispute her, tell her she was wrong, and no matter how fierce our arguments, she respected our right to say what we did. We were close friends because we could disagree.”

			

			•   •   •

			GAURI’S FRIENDS REMEMBER HER in the 1990s as bright and attractive and bold and fun. “Joy, despair, fury and celebration coursed through her,” Rajghatta writes. She was quick to anger, but she wasn’t mercurial the way her father was. “With Lankesh, you would never know when he will scold somebody, when he will take to somebody,” Chaitanya told me. “With Gauri, you could be sure that she will always be affectionate to you, she will always speak to you nicely.” The parties she threw in this period were her most legendary. “You’d get a mix of people, painters, writers, filmmakers,” Kavitha remembers. Pushpamala attended one party with a cast on her leg after a scooter accident, so she danced on one foot. The novelist Vivek Shanbhag told me about the time the two of them threw a party in tribute to Rajkumar, the most beloved of Kannada movie stars. They made posters to spread the word, they screened two of Rajkumar’s classic movies for their guests, then spent the rest of the night dancing to songs from his films. “At least four or five times I have spent New Year’s Eve at her house,” Shanbhag said. “She was a very good host. She was a bad cook, though. But you know, we all would pitch in and make something.”

			In the 1990s, Rajghatta recalls, Gauri wasn’t particularly political. She had strong feelings about injustice, especially in the form of caste discrimination, to the point that she would harangue Brahmin friends about Brahmin privilege. She was particularly animated by poverty and the excesses of capitalism. He told me that one day in the mid-1990s she’d invited him to a Guns N’ Roses concert in Bangalore, and they got into a surprisingly bitter argument—“really personal and ugly”—about cell phones. Rajghatta was “a technology evangelist” and told her cell phones were going to change the world. Gauri ranted that a cell phone was a flashy Western commodity that would never fill a poor person’s stomach. But these attitudes weren’t yet rooted in a concrete or coherent political viewpoint. And she still felt that as a journalist it was incumbent on her to keep writing and activism strictly separate.

			In 1994, Rajghatta moved to Washington, D.C., to serve as The Times of India’s U.S. bureau chief. He thought of it as a temporary move, but he’s been living there ever since, and Gauri twice flew to the United States to visit him. “It was very unusual that my ex-wife was visiting me,” he told me. “My friends loved her and she got along famously with them.” They traveled around the country together for a couple months, exploring D.C. and New York City, visiting friends in Texas. “She loved the U.S.,” he said. “For all her, you know, leftism, she appreciated it.”

			After the divorce, she moved into the house her mother had built in Rajarajeshwari Nagar; at some point Indira moved in with her. Gauri once described the house as “frequently burgled.” For a while she let the artist Sham Sunder use her backyard to work on his wooden sculptures, and one day a burglar used an axe belonging to Sunder to break down Gauri’s door and ransacked her modest possessions. The neighborhood hadn’t been developed yet; it was lonely and scarcely populated. For some years she had an arrangement with the local police that a cop with the crime-deterrent “Cheetah Force,” who ride yellow motorcycles with black spots, would check in on her every night.

			For most of the 1990s she stayed at Sunday magazine, where she’d become a correspondent. Her output was capable and effective, writing about the guru Sathya Sai Baba, or the Coorg separatist movement, or the assassins of Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi, or the Bangalore Strangler (who killed as many as fifty women). In the wake of her murder, some friends and fellow journalists have surrendered to the understandable impulse of exaggerating her performance at Sunday, sometimes asserting that she was one of the best or most important journalists in India. This was never the case. Her friend Sugata Srinivasaraju offered a blunt assessment. “She never registered,” he told me. “Nobody even knew that Gauri was a journalist. She was Lankesh’s daughter, that’s it. I have been around as a journalist, in all the top newspapers, and you never referred to Gauri’s writing or wanted to follow up on something she had done, so it was as insignificant as that.”

			

			•   •   •

			IN 1998, GAURI MOVED BACK to Delhi to become bureau chief for a TV news channel. She was still there in 2000 when she got the bad news about her father.

			Lankesh’s health had been declining ever since he launched Lankesh Patrike. His pack-a-day cigarette addiction only increased. (And he was alarmingly absentminded about it—“there is no counting the mattresses that were martyred to his smoking habit,” Indira wrote.) In 1984, while Gauri was in Paris, he had a stroke; her family hid the news from her because they knew she would have flown home the instant she learned of it. Later he lost an eye to diabetes. If some silly argument started among his cronies, he’d say, “I wish I were deaf instead of blind so I didn’t have to listen to you idiots.” It was at this time, Kavitha said, that she and her father really started getting close, because it fell to her to escort him back and forth to his appointments with an eye specialist in Chennai, two hundred miles from Bangalore. His condition prevented him from flying, so they had lots of time to talk on the train. “I think he loved me because I would never just bend to his will,” she said. (And in 1999, she adapted one of his short stories into her first feature film, Deveeri, which won state awards for best film and best debut director.) Lankesh couldn’t drive after losing his eye, so sometimes he’d ask Kavitha to pick him up when he was done at the racetrack. One such day she ran late because of work, and when she found him, he was marching down the road eating peanuts, furious, his intolerance of tardiness exacerbated by the fact that he’d lost his wagers that day. When she started driving, he complained, “Even a bullock cart is faster, you’re driving so slow.” So she drove fast, and he complained about that, too. “I just stopped the car, I said, ‘Get off,’ ” she told me. “He said, ‘What?’ I said, ‘I don’t want to take you. You’re too much. I’m not gonna sit and take all this bullshit from you.’ Then he started laughing. He loved it.” And they drove off happily. Eventually he quit smoking cold turkey, and then drinking, on doctor’s orders. When doctors warned that he might need a liver transplant, Gauri, Kavitha, and Indira all volunteered to donate a piece of theirs, but Lankesh said, “Not from your Amma. She’s given me so much already. I can’t take a part of her body, too.”

			On January 23, 2000, he was working at the office with a mild fever. Kavitha wanted to take him to the doctor the next day, but he said he couldn’t—the next day was a Monday, the day he finished the week’s paper. On Monday, after the working day, Nataraj Huliyar peeked into his office and found him watching a videotape of a film adaptation of Pride and Prejudice. Huliyar asked him if he’d finished his writing for the issue. “It’s hopeless,” Lankesh moped. “It’s better to die than to write like this.” They started gossiping about a professor who’d just translated War and Peace into Kannada. Huliyar cracked that the guy had murdered Tolstoy. Lankesh perked up and ran with the joke. “Oh, he’s committed several murders like that.”

			But as the evening went on, he was feeling worse and worse. As Indrajit walked him to the car, he said, “I don’t think I will come out alive this time.” At home he saw that Indira wasn’t there, and he said his final words: “When is Amma coming back?” He went to sleep and never woke up. He was sixty-four. Despite his well-known vices, his death came as an absolute shock to his colleagues and fans. Basuraj said he’d thought of Lankesh as Yayati, a king in the Mahabharata who lives for over a thousand years.

			Gauri rushed home from Delhi for his last rites. As she waited for takeoff at the Delhi airport, the friends who came to see her off asked what was going to happen to Lankesh Patrike. “I told them there was no question of ever doing anything other than shutting it down pronto,” she wrote later. It was obvious to her that the paper died with him.

			When she arrived in Bangalore, she was furious to discover that some relative had smeared vibhuti, or sacred ash, on Lankesh’s forehead. She wiped it off immediately, knowing that he’d never have wanted any religious rituals. “No one should touch my father!” she cried out. “Don’t do these things.” But it didn’t end there. Some years earlier Lankesh had bought a farm outside Bangalore and made a hobby out of fruit farming; they planned to bury him under his favorite mango tree. Gauri and Kavitha had to constantly stymie their orthodox Lingayat relatives, preventing them from carrying his body to the grave on a bier, from tying a linga around his neck, from breaking his limbs in order to bury him in a seated position. Suddenly there was a cacophony of percussion; an uncle had hired religious drummers to play while they buried him. “Ask them to stop!” Kavitha screamed. They buried him with his own customs: a pack of cigarettes and of playing cards, a bottle of Black Label, a book on horse-race betting, a novel, paper, and a pen.

			While in Bangalore, Gauri and her siblings met with Mani, the paper’s longtime printer. He pleaded with them to reconsider shutting it down. “There was your father, who quit his regular job, put all his savings into starting this publication, and had the courage to struggle and make it something,” Mani told them. “You people want to now give it up without even a struggle. Why don’t you at least have the guts to try it for a while, and close it down if it’s not working out?” And one of Lankesh’s closest friends, Professor K. Ramdas, urged Gauri specifically to assume the editorship of the paper. There was an extended network of people, he argued, who depended on Lankesh Patrike: reporters, office staff, distributors, vendors. Salaries were due, and the family discovered that Lankesh’s bank account had only a few thousand rupees in it—the equivalent of maybe $50. If the paper shut down overnight, Gauri realized, there would be no way to pay the staff.

			Ramdas was apparently the only person to whom it had occurred that Gauri herself should become editor. It certainly had never occurred to her. Basuraj recalls that when Gauri did drop by the Patrike newsroom, it was mostly to crack a few jokes: she’d call the writers yellow journalists, and after a brief exchange of teasing insults with her father she’d be on her way. Lankesh clearly hadn’t groomed any of his children to succeed him. They had no idea whether Lankesh would even have wanted his Patrike to survive beyond him. Lankesh loyalists generally assumed that if the paper were to continue, one of his close collaborators would be best positioned to assume the editorship: someone steeped in Lankesh’s philosophy and Karnataka’s politics. But the decisions came fast, almost as if they were deciding themselves.

			“Gauri was nowhere in the picture,” Nataraj Huliyar writes. “Yet, within a few minutes of the staff meeting that week, Gauri had become editor. Not a good choice, I thought, like many others.”

			The job started immediately. She promptly quit her job in Delhi—a very promising job, by her own account, a job that represented her first career advancement in almost a decade—and moved back to Bangalore. Her brother, Indrajit, took over as owner and publisher of the paper. When she told Rajghatta her plan, he said, “All I can tell you is you’re not qualified, and you know it.”

			“We had low expectations,” Basuraj told me. “She was very mediocre. We just wanted the network to continue working.”

			“She got trapped,” Srinivasaraju said. “As they say in India, it’s karma. She had to fall into that pit.”

		

	
		
			INTERLUDE

			Doubting Thomas

			IN JULY 2018, I returned to South India to keep looking into the Gauri Lankesh case, six months after my initial reporting trip. I was thinking a lot about myth: about the ways that epic stories like the Ramayana transform with each tale teller who recounts them and with each new location they land in. I was thinking about all the mythmaking that fueled Modi’s ferocious cult of personality. And I was thinking about how Gauri had been so fully mythologized so quickly after her sudden death.

			I’d been talking about myth with Pushpamala N., a celebrated artist who was Gauri’s longtime friend and neighbor. Clearly one of the coolest people in Bangalore, Pushpamala makes witty, incisive works in multiple mediums—sculpture, photography, performance art—and is often described as an iconoclast. This idol-smashing tendency was in evidence even in the essay that she wrote about Gauri after her murder, the most vivid of the dozens of remembrances I read. She wrote that essay, she told me, out of annoyance that so many other remembrances of Gauri were, in her view, “very superficial” and far too reverential toward her “most incorrigible” friend. “They want to flatten a person into a martyr,” she objected. She saw how martyrdom pulls a person not in one but in two directions: that it dumbs them down even as it boosts them up.

			I should have just gone straight back to Bangalore. Instead, I found myself compelled to take a detour to Kerala, the state directly southwest of Karnataka. I’d become fascinated by myths of a martyrdom that was said to have taken place in Kerala almost two thousand years before Gauri’s: the martyrdom of Saint Thomas. I had an instinct that pursuing this story might help me in some way to understand Gauri’s story. So I took a chance and booked a ticket to Kochi, Kerala’s largest city.

			Saint Thomas is also known as doubting Thomas, because he was the only one of the apostles who refused to believe that Jesus had returned from death until he probed Jesus’s wounds with his own fingers. I first heard the story of Thomas’s murder ten years before, in 2008, while on my very first trip to India, which I’d taken to meet my soon-to-be in-laws. Sitting in a hotel room around the corner from their house, I happened to read a magazine article about Saint Thomas by the Indian poet and novelist Jeet Thayil.

			“The story of Thomas’s doubt and eventual return,” Thayil wrote, “is a story of faith—a faith that became stronger because it wavered.” Attending Mass as a boy in Kerala, he wrote, “I knelt on the wooden bench until my knees hurt; the services were long, almost two hours, and they were sung very loudly. I liked listening to the words, though I understood nothing.” He understood nothing because the service was sung not in Malayalam, the local Indian language, but in Syriac, a dialect of Aramaic—the language Jesus and his apostles spoke.

			The reason the Kerala Christian tradition goes back so far, Thayil explained, is that in the first century Saint Thomas made his home in this overgrown tropical hinterland, more than three thousand miles from Galilee. Thayil, though no longer a believing Christian, presented the story as follows: in the year 52, around twenty years after the apostle’s indelible moment of doubt, “Thomas undertook a hazardous journey by ship to India, and he was murdered here as a result of his proselytising work.” There are multiple accounts of this murder, but the predominant version among Kerala’s modern-day Christians is that in the year 72 an angry Brahmin killed Thomas on a hilltop on the southeastern coast of India in a place called Mylapore, in what is now the neighboring state of Tamil Nadu, skewering him with a lance because he set fire to a shrine of the goddess Kali.

			The moment I read Thayil’s story, I believed it. Perhaps more important, I wanted to believe it, because it’s my favorite sort of story: the fantastical myth that turns out to be true. It’s a story that seems to confirm that the world is pervaded with secret histories, and that the human saga is always more complicated, more interconnected than we think. I’m always in favor of stories that give me this feeling. It’s like learning that the actress Hedy Lamarr invented a groundbreaking radio-control system for torpedoes (true), or that David Lee Roth, after a long, cocaine-fueled career as the lead singer of Van Halen, trained and worked as an ordinary paramedic in New York City (also true). I wanted to believe that every story we think we know has an obscure but astounding sequel.

			Or maybe I simply identify with Thomas. Thomas is my middle name, and I relate to the way his skepticism curbed his own yearning to believe. Unlike Thomas, I had come to India on that first visit not to convert others but to be converted. Earlier that year I’d gotten engaged to a woman who’d grown up Muslim in Kochi. On Christmas Eve, as star-shaped paper lanterns glowed all around Kochi to mark a very Kerala Christmas, I entered a lime-green mosque near the Ernakulam North Railway Station and recited the testimony that would join me to her faith. I had doubts. But like Thomas, I figured that doubt is not the antonym of faith; doubt is faith’s necessary undercurrent.

			We married in Kochi in June 2009. The ceremony was small, by local standards—seven people from my side of the family, and everyone my wife’s family had ever met. In his sermon, the imam, Bashir Maulvi, celebrated the bridging of worlds that our wedding represented, populated as it was by hundreds of Indians who were variously Muslim, Hindu, Christian, and atheist. He told the story of Kamala Das, a renowned and notorious local feminist writer, who had died the week before. At the age of sixty-five, Das surprised her readers by converting from Hinduism to Islam, an act many viewed as her final provocation. But her funeral was a perfect illustration of Kerala’s unique brand of equatorial cosmopolitanism. “We saw how her own children joined in the Muslim funeral rites, even though they are not Muslim,” he said. “The great lesson is that it is possible to have different ideologies, different philosophies, and to live together on the same street.”

			In many Indian cities, Muslim tenants find themselves barred by Hindu landlords from even trying to live in Hindu neighborhoods. Kerala is—usually—the exception to all that. Muslim kids go to Catholic schools. Hindu pilgrims pray at famous mosques. Catholic nuns dance at Hindu festivals. This, in fact, was the subject of one of Gauri Lankesh’s final Facebook posts, which she published a few hours before she died: a video of several Kerala nuns expertly performing Thiruvathirakali, a Hindu circle dance, on the occasion of a local harvest festival. “Keralites celebrating Onam, religious differences be damned!!!!!” Gauri wrote. “Please, my mallu friends, please keep up your spirit of secularism (PS hopefully next time I am in God’s own country, someone will get me nice beef dish!!!!. And cheddis be damned!!!!).” To be Indian is to be plural and multicultural, but it is in Kerala where this fact is most happily embraced.

			

			•   •   •

			NOWHERE IS THAT MORE EVIDENT than in the town of Kodungallur. This humble suburb of Kochi is home to the oldest Muslim, Christian, and Jewish communities in all of South Asia. Nowhere outside Jerusalem is crowded with such a broad assortment of old holy stuff. One morning in March 2013, my wife and I took a taxi from her parents’ house in Kochi to take a look around.

			At its north end is a mosque that claims its founding year as 629, while Muhammad still lived. At the south end is a synagogue that may date back to 1165; it’s often said that Jews first settled here as refugees after the destruction of the Second Temple in Jerusalem in the year 70. In a neighboring town called Pattanam, there is an archaeological site, and one of the diggers excitedly showed us some of her finds: red Roman pottery shards speckled with shiny black ash from Mount Vesuvius when it erupted in the year 79. From there we drove to the Sree Kurumba Bhagavathy Temple, one of the oldest functioning temples in India and host to one of Kerala’s liveliest religious festivals, wherein the oracles of Kali run drunkenly around the temple shouting bawdy insults at the goddess, to her apparent delight.

			Back on the road, we passed dozens of young men garbed in orange or white, each carrying a black cross on his shoulder. They were walking day and night to a hilltop pilgrimage site where Thomas is said to have prayed; they had thirty miles yet to go. A few minutes later, we reached our own destination: a sprawling but mostly unpopulated church complex along the Kodungallur waterfront called the St. Thomas Shrine.

			The nearby docks were sleepy, their boats bobbing idle along the Arabian Sea coast. A sign out front claimed that right on this spot, in the year 52, Thomas came ashore, after his long voyage from Judaea, to spread the message of the risen Christ among the Indians. A nearby building promised what is, to me, the most exciting variety of roadside attraction: an automated historical extravaganza. The kind with no live actors, but with as many other varieties of razzle-dazzle as the producers can cram in. The greatest of these mythmaking machines I’ve ever found was in Pennsylvania Dutch Country: a canned musical recap of the history of the Amish in America, complete with wildly gratuitous pyrotechnics and a laser light show, so thoroughly electrified that no practicing Amish person could attend it. This one promised to dramatize the adventures of Thomas in India. We took a pair of seats in the center of the empty theater, and the spectacle began.

			The stage boasted four stories of dioramas, which illuminated in turn as the story progressed, sometimes with strobe lights. It began with familiar tales from the Gospels, but the soundtrack was all ripsaw heavy-metal guitars, with a stentorian chorus of Freddie Mercury–style vocals that kept returning to the refrain “Come, let’s go and die with him!” (which is one of Thomas’s few lines in the New Testament).

			On a movie screen high above the dioramas, an ebullient host bounded across a beach while testifying to what Thomas means to Indian Christians. Here in Kerala, he proclaimed, Thomas is not the near-Judas figure that he’s become in much of the rest of the Christian world. Doubt, he declared, is the mark of an “intelligent and discerning mind, craving to find the truth.” He ran to the top of a rock, arms outstretched, and yelled, “This is what I love about the spirit of Saint Thomas!”

			Then the scenes in the dioramas shifted from Judaea to South India. They detailed Thomas’s exploits across two decades on the subcontinent: his arrival at the harbor outside, his attempts to evangelize from coast to coast, and his founding of seven churches in Kerala that are still active today. As the strobe lights crescendoed, a final diorama was revealed: Thomas’s martyrdom in Mylapore in the year 72. A heavy-metal laser light show brought it to a close.

			The show’s narrator had mentioned that the shrine next door had on display a piece of Thomas’s bone. We found it housed in an elaborate glass box trimmed in gold, with golden angels at each corner and a golden crown on top. But the bone itself looked like a knobby little piece of driftwood.

			At the shrine’s gift shop, I bought a massive, pink-covered volume titled The Thomapedia—a seemingly exhaustive compendium written by dozens of contributing scholars who specialize in Saint Thomas. There I learned that the legend of Thomas in India has a scriptural source, one that I’d never heard of: the Acts of Thomas, an exceedingly weird Syriac-language text from the third century that was highly popular among early Christians but is now mostly forgotten.

			

			•   •   •

			THE ACTS OF THOMAS begins where the Gospels leave off. On the orders of the resurrected Christ, the apostles draw lots to determine where in the world they will go to spread the Word. Thomas draws India. He immediately refuses. Send me wherever else you want, he tells Jesus, but I’ll not go among the Indians. So Jesus sells Thomas as a slave to a traveling merchant named Abbanes, who takes him to India. There they crash a princess’s wedding feast, where a cupbearer slaps Thomas. God will forgive you in the afterlife, Thomas tells him, but in this life your hand will be dragged by dogs. Then Thomas sings a long, weird song while a lion rips the cupbearer to pieces, and, sure enough, a dog retrieves his severed hand. Impressed, the bride’s father, King Gondophares, forces Thomas into the bride chamber to say a blessing over the couple. Jesus—who, in this story, is Thomas’s identical twin, a piece of information that is just dropped in without explanation—briefly takes Thomas’s place and instructs the young couple to “abstain from foul intercourse” forever. The couple enthusiastically agrees to his program of lifelong chastity. “Bring me that sorcerer!” King Gondophares cries when he finds out, rending his clothes. But Jesus and Thomas and Abbanes are gone, leaving in tears a flute girl who’d fallen in love with Thomas.

			And that’s just the first chapter! The book continues in this vein, teeming with dreams that spill over into reality, visitors from beyond death, exorcisms. Thomas speaks to serpents and dragons and donkeys, resurrects 19 dead people, reattaches a severed arm, cures 330 lepers, gives sight to 250 blind people, and even investigates a murder, which he solves by recalling the victim from hell to hear her account. And I was hopelessly hooked.

			Historians had for centuries assumed that King Gondophares was a fictional character, until nineteenth-century archaeologists discovered coins proving that he was a real king who ruled during Thomas’s lifetime. While the Acts of Thomas is obviously fantastical, more than one scholar in The Thomapedia posits that outlandish as it is, it’s simply an elaboration on Thomas’s actual exploits. If one strips away the supernatural claims, Thomas’s visit to India starts to look like something that really happened.

			Everything seems to point to its plausibility. India’s oldest and largest Christian community is located in Kerala, exactly where Thomas is supposed to have landed. There is no competing tradition that Thomas died anywhere else. Their practice is undoubtedly ancient; some scholars call them “living fossils” of a form of Christianity that’s disappeared everywhere else in the world.

			I was especially interested to learn that ancient Roman trade routes to South India were at their most active exactly when Thomas is said to have taken the journey. By the early first century, Roman merchants had finally learned what Arab merchants had protected as a trade secret for many years: that if you catch the monsoon winds at the right moment near the mouth of the Red Sea, they’ll carry your ship directly to the southwest coast of India. The Greek geographer Strabo wrote in the first century that 120 Roman ships were embarking each year from Roman Egypt to South India.

			Most local versions of the Thomas story say that he landed in Kodungallur and converted over ten thousand locals. But there was no Kodungallur in the first century. The ancient locality on the Kerala coast where any foreigner would have been most likely to land is Muziris, a legendary entrepôt. Many scholars over the centuries have guessed that Kodungallur and Muziris are synonymous. Yet not a shred of archaeological evidence places Muziris in Kodungallur. So the search for the lost city goes on.

			Lost though it is, Muziris offers a bounty of contemporary literary sources from India and Europe both. Classical Tamil poetry includes sumptuous descriptions of what Thomas might have seen upon his arrival in India: “With its streets, its houses, its covered fishing boats, where they sell fish, where they pile up rice—with the shifting and mingling crowd of a boisterous river-bank where the sacks of pepper are heaped up—with its gold deliveries, carried by the ocean-going ships and brought to the river bank by local boats, the city of the gold-collared Kuttuvan, the city that bestows wealth to its visitors indiscriminately, and the merchants of the mountains, and the merchants of the sea, the city where liquor abounds, yes, this Muciri, where the rumbling ocean roars, is given to me like a marvel, a treasure.”

			Many first-century Roman writers noted disapprovingly the great appetite for Indian ornaments in the Mediterranean. The notorious debauchery of emperors like Caligula and Nero was adorned by India. When Saint Paul and other early Christian moralists railed against the pearl-encrusted extravagance of Roman life, they were reacting in part to the conspicuous consumption of luxury goods from Kerala. In other words, even before Christianity reached Kerala, Kerala had already influenced first-century Christianity. Maybe this was why Thomas had been dispatched there.

			But what Rome wanted most of all from Muziris was black pepper, a product native to Kerala. After the monsoon discovery, Rome became the greatest market for Kerala pepper, thousands of tons of the stuff, so much that it became more a culinary staple than a luxury. In exchange, Muziris wanted gold. Many thousands of Roman coins have been found in South India, most of them issues from the reigns of Augustus and Tiberius, the two Roman emperors who ruled during Jesus’s lifetime. Pliny the Elder called India “the sink of the world’s gold.” It was a running joke in the Roman Empire: we sent all our gold to India, and all we got in return was this lousy pepper.

			

			•   •   •

			I FOUND THE EVIDENCE that Thomas had gone to Muziris enormously tantalizing. But I needed to probe the wound with my own fingers. So in the summer of 2018, before I returned to Bangalore to resume my research into the murder of Gauri Lankesh, I spent a couple weeks in Kerala and Chennai to make my own investigation into the murder of Thomas the apostle.

			On the morning of July 3, 2018, while staying in a hotel on the banks of the river Periyar, I woke up to the haunting sound of Syriac-language plainchants from a nearby church. The occasion was Dukhrana, a Syriac word meaning “commemoration,” the biggest Thomas Christian festival of the year, marking Thomas’s martyrdom. I followed the music to St. Thomas Kottakkavu Forane Church, the sixth of the seven churches Thomas is said to have founded. In a hangar-size building nearby, cooks were preparing a feast for thirty thousand people: mounds of rice piled four feet high, industrial-size vats of beef curry. “The whole community will come,” a church administrator told me. “Christians, Hindus, even Muslims.”

			I watched several adorable babies getting baptized on the steps of the church’s water tank, which was decorated with a life-size diorama of Thomas baptizing a group of men with shaved heads aside from one tuft of hair, in the traditional Brahmin manner. In fact, in previous centuries, Thomas Christians were in many ways indistinguishable from Brahmins. They observed many of the same marriage and funeral ceremonies and took the same precautions against “pollution.” Today many in the community insist that this is because they’re actually of Brahmin descent—that when Saint Thomas landed in Kerala, he harvested converts specifically from the Brahmins, and that their elevated position has remained intact for the past two thousand years.

			Contemporary Kerala is often praised as India’s most progressive state, the top performer on nearly every development indicator. But between the eighth and the twentieth centuries, Kerala had gradually calcified into the most feudal and most casteist corner of India. In 1893, Swami Vivekananda famously described Kerala as “a madhouse of castes,” a place where caste structure was so elaborate and stratified that even some Dalits practiced untouchability among their subgroups. And most Dalits in Kerala weren’t just oppressed; they were slaves, bonded for life as servants or farmworkers to “high” caste landowners. At the other end of the hierarchy were Brahmins, Nairs, and Thomas Christians. They could all own slaves, and on public roads Brahmins and Christians had the right to kill on the spot any “low” caste person who refused to grant them the right-of-way.

			But the Thomas Christians kept themselves distinct from Brahmins, too, through their close relationship with fellow Christians in Mesopotamia. Before the colonial era, all bishops and archbishops of the Thomas Christians were Mesopotamian—emissaries from the Church of the East, which also claims Saint Thomas as its founder. Founded in 410 and fully distinct from the Roman Catholic and Eastern Orthodox churches, the Church of the East has almost vanished from the earth, but between the ninth and the fourteenth centuries it represented the world’s most geographically expansive Christian denomination, stretching at its apex from the Mediterranean to China. For centuries Thomas Christian life revolved around the unpredictable arrivals of these Mesopotamian bishops, yearning for their next visit, greeting them with “ecstatic veneration,” as one writer puts it, when they finally came. Thus, as the scholar-priest Placid J. Podipara put it in an oft-quoted line, they now live in three worlds: “Hindu in culture, Christian in religion, and Oriental in worship.”

			

			•   •   •

			THE PRIESTS I MET were happy to talk about the Hindu aspects of Thomas Christian culture. But when I asked about Thomas, they chose their words more carefully. Thomas in India was a touchier subject than I’d realized. I began to see why when I met with P. J. Cherian, the director of the archaeological dig we’d visited at Pattanam back in 2013. In the five years since, there’d been a series of controversies, and the dig had completely shut down, with no indication of whether it would ever resume.

			I caught up with Cherian after he gave a speech to a group of scientists on the enchanting wooded campus of the Kerala Forest Research Institute. Soft-spoken and a steady smoker, Cherian has a bushy mustache that almost hides the mischievous smile that sometimes sneaks in as he speaks. In his speech he’d described archaeology as an inherently “subversive” and “antiestablishment” field. I asked him what he meant.

			“We are a people who are locked in the present, with shallow and very immediate identities,” he began. All of our systems of oppression and exclusion, he said, are based on those immediate identities, “which are constructed as very ancient.” Archaeology, he said, helps us “relate to a past that was real, organic, and that has nothing to do with our constructed identities. The moment you realize this, you will be a very different person. Your nationality, your passport, will disappear from your brain. Archaeology, given freedom, will tell you the secret of our shared humanness. So that is what I call subversive.”

			He told me the story of how the Pattanam dig came about and how it fell apart. Until the mid-1990s there was little to distinguish Pattanam from countless other Kerala towns: a quiet place dense with people and palm trees and banana plants, humid and shady and crisscrossed with narrow lanes of red earth. Then, one day, the archaeologist K. P. Shajan heard from a resident that he’d dug up what seemed to be an ancient brick wall on his property. Intrigued, Shajan examined the site and was surprised to also find a high quantity of ancient pottery shards of foreign origin. Locals told him that with every rain in their town ancient artifacts rise to the surface: beads and potsherds and even, on occasion, Roman jewelry.

			Eventually, the Archaeological Survey of India, the government agency that must approve all excavations, granted permission for conducting a formal dig at Pattanam to the Kerala Council for Historical Research, with Cherian in the lead. Over its nine years of operation, the excavation uncovered an extraordinary wealth of ancient artifacts. There were hundreds of dazzling fragments of luxury dishware made in Italy during the Roman Empire, and the largest collection of Roman amphorae—torpedo-shaped jars used to store wine, olive oil, fish sauce—ever found in India. Anywhere you walk near Pattanam these days, you’ll find ancient potsherds lying around in piles.

			But the dig’s most exciting discovery came in 2007, its very first year. The digging season was almost over, Cherian said, when “one of my colleagues cried out, saying, ‘This is important, this is a waterfront!’ ”

			They’d found an apparent ancient wharf, complete with a six-meter canoe carved from a wild jack tree, which carbon dating placed at approximately the first century AD. Until that year, no archaeological site on India’s southwestern coast had revealed a single ancient port, despite all the literary accounts testifying to them. It was such an “archaeological vacuum,” Cherian said, that many experts tended to conclude that its legendary harbors, Muziris chief among them, had long ago been swallowed by the sea.

			But Pattanam changed everything. Cherian noted that the canoe fit the descriptions, in Tamil poetry and Roman documents, of the sort of small craft that delivered pepper to Roman trading ships. It seemed to many, Cherian included, that the lost city of Muziris was finally found. Residents of Pattanam and Kodungallur began squabbling over which town had a legitimate claim to the legendary port. In both towns, it became a competitive fad to add “Muziris” as a sort of brand name for everything from shops to private bus services. In Pattanam there was Muziris Discount Sales; in Kodungallur there was Muziris Infinity Sports Hub. And from very early on, the state government’s Department of Tourism, too, saw an opportunity and capitalized on the dig with a campaign it called the Muziris Heritage Project, which immediately began propagating an influential narrative of what Muziris means.

			Over time the Muziris Heritage Project’s scope expanded to encompass dozens of different sites over a 150-square-kilometer area, including the old synagogue, the old mosque, a Dutch palace, a number of old Hindu temples, and several Thomas churches. The only site on the Muziris Heritage Project list with even a purported link to Muziris was the Pattanam dig. What connects them is a vision of religious harmony. The historian Rachel Varghese writes that this idea, that an almost arbitrary collection of old buildings and artifacts tells a story of age-old peaceful diversity, was “totally absent” before the MHP started telling it. It’s certainly a political narrative, one meant to contrast Kerala with those less religiously tolerant but more often touristed places in North India. It never occurred to me that the story I unthinkingly absorbed about Kerala was one that the local tourist board had conceived shortly before my arrival. And now I notice that the story I tell about my own wedding was also heavily informed by tourism department ad copy.

			Kerala’s religious harmony is one of those things that is a myth while also being true. But the minute such a fragile phenomenon is hyped, an element of falseness is introduced. People fall into camps: those who fetishize the myth, and thus become blind to when it’s threatened, and those who dislike the hype and challenge it.

			A more immediate problem was that in linking the Pattanam dig to sites associated with Thomas, the Muziris Heritage Project unwittingly fueled the controversy that finally killed the dig. Almost as if to disprove the MHP’s narrative of Kerala as a paragon of interreligious brotherhood, a variety of right-wing platforms began denouncing the Pattanam dig, insisting that the project was an elaborate international Christian ruse to give credence to the story that Thomas had come to Kerala.

			The most sustained attacks came from an RSS affiliate based in Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala’s capital city, by the name of Bharatheeya Vichara Kendram (Center of Indian Thought). They questioned Cherian’s credentials—he has a doctorate in history, not archaeology. They raised many specific criticisms of the dig’s methodology. They made dark insinuations about foreign interference in the dig, because it had enlisted the help of a wide range of experts (geologists, radio-carbon laboratories, paleobotanists, Greek and Latin scholars) from a global array of institutions, including the British Museum, Oxford, and the University of Rome. Most of all, they alleged that the KCHR, the organization that ran the dig, was conspiring with Christian leaders, in Kerala and abroad, to perpetuate the Saint Thomas legend. And though the Pattanam dig had nothing to do with Thomas, the tourism department had lumped Pattanam, Muziris, and Thomas into one story. Newspaper journalists did the same, and Christian leaders in Kerala, too, were quick to treat the Pattanam dig’s discoveries as straightforward proof that Thomas had landed in Kerala.

			The Pattanam excavators couldn’t be blamed for anything that the tourism department, the press, or religious leaders said about their work. But none of this loose talk would have happened had the diggers not dug, so it was easy for the dig’s right-wing critics to blame everything said about it on the dig itself and then make the leap from there to alleging conspiracy.

			

			•   •   •

			ONE AFTERNOON I VISITED the headquarters of Bharatheeya Vichara Kendram in Thiruvananthapuram to meet with the dig’s most outspoken critic, Dr. B. S. Harishankar. A stern man with large, mournful eyes, Harishankar has, unlike Cherian, a doctorate in archaeology. He’s written six books, worked as assistant director of an archaeological museum, and was the associate editor of a peer-reviewed archaeological journal in New Delhi. He did a postdoctoral fellowship researching maritime trade on the Kerala coast, and in 2007, he told me, he finished a postdoctoral thesis about the Pattanam dig itself—in support of the dig, he said, before his opinion turned against it (although he did not share the dissertation with me). Then he wrote a whole book of his criticisms of the dig, published by Bharatheeya Vichara Kendram and titled Pattanam: Constructs, Contexts, and Interventions.

			In other words, his credentials for criticizing the dig were impeccable. So I was surprised at how oblique, hyperbolic, and, often, inaccurate his complaints were. He repeatedly called the dig a “fraud excavation,” accused its participants of “zealous propaganda,” said it was part of a “global plot to break India.” Some of his accusations verged on paranoia, including an insinuation that the dig is “indirectly” connected to a South Indian separatist movement.

			Every time he named a source that he said would prove that the Pattanam excavation was pushing a Thomas agenda, either he couldn’t provide me with the source or, if I managed to find it, the source said something entirely different than Harishankar claimed it had said. He insisted, for example, that Cherian had “made an official claim that Saint Thomas landed here.” But when I asked him to show me, all he could find was a quotation from a Hungarian historian who visited but did not work on the Pattanam dig and who wrote that “according to tradition” Thomas landed in Muziris.

			I pointed out that this is perfectly factual: whether you believe that Thomas came to Muziris or not, there is a tradition that he did. Harishankar admitted as much. “Tradition is good,” he said. “But we need not make it history. Even the tradition that Saint Thomas is associated with Christianity in India is well and good. We can enjoy legends, we can enjoy fables, we can enjoy myths. Well and good. As long as the legend doesn’t harm other communities. But it crosses the limit to say he converted the Hindu population here, and that they assassinated him. That is too much to carry.”

			This I could understand. If you don’t believe that Saint Thomas came to India, the Christian insistence that Hindus murdered him seems gratuitous, or even a provocation, and at worst a kind of blood libel intended to vilify Hindus. But there was simply no evidence that the dig, or Cherian in particular, had deliberately encouraged this narrative in any way. Nowhere in any of the dig’s voluminous reports and other publications did I find a reference to Saint Thomas.

			In fact, whenever the question of Thomas arose in my conversations with Cherian, he quickly dismissed it. It was clear that nothing annoys him more than attempts to use the Pattanam dig to prove a point. “You cannot search for Saint Thomas in an archaeological context,” he said. “Leave alone Saint Thomas—any individual. It’s the wrong question to ask in archaeology.” If anything, he has noted the lack of evidence of religion at the site, which, he wrote in one publication, “may mean that religion was not a dominant aspect of life at Pattanam.”

			Nonetheless, in September 2015, in response to the complaints from Bharatheeya Vichara Kendram, the Archaeological Survey of India suspended KCHR’s license to excavate at Pattanam. In 2016, the ASI sent Cherian twenty-one pointed questions about the dig’s methodology and agenda, many of them seemingly posed exactly as Bharatheeya Vichara Kendram framed them in its complaint. “Why is the KCHR keen on giving historicity to the legend of Saint Thomas’ arrival in India?” asked one. In a blistering response, which he shared with me, Cherian warned the ASI that the controversy was likely to drive away the Pattanam dig’s many international collaborators and tarnish the reputation of Indian archaeology in general.

			Apparently satisfied, the ASI renewed the KCHR’s license to dig in Pattanam a year later. But the damage had already been done. The dig’s funding and momentum were lost. The KCHR had previously made an agreement with Beijing’s Palace Museum to set up a laboratory at the dig site; that opportunity was now gone. Although only 1 percent of the site had been excavated over its nine seasons, the dig did not resume. The ancient wharf and canoe were reburied. A planned on-site museum designed to display them was scrapped.

			“I am a perennial optimist,” Cherian said when I asked him if he thought the dig would ever resume. “Anything good and real and honest cannot be subdued for long. It will resurrect. It has to resurrect.”

			“It has been black marked,” Harishankar said when I asked him the same question. “Heavy black mark now. Once it is black marked, you cannot regain it again.”

			

			•   •   •

			KERALA’S POLITICS ARE DOMINATED BY the Congress Party and the Communist Party of India (Marxist), which almost always alternate terms in power. The BJP was for decades a total nonentity in Kerala elections, and in recent years runs at best a distant third; only once has a BJP candidate ever won a Kerala legislative seat. But the BJP’s parent organization, the RSS, enjoys a wide, if subtle, popularity. Even Keralites might be surprised to hear that their state has more RSS shakhas, or branches, than any other state in India.

			Even more unexpectedly, it was a Thomas-related excavation, four decades ago, that helped make the RSS as popular in Kerala as it is today. The town of Nilakkal, in the mountain region of southern Kerala, is one of the seven places in the state where, according to tradition, Saint Thomas had founded a church. But there was no church in Nilakkal that made a claim to that legacy. Then, one day in 1983, a group of Thomas Christians claimed to have found buried there an ancient stone cross. They promptly constructed an impromptu hut in which to pray. The problem was that Nilakkal has been a longtime stop on the pilgrimage route to an important temple called Sabarimala—a site that attracts as many as fifty million Hindu pilgrims a year.

			Historically, the Sabarimala temple has been welcoming to Christians. Every night, the temple’s deity, Ayyappa, is sung to sleep with a recording of a devotional song performed by Kerala’s most renowned singer: K. J. Yesudas, a Christian. But as local Christians made plans to erect a permanent church at Nilakkal, some Hindus saw it as a provocation. A young RSS activist named Kummanam Rajasekharan took the lead of a protest movement that roiled the state for weeks and turned violent. Finally the government brokered a compromise in which the church would be built farther away, and the immediate conflict cooled. But over a thousand RSS members were arrested over the course of the agitation, and (as Gauri would later learn) there’s nothing like a mass arrest for promoting solidarity among the arrestees. The galvanizing power of that incident drives the RSS in Kerala to this day.

			Eventually, Rajasekharan, his dark beard gone shock white, became the leader of Kerala’s BJP and lost every election he ran in. His fame peaked in 2017, when the city of Kochi inaugurated its metro system. Rajasekharan was mercilessly roasted when he somehow managed to board the ceremonial first train ride, even though he had nothing to do with the project and held no political office. In a thousand memes, he was ridiculed as “Free Ride” Kummanam, and “Kummanadi” became the slang term for traveling by metro without a ticket. In Kerala, the RSS is a powerhouse, but the BJP remains a punch line.

			Otherwise Rajasekharan is best known for demanding the deportation of foreign Christian missionaries. In this he’s not alone: there’s a long-standing fear among Hindutva activists, sometimes verging on panic, of a heavily funded, aggressive, foreign-born Christian proselytizing effort that presents a dire demographic threat to India’s Hindu majority—with Saint Thomas at the center of the missionaries’ strategy. And of course it’s true that the colonizing forces that occupied India, from the Portuguese to the British, were often extraordinarily arrogant and manipulative in their missionary efforts in India and made every effort to win conversions, as foreign missionaries in India continue to do today. What’s impressive, though, is how wildly unsuccessful they’ve been. After centuries of colonial and missionary exertions, the total Christian population of India is 2.3 percent and shrinking.

			I met Rajasekharan at Kerala’s BJP state headquarters, which is much, much smaller than Karnataka’s BJP state headquarters. He’s a lifelong bachelor, among those most committed Sangh Parivar activists who forswear married life to devote themselves full-time to Hindutva activism.

			“Kerala is changing in a nationalist political direction,” he told me approvingly. “The people in India are all one: one language, one culture, one tradition, one nation.”

			I asked him if he defined national unity as Hindu Rashtra—the driving idea of Hindutva, in which India is acknowledged and codified as an explicitly Hindu country.

			“Hindu Rashtra is not a religious matter,” he said. “It is culture. It started from time immemorial. The culture, the tradition, the heritage of people here—the name of that is Hindu. It is not the name of a religion.”

			He pointed to the bright-red thread around his wrist, which had been tied there several days earlier on Raksha Bandhan, an annual Hindu ceremony in which sisters tie thread bracelets around the wrists of brothers. Until a generation ago, Raksha Bandhan was primarily a North Indian phenomenon, little known and seldom observed in South India. But in recent years it has become popular in the South, thanks to the concerted efforts of RSS activists, who also expanded the ceremony’s function to serve as an expression of brotherhood within their ranks.

			“This is a tradition,” he said. “We can’t say it is religious; it is the individuality of the nation of India. Hinduism is beyond religion. It has no date of birth. That ancient heritage is precious. Religions may be different. But our culture is one and the same.”

			Before I took my leave, he handed me a glossy brochure about a project he’s been working on. On a hilltop in southern Kerala, there’s a new tourist park called Jatayu Earth’s Center, which features what’s apparently the world’s largest statue of a bird. In the Ramayana, after Ravana kidnaps Sita, a bird named Jatayu chases him to rescue her, but Ravana cuts the bird’s wings and Jatayu falls to his death. According to the developers, the tourist park doesn’t merely commemorate this story from the epic—it marks the actual spot where the real Jatayu died.

			This, increasingly, is what orthodox Hinduism demands: the belief that the Ramayana and the Mahabharata are not simply scripture, nor parables or tales or legends or myths or literature, but fully factual, nonfiction accounts of real events from history. Even as brazen lies become ever more normalized in political speech worldwide, there is a rising intolerance for the elusive nuance of myth.

			Once upon a time we were comfortable with myths and legends—with stories that are ruined by the attempt to force them into the binary of fact versus fiction—and we told mythical stories about real places without needing to insist that the association was empirical. In centuries past, when Hinduism flourished in Southeast Asia, local believers in what is now Cambodia and Thailand thought of the Ramayana and the Mahabharata as occurring not in far-off India but in their own lands, and they mapped the events of the epics onto their own topography. Such contradictory maps could exist without controversy, because we understood what myth was. Now we demand a single, bright, inviolable line, with facts on one side and lies on the other. The things we believe fall on the side of fact. The things other people believe fall on the side of lies.

			As a result, religiously motivated archaeology is now booming in India in the same way that “biblical archaeology,” now out of fashion, was big in the nineteenth century in the Middle East. The prominent archaeologist B. B. Lal made a career out of excavating sites associated with the Mahabharata and the Ramayana. (His claims that the Babri Masjid in Ayodhya was built on the site of a Hindu temple helped fuel the movement for the mosque’s destruction.) In 2015, shortly after he came to power, Modi ordered government archaeologists to search for the lost Saraswati, a river described as holy in the Vedic scriptures and which has taken on deep importance in Hindutva geography as a symbol of the lost golden age of Hinduism.

			It’s no wonder, then, that Hindutva activists assumed that the Pattanam dig was an attempt to do the same for the Christians. But in contrast to P. J. Cherian’s vision of archaeology—an archaeology that’s “subversive” because it demolishes our imagined perimeters and hierarchies to reveal our shared humanity—scriptural archaeology seeks to confirm biases, to establish a precedent of dominance, to lock their stories in place. “When you try to pin a legend down to a territory using archaeology, then it becomes unchallengeable,” Rachel Varghese told me. “You can’t have alternate myths.”

			

			•   •   •

			DR. YAKIR PAZ, A classical scholar at Hebrew University of Jerusalem, made a similar point. He was telling me about the Greek novel, a popular ancient literary genre that was like the “pulp fiction of late antiquity.” Many of these narratives took place in India, but “the India you’d find in the Greek novels is not the actual place; it’s just a place where you can have huge talking snakes”—a place that represents, to the novels’ westerly audience, the realm of the fantastic. Dr. Paz happened to be visiting Kerala with a group of Israeli academics to watch performances of a local theatrical form called Kutiyattam, which is perhaps the oldest surviving unbroken theatrical tradition in the world. Enthusiastic in his research but unwaveringly serious in affect, Paz is a scholar of Syriac—the language both of the Acts of Thomas and of the Thomas Christians’ original liturgy.

			We were talking of ancient Greek novels because, according to Dr. Paz, the style and narrative of the Acts of Thomas bear a strong resemblance to them. Like Greek novels, the various apocryphal apostolic Acts were often written as popular entertainments first and foremost—in some cases almost like fan fiction riffing on the characters made famous by the New Testament.

			Paz had been studying an idea that recurs throughout ancient scripture: the idea of dividing the world by lot, which was then considered a method for determining God’s will. The Acts of Thomas is one of many stories about the apostles’ life after the Crucifixion that begin with them drawing lots to determine where in the world they will preach, to the point that some scholars refer to such scenes, catchily, as “the apostolic lottery.” Paz pointed out that this lottery deliberately echoes the moment in the Jewish Bible when God instructs Joshua to cast lots to divide the nations according to the number of tribes of the sons of Israel.

			The number of tribes of Israel, of course, is twelve. The moment Paz mentioned this, I realized that it never occurred to me to wonder why there were twelve apostles—why not some other number? I’d assumed that’s just how many apostles there were. Why, then, after Judas committed suicide, was it necessary for the remaining apostles to choose a new member—by lot—and restore their number to twelve? Twelve, Paz explained, isn’t always meant as a real number; in many cultures since antiquity it has been seen as an ideal number, representing perfection or completion or cosmic order.

			Sitting on the balcony of the guesthouse Paz was staying in, he and I began listing all the uses of twelves, and as we spoke, I had an uncanny sensation. I could feel the world organizing itself into dozens, like a dazzling numerological vision: twelve hours of the day, twelve hours of night, twelve months, twelve inches, twelve notes in the chromatic scale, twelve hues in the color wheel, twelve “winds” in ancient navigation, twelve Titans, twelve Olympians in the Pantheon, the twelve-year cycle of Jupiter, dozens of twelves in the book of Revelation, the Twelve Imams of Shia Islam, the story of the Twelve Tribes as told in the twelfth sura of the Quran, twelve names for Hanuman, Shiva’s twelve lingas of light in twelve temples across India.

			The feeling intensified when Paz began discussing astrology: that ancient system for dividing everything by twelve. “Zodiacal geography is the first moment where you have supposedly divided the entire cosmos,” he said. “Once you divide the heavens into twelve, then you’re looking in each section and you start to identify, oh, this looks like a fish. Because you’re limiting your gaze to certain sections.” The vast night sky, taken in as one canvas, was an undifferentiable chaos of countless stars. But when you slice it mathematically into twelve segments, you start to notice things. Ordered constellations emerged from the disorder. Even without telescopes, you can learn to magnify by subdividing your gaze.

			Astrology is a way of looking that likely started several millennia ago in Babylon, but it was such an exciting idea that it quickly spread around the world, maybe faster and more pervasively than any religion has ever spread. (That’s why the Hindu zodiac uses the same twelve signs as the Western zodiac.) It’s hard to recall this now, but astrology began as science, the best empirical and mathematical attempt at cataloging and making sense of the cosmos that humans were then capable of. “You’re living in a different reality once you have this idea that the cosmos is an organized system,” Paz said. “You can divide the entire sky, and coming with it is the idea that you can divide the entire earth.” Like the periodic table of elements or the taxonomy of species, astrology brought order to the universe, made it feel comprehensible. Each segment was known; the full exploration of these segments was just a matter of filling in the details.

			This is why Jesus needed exactly twelve apostles—to echo the zodiac. Twelve segments of sky, with twelve corresponding realms of the earth, require twelve apostles to unite them.

			Evening fell as Paz and I spoke, and stars proliferated in the clear Kerala sky, and I could feel for a fleeting moment the power of that dead science. Then we headed to the theater to watch some Kutiyattam. It was night five of an adaptation of an eleventh-century Ramayana play. That night’s episode involved Ravana disguising himself to trick Sita. The actors took this one moment from the epic and expanded it to last for hours, using a highly codified language of dance movements, gestures, and facial expressions. To the side of the stage, a complement of drummers whipped up beats so fast and complex that even an eyebrow raise from the actor playing Ravana felt like a whirlwind of activity. After a couple hours I reluctantly took my leave to catch the last metro home. One of Paz’s colleagues stopped me at the door. “But more characters are going to come onstage soon!” he protested. How soon? Around forty minutes, he said—which, admittedly, is not long in a twenty-hour play.

			Everything seemed suspect as I sat on the bright, clean Ernakulam metro for the trip home. So much of what we believe to be factual was mythology taking a free ride on our imaginations. The more I learned about Thomas, the more I began to wonder not just whether he came to Kerala but how history is constructed. “When it comes to history, you can’t trust anyone,” writes Wendy Doniger, a historian of religion. “The texts lie in one way, while images and archaeology mislead us in other ways.”

			Ancient history in particular is like a disintegrating document that’s much more holes than paper, just a smattering of mostly unconnected words here and there, with the rest filled in by guesswork. It’s like exploring a labyrinthine network of caves with only a weak flashlight, where the dimness of light and lack of context means that even those objects that can be seen have a tendency to deceive. Even that doesn’t quite capture it; also, the labyrinth is physically different for each person who enters it, depending on their beliefs and background and prior experience spelunking.

			

			•   •   •

			I STILL HAD ONE more stop on my Thomas pilgrimage: Mylapore, now a neighborhood in Chennai, where Thomas is said to have died.

			The St. Thomas Cathedral Basilica in Mylapore is a stark-white Gothic-style edifice near the Chennai beach. On July 7, 2018, when I visited, it was holding its commemoration of Saint Thomas’s death day. The cathedral’s pastor, Father Louis Mathias, gave me a tour of his church’s relics: a finger bone that is said to be Thomas’s, a lance head that is said to have killed him. He noted that the tsunami in 2004 devastated the eastern coastline of India, and yet the cathedral was spared. In nearby fisher shanties, “not even a single one died,” he said. “The people believe it was Saint Thomas who saved us.”

			In the cathedral’s basement, Father Mathias showed me the tomb where Thomas is said to have been buried. Just outside the tomb chapel, a dramatic life-size diorama captured my attention. It showed Thomas kneeling on a hilltop in prayer, and just behind him a sinister man with a scorpion tattooed on his arm and a lance raised over his head, in the act of bringing down the fatal blow. Father Mathias told me that until a few years ago the killer had been depicted as an obvious Brahmin Hindu, but they’d altered the statue so as not to cause offense. He lowered his tone. “The truth is, he was killed by Hindu fanatics,” he murmured. “But we don’t like to say so.”

			Back in Father Mathias’s office, I asked him if he ever doubted that doubting Thomas had founded his church. “It must be true,” he said. “My own faith tells me—my experience tells me—that Thomas came to India. Otherwise there is no place for us to talk about him.”

			By then I’d stopped believing that Thomas had ever set foot in India. The most I could say is that it wasn’t technically impossible. But every argument I’d encountered that he positively had come to India had, in my mind, crumbled. I was doubting Thomas in reverse: I began with such eager credulity, and I ended convinced that it never happened.

			Our best evidence is that Christianity spread quite slowly in the first century. By the end of that century, one scholar estimates, there were approximately seventy-five hundred Christians in the entire world. Preaching to the large nearby Jewish diaspora would have consumed the apostles’ entire lives; there was no sense in traveling to distant foreigners who practiced wildly different religions with no language in common.

			Ancient Tamil poetry, one of the few detailed sources of life in Kerala in the early centuries of the Christian era, includes no mention of Thomas or Christians. Many outsider sources cited as early “witnesses” of Kerala Christianity turn out not to have gone to India at all.

			And even among the most credible non-Indian sources, there is the problem that few Europeans aside from actual traders and navigators had a grasp of where India even was. From ancient times through the industrial age, Westerners labeled everywhere from Ethiopia to Southeast Asia with an assortment of confusing and inconsistent India-based monikers: Greater India, Lesser India, Little India, Middle India, High India, Interior India, Exterior India. “All late antique narratives regarding the evangelization of ‘Indians’ were almost certainly referring to peoples of east Africa and south Arabia,” the historian Nathanael Andrade writes. “India” was often just a way of saying “those mysterious lands” while waving one’s hand in an easterly direction.

			I’d also had to confront the many anachronisms that are peppered all over the supposedly ancient local accounts of Thomas in Kerala. All emphasize that he built physical churches, ordained priests or bishops, erected or carved crosses as symbols of Christianity, and preached the Gospels—none of which existed in the year 52. They also insist that he converted Brahmins and that Brahmins killed him. But Brahmins didn’t migrate to Kerala in notable numbers until the seventh century at the earliest.

			Unprovable legends stack atop each other, giving the illusion of stability. For example, the argument that Thomas might have come to Kerala to preach to its Jewish population at first seemed logical, because there is a tradition that Jews had established themselves in Muziris even before the time of Christ. But that, too, is myth; there is no evidence of Jews in Kerala before the eighth century CE. And connections that once seemed thrilling turn out to undermine the tale. I and many other fools have made much of the fact that the Thomas Christians use Syriac, which is a version of Aramaic, which is the language spoken by Jesus and his companions. But Jesus spoke a Galilean dialect of Western Aramaic. Syriac is Eastern Aramaic, a language of Mesopotamia, and these two versions of Aramaic are not mutually intelligible.

			Before the Acts of Thomas was published in the third century, the consensus among ancient writers, from Origen to Socrates, was that Thomas’s missionary field was Parthia, which roughly corresponds to northeastern Iran. No one mentioned India. And no source prior to the Acts of Thomas claims that he was martyred at all, in India or anywhere else.

			What about the reference to King Gondophares that had impressed me so much when I first read that he was a historical figure? Gondophares ruled in Parthia. Andrade suggests that the Acts of Thomas story was originally set in Parthia but was transposed to India, when that became politically useful, without changing any of the geographical details, which is why the “India” that the Acts of Thomas describes is desertlike and vaguely Zoroastrian.

			In truth, the narrative of Thomas’s journey has transformed ceaselessly over the centuries. Each storyteller just picks and chooses the details that work best for their purposes. That’s how myths work, as creative and highly malleable illustrations of how a particular person or people views a particular situation at a particular time for particular reasons. But they can’t tell us what actually happened.

			So what did really happen? How did the Thomas Christians become Christian? And how did they develop the myth that Thomas made them so? We’ll never know the specifics, but once you step back, it becomes fairly obvious. Christianity in Kerala is indeed very old, but it didn’t arrive in the first century. In almost every respect—liturgy, language, theology, mythology, hierarchy—Kerala Christianity bears the hallmarks of Mesopotamian Christianity of late antiquity.

			Here’s how it probably unfolded: After the Roman Empire’s ancient trade connections to Kerala declined, Mesopotamian merchants took their place. Over many years, they formed much closer social bonds with the people of Kerala than the Romans ever did. Along with their goods and their gold they brought their language, Syriac. And beginning around the fourth or fifth century, they brought news of Christianity, which had recently spread to their homeland. They also brought the Acts of Thomas: a wildly popular yarn of the adventures of an original apostle of this new religion in this very place! Converts to Christianity would have come gradually, but when they came, they would have been proud of this legendary apostolic connection. “Over the centuries,” the historian Susan Bayly writes, “the tale would simply have been transformed to fit the local sacred landscape.” And eventually they would have embraced it as their origin story.

			The story of Thomas in India exists simply because, as Andrade points out, these were the tropes of ancient religious literature: the rapid evangelization of an entire region, a radical itinerant spiritual leader, instant converts, miracles. The reality is less glamorous: the slow, cumulative, anonymous transfer of ideas across established social and commercial networks. But glamour is always an illusion. And the names of those who collectively create massive but incremental change will always be unknown to history.

			One more question remains: If he didn’t come to India, what did happen to Thomas? In the earliest Christian literature, Thomas is almost never mentioned. It’s possible that after the Crucifixion he just disappeared—his absence giving later writers a blank page onto which they could invent any adventures they wanted to. Once the myth is stripped away, Thomas evaporates. This is what Pushpamala, Gauri’s artist friend, feared would happen to Gauri—that the myths that had enveloped her would erase the real, complicated, delightful, exasperating person that she was.

			

			•   •   •

			IN THE BASEMENT OF the St. Thomas Cathedral Basilica in Mylapore, a friendly little nun named Sister Maria Fides urged me to visit the site called Little Mount, where Thomas was said to have lived in a small cave. “It’s awesome,” she said repeatedly. “If you take the time to just sit there, you can really feel the presence of Saint Thomas.”

			Little Mount turned out to be a small hill, a slightly craggy area that’s home to a labyrinth of devotional buildings. Thousands of red and blue plastic chairs were laid out for the big outdoor Mass that evening. Wandering among the various shrines, I happened upon a young priest who’d just been ordained a couple months before, and he was delighted to have been assigned to this special place. Later that day, as part of the festivities, he’d be leading a quiz game with a hundred questions about the life of Thomas. He pointed to a nearby natural spring that, legend has it, Thomas created by miracle to slake the thirst of the crowds who came to hear him preach. (But in what language?) A sign read Water From the Fountain Cures Diseases. “Many miracles happen here,” he told me. “People come with anxiety and troubles, and many people get cured.” Not just Christians, but Hindus, too, come to pray here, mostly to fix sad family problems, he said.

			I almost missed the small unlabeled passageway that leads to Thomas’s cave. The story goes that Thomas made this cave his home when he moved from Kerala to Mylapore and that his killer first tried to attack him here. But Thomas managed to flee through a hole, leaving behind a handprint embedded in the wall.

			There is indeed a vague indentation that could be interpreted as a handprint. The cave is cramped, too low to stand in, and very smooth and shiny in the way that surfaces get when they’ve been touched by millions of hands. The escape hole is tiny. Thomas’s escape through this hole seems an undignified element of the legend, but oddly enough, that little detail comes courtesy of the Portuguese.

			The Portuguese arrived in Kerala in 1498 and bullied their way into control over the pepper trade. But this was not their only task. The king of Portugal, Dom Manuel, had also explicitly instructed his emissaries to search for Thomas’s tomb, so, naturally, Thomas’s tomb is what they found.

			In 1523, they ordered an excavation of a site in Mylapore and found several skeletons, one of which was “miraculously” white. These bones, they declared, must be the remains of Thomas, especially because they were found alongside pieces of a lance. (Why he would be buried alongside his murder weapon is unclear.) They also found a walking stick, which they assumed must have been Thomas’s, given all his walking around.

			In front of the chapel, the Portuguese dug up a stone cross that they said Saint Thomas himself had carved and that included an inscription in an unknown language. The Portuguese asked a learned Brahmin if he knew what it said, and he dutifully offered a completely imaginary translation: “When the sea reaches this stone, God has ordained that white men from very distant lands to the West will preach the same doctrine and faith that I do.”

			With this prophetic endorsement, the Portuguese became fully invested in propagating the Thomas legend. It provided them with an ideal justification for their Asian empire: Thomas had been sent to prepare the way for them. They minted gold coins, called santomés, with Thomas’s image and the slogan India Tibi Cessit (you converted India) and used them to pay the Thomas Christians for pepper. The Thomas story worked so well for the Portuguese in India that they brought it with them to the Americas and lent it to the Spanish. In the places now known as Brazil, Paraguay, Peru, Mexico, Chile, and Ecuador, the Iberian colonizers told the locals that Saint Thomas had long ago preached in their lands and prepared the way for Christianity. They even claimed that Quetzalcoatl—the feathered serpent deity who was said to be the progenitor of all Mesoamerican people—was none other than Saint Thomas.

			The legend bent to convenience. In Chennai, before the Portuguese came, the local tradition was that Thomas was martyred in the cave at Little Mount, not that he escaped through a hole. But the Portuguese got confused between two hills. After they found a cross buried at the top of a much bigger hill now known as St. Thomas Mount, they assumed that this more majestic location must have been where Thomas had died. Later writers tried to fudge this discrepancy with the preposterous combined story that he was first wounded in his cave on Little Mount but then dragged himself, dying, almost three miles away—in some versions, through a secret underground passage—to the top of St. Thomas Mount so that he could die there instead.

			So I dragged myself up to St. Thomas Mount, too. My loss of belief had drained these sites of significance, but I still had a few hours to kill before my flight to Bangalore.

			This one is a proper mount, the highest point for miles around; you can see why the Portuguese thought it a more appropriate site for apostolic martyrdom. Many people stop here just for the rare view it offers of the megacity called Chennai, which was once called Madras, which was once the site of an ancient realm called Pallavaram, which was previously inhabited by other kingdoms and clans and tribes for tens of thousands of years, in settlements whose names have long been forgotten or which had no names at all. Near the top I stopped for a Nescafé at a shack called Mount Manna, which is a great name for a religious hilltop snack bar.

			At the very top is St. Thomas Mount National Shrine, which is chock-full of tiny relics (said to have been) salvaged from the bodies of martyred saints all over the world over the past two millennia. There’s the stone cross that the Portuguese found and said that Thomas had carved, along with a (rather crude) painting of Mary that the church credits to the apostle Luke himself; its style is clearly medieval. On the walls there are the stations of the cross, depicting in graphic detail Christ’s final suffering and death, step by step, and also a series of gruesome paintings of each of the apostles getting martyred. In Christianity, martyrdom is the perfect culmination of a life, the ultimate imitation of Christ. “This is not death,” Thomas says as he dies at the end of the Acts of Thomas, “but a release from the world. For this reason I receive it gladly.”

			Outside the shrine I found one final surprise. Under the bell tower there was a marble plaque. “This historical monument commemorates with gratitude the heroic martyrdom of Mr. K. S. Jacob Fernandez, the Manager of this Shrine,” it read. “He was killed by a fanatic while defending the Christian ownership of this holy hill on the 26th November 2006, the Solemnity of Christ the King, shedding blood in this very spot for his Lord and God after the model of St. Thomas, the Apostle Martyr of this Shrine.”

			I immediately sought an explanation from a worker who was collecting cash offerings nearby. One evening twelve years ago, he said, an angry man came to the hilltop and insisted that Thomas Mount was a Hindu site, and demanded that he be allowed to light lamps there for Karthika Deepam, an upcoming Tamil Hindu festival. Fernandez told him that he’d need to talk to the priest, who’d gone downhill. The man then pulled from his leather bag a machete and, in full view of a hundred pilgrims and tourists, hacked Fernandez dozens of times, broke six of his ribs, and amputated his left forearm entirely. Then he dipped his finger in Fernandez’s blood and smeared it on his own forehead, like a perverse kind of tilak. Then he entered the church and smashed statues of Saint Francis and Saint Joseph and splashed Fernandez’s blood everywhere, including on the cross Saint Thomas was said to have carved. “Mr. Jacob died on the way to the hospital,” the worker told me. “And they took that crazy bugger to jail.”

			I understood then that it hardly mattered if the story of Thomas in India were true. The Thomas Christians have made it true, setting the story in literal stone in the form of the thriving churches they say he founded. It’s irrelevant that Thomas never personally came to Kerala to spread the faith, because for over a thousand years his followers—now six million strong—have been spreading the faith in his name. And then, in 2006, Mr. K. S. Jacob Fernandez died in Thomas’s defense, in a manner uncannily similar to the way Thomas was supposed to have died and on the very same spot. Now even his martyrdom had been made true.

			The killer’s name was Ramesh Babu. Later I found a website he’d made just months before the murder, which he titled “Mei Neri,” which in Tamil means “the way of truth.” One page includes his full résumé. For the period of 2001 to 2004, he listed the following as his occupation: “Asuras, having been defeated in their own game, decided to unleash BRAIN RESEARCH on me, resulting in further destruction in the form of TSUNAMI.” Elsewhere he accuses the asuras of breaking his hand, destroying his testicle, killing his father, forcing him to sleep with a prostitute, and “blue filming” him. On another page he outlines his “Action Plan,” which includes the following: “Sanatana Dharmize this holy land, by removing all polluting structures like churches, mosques, colonial etc., which are essentially constructed as a sign of victory by the invaders.” He repeatedly declares himself Kalki: the final incarnation of Vishnu, whose arrival, it has been prophesied, heralds the end of Kali Yuga, the age of discord.

			I thought of a line from Joseph Campbell: “The psychotic drowns in the same waters in which the mystic swims with delight.”

			At his trial, his lawyer asked for leniency because he suffers from paranoid schizophrenia. In 2008, he was sentenced to life in prison. In 2009, the high court rejected his appeal on grounds that the murder was “actuated by religious fanaticism,” not mental illness. But isn’t it madness to murder for religious reasons? Or can such killers be unnervingly sane? It’s a question that increasingly haunted me as I continued my investigations.

			As dusk fell, I went downhill and joined a procession in honor of Saint Thomas as it crawled through the crowded streets of Chennai, led by a rollicking brass band. At the back, behind hundreds of singing congregants, came a tall chariot, thickly garlanded with flowers of every color, with a statue of Saint Thomas in the place of honor. Aside from the altar boys and the priests’ garb and the particular idol being carried, the procession looked nearly identical to any Hindu procession I’ve ever seen. Finally, in a torrent of noisy firecrackers, we arrived at the St. Thomas Cathedral Basilica, and I thrilled to the spectacle: the churchyard shining with a galaxy of lights and lined with thousands of chairs, most of which were already occupied by believers, their faces bright with expectation, awaiting our arrival for the festival to begin.
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			CHAPTER 10

			Days in the Underworld

			THE SAME EVENING THAT I descended from St. Thomas Mount—July 7, 2018—I took the one-hour flight back to Bangalore to resume my investigation into the Gauri Lankesh case. When I left Bangalore in January, nearly everyone I talked to seemed to be resigned to the inevitability that it would be just another unsolved assassination. But a lot had changed in the six months I was gone.

			In February, at the city’s Majestic bus terminal, police arrested a paunchy, mustached man named K. T. Naveen Kumar, alias Hotte Manja (potbellied Manja), for illegal possession of fifteen 7.65 mm bullets. Johnson T. A. of The Indian Express reported that a friend of Kumar’s in his hometown of Maddur told police that Kumar had shown him the bullets, and that when he asked why he had them, Kumar had replied that they were going to be used for a big killing, like that of Gauri Lankesh. It soon emerged that Kumar was the founder of a local unit of the Hindu Yuva Sena, a radical Hindutva group, and when he was arrested, he had in his possession several books published by Sanatan Sanstha, the cultish fringe group whose members had been suspects in the first two murders in the pattern, Dabholkar and Pansare. Johnson reported that Kumar had attended at least five Sanatan Sanstha meetings in 2017, including one that he’d helped organize: in November 2017, he rented a wedding hall in Maddur for a presentation by Sanatan Sanstha on Hindu dharma. “He is known to us,” one Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson admitted to Johnson. Another Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson quickly contradicted him: “This is the first time I am hearing his name. There is an effort being made by the Communists to link us to crimes.” A lawyer for Sanatan Sanstha appeared in court on Kumar’s behalf. The Karnataka BJP legislator Shobha Karandlaje, whom I’d met at BJP headquarters in January, said at a rally that the police were “framing Hindu youth” for Gauri’s murder. (Kumar was thirty-seven.)

			In March, Kumar was transferred to the custody of the Special Investigation Team assembled to probe Gauri’s murder case, which submitted to a magistrate a sealed copy of a confession statement they said Kumar had given about his involvement in Gauri’s murder. Police seemed to think that he wasn’t the mastermind or the triggerman but simply the first co-conspirator to slip up. They suspected him of a supporting role. He apparently left Bangalore on the day of the murder to hide in a Sanatan Sanstha ashram in Mangalore.

			In mid-May, the SIT arrested four more men for involvement in the murder: Sujith Kumar, thirty-seven; Amol Kale, thirty-nine; Amit Degwekar, also thirty-nine; and Manohar Edave, twenty-eight. Like K. T. Naveen Kumar, all four men had connections to Sanatan Sanstha. The SIT said that they found, at the homes of three of the men, diaries written in code and that one of the diaries included a sketch of a map that appeared to indicate the location of Gauri Lankesh’s house. And on May 30, the SIT filed a charge sheet, totaling 661 pages, that accused K. T. Naveen Kumar of criminal conspiracy in Gauri’s murder. (To clarify, a charge sheet is the final report of a police investigation, but when it is filed, the suspect is still not formally charged. The charge sheet serves as a proposal of charges that the court will draw on when actually framing the charges at a later stage—often much later.)

			That charge sheet included a ballistics report that seemed to settle one crucial point definitively: Gauri and the scholar M. M. Kalburgi had been murdered with the same pistol. As Johnson put it, it was “the first official indication by any government agency of the linkages between the two murders.” There had still been no arrests for Kalburgi’s murder. But of all the theories that had been floated about Gauri’s murder, two seemed to be bearing fruit: the theory that Gauri’s murder was linked to Kalburgi’s, and the theory that Sanatan Sanstha was somehow connected.

			And then, on June 11, police arrested a twenty-six-year-old named Parashuram Waghmare who they said was the man who had shot and killed Gauri Lankesh. “He seemed resigned to his fate, almost relieved that we had finally come for him,” a police officer told The Hindu. A utensils salesman from northern Karnataka, Waghmare had been in the news before: back in 2012, he was arrested for hoisting a Pakistan flag in the small city of Sindagi in a clumsy attempt to increase religious tensions. A Hindutva group called Sri Ram Sena, which often collaborates with Sanatan Sanstha, started a Facebook fundraising campaign to support Waghmare’s family.

			Questioned by the press, Pramod Muthalik, the obstreperous leader of Sri Ram Sena, denied that Waghmare was affiliated with his group. A photograph promptly emerged of Muthalik with his arm around Waghmare.

			Unchastened, Muthalik delivered an inflammatory speech about Gauri less than a week after Waghmare’s arrest, in which he mocked complaints that the prime minister still had never publicly mentioned Gauri’s name or referred to her case. “Do you expect Modi to respond every time a dog dies in Karnataka?” Muthalik asked. In response, a BJP legislator whom Gauri often sparred with tweeted the following: “I condemn Muthalik’s statement comparing Dogs to Gauri Lankesh. He has insulted the Dogs which are more faithful to their Masters than venomous #UrbanNaxals.” The right wing remained attached to their Naxalite theory despite a total lack of evidence for it, and continued to blame the Maoist guerrillas for Gauri’s murder rather than acknowledge the growing case against Sanatan Sanstha.

			

			•   •   •

			SHORTLY AFTER I GOT BACK to Bangalore, I visited a man who knows the local crime scene better than anyone. He knows specifically about the mind of a murderer, because he’s openly admitted to committing that crime himself. His name is Agni Sreedhar, and I’d gotten in the habit of visiting him every time I came to the city. Once the top mafia don in Bangalore, in recent years Sreedhar had made an unlikely metamorphosis into an author, screenwriter, and film director. He founded and edited a high-minded if sensational weekly tabloid inspired by Lankesh Patrike, called Agni (which means “fire”). And he wrote an award-winning memoir called My Days in the Underworld. The book is most striking for the way it never glamorizes the Bangalore mafia, always underscoring not just the fear and anxiety but also the sheer boredom of underworld life. No one would read this book and fantasize about rising through the ranks of the Bangalore mob, as Sreedhar did. Its centerpiece is a frank, precise account of how he murdered a don who preceded him. It’s a murder he clearly doesn’t fear he’ll ever be held accountable for.

			Entering Sreedhar’s compound requires passing through a high, meter-thick wall, suitable for a fortress, and submitting to the scowls of eight or ten muscular young men in Sreedhar’s employ. A taut, toned, and intense man in his late sixties, dressed invariably in a Lacoste polo shirt, with a bald crown and a white beard, Sreedhar greets his many visitors in his second-floor living room. The room’s every wall is lined with books, a collection predominated by international classics—Kafka, García Márquez, Manto, de Sade—and also a large library of mystical literature, with books on Sufism, tantra, kabbalah, and shamanism.

			When I’d previously met him in January 2018, he’d said it was obvious who had killed Gauri. “Rightists,” he said. “It does not take that much intelligence.” But he didn’t have much confidence that the investigators would succeed at catching the culprits. The Indian police are terribly ineffective, he explained, and not only because of corruption. They simply don’t have the resources to conduct proper investigations. Victims of crime often need to pay a detective’s expenses, or the job just won’t get done. Combine that with a judicial system so sluggish that it routinely takes decades to hand down a verdict and, in some cases, heavy political pressure to keep perpetrators out of jail. It was a system he knew intimately from the years when murder was a part of his business.

			But when I returned to his compound in July 2018, he told me he was profoundly impressed by the progress of the Special Investigation Team. “My god,” he said, “they’ve done a tremendous job. Tremendous. For the first time I’m feeling extremely, extremely proud of our police force.” The killers, he mused, had gotten too sloppy. “I know the criminal world,” he said. “First murder, you will be extremely careful. Second murder, a bit less. Like that, after a few murders, you will take it for granted that you can do anything, get away with anything. And you will develop a careless attitude toward the police. But here the police took it very seriously.”

			This was just the beginning, he warned. I asked him how long the trial might take, and he just laughed. With clever lawyers, he said, the trial could be dragged out “for ten or fifteen years.” It would likely be years before it even began. And when it did commence, the Indian legal system presented massive hurdles—including, for example, the confessions section of India’s evidence law. “It’s unlike in America, or in a European system,” Sreedhar said. “Whatever statement you make in front of a police officer is not considered evidence. Suppose I just punch you. And in front of a police officer I say, ‘Yes, Rollo Romig asked me a wrong question, so I punched him.’ It cannot be taken seriously. It needs to be supported by witnesses. Initially the witnesses will definitely say, ‘Yes, we saw Sreedhar punch him.’ Then during trial they will say, ‘No, the police only forced us to say that Sreedhar punched him.’ The witnesses will become hostile, and the case is gone.”

			An additional complication, he said, is the apparent religiosity of the killers. In Sreedhar’s days as a gangster, in the 1980s and 1990s, the Indian mob operated on a similar model to mafias anywhere else, making money through extortion, by skimming from vulnerable businesses, as hired muscle, and sometimes as contract killers. And most gangs had the patronage of political parties. The turning point, he said, came in 1992, when the enormous mob led by BJP politicians tore down the Babri Masjid in the city of Ayodhya, an event that unleashed religious extremism across India. In the years since, “all the underworlds throughout India have been overtaken by fundamentalist groups,” Sreedhar said. “Now it’s religious. This is more dangerous! Police could easily control the old underworld. Not these religious groups.”

			The code of this new, religious underground is entirely different from that of the old-school gangsters. “A real rowdy,” he said, using the slang term for an Indian gangster, “would never harm a lonely, helpless woman. Because it will be detrimental to his image. People will laugh at him.” But these new religious extremists have no such qualms. He seemed unnerved by this development. “It’s inhuman,” he said. “Cold. Cruel.” And it unnerved me that an admitted murderer who used to run a major city’s underworld was unnerved by the direction that murder is taking in the country.

			

			•   •   •

			ODDLY ENOUGH, A TEENAGE Gauri played a role in Sreedhar’s descent into the underworld. In fact, the first time I encountered the name Gauri Lankesh was in 2015, two years before her murder, when I read Sreedhar’s memoir.

			The book begins in 1974, when Sreedhar moved to Bangalore to study law. He hoped to pass the notoriously difficult exam necessary to enter the civil services. In India, political parties and university campus politics are closely linked: the parties treat student unions as their farm teams and enlist them to do their dirty work. Campus politics can get even more heated, and more violent, than “real” politics. At the time Sreedhar was a student, this tendency was exacerbated by especially close links between politicians and criminals. Most gangsters had the backing of politicians, and every college student union was aligned with one gangster or another. “It was especially crucial for students contesting college elections to be seen as protégés of these overlords, and victory hinged on the number of rowdies providing their patronage to a particular candidate,” Sreedhar writes. Three Bangalore colleges, including Sreedhar’s, “were the Petri dishes for what would later emerge as Bangalore’s underground.” The journalist T. J. S. George wrote that Bangalore could reasonably claim that its gangsters were “the world’s most educated.”

			The mid-1970s was an odd moment when militant leftism and organized crime converged around the world, a time when the Red Brigades in Italy, the Red Army Faction in Germany, and the Symbionese Liberation Army in the United States were regularly pulling off bank heists. Sreedhar and his friends romanticized gangsters and revolutionaries alike and fully conflated the two. They had a particular reverence for Patty Hearst; one of his classmates wrote a play about her. Sreedhar writes that he and two friends decided “to form a gang like Hearst and launch an attack on ‘capitalist slave-drivers.’ ” They decided that their first revolutionary act would be to vandalize the mansion of a rich businessman who lived off Krishna Rao Park—quite near Gauri’s house, at the foot of Gandhi Bazaar—and spent an evening smashing his windows with stones. Another time they ate to their fill at an expensive government-run restaurant and refused to pay more than it would have cost to eat the equivalent at a cheap restaurant, as a kind of civil disobedience against income inequality. His romantic ideas evaporated after he befriended some actual gangsters. He was appalled to learn that Razor Vasu, a notorious local enforcer he’d been in awe of, routinely raped young women at the Bangalore Lalbagh Botanical Garden. He realized that these men he’d valorized as revolutionaries were mere thugs.

			At the same time, Sreedhar befriended P. Lankesh, who was then beginning his movie career; he cast Sreedhar in a major role in his second film. It was the height of the emergency, and he and Lankesh, he wrote, “would take long walks every day and discuss the atrocities carried out by the regime.”

			“Lankesh was penniless,” Sreedhar told me. “Penniless.” One day when they met, Lankesh was full of excitement: the writer Yashwant Chittal had invited him to lunch. “Hey, Sreedhar!” he said. “Today we can have beer and chicken at Ashok Hotel, come along!”

			Soon after they arrived, Chittal started defending the emergency. Lankesh tried but failed to hold his tongue. “What nonsense is this?” he said. “You’ve called me to a five-star hotel, and now you’re defending Indira Gandhi? Get up, Sreedhar, we’re going.”

			They left the food untouched, went back to Lankesh’s house, and had two sad glasses of milk for dinner. “I also wanted that tasty food,” Lankesh said mournfully. “But how could I tolerate it?”

			Hanging around with Lankesh, Sreedhar got to know Gauri, who was then around fifteen. “She was good and frank,” he said. “She expressed whatever she believed in.” One day she told Sreedhar that a boy at her high school was stalking her. Sreedhar took it upon himself to confront the boy at a remote lake on the swampy outskirts of the city, stripping off his clothes and beating him savagely. Eventually the boy broke away and jumped into the water, where he was left for dead. But he survived, and the next day the police came looking for Sreedhar—the first time he was ever hauled in to a police station. Gauri’s stalker didn’t press charges, so Sreedhar was released. (“That man is close to me now!” Sreedhar told me. “Very close, very close. He comes here at least twice a year.” I asked Sreedhar what work the former stalker does now. “He is in—some business,” Sreedhar said.)

			A few weeks later Sreedhar was back at the police station, arrested for murder—and this accusation involved Indira Lankesh, Gauri’s mother. By then Indira had had a falling-out with her partner in the sari business, and he’d opened a rival shop. His stepbrother, a local rowdy, kept intimidating Indira. Knowing that Sreedhar was in Lankesh’s circle, he started threatening Sreedhar, too. The way Sreedhar tells it, he told the rowdy to knock it off, and the rowdy told Sreedhar he’d “finish” him. The next day the rowdy was found dead near a storm drain. Sreedhar was an obvious suspect, but he insists he didn’t kill him; he was released for lack of evidence. And I have no reason to disbelieve him, given how freely he admits to other crimes. Lankesh was distinctly unimpressed by Sreedhar’s involvement with both incidents, and Sreedhar from then on stopped visiting the Lankesh household.

			Until this point Sreedhar was still no gangster; he was just a young man with a useless law degree and an unfortunate attraction to street fighting. He hadn’t scored high enough on the civil service exam to join the prestigious Indian Administrative Service. He planned to try again; in the meantime he’d acted in six films, and aspired to make a film of his own. His descent into the underworld truly began after an incident in 1979. Sreedhar’s brother was visiting Bangalore to watch a cricket match and was badly attacked on his legs with knives and machetes by a group of gangsters who wrongfully accused him of belonging to a rival gang. When Sreedhar reported the attack to the police, a sub-inspector told him frankly that he could file a report but the police wouldn’t act on it. “Why don’t you do something?” the sub-inspector suggested. “Why don’t you chop them to pieces? Or tie them up to a pillar on the street and set them on fire? We will not interfere.”

			His brother recovered, but Sreedhar became fixated on revenge, despite his brother’s urging to let it go. He learned that the ringleader of the guys who’d attacked his brother went by the name Robbery King Kotwal Ramachandra. Kotwal, too, had been a college boy; a professor of his described him as “such a nice man.” As a gangster, he was monstrous: A few months later, Kotwal and his gang chopped off an autorickshaw driver’s hand and lit his vehicle on fire because he’d refused to drive as fast as one of his boys wanted. On the day Sreedhar’s brother was attacked, Kotwal had apparently told his boys to stab on sight any associates of a gang leader named B. K. Hariprasad. When I came across this name, I stopped in my tracks: Hadn’t I once interviewed a member of Parliament from the Congress Party by the same name? I assumed it was coincidence; the B. K. Hariprasad I’d met was an impressively refined and respectable figure, the kind of politician who’s called things like “a lion of the legislature.” But it was indeed the same man.

			Bangalore’s underworld emerged directly from the Congress Party, and from the authoritarian excesses of the emergency. In mid-1970s Karnataka, the powerful son-in-law of a Congress chief minister assembled a gang of rowdies to act as political muscle. He called the gang the Indira Brigade and appointed an amateur wrestler named M. P. Jayaraj as its leader. The Indira Brigade’s political affiliation gave Jayaraj cover to build an organized-crime empire, and Jayaraj became Bangalore’s first major mafia don. “He was a giant of a don, not like me,” Sreedhar told me. Jayaraj was not a college boy; he was illiterate. And yet he founded and “edited” a disreputable daily newspaper called Garibi Hatao, which means “remove poverty”—a slogan of Indira Gandhi’s, in response to the opposition slogan “remove Indira”—which he used primarily as a platform for mocking and threatening the police.

			When he was attacked in 1979, Sreedhar’s brother had accidentally gotten caught in a gang war between Kotwal and Hariprasad, who were affiliated with rival Congress factions. By that time, the top don, Jayaraj, was four years into a ten-year prison stint for attacking a man in open court, right in front of the judge. Kotwal and Hariprasad were the leading contenders to take his throne. But in the early 1980s, Hariprasad went straight (and launched his storied legislative career), and Kotwal emerged on top of Bangalore’s underworld. Sreedhar was still determined to kill him. But now his target was the city’s most powerful don.

			Sreedhar had been on the periphery of the underworld, “occasionally stepping in,” as he puts it. His obsession with getting closer to and then killing Kotwal, he recognized, was drawing him in inexorably. He started with petty theft, extortion, and counterfeit-money scams. Unlike in the much more famous Bombay underworld, in Bangalore guns were almost unheard of; gangsters fought with switchblades, swords, machetes, and metal rods. “I always carried a bag on my shoulder: it held two books and two machetes,” he writes. A couple of times he was arrested and briefly jailed, and each jail stint elevated his criminal reputation, which led to more jobs. Even better for business was when his crimes were reported in the newspaper. The crime pages, he notes, are essential for building an underworld reputation; they act like advertisements for thugs.

			As Kotwal’s profile grew, Lankesh Patrike started running articles denouncing him. Sreedhar saw an opportunity: he’d try to broker a meeting between P. Lankesh and Kotwal, which would finally give him a chance to meet his archnemesis. But Lankesh had absolutely no interest in meeting Kotwal. Instead, Sreedhar connected Kotwal with a gunrunner who sold country-made pistols, which finally earned him Kotwal’s trust.

			It was now 1984. The former top don, Jayaraj, emerged from prison in high style and sent a message to Kotwal that he’d better go back to Shimoga, because Jayaraj was going to resume command of Bangalore. Kotwal started employing Sreedhar as a heavy, and in 1986 he enlisted him, among dozens of other rowdies, to try to kill Jayaraj at a restaurant. The attempt failed, and it backfired: Kotwal’s men were now on the defensive, and Jayaraj was hunting them down.

			Sreedhar had been waiting for seven years for the chance to murder Kotwal, and now he was in the perfect position. Kotwal was on the run, and Sreedhar was now in his inner circle. And then, serendipitously, Kotwal asked Sreedhar for help finding a place to hide out. Sreedhar suggested a friend’s sugarcane farm, and Kotwal agreed at once. For days they all slept together in a room where the farmer kept bamboo trays of silk cocoons: Kotwal, Sreedhar, Sreedhar’s closest deputy, and Kotwal’s closest deputy—who, it turned out, also wanted to kill Kotwal. “I wonder if there was any cunning to it at all,” Sreedhar writes of his plan. “Maybe it was just stupid luck.”

			And then one night it was time to strike. Kotwal went to sleep before everyone else. As midnight approached, they descended on him. When the moon went behind the clouds, they all hit simultaneously: the other two men chopped him with machetes, while Sreedhar battered him with nunchaku. Kotwal was dead, and they felt not victorious but miserable. Kotwal’s deputy wept. In his book, what’s striking about Sreedhar’s description of the murder is his sense of the horror and the fear and the clumsiness of it all. He writes with disgust of gangsters who celebrate after the murder of a rival. He doesn’t regret killing Kotwal, but even today it’s clear he still feels remorse.

			Many people had wanted to kill Kotwal, and it was said that whoever did it would rule Bangalore; that’s usually why dons are killed. But Sreedhar didn’t want to capitalize on it. He and his accomplices were eventually arrested for the murder. But because they’d killed Kotwal, Jayaraj was now on their side, which had its perks in prison: their visiting privileges were unlimited, and their meals came directly from Jayaraj’s house. When the trial finally came, all witnesses but Kotwal’s wife turned hostile, and they were all acquitted.

			I asked Sreedhar if there was any risk for him in writing so frankly that he did murder Kotwal. “No,” he said, smiling at the obviousness of his impunity. “Because we became too big.”

			In prison, Jayaraj had urged Sreedhar to find another line of work: he’d gotten his revenge, and he wasn’t really a rowdy at heart. But the experience of being treated in prison like an underworld hero seemed to change him. “Our days of dadagiri started,” he writes, using a term that’s roughly the Indian equivalent of “thug life.” “We dreamt of becoming the richest people in Bangalore in the span of a year.” Bangalore had begun its transformation, and land prices were starting to skyrocket. Sreedhar and his deputy were quickly offered jobs to “solve a few land disputes.” The game of thrones went on: in the late 1980s, Jayaraj was shot dead in a hit ordered by the gangster Oil Kumar—the first time anyone was ever killed by a gun in Bangalore, it’s said—and then Oil Kumar got whacked, with help from Sreedhar’s crew, by an upstart named Muthappa Rai.

			Sreedhar wasn’t comfortable with the way Rai ran Bangalore as top don. Rai surrounded himself with gangsters imported from Bombay, who seemed to Sreedhar like “cold machines.” He especially disliked that they all used guns; the Bangalore mob still preferred blades. He decided to exit the underworld after all, buy a farm, and raise some cows and sheep. He did not do this. Instead, recognizing that qualms about Rai were widespread among local rowdies, he staged a sort of nonviolent coup; as Sreedhar tells it, his crew simply went around town and persuaded all the relevant parties—including what he calls the “para-underworld,” those involved in crime-adjacent business—to turn against Rai. Surprisingly, this worked. Rai conceded in a phone call that Sreedhar was the new top don. “It was probably the only example of a smooth, bloodless handing over from one don to another in the history of the underworld anywhere,” he writes.

			After all the startling frankness in his memoir’s earlier chapters, from here on out, when Sreedhar documents the half decade or so when he was the ruling don, the details go sparse. He claims, implausibly, that he never ordered anyone assaulted, let alone killed, while don, but instead solved conflicts through discussions. How he actually spent his days and earned his fortune and maintained his rule remains vague.

			Sometime around the turn of the millennium, Sreedhar was finally ready to go straight, more or less. He’s generally considered Bangalore’s last don. “Now organized crime is rare in Bangalore,” Sreedhar told me. “Almost nonexistent.” But really it just mutated, and all the (surviving) major players reinvented themselves as “businessmen.”

			Their main business is real estate. In 2008, the journalist Scott Carney wrote a deeply researched piece for Wired magazine about how these Bangalore ex-dons managed land deals, for which he interviewed both Sreedhar and Muthappa Rai (who, like Sreedhar, had by then emerged from the underworld and “reformed”). As Bangalore’s economy exploded, land became its most precious commodity, especially for its proliferating IT companies, with their vast campuses. Carney calculated that the city’s land values multiplied several hundredfold just between 2001 and 2008. And land was especially scarce because so much of it was caught up in land disputes—some of them legitimate squabbles among family members, but many others manufactured by opportunistic land pirates who tried to lay claim to any plot whose ownership wasn’t impeccably documented. “It’s nearly impossible to determine who actually owns any given piece of Bangalorean real estate,” Carney writes. “Most land in the city, as in the rest of India, is bound by ancestral ties that go back hundreds of years. Little undisputed documentation exists. Moreover, as families mingle and fracture over generations, ownership becomes diluted along with the bloodline. A buyer who wants to acquire a large parcel may have to negotiate with dozens of owners. Disputes are inevitable.” If rival claimants take their disputes to court, the judicial system will take years, even decades, to resolve it. So ex-dons like Rai and Sreedhar stepped in as a sort of shadow judicial system to mediate land claims, promising resolutions in a matter of days. As Carney explains it, if a piece of land was claimed by two parties, the mediator would hear out each side and choose one. The winner gets, say, 50 percent of the land’s current cash value—still typically an extraordinary sum, given skyrocketing prices. The loser gets maybe 25 percent. The balance goes to the mediator, along with any police who’ve angled for a piece of the action. The ex-dons’ reputations precede them, and the invocation of their terrifying names alone is typically sufficient to shepherd a deal to completion; the added incentive of violence is rarely necessary. In fact, Carney notes, it’s an approach that may actually reduce violence. “With a system in place—even a corrupt system—everyone knows how the game is played. As a result, fewer people get hurt.”

			At this time, Sreedhar launched the weekly newspaper Agni and added the word to his name. He learned from Lankesh that a bold newspaper is just as intimidating as a threat of violence. It was a paper with explicitly progressive politics: anti-communal, anti-Hindutva, anti-RSS, with a special emphasis on promoting intercaste marriage, feminism, and the rights and dignity of sex workers. It was also unabashedly sensationalist, like the dozens of other tabloids that had proliferated in the wake of Lankesh Patrike.

			The feminist poet and journalist Pratibha Nandakumar, who’d long written for Lankesh Patrike, joined Agni right from the start. “I hero-worship Sreedhar,” she told me one evening at Koshy’s, the cozy old café where the city’s writers hang out. She had arrived resplendent in a crimson sari with gold trim, a diamond nostril stud, and a large round vermilion tilak between her eyebrows, her long gray hair tied neatly behind. “I still remember the first time I met him. It’s very difficult for me to explain to you—when he entered a room, literally there was a vibration. He gave one look, and that look would do.”

			She said her life could be divided into two segments: before Sreedhar and after Sreedhar. “I was brought up in a family where everybody’s highly intellectual, everybody’s well behaved, everybody’s an achiever,” she said. “We don’t shout; we don’t swear. And we had a very, very strong sense of right and wrong. Life was black and white for us. When I met Sreedhar, I learned that life is not black and white.” Her family was dismayed that she went to work for an underworld don. “But what I was seeing in him was not a don. I was seeing a man who had strength of character, who showed me that right and wrong most of the time depends on your perception. What I had thought earlier, what I was told earlier, was all myth.”

			She’d helped translate into English the books he’d written about his life of crime, but she especially revered the still-untranslated spiritual books he’s written: a three-volume set about his tantric experiences, and another book about the Lingayat vachanas. Sreedhar is equally interested in the empirical; he wrote a book about quantum physics that won the state’s Sahitya Akademi award for science literature. “For me, Sreedhar is an enigma,” Nandakumar said. “It’s always the tip of the iceberg, and what lies beneath you and I will never know.”

			Others I spoke with were more skeptical. Kavitha remembered Sreedhar from when he hung around with her father. “He makes himself seem very good,” she said of his memoir. “Like he was always reading when everyone else was doing rowdyism. Very intellectual rowdies!” she laughed. When I asked Gauri’s colleague Shivasundar what he thought about Sreedhar’s newspaper, he chose his words carefully. “We are in such a position that any harm done to the RSS bandwagon will largely be helpful to the cause of democracy,” he said. “So we may have a conditional kind of appreciation.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 11

			The Ayodhya of the South

			IT WASN’T LONG AFTER Sreedhar launched Agni that Lankesh died and Gauri became editor of his paper. Lankesh Patrike didn’t miss a week. Its first issue under Gauri was a tribute to her father. And then the exodus began. Many of the paper’s staffers and writers were there solely for Lankesh, and with Lankesh gone, they quickly left, too. Yet she took the helm of the paper with surprising confidence. Early on she placed a phone call to Chandre Gowda, who wrote a weekly humor column for her father’s Lankesh Patrike, to discuss his further contributions. When he asked who was calling, she said, “It’s me, your mother.” He was so impressed by her openness and pluck that he took her to meet his extended family in their rural villages. “She was very innocent, just like a child,” he wrote. “She would not mind going anywhere, meeting anyone and dining with anyone.” On one such visit, Gauri’s drinking and smoking scandalized Gowda’s neighbors. But his aunt was as impressed as he was. “If we have daughters like this, what do we want sons for?” she said. He was the only Lankesh-era writer who stayed with her to the end, writing his column until her very last issue.

			Other Lankesh loyalists were repelled by her show of, as they saw it, unearned arrogance and stubbornness. “We did snigger at her,” Pratibha Nandakumar recalls. Within nine months nearly every staffer and writer who’d worked for Lankesh had quit. Circulation plummeted. Longtime readers complained, according to one writer, that “Lankesh’s tabloid has become as weak as his weak-looking daughter.”

			The biggest complaint with Gauri’s leadership was that she was barely literate in Kannada, the language of the paper. How could she edit a paper that, in many readers’ minds, had captured that language’s essence? Her entire education had been in English; at her elementary school in Basavanagudi, students were scolded if they spoke in Kannada. In college she failed her Kannada exams twice in a row, and disuse had eroded her skills from there. When she was away from Bangalore, her letters home to her parents were in English. The Times of India’s Bangalore bureau had hired her on the assumption that she, as the daughter of a genius of Kannada, would at least be able to read press releases in the language. She bluffed her way through, passing off the task to a Kannada-fluent colleague. One editor made the mistake of assigning her to cover the World Kannada Conference in Mysore. The speakers’ words “simply flew over my head,” she later wrote.

			But as the new editor of Lankesh Patrike, she stopped trying to bluff. Thirty-eight years old, she resolved that she would conquer Kannada once and for all, and she met that resolution with impressive speed. Her new colleagues suggested that, at least at first, she could write her editorials in English, and they’d translate for her. But she refused, and wrote in her clunky Kannada from the very first issue. Within a couple years, she’d improved enough to catch errors that the proofreader had missed. She took to heart her father’s philosophy that you’ll reach your readers best if you write simply, honestly, and unpretentiously. She’d always been stronger in spoken Kannada, so she wrote as she spoke, colloquially, Rajghatta writes, “in free-flowing street Kannada.”

			She was unfailingly frank about her Kannada deficit. “There are several problems in my Kannada even now,” she wrote (in Kannada) in 2013. “Lacking a rich Kannada vocabulary is a major weakness.” Some jeered anyway at her Kannada, and also for how little she knew of her father’s work. She venerated her father, yet at the time of his death she’d read very little of his writing, because so little had been translated into English. She made a crash course of this, too, immersing herself in his columns, a project that revealed to her at last what made his paper so special and deepened her understanding and appreciation of Karnataka and Kannada culture.

			

			•   •   •

			IN AN INTERVIEW IN March 2000—two months after she took over Lankesh Patrike—Gauri was asked bluntly about her new job: “Your critics point out that your career graph has been far from spectacular, and that for the past decade your career has been either stagnating or going downhill. Do you think this was a lucky break for you?” Gauri answered, “I would be the first person to admit that my career was stagnating like nobody’s business. Perhaps it was because I did not want to take risks. Maybe it was because my personal life has not exactly been terrific. I was concentrating more on finding personal happiness than on chasing a career. Today, I am happy with myself, and don’t mind whatever price I have had to pay for it.”

			The interviewer asked if she felt able to withstand the threats and insults that any tabloid editor is subject to. “I think being a woman is quite useful in this situation,” Gauri said, “because if any of our reporters met a politician who was angry with my father, the politician would use the foulest language against my father. But if they badmouth a woman, they will lose respect and face in the society themselves! So being a woman is my security right now.”

			“Your being a woman may not dissuade them from attacking you physically,” the interviewer replied. “They will know you are particularly vulnerable as you are single and living alone.”

			Gauri dismissed it: “I am not afraid of physical attacks at all.”

			It didn’t take long for her to kick up controversy. After she published an investigative report on eight powerful Hindu mathas, or monasteries, in the coastal Karnataka city of Udupi, right-wing activists of the Sangh Parivar responded with fury, seizing copies of Lankesh Patrike from newsstands by force and setting them on fire. At an angry rally in a city square, the activists threatened Gauri and her writers as police looked on and took no action.

			Like her father, Gauri didn’t hesitate to insult the paper’s friends or even its contributors. The writer Rahamat Tarikere recalls that Gauri had invited him to review a book for the paper. But before he had a chance to do so, a reporter for the paper asked him to comment on a campaign by some Muslim fundamentalists against a fellow member of the Muslim Progressive Writers Forum. Tarikere was slow to respond, so the Lankesh Patrike writer denounced him, in print, as a fundamentalist. He wrote for the paper anyway. Gauri was “blunt, rash, and obstinate,” he wrote after her death. But these qualities, he thought, were balanced by her “simplicity, humaneness, and commitment.”

			P. Lankesh’s legacy loomed over her editorship. She refused to sit at his desk or in his chair; she put her own desk next to his and maintained it like a shrine. Like her father’s, Gauri’s version of Lankesh Patrike accepted no advertisements, mocked the powerful with belittling nicknames, sided unvaryingly with the oppressed, and deplored euphemisms of any kind. But Gauri mostly jettisoned the paper’s literary side. “She had no sense of literature, actually,” her friend Vivek Shanbhag, the novelist, said with a laugh. “Nor did she have people who could help her with that in her paper. So nobody looked to Lankesh Patrike to read a story or a review. That aspect was completely gone.”

			More than anything, her friends said, editing the paper radicalized her. After spending much of her adult life removed from Karnataka, she suddenly found herself immersed in its problems: the labor complaints of Bangalore’s municipal sanitation workers, or the persistence of disturbingly retrograde local superstitions such as made snana, wherein “low” caste Hindus roll on the ground over leftover food from a ceremonial meal eaten by Brahmins. (The practice was finally outlawed in Karnataka in 2017.) She took on causes, too, that her father hadn’t concerned himself with, in part by learning from her mistakes. Early in her tenure, one of her reporters wrote a story that was casually derogatory toward transgender people, and Gauri published it. Members of the transgender community sued the paper, and her lawyer, B. T. Venkatesh, took Gauri to meet with them. She came away from the encounter a full-throated defender of their cause forever after. “She was the first woman journalist to support sexual minorities’ movement,” wrote the Bangalore-based transgender activist Akkai. Gauri later published a Kannada translation of the memoirs of the trans activist A. Revathi and often covered LGBTQ struggles in the paper. The trans community called her akka, or elder sister. When she died, they were at the forefront of fundraising for the protests in response to her murder.

			At first, Gauri held on to traditional ideas of journalistic neutrality. After two decades of inculcation by journalism schools and mainstream-media jobs, she felt that journalism and activism were two realms best kept distinct. Her awakening to activist journalism came on a mountaintop 170 miles west of Bangalore.

			

			•   •   •

			HIGH ON A MOUNTAIN RANGE called Baba Budangiri, in central Karnataka’s Chikmagalur district, there is a shrine in a small cave shrouded by clouds. The mountains are named for Baba Budan, a Muslim Sufi saint who once lived in the shrine. According to one legend, on his return home from taking the hajj pilgrimage to Mecca, Baba Budan exited the Arabian Peninsula with seven raw coffee beans smuggled in his beard, thereby evading the strict export controls that allowed the Arabs to maintain a monopoly on coffee cultivation. Baba Budan planted the beans at home and introduced India to the delights of coffee. But there are so many legends surrounding this cave that it’s impossible to reduce the place to any single uncontradictory spiritual narrative. Some Muslims believe that the shrine began as the home of a direct disciple of Muhammad’s named Hazrat Dada Hayath Meer Khalandar; some Hindus call that same person Dattatreya and believe he was a combined avatar of all three of the paramount gods of Hinduism: Brahma, Shiva, and Vishnu. For centuries, Dada versus Dattatreya wasn’t a debate; the blended legends only enhanced the site’s power for Hindus and Muslims alike.

			Inside its tight, dank confines, the cave is crowded with markers of both religions: at one end, several Sufi tombs; at another, a Hindu idol draped with flowers and slathered with mud. The presiding priest is a Muslim who performs traditionally Hindu rituals: lighting the oil lamp, offering puja, blessing each visitor with holy water. The shrine’s official name is Sri Guru Dattatreya Bababudan Swamy Dargah—an amazing mash-up of Hindu and Muslim names and terms.

			Hinduism and Islam might look on paper like stark and irreconcilable opposites, but the kind of fusion observable at Baba Budangiri has long been commonplace across India. In Bengal there was Satya Pir, a Muslim holy man who’s also thought to be an avatar of Vishnu. In Varanasi there was the beloved mystic poet Kabir, whose critiques of both Hinduism and Islam led him to a faith that borrowed from both. In Punjab, Guru Nanak, the founder of the Sikh religion, also took inspiration from both Hindu scriptures and the Quran. But perhaps more than any other region in India, Karnataka proliferates in syncretic sites like Baba Budangiri, where Islam and Hinduism don’t just coexist but converge.

			So much of the unique beauty of Hinduism throughout its long history flows from its open-mindedness, its dazzling diversity in practice and devotion and interpretation across the subcontinent. Swami Vivekananda famously declared that Hinduism recognizes all religions as true. Once, when referred to as a Hindu, Mohandas Gandhi said, “I am a Hindu, a Muslim, a Christian, a Parsi, a Jew”; Muhammad Ali Jinnah, the future founder of Pakistan, cracked in response, “Only a Hindu could say that.”

			The religion we call Hinduism is extraordinarily multifarious, especially from region to region. In fact, “Hindu” originated as an outsider’s word for Indians that became, under the British, a colonial umbrella term for all the countless non-Abrahamic religious practices, philosophical traditions, and spiritual affiliations of the Indian subcontinent. The idea that there is a religion called “Hinduism” emerged from a foreign occupier’s attempt, out of fear and confusion, to simplify and codify an impossibly diverse constellation of faiths in the subcontinent, to force a Western religious structure onto a spiritual paradigm whose very specialness derives from its complexity and decentralized multiplicity. Unlike any other religion, it has always been wonderfully difficult even to define what Hinduism is in any universally satisfactory way. You can’t call it polytheistic, because there are monotheistic and even atheistic Hindus. There is not a single tenet that all Hindus must believe to be Hindu, nor a single rite that all must perform. This is not to say that Hinduism is at all vague or noncommittal, like a sort of South Asian Unitarian Universalism, but simply that it’s never uniform. At a certain point you just have to surrender to a (fittingly) circular definition: Hinduism is the religion that Hindus practice.

			Syncretic sites like Baba Budangiri are the religion’s frontiers, where its porousness is most tangible. In any religion, the policing of such sites is the surest sign of a hard shift toward orthodoxy—toward an attempt to rigidly define. On most days, Baba Budangiri still appears to be quite harmonious. In fact, it’s become the most hotly contested syncretic site in all of Karnataka and the central rallying point for the state’s Hindutva groups. To them, syncretism itself is intolerable, and they chose Baba Budangiri to make an example of.

			The trouble began around 1984, when Hindutva activists first organized an event on Baba Budangiri that became a large, festive, and increasingly hostile yearly rally called Dattatreya Jayanti. Soon they were referring to this newly coined practice as a long-held tradition. In the mid-1990s, a time of surging Hindutva activism, the Dattatreya Jayanti expanded and became rowdier, replete with demands to “liberate” the cave from “Muslim control” and vilifications of its Muslim caretaker. Sangh Parivar and BJP leaders in Karnataka began talking about making Baba Budangiri “the Ayodhya of the South.”

			The Sangh Parivar had learned in Ayodhya that inflaming communal tensions (or even inventing them outright) was a winning electoral and ideological strategy. The BJP had been looking for a foothold in Karnataka, which it considered its “gateway to the South,” so it was natural that it would seek out a site in which it could provoke interreligious conflict. Baba Budangiri seemed just the place. And the BJP has benefited enormously. Several of Karnataka’s current BJP leaders made their names as Hindutva activists at Baba Budangiri, and the BJP came to dominate Chikmagalur district, which prior to the conflict had long been a Congress Party stronghold.

			In the 1990s, Hindutva activists repeatedly attempted to install in the shrine Hindu idols that had previously never been a part of the place, despite a Supreme Court order, issued in light of the agitations, that prohibited all practices at the shrine that did not exist prior to June 1975. (Police took no action in response to any violation of this order.) Led by Sangh Parivar organizations and by the Karnataka-based fringe group Sri Ram Sena, Hindutva activists increasingly vandalized Muslim homes, vehicles, and shops in the area. In 1999, a prominent BJP politician threatened to deploy “suicide squads” to liberate the shrine.

			Progressive Kannadigas were increasingly alarmed. A consortium of secular activist organizations called the Bababudangiri Harmony Forum formed to counteract the Hindutva activists, and in October 2001 they asked some local literary celebrities to issue a press statement drawing attention to the worsening climate at the mountain shrine. The first person they asked was Girish Karnad, who immediately agreed and one-upped them: Why don’t we all visit the shrine on a fact-finding mission and hold a press conference there? And he suggested another writer to invite along: Gauri Lankesh. He’d thought of her, he admitted to me, not for her platform or because she was particularly engaged in the issue but simply because he didn’t want the delegation to be entirely male.

			Her first impulse was to decline. At that point she’d been editing Lankesh Patrike for nearly two years, and she was so consumed by the work that she felt she couldn’t spare the time. But then, in an impulsive decision that would reroute her life, she changed her mind, and they made the journey up to Baba Budangiri that very day.

			When they reached the shrine, Gauri was profoundly moved by its merger of Hindu and Muslim practices. It was a place, she said later, that “uplifts the blueprint of secularism laid out in our constitution. It is a symbol of that very idea.” Likewise, the activists of the Bababudangiri Harmony Forum were impressed by Gauri’s energy and good humor. She’d found her people. It was atop that mountain that she began her transition from “objective” journalist to activist-journalist. “That’s where she flowered,” Girish Karnad told me. “That was the beginning of Gauri Lankesh’s career.” When they came back downhill, Gauri assumed the lead of the delegation’s response. “She handled the press. She called the chief minister and said why don’t you meet us,” one of the Harmony Forum organizers told me. “I wouldn’t have had the guts to ring the chief minister and ask for a meeting, but she did.”

			

			•   •   •

			JUST A FEW MONTHS after Gauri’s first visit to Baba Budangiri came the Gujarat pogrom of 2002. The unchecked violence left Indian Muslims and progressives like Gauri deeply shaken.

			India’s 200 million Muslims, who represent approximately 14 percent of India’s total population, are the world’s largest religious minority. There are roughly as many Muslims in India as in Pakistan; Indonesia is the only country in the world with a larger Muslim population. For the past century, Hindutva activists have complained that India, and the Congress Party in particular, has given Indian Muslims preferential treatment—that they are being “appeased.” But by many measures, Muslims are India’s most oppressed minority. In most states Muslims earn on average even less than Dalits. The proportion of Muslims in prestigious positions is far below their proportion in the general population; that’s true in the civil services, the judiciary, the legislature, the universities, and white-collar professions. Muslims are severely underrepresented among government employees, and those who are hired overwhelmingly work at the lowest levels. The numbers are especially stark in the military and intelligence branches, which seem to find India’s Muslims collectively suspicious. Only 2 percent of India’s military is Muslim. There has never been a Muslim officer of the Research and Analysis Wing, the Indian equivalent of the CIA, since its founding in 1968.

			Muslim political representation is almost nonexistent. No state has a Muslim chief minister, and no Muslim chief minister outside Jammu and Kashmir has ever completed a full term. “Low” caste Hindus have a proportion of reserved legislative seats to counteract discrimination against them; Muslims have none. In 2022, the BJP became the first ruling party in Indian history with not a single Muslim legislator in its ranks: none in the upper house of Parliament, none in the lower house, none in any state. And because the Congress Party fears the BJP accusation that it appeases Muslims, Congress, too, now seldom runs Muslim candidates and rarely even refers to Muslims and their particular problems.

			One of those problems is forced ghettoization. It’s long been nearly impossible for a Muslim to rent an apartment in many Indian urban neighborhoods. The ghetto neighborhoods Muslims are pushed into are neglected by municipal authorities and tend to lack basic facilities: clean water, schools, parks. Much like the redlining of Black neighborhoods in the United States, Indian banks have been found to mark Muslim neighborhoods as “negative geographical zones” where loans are discouraged. Muslims who live in predominantly Hindu neighborhoods often suffer the most in episodes of religious violence; the aim of a pogrom is to ethnically cleanse. But when Muslims then retreat to the relative safety of a ghetto, Hindutva complains about their aloofness. “Wherever Muslims live, they don’t like to live in co-existence with others, they don’t like to mingle with others,” the BJP prime minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee said on April 12, 2002—immediately after the Gujarat pogrom.

			To Hindutva, Muslims are always one undifferentiated mass, collectively guilty for whatever transgression, real or imagined, that any member of their faith is supposed to have committed, either in the present or in centuries in the past. There are three associations that Hindutva insists on applying to Indian Muslims: the Mughals, Pakistan, and terrorism. Historically speaking, Hindutva has a particular obsession with the Mughals, the Muslim empire that made its first conquest in India in 1526 and rapidly declined after 1707. (They never entirely controlled South India.) In the Hindutva worldview, the Mughals robbed Hindus of a mythical golden age. Hindutva leaders, Modi included, often complain of the centuries of “servitude” that India endured under the Mughals, and heavily imply that contemporary Indian Muslims, by extension, are no better than foreign invaders. The Hindutva version of Mughal history relies heavily on texts authored by the colonial British, who exaggerated the Mughals’ brutality and foreignness so that they could present themselves as liberators. The real history is much more complicated, but it’s irrelevant to how Indian Muslims are treated now.

			As for Pakistan, Hindutva assumes that all Muslims are fifth columnists with secret loyalty to the nation’s most hated enemy, traitors unless proven otherwise. “It would be suicidal to delude ourselves into believing that they have turned patriots overnight after the creation of Pakistan,” the Hindutva ideologue M. S. Golwalkar wrote in his most popular book. “On the contrary, the Muslim menace has increased a hundredfold.” In fact, India’s large Muslim population owes itself to the fact that at partition, so many millions of Indian Muslims actively decided against Muslim Pakistan in favor of pluralist India. According to the Hindutva narrative, Indian Muslims spend most of their time plotting to bring down the nation and applauding the Pakistani cricket team. In my own experience, Indian Muslims are much more likely to be busy forwarding goofy Bollywood memes on WhatsApp, like any other Indian. Hindutva wants to paint all Indian Muslims as ignorant fundamentalists and to erase all Muslim contributions to Indian life: not just syncretic sites like Baba Budangiri but also the Taj Mahal, and Muslim movie stars, and the entirety of Urdu culture, with all the exquisite sophistication of its poetry, its music, its manners.

			Hindutva activists and politicians often use the word “terrorists” as a synonym for Indian Muslims. There have undoubtedly been horrifying terrorist attacks committed by Muslims on Indian soil (although some of the worst attacks originated from Pakistan). But the threat and scale of terrorism is always, almost by definition, wildly exaggerated. The number of Indians killed in terror attacks is a minuscule fraction of those killed in pogroms, which the terror attacks are typically staged in response to—which is not at all to excuse them but simply to put them in context. And as should be too obvious to say, only an infinitesimal number of Muslims, Indian or Pakistani, have anything to do with terrorism. It’s a wretched cycle: Hindutva tries to force Muslims, already a beleaguered minority, into total submission, and a tiny number of Muslims reacts with impotent and self-defeating acts of sensational violence, which only feeds the Hindutva argument that Muslims need to be forced into submission. Since 2008, the number of terror attacks perpetrated in India by Muslims has sharply declined. But such is the nature of terror attacks that the fear of them lingers long, especially when politicians keep whipping it up.

			As soon as Modi took office in 2014, the position of Indian Muslims became palpably more precarious. Lynch mobs murdered scores of Muslims suspected of slaughtering or selling cattle, in supposed defense of the cow as a sacred animal. In 2015, after one of the most notorious of such lynchings, in which a man was slaughtered in his home by neighbors who suspected, inaccurately, that he was storing beef, a BJP politician offered the murderers jobs, and a BJP chief minister invited them to a party rally. In 2018, a Modi cabinet minister garlanded and fed sweets to eight men who’d been convicted of murdering a Muslim meat trader. Modi didn’t say a word about the lynchings for over two years.

			

			•   •   •

			THE VIOLENCE IN GUJARAT pushed Gauri to intensify her involvement at Baba Budangiri, the communal flash point in her own backyard. It was through her enthusiastic adoption of that cause that she met for the first time, in 2002, her loyal friend Shivasundar, who would soon become her closest colleague in her journalism and in her activism. Shivasundar had long experience as an activist, but Gauri was green. “She came across as concerned but very urban educated, a little arrogant, a little dismissive about the kind of activism on the street,” he recalled. But something about Baba Budangiri struck her irrevocably, and she applied herself to the problem with the zeal of a convert. Soon she was not simply reporting on the news from Baba Budangiri but making news, headlining counterdemonstrations, using her office as a protest-planning hub.

			“It is no secret that the monkeys of the Bajrang Dal are gearing up to create disruptions at Bababudangiri this year,” Gauri wrote in late 2003, about one of the most aggressive RSS affiliates. Hindutva activists had been hoisting banners at the shrine with threatening phrases: “muscle power,” “streams of blood,” “destroy the enemy.” The atmosphere had grown so heated that the state government banned outdoor gatherings in Chikmagalur, the city nearest to the shrine, in an attempt to prevent mass protests. Gauri was determined to go anyway, and on the way up the mountain she and another activist with the Harmony Forum, an English professor named V. S. Sreedhara, spontaneously got out of the car they were in and hitched a ride in a truck to enter town less conspicuously. “It was a very filmy romantic escapade,” Sreedhara told me. “She said it was like we were eloping. Even in those tense moments she would joke like that.”

			Gauri sneaked into town wearing a burqa, then threw it off outside the police station and shouted slogans until she was hauled into custody. Hundreds of other activists were also arrested, and they walked into jail singing anthems in unison. They spent two days massed together in the city’s newly constructed jail. “We inaugurated it,” Shivasundar said with a mischievous grin. They slept on the floor, and drinking water, when it finally arrived, was provided by the jailer in garbage barrels. “But none of these difficulties hurt our confidence or lessened our zeal,” Gauri wrote. “On the contrary, the two days brought us closer together, inspired us to keep up the fight and nourished our spirits…. The jail was indeed like a microcosm of Karnataka. It had young boys and girls, progressive thinkers, communists, Muslim community leaders, artists, journalists, teachers, women activists, farmers’ leaders and politicians from across Karnataka.” Even a handful of Bajrang Dal activists were accidentally arrested along with them. “It looked like they were complete converts to the cause of social harmony after the two-day stay with us,” she wrote. The new issue of Lankesh Patrike had to go to print the night the group was arrested, so she dictated her column from the jail by mobile phone.

			While the communal-harmony activists sat in jail, the Hindutva activists held a huge rally, unbothered by the police, and their speeches targeted Gauri and Girish Karnad above all. “Gauri!” crowed Pramod Muthalik, leader of the Sri Ram Sena, as the crowd jeered. “Respected Gauri Lankesh! The police should have left you free. Had they not arrested her, she would have learned the true meaning of harmony. She would have been stripped stark naked and made to stand on top of that hill!”

			Among those arrested with Gauri was Agni Sreedhar, the ex-don, whose tabloid Agni was then in its fifth year. He and Gauri had become rival editors, and they’d sometimes make snide oblique remarks about each other in their editorials—especially Gauri, who disdained Sreedhar’s gangster past and scoffed at the idea that he’d reformed. But politically they were largely aligned, especially when it came to promoting communal harmony and opposing the ascendant right wing. (I found a photo of Sreedhar protesting a visit Narendra Modi made to Bangalore in 2013, the year before he was elected prime minister; Sreedhar was holding a sign that read: Modi Hitler, Go Back, Go Back.)

			Some weeks after their stint in jail, the harmony activists were finally permitted to stage their own mass rally; Sreedhar and Gauri shared the stage. Sreedhar told me very proudly about the speech he gave, in which, as he often does, he leveraged his gangster reputation for dramatic effect. “Now we have only one option,” he told the crowd, which, as he recalls, numbered ten or twenty thousand. “We have to break heads. Are you ready?” The crowd, he said, “became frenzied,” and he kept whipping them up until finally delivering the punch line: “Now I’ll tell you the target: you have to break open your own head.” Then he chastised them for buying into his parody of inflammatory rhetoric. “You were ready to break open someone else’s head. But you’re not ready to open your own mind.”

			Building on their growing solidarity after the mass arrest of 2003, secular organizers launched an even larger umbrella group of like-minded activists called the Karnataka Communal Harmony Forum, aimed at easing religious conflict and tackling bigotry wherever they arose in the state. Its membership was a roll call of Karnataka’s progressives. Gauri’s Lankesh Patrike became one of the movement’s most eager platforms.

			For all her passionate commitment to communal harmony and angry opposition to bigotry against Muslims, Gauri was never an apologist for conservative Islam. Once a Muslim organization invited her to speak at a large meeting on human rights, and she was miffed when she realized she was the only woman in attendance. Next time, she told the crowd directly, if you don’t bring women in, I won’t come. And from then on the organization included Muslim women in their meetings, too. Prayer baffled her. One activist colleague remembers that when they were arrested on the way to Baba Budangiri, several Muslims were jailed with them, and Gauri was dumbstruck when they got up early to observe the dawn prayer. “She burst out laughing, saying, ‘We are in prison. I can’t understand this religiosity.’ ”

			All the same, Gauri once personally translated into Kannada and published a classic text of Sufi Islam: Idries Shah’s Tales of the Dervishes. I asked her friend Mamta Sagar why she might have done so. “It’s easy for us to create the Other out of Muslims because we don’t give them space to say anything,” she said. The void is filled, she said, with a steady patter of negative comments about Muslims: that they’re dirty, they’re violent, they hate Hindus. Gauri was dismayed when one of the greatest Kannada novelists, S. L. Bhyrappa, started writing overtly anti-Muslim novels that became bestsellers. In this context, Sagar said, “bringing in more Islamic references which are positive is important. Maybe that’s why she did it.”

			Beginning with Baba Budangiri, the local defense of Indian pluralism became Gauri’s signature cause. “The arrest made her a kind of celebrity,” one activist told me. “From then on she was in demand—every forum, whatever little cause they were fighting, they invited her and she managed to go.” She’d always been opinionated, but it was Baba Budangiri that radicalized her into an unequivocal leftist—even if her brand of leftism always remained a bit vague—and an unabashed activist, positions that she immediately reflected in the pages of Lankesh Patrike. She liked to say that she had three children: her niece Esha, her newspaper, and the Communal Harmony Forum.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 12

			Leech Treatment

			“MY SISTER IN HEAVEN must be laughing away,” Kavitha told me, “saying, look, you refused to come with me earlier, now I’m making you do all this.” We were sitting in her office above Gauri’s former newsroom, ten months after Gauri’s death. Kavitha was recalling to me how, as Gauri embraced activism, she tried to pull her sister along with her, always cajoling Kavitha to join her at “umpteen” protests on the steps of town hall. Kavitha always declined; she just wanted to focus on her filmmaking and her daughter. But Gauri’s death, she told me repeatedly, was “roping her in” to the political fray, pushing her to speak in public more and more bluntly about the direction the country is headed.

			At first she was hesitant. “Forgive me if I sound dumb, but I really do not know politics,” she wrote in October 2017, a few weeks after Gauri’s murder. By December she was taken into police custody for the first time in her life after joining a protest outside the chief minister’s office. Some colleagues of Gauri’s wanted to deliver a letter demanding that the chief minister speed up the investigation into her murder, and Kavitha agreed to come along. It was a moment she still seemed deeply conflicted about, proud and reluctant and amused and worried all at once. “I became the face,” she said. “And I don’t want to be the face.” They were swiftly swept up into a police van. At the station, they drank tea and sang songs until the police let them go.

			She was constantly being invited to speak at protests. Despite her ambivalence, and her fear that it was reckless to speak out until the killers were behind bars, she was saying yes nearly every time. Her daughter, Esha, often joined her onstage; speaking whenever anyone asked was part of how they processed the trauma of Gauri’s violent end. In a recent speech in Kerala she’d used her strongest language yet. “In the name of Hindutva hate is raising its head,” Kavitha said. “If we continue in this manner, anybody with a difference of opinion will be hurt, maimed, or killed. The voices of the minority will soon be silenced. It is time to stand up and be heard.” She felt that her identity had shifted from “filmmaker” to “Gauri Lankesh’s sister.” Others used to get them mixed up; now she felt a responsibility to subsume Gauri’s identity into her own, and to fulfill Gauri’s destiny, too.

			Gauri’s adversaries and even her allies often characterized her as a radical, but at heart she was a constitutionalist: she insisted that India is quintessentially secular, just as the Indian Constitution does in its first sentence, which in the Indian context generally means that every religion (or non-religion) should have room to breathe. But such conventional attitudes feel radical in the current reactionary climate. Advocates of secularism are called “sickulars.” Its defense seems not patriotic but partisan.

			And no matter how radical Gauri became, she certainly would never have joined any Marxist organization, let alone the Naxalites. She was allergic to party discipline, and she scoffed at the way various leftist factions insisted on their fine doctrinal distinctions. “Why do you people have such hair-splitting differences!” one writer remembers Gauri asking in exasperation. “Isn’t it better to have broader unity? Anyway, I don’t want to get involved with any of you!” Nonetheless, the next accidental milestone in her career linked her closely to Naxalites in the popular imagination and drove a wedge between her and her brother, Indrajit.

			As much as she loved her younger brother, she never liked that he’d been named proprietor and publisher of Lankesh Patrike, effectively making her his employee, with all her editorial decisions subject to his veto. It was a typically patriarchal move, she thought, to make the son the boss. In fairness, though, he’d been more involved in the paper in their father’s day than she ever had; for a time he’d written a sports column, and he’d even edited a spin-off sports weekly called All-Rounder. At first, preoccupied with his budding career as a film director, he let her run the paper as she chose, although she told Rajghatta how much she hated having to seek Indrajit’s approval for every business expense. But as Gauri converted Lankesh Patrike into an overtly partisan publication, Indrajit became increasingly uncomfortable as his own politics seemed to drift rightward. The last straw came in 2005, after the death of an outlaw named Saketh Rajan.

			

			•   •   •

			FOR OVER FIFTY YEARS, in mostly rural and often thickly forested areas of eastern and southern India, a network of armed Maoist militants known as Naxalites have been waging an intermittent guerrilla insurgency against big agricultural landlords and the Indian government. Their primary demand is land reform in favor of the rural poor. Their ultimate goal is total revolution by any means necessary. They’re called Naxalites because their movement began, in 1967, with an uprising of poor farmers in a remote West Bengal village called Naxalbari. From there it spread down through the hinterlands of eastern and central India, from West Bengal to Karnataka, in what came to be known as the Red Corridor. Their ideological inspiration is Mao Zedong; an early slogan of the movement was “China’s chairman is our chairman, China’s path is our path” (an eyebrow-raising sentiment in India given its long history of border skirmishes with China).

			It is an enormous but almost invisible insurgency, one that thrives only in vast India’s least accessible zones, and one whose popular image is defined almost entirely by intense government propaganda against it. The movement is driven by highly educated urban students who abandoned their universities to take up the cause of forgotten Adivasis, India’s indigenous people. In India, communism is mainstream. But Maoism, despite its popularity in the hinterlands, is officially taboo, a movement that the state stamps out with extreme prejudice whenever it appears or even seems to appear. From the beginning, the Indian government cracked down hard on the Naxals; by 1973 nearly thirty-two thousand accused Naxalites filled Indian prisons and were singled out for abuse and deprivation. It was against Naxalites that the Indian police perfected the method of suppression known euphemistically as an “encounter”: an extrajudicial killing where police shoot a suspect or a prisoner dead and explain it away as self-defense.

			I’m not at all sure what to think about the Naxalites. They consider themselves at war with the Indian state, and they’ve committed countless acts of shocking violence against Indian police and soldiers. They’d argue that their bloodshed is nothing compared with the violence that the state routinely visits upon the scorned and forgotten indigenous poor. The Naxals’ unbending devotion to the cause of those indigenous poor, and their willingness to take that devotion to any length, even their own deaths, put nearly everyone else in the world to shame. But their equally unbending devotion to Maoism is clearly misguided, as is their tendency to demand total devotion from poor villagers who never signed up for their program.

			Most states where Naxalites have flourished have a recent history of feudalism: tenant farmers and bonded laborers at the mercy of wealthy, powerful landlords. Karnataka has seen only a minor presence, but in the early 2000s, deep in the forests of Chikmagalur, a group of Naxalites had taken up the cause of a community of Adivasis whom the Karnataka government was evicting from their forest because it had been designated a national park. In 2004, the Naxalites invited a handful of journalists and activists to meet these Adivasis and learn about their problems—including Gauri. Along with her colleague Professor Sreedhara, whom she’d gotten to know at Baba Budangiri, she headed into the forest. This was highly unusual. When reporting on Naxalites, the Indian press nearly always relies solely on police sources, rarely interviewing the Naxalites themselves. And they seldom report in depth on the problems that most animate Naxalite activism and insurrection: the exploitation of Indian forests and of the Adivasis who live in them.

			At a rudimentary jungle camp, Gauri and Professor Sreedhara found the leader of Karnataka’s Naxalites, who was introduced to them as “Prem.” But this was a nom de guerre. To her great shock, Gauri realized she knew him—his real name was Saketh Rajan, and he’d been her classmate at both Delhi University and the Indian Institute of Mass Communication in Delhi.

			At university, Gauri and Saketh Rajan seemed to have entirely divergent destinies. While Gauri was cultivating her expertise in Wodehouse’s comic novels of the British upper class, Saketh was immersed in the anticolonial political philosopher Frantz Fanon and practicing austerity. Gauri’s ex-husband, Rajghatta, writes about a cup of coffee Saketh made for him in his dorm room, “in a beaker that was clearly purloined from the chemistry lab, and coffee powder retrieved from a balled-up newspaper. There was no milk or sugar. I liked my coffee not ‘revolutionary’ but ‘petit bourgeoise,’ I joked.” Another college friend recalled that Saketh would refuse even free food; he was training himself to tolerate hunger, because he knew he’d soon be going underground. “His was a life of empathy, of concern for the poor, of living frugally and of fighting for the dispossessed and discriminated—things Gauri too fought for later,” Rajghatta writes. “Except, she wouldn’t pick up a gun. He did.” By the time Gauri met Saketh in the jungle, his comrades were already being decimated in police encounter killings. In 2001, police killed his wife—a fellow journalism school graduate—with a bullet point-blank in the head. But even as he lived on the lam, he worked steadily on his magnum opus: a multivolume chronicle of Karnataka, under the pseudonym Saki, called Making History, which circulated widely among leftists via photocopy and PDF.

			At the jungle camp, Gauri and Saketh spoke for hours. When it started to rain, they took shelter in a makeshift tent fashioned from a plastic sheet. Leeches were crawling everywhere. The conversation was interrupted by a sudden and terrifying sound: gunshots echoed through the hills. The Naxalites jumped to attention and started packing up their camp, in case it was the police. Saketh sent a scout to find out, while Gauri sat in fear of what came next.

			The gunshots turned out to be hunters. Night fell as Gauri and her colleague made the long hike out of the jungle. At the Naxalite camp, Gauri had noticed how old and decrepit the Maoists’ guns were. “Do you really think they can make a revolution with those rusty rifles?” she joked. Although Gauri abhorred the Maoists’ willingness to use violence, she was deeply affected by their self-sacrifice and commitment to causes that she sympathized with, especially given her unexpected prior acquaintance with their leader; personal connection was always what moved her most. When they finally reached their vehicle, they discovered that their feet were covered with leeches. The day’s experiences had notably radicalized her further, and for years afterward it was a running joke with her colleagues: the “leech treatment” had changed her.

			Back in Bangalore, over her brother’s objections, Gauri published an interview with Saketh Rajan in Lankesh Patrike and continued to write sympathetically about the Naxalite cause over the coming months. “She in her romantic way felt that she could get the Naxals to change some of their positions,” her friend Chandan Gowda said. “She felt they were good at heart. She wrote that they had legitimate grievances, that their cause was good but their means were not.” She always condemned their violence, but she wanted her readers to be sensitive to their concerns. To Indrajit, this went way over the line—not least because it violated, in his view, their father’s principles. He had a point. P. Lankesh was a lifelong socialist, but he had no patience for communists, whom he called “pseudo-rebels,” and especially Maoists. His cynicism about politicians didn’t mar his faith in the democratic process, and there was no room in his version of the paper for sympathy toward militants of any stripe.

			Gauri also met with the state’s chief minister—Dharam Singh, of the Congress Party—to urge his government to open a dialogue with the Naxalites. Singh, Gauri wrote later, “reacted positively, saying the Naxal issue was not a law-and-order problem, but a socio-economic issue.” Encouraged by his response, Gauri, Shivasundar, Professor Sreedhara, and another professor formalized their negotiation efforts under the name Citizens’ Initiative for Peace. “Our intention,” Gauri wrote, “was to create a climate where the government and the Naxals could initiate talks in the larger context of people’s long-standing needs and development issues.” As a precursor to peace talks, they urged the Naxalites to lay down their arms and the government to stop targeting the Naxalites.

			But on February 6, 2005, just as their mediation attempts were getting started, they learned that Saketh Rajan was dead.

			Unsure whether she could believe the news, she asked a local journalist to photograph the body and send it to her. As the photo slowly loaded via her achingly slow internet connection, the rumor was confirmed. It was a gruesome image. Like his wife four years earlier, Saketh had been shot by police point-blank in the head.

			There followed a brief wave of sympathy for the Naxalites, no doubt fueled in part by the fact that many now-prominent journalists had known Saketh at university. On the floor of the state assembly, the chief minister said that he was “feeling terrible that such a brilliant man had been killed.” Gauri wrote, “It was as if in death, Saketh had begun to shine as the new star in the Karnataka sky. The mapping of the intellectual and activist in one person—a rare combination in the recent political culture of Karnataka—has stirred the hope and imagination of a people who looked in vain for some ideal.” She might almost have been describing her own future death.

			Meanwhile, Saketh’s mother was pleading with police to allow her son to be given a proper burial. Gauri and the Citizens’ Initiative for Peace took up her cause, and Saketh’s mother and the chief minister both agreed that the police should give the remains to the CIP to conduct the last rites, because she couldn’t bear to see him in his mutilated condition. Gauri ran from pillar to post to try to effect the transfer. But the police secretly cremated Saketh themselves, along with another man killed in the same encounter. This incident, too, generated some public sympathy.

			And then the tide turned. A faction of Naxalites from the neighboring state of Andhra Pradesh retaliated with a siege on a Karnataka State Police camp, killing six constables. Soon after, Naxalites killed an Adivasi man whom they accused of being a police informant. Right-wing activists had already branded Gauri a “Naxal sympathizer” because of her mediation efforts and her attempt to claim Saketh’s body; now there were widespread demands that she and the rest of the CIP be charged as Naxal collaborators and accessories to the murders of police, and newspapers insisted that she would be arrested soon. “We were dumbstruck,” Professor Sreedhara told me. “We gave a statement condemning it. But it doesn’t work that way.” The arrests never came, but Gauri described this period as “the most traumatic in my life.” She stopped sleeping. Friends avoided her. “We realized for the first time that in this kind of case we are alone,” Sreedhara said. “It hardened her.”

			After the attack on the police camp, Indrajit forbade Gauri to write anything further about Naxalites in the pages of Lankesh Patrike. On February 14, the siblings filed dueling police complaints. Indrajit alleged that a computer, a printer, and a scanner had been stolen from the newspaper office. Gauri alleged that Indrajit had threatened her with a gun, but later she withdrew the complaint.

			On February 15, 2005, the siblings held dueling press conferences. At his, Indrajit accused Gauri of using the paper to promote Naxalism but insisted that she was still its editor. A week later he fired her. “My brother fell for the machinations of the police and the Sangh Parivar, and used the opportunity to oust me from the editorship,” she wrote soon after in an essay on the situation.

			As usual, Gauri didn’t hold a grudge. The acrimoniousness of their professional split didn’t alienate Gauri and Indrajit from each other as siblings, and she remained close to him and his children until her death. It annoyed her when people asked her about his political views. Indrajit moved into new offices down the road and kept publishing a weekly paper under the name Lankesh Patrike. “It’s trash journalism,” Kavitha told me. “Gauri had a lot of issues with it, but she said, let him do what he wants.”

			Gauri seems to have anticipated the split with her brother, because she had already registered the title Gauri Lankesh Patrike with the Registrar of Newspapers for India. On March 8—her father’s birthday—she published the first issue of the paper under her own name and ownership.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 13

			Gauri Lankesh Patrike

			THE LAUNCH OF GAURI Lankesh Patrike taught Gauri who her allies were. Despite how badly she’d been vilified in the Saketh Rajan debacle, she managed to retain almost all of her Lankesh Patrike staff and correspondents, although she now had trouble attracting high-profile writers because of her association with the Naxalite cause. She still had the newspaper office that her father had built; he’d left the building to the three siblings, but Indrajit had sold his share to Kavitha years before. “Somebody gave computers, a student of mine gave a printer, another person gave some money,” Professor Sreedhara told me. “That is when she realized, perhaps, that there was a solid group of activists who would stand by her. It was a lesson in solidarity.” When they held a launch event for the new paper, “the auditorium was packed. It was almost like a new birth.”

			But the new paper was perpetually in debt. According to Shivasundar, Gauri’s monthly salary at the time of her death was 25,000 rupees: the equivalent of around $4,000 for the year. “Gauri was never financially very great,” Kavitha told me. “She was struggling all through her life.” She paused to consider this, and laughed. “But I think she loved living that way,” she added.

			“She was very, very diligent about bringing the weekly out,” her friend Chandan Gowda told me. “But was she equally diligent about making sure it sold in large numbers, or its subscription base expanded? Not at all.”

			When Gauri took over as editor of her father’s paper, her friends recall, she worked around the clock to get herself up to speed. Now that she was fully responsible for her own weekly, her work habits only intensified. “It was worrying to see work and activist commitments envelop her the way they did,” Gowda writes. He gently urged her to make time for herself, reminding her that even her prodigiously productive father kept his evenings free for friends. She agreed that she should take a day off, and never did.

			Despite her dedication, the strain sometimes showed. In a 2015 column Gauri wrote to celebrate her paper’s ten-year anniversary, the tone pivots suddenly to a self-interrogation without answers. “What is all this in aid of? All the hard work and challenges? Why am I punishing my body? Why am I still struggling to fully pay off the hundreds and thousands of rupees of loans incurred over the years?”

			I had the same questions about Gauri, and several more: What was her true talent? What was her true legacy? When she finally had the freedom to define for herself who she was, who did she become?

			

			•   •   •

			IN MANY WAYS GAURI remained the same over the years: warm, stubborn, angry, fun. People who knew her best when she was younger described her as a party girl, a typical English-language journalist with no knowledge of and little interest in Kannada, concerned about injustice but not particularly political. Those who knew her best in her final years described her as almost ascetic and consumed with politics. She still hosted parties, but usually only when an out-of-state activist was visiting and she wanted to give friends and colleagues an opportunity to meet them. As Shivasundar likes to put it, she made a conscious choice to move “from comfort zone to conflict zone.”

			There’s a two-part anecdote that several people recounted to me as emblematic of how much Gauri had changed. In 2003, she was traveling with a group of activists, and when they stopped for the night, she insisted on having her own private room, and she wouldn’t even let anyone else use her toilet. She had always valued her privacy and was fastidious about hygiene, but her travel companions were baffled by her fussiness. In 2016, she was on another trip with activists, and this time she invited anyone who needed it to share her space and use her toilet. Accompanying the group were a number of tribal women; unaccustomed to Western-style toilets, they made a huge mess. Gauri was completely unfazed and cleaned the toilet herself. “You may have the right ideology, but you need to learn physically to share things, to share inconvenience, to travel in very ordinary transport,” Professor Sreedhara told me. “Sleepless nights. No restrooms. These things temper you. And that is exactly what tempered Gauri.”

			One distinct change that many old friends noted in Gauri was a pronounced Kannada chauvinism. She’d taken to the language and its culture with the passion of a convert, and her career in Kannada writing happened to coincide with a surging Kannada pride movement. There’s a certain paradox about Kannada: it’s an indisputably important language that has long suffered an inferiority complex. Kannada has ten times as many native speakers as Norwegian and a rich literary tradition stretching back a thousand years; lines by Kannada poets have infiltrated everyday expressions so fully that Kannadigas spend their days reciting timeless verse without being consciously aware of it. Yet Bangaloreans have twice been indoctrinated with the absurd idea that English, not Kannada, is the language of important ideas: first by the British, then by the tech industry. Kannada speakers are now a minority in Karnataka’s capital city.

			The moments when Gauri established her papers happened to be high points of passionate Kannada nationalism—both fueled by the zealous fans of the most beloved of all Kannadigas, “emperor of actors,” the movie megastar known as Rajkumar.

			In July 2000, just months after Gauri took over her father’s paper, came the most dramatic news imaginable: Rajkumar, aged seventy-one, had been kidnapped by the most notorious criminal in South India. The kidnapper was Veerappan, an itinerant sandalwood and ivory poacher with an unforgettably elaborate mustache who’d been eluding police for decades and killing anyone who might aid in his capture. Veerappan had a sideline in kidnapping celebrities for ransom and other demands—often related to Tamil nationalism. His abductee, Rajkumar, was the very personification of a rival Kannada nationalism: he had acted in nearly a quarter of all the Kannada-language films ever made, vowing never to act in a film in another language, and he had led the movement to make Kannada the compulsory language of primary education in Karnataka. There had long been tensions between Tamil speakers and Kannada speakers in Karnataka, over resources, languages, and much else. Veerappan’s kidnapping of Rajkumar distilled this conflict into one climactic battle between two superheroes and fueled Kannada nationalism as no incident ever had.

			The news brought Bangalore to a halt. Rajkumar’s fans insisted on a total citywide strike in recognition of the gravity of the moment and attacked the noncompliant. The Kannada film industry swore not to shoot or project a single frame until he was released, which finally happened after 108 days. This whole saga unfolded during the first year that Gauri edited her father’s newspaper. Then, in 2006—a year after she launched her own paper—Rajkumar died, again shutting down Bangalore for days and inspiring another resurgence of Kannada nationalism. That same year, the name of the city was officially changed to Bengaluru, its Kannada name. Kannada activists vandalized signs that didn’t include their language.

			The Kannada-language tabloid newspapers, Gauri’s included, often stoked this activism. (In 2004, Gauri’s rival editor Agni Sreedhar, the ex-gangster, even founded a Kannada-chauvinist organization called Karunada Sene, which demanded that Kannada be spoken in public places, that only Kannada movies be screened in Karnataka theaters, and that Kannada-speaking job seekers be given hiring preference; he seems to have mellowed on these demands in the years since.) “Language,” Gauri wrote in one editorial, “is life itself, because in it lies our identity, our history, our traditions, our culture, our very soul.” She offered a smart example: Karnataka schoolchildren who are taught in English all learn the nursery rhyme “Rain, rain, go away, come again another day, little Johnny wants to play”—a sentiment tailored to English weather conditions. But children taught in Kannada sing, “Huyyo, huyyo, maleraya, baale totakke neerilla,” which Gauri translated as “Rain, please pour and pound the earth, there is no water in our banana plantation”—a rhyme, she noted, that “tells us that ours is an agrarian society, that we depend on rains and that banana is grown here.”

			To write in a regional language in India is to immerse yourself in the ground realities of the place you’re writing in. If you write in English, you can imagine that your audience is anyone who’s been educated in a particular way, regardless of where they’re from. It’s an amorphous, vague, rootless audience. If you write in a regional language, you know exactly whom you’re writing for and whom you’re not writing for. The activist Yogendra Yadav notes that both Gauri and her father invoked a secularism that was culturally rooted in Karnataka and articulated in idiomatic Kannada. “The Sangh Parivar fears this most,” he wrote, “as this form of secularism cannot be brushed aside as deracinated, westernised intellectualism.”

			Switching from one language to another makes you a different person. Gauri’s switch made her extremely localist: against techies, against historical amnesia, immersed in local politics, a partisan for Kannada. One writer complained to me that Gauri made a point of speaking only Kannada in mixed-language social situations even if she knew that some present didn’t understand it. Given her late adoption of Kannada, her ex-husband, Rajghatta, found it a bit much. “I guess this happens when you suddenly discover the rich heritage you come from,” he told me, “but sometime around 2004 or 2005, she began to sort of other-ize me.” Because he’d moved to America, she’d mock him as a sellout and an NRI, or nonresident Indian. “Just because you’ve started editing your dad’s paper don’t give me this bullshit that I’m somebody else,” he said. “You happen to live in India, but just look at your lifestyle. You still like your single malts, as I do.” They argued over whether English counts as an Indian language, or over what merited their journalistic attention. “She felt I had moved away from reporting on what really mattered to the people,” he wrote. “I thought she was getting sucked into minor retail politics that was both tedious and frivolous.”

			But to Gauri, her principles and priorities had become clear. She abandoned the cautious pose of objectivity that defined the mainstream journalism of her early career. “While activism gives our journalism a heart and a perspective, journalism gives our activism a comprehensive understanding of and a sensitivity to context,” she wrote. “It is perhaps not possible, in today’s world, for a journalist to be pro-people if he is not an activist in his or her own way.” She liked to say that if truth is biased, journalism should also be biased.

			What characterized her journalism more than anything was a sense of personal urgency. “There were no half-measures and ambiguities for her, no ‘get both sides’ or ‘balancing of views’ that is the basis for fair and balanced journalism in the traditional matrix,” Rajghatta writes. “To those critics (yes, me too) who argued that her paper, and her stance, lacked nuance in reporting an incredibly complex country and society, she’d snap, ‘Save that homily for journalism schools.’ ” To her there was nothing complex about fighting the oppression of women, religious minorities, and the so-called lower castes—a fight she came to see as her journalistic mission. She couldn’t see the point in pretending to be impartial, or, more dangerously, in stating with caution anything she felt sure was true, even if it was inflammatory or unproven. Like her father, she never hedged her accusations with words like “allegedly” or “reportedly.”

			To supplement the dispatches from her correspondents all over Karnataka, she ran Kannada translations of investigative journalism and analysis from English-language magazines. Often she didn’t bother seeking permission. In 2008, she published, without asking, a Kannada translation of Scott Carney’s feature story in Wired magazine about Bangalore’s real estate mafia, complete with the article’s photographs. Carney found out about it when Agni Sreedhar and another ex-don threatened to sue him. Alarmed, he wrote to Gauri that “some of the translations misquote me and steer dangerously close to libel.” “Would it lessen your anger if I pointed out that my publication did not steal your article without giving you credit?” she replied to him. “That we did not do it because of monetary benefits but because of our social commitment?”

			

			•   •   •

			IN THE EARLY YEARS, the threats came by mail. A friend of Gauri’s remembers a pile of abusive postcards at the office, “filled with filthy sexual abuse and lewd bodily descriptions.” Then came social media. “If you look at her Facebook, every day she was called a bitch, she sleeps with everybody, every expletive possible,” her lawyer, B. T. Venkatesh, said. He encouraged her to file cases against the worst trolls, but she refused. She wouldn’t even block anyone on social media, and she never rejected a friend request: “She said no, it’s open space and debate.”

			She happily published letters from young activists critiquing her columns, often converting those letter writers into regular contributors. Like her father, she wouldn’t hesitate to attack her friends in print if she thought they had it coming. For a time her close friend Vivek Shanbhag published a well-regarded literary journal called Desha Kaala. On the journal’s fifth anniversary, he brought out a special anniversary issue—and Gauri marked the occasion by publishing a denunciation of Desha Kaala as elitist and casteist. She was eager for Shanbhag to write a response that she could publish, but he demurred. A debate over Desha Kaala, both pro and con, raged in the pages of Gauri Lankesh Patrike for several issues nonetheless. “It caused little awkward situations between us,” he told me. “But both of us put it behind us quickly. There was no tension in our friendship. See, it is a healthy sign that writers fight things out like this. I don’t agree with what they wrote. But it’s okay. There’s a different view. And it’s fine!”

			Some of her old friends grew tired of all the debating. Her friend Srinivasaraju, who’d shown her how to use Twitter, refused to follow her. Rajghatta had for years ignored her Facebook friend request, not wanting his timeline to be hijacked by political arguments with his ex-wife. He finally accepted it, four months before she died, because she so keenly wanted to see all the latest photos of Rajghatta’s son. “But please!” he messaged her. “NO SNIDE/NASTY comments and no political scraps!”

			She often stayed up until 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning posting to Facebook and Twitter, sharing links and sparring with trolls, never seeming to care how personal or threatening they got. She’d invite them to continue the discussion in the real world, over a cup of coffee; they never took her up on it. One friend theorized that she believed so deeply in dialogue because her own life had taught her how much a person can change. But how to reconcile her evident yearning for connection and dialogue and her impulse to mock her opponents, her willingness to offend? Perhaps she expected her gibes to roll off her targets the same way their attacks rolled off her. She didn’t hold grudges, so she underestimated the grudges of others. And what was her murder but a bloody grudge?

			When she left the office alone late at night and her colleagues expressed concern for her safety, she’d say, “Am I so pretty that someone would rape me?” Like her father, she often treated political argument like sport. “She loved it,” Kavitha told me. “She loved fighting, she loved voicing her views, she took great pleasure in standing up for people.”

			And yet she was sharply attuned to her vulnerability. Late at night, at home or at a friend’s house, she’d sit facing the street, aware whenever someone walked by outside. Chandan Gowda remembers once sitting and talking with her late in his front room when she said, “There’s someone watching me out there.” He leaped up and closed the curtains. And she was deeply worried about threats to her friends. “I will not be able to bear it if anything happens to any of you,” she texted the activist Umar Khalid a month before she died.

			She was threatened enough to qualify for state-ordered police protection—an armed security detail that would shadow her wherever she went. Her lawyer urged her “umpteen times” to accept it. Gauri brushed him off. “I’m a journalist,” she told him. “I fiercely value my privacy and freedom. If you had two gun-toting constables with you at all times, how are you going to meet people?” She also didn’t like that police protection would indebt her to the government.

			Instead of meeting her for coffee, her critics filed cases against her, for criminal defamation. In the United States, defamation is nearly always handled as a civil offense, litigated by lawsuit. In India, defamation is a criminal offense that’s easy to pursue and can result in prison, thanks to British colonial laws that are still on the books. These laws are widely abused by the most powerful politicians and companies to silence, bankrupt, and imprison their critics. Such charges rarely hold up in Indian courts, but they are effective in harassing journalists because the accused must show up in court wherever the charge is filed or face arrest. The cases are such a hassle to defend that many Indian publications just go ahead and run a correction on the disputed article even if there was nothing factually wrong with it—and thereafter avoid criticizing litigation-happy subjects. The laws therefore act as a powerful inhibition on the Indian press, even when they aren’t invoked.

			“In India, if the story cannot be killed, the storyteller is silenced,” said B. T. Venkatesh, who handled most of Gauri’s defamation cases. An energetic man with a wry smile and a scruffy salt-and-pepper beard, his full name is Bubberjung Trisuli Venkatesh, and the unusual surname, Bubberjung, derives from a Persian term meaning “the man who fought like a lion”—a title that one of his ancestors earned while fighting for Hyder Ali against the British. Venkatesh’s own fights center on free expression and the rights of the marginalized. “Proud Attorney for Prostitutes, Hijras, Kothis, spectrum of LGBTiQ and Garment Workers,” his Twitter bio reads. He defended Gauri in more than seventy cases over the course of her editorship.

			Venkatesh’s laughing response when I asked him if I could record our interview was typical. “I don’t care a damn!” he said. “I don’t care about anything—I don’t mince words. Nonsense is nonsense everywhere, is it not?”

			Still, he would advise Gauri to be more careful in her words. “She’d say, ‘I am going to call a scoundrel a scoundrel! It’s your job to defend me,’ ” he said. He asked her to at least do some fact-checking of her articles. “She said, where is the time for all that nonsense, Venkat?” he said, laughing. “She was notorious for that. And sometimes she would tell me, I have done it! And I was absolutely sure she had not.”

			Gauri’s opponents—RSS activists, politicians, mobsters—would file charges against her all over the state, in order to consume her time and resources. She transformed the hassles into opportunities. Lawyers who supported her causes, including Venkatesh, defended her pro bono wherever she went (although one of Venkatesh’s colleagues complained that it was difficult to travel in Gauri’s car because the stench of cigarettes was so strong). She used her forced excursions as a chance to make connections in every corner of Karnataka. When she had to appear in court in some distant town, she’d often schedule a political meeting there. “All these guys did in harassing her actually helped her,” Venkatesh said. “Her sphere of influence increased multifold.”

			To get her out of appearing in court too often, Venkatesh would often tell the judge that she was too ill to appear on the scheduled day. Sometimes a judge would challenge him: on the day you said she was ill, the newspapers reported that she delivered a fiery speech. “Yes, sir,” Venkatesh would reply, “after making that particular speech she fell ill. Only on the day when she was supposed to appear before the court was she not well.” (“We are lawyers!” he said with a laugh.)

			On November 27, 2016, she was finally convicted in two criminal defamation cases in response to a story she’d published almost nine years earlier claiming that several BJP leaders had defrauded a jeweler. It was a story that many local papers had run, but only Gauri had named the alleged culprits in print. She was fined 10,000 rupees and sentenced to six months in jail; when she died, she was out on bail while awaiting appeal. Kavitha told me that sixteen other defamation cases were still pending against her.

			I asked Venkatesh if Gauri’s rhetoric went overboard at times. “Frequently, not at times!” he said. “Whenever you put her on a stage to speak, you don’t know what’s going to get into her. She said Hinduism is not a religion at all. Her speech was sometimes very intemperate.” In one example that particularly offended her opponents, in response to a campaign to mail sanitary napkins to Modi to protest a new tax on menstrual hygiene products, she suggested on Twitter that they mail napkins that had already been used. “She used such language that it was shocking,” he said. “We have a very, very conservative society. Women speaking is itself unacceptable; a woman speaking in such language is impossible.”

			Friends, too, sometimes complained to her about her language and urged her to tone it down. “If I don’t use harsh words, they might mistake my critique for a lullaby,” she replied when one activist questioned her about her rhetoric. “She may have argued with a shrill voice, because the present position forces you to raise your voice,” Professor Sreedhara told me. “You can’t whisper. She raised her voice louder than others because there were no other loud voices, so it sounded loud.”

			While Gauri’s language could be sardonic and mocking, it was never anywhere near as harsh as that of the countless people who reveled in her death. She never threatened or even expressed a desire for violence against those she mocked; when an opponent died, she never said “good riddance.” And she never saw even her archenemy as less than human. She didn’t like it when people made fun of Modi for his imperfect English. To do so, she thought, was just to repeat the linguistic discrimination of the British colonizers.

			She wrote an editorial essay for the paper every week for over seventeen years, totaling more than 850. In many she “raged against the world,” as the historian Janaki Nair put it, “a world of injustice, inequality, squalor, discrimination, violence, plunder, and greed.” Her rage was most often directed at the rising right wing in all its avatars: the Sangh Parivar, the RSS, the BJP, and their leaders both locally and nationally. But denunciation wasn’t her only mode, a point that her friend Chandan Gowda was careful to demonstrate in the first English-language anthology of her work, titled The Way I See It, which he edited with impressive subtlety and published less than two months after her death. Many columns highlighted local problems that were ignored in the mainstream press, especially among manual laborers. Some columns told the stories of activists in other countries whose work she admired. Some were book or film reviews; some were biographical sketches; some were personal essays. Two running themes of her columns, Gowda noted, were their direct address to her readers and their appeals to their common humanity. “After narrating a story of compassion or of brutality, they ended by asking if the reader’s heart wasn’t stirred or didn’t burst with rage,” he wrote in the book’s introduction.

			When writing against politicians or religious nationalists, she was strident and jeering; when writing in praise of her comrades, she was sincere and affectionate; when writing in defense of the oppressed, she was anxious and tender. When writing about herself, she was invariably self-deprecating. Regardless of subject, she was direct and frank and unpretentious, and never lyrical or abstract. There was little evidence of craft. She knew she was no poet. “No one thought that her Kannada columns would someday be translated and published as important documents as they are being done today,” her friend Pushpamala noted.

			

			•   •   •

			IN A TIME WHEN the mainstream press increasingly shied away from aggressive investigation, Gauri’s paper became more insistent than ever in attacking the powerful, the moneyed, the corrupt, and the revered. But to what end? The paper’s readership had plunged. Its presence on the web was nonexistent. But although the circulation of her paper was a tiny fraction of her father’s at its peak, it would be a mistake to understate its importance to certain of its readers—particularly those whose problems were roundly ignored by every other publication. Small local papers like Gauri’s play a crucial role in maintaining India’s extraordinary regional diversity, in direct opposition to the homogenizing mission of the Hindutva right wing. Even if her reach and influence were limited, she gave marginalized people an important jolt of confidence just by listening to their views and putting them in print.

			The best quality of Gauri’s writing was the sense that she was writing to you, the reader, directly, as someone who gets it. You got the feeling that she could have been your friend—and she probably would have. At the end of her life, her circle of friends was still expanding. She liked to “adopt” fellow activists whom she admired: the transgender activist and memoirist A. Revathi appeared in Gauri’s columns as “my sister Revathi,” and more recently she had a penchant for referring to the new generation of young left activists across India—Kanhaiya Kumar, Jignesh Mevani, Umar Khalid, Shehla Rashid—as her sons and daughters. She doted on young activists, buying them clothes, feeding them, and talking them through their romantic troubles or their mental health struggles. At political meetings she’d be surrounded by young people calling her “Amma.”

			More than in her paper or on social media, her words spread through the public speeches she gave in her activist work, which often made it onto YouTube. “Sometimes in public meetings I would feel very embarrassed. I never understood why she stood up to speak,” her friend Sugata Srinivasaraju said. “One day at some protest I told her, Gauri, couldn’t you keep your mouth shut? She said, ‘You are always trying to weigh options, but somebody has to speak.’ ”

			Despite the notoriety it had brought her, she continued her defense of the Naxalite cause while condemning their violence. Eventually her attempts to mediate between Naxalites and the government resumed. She and her colleagues reassembled the Citizens’ Initiative for Peace. “Gauri must have met government officials a hundred times,” Professor Sreedhara said. “She did all the running around.” Finally, beginning in 2014, they persuaded the police and state government to allow nine former Naxalites who’d forsworn violence to come aboveground. The government’s initial negotiating position was that the former Naxalites should formally surrender, publicly apologize, forswear activism, enter a government rehabilitation camp, and inform on their comrades who remained underground. The former Naxalites insisted that the government drop all these conditions. Remarkably, the government eventually agreed to, thanks in large part to Gauri’s persuasive role in the negotiations. The ex-Naxalites still must stand trial for any charges against them, but the government won’t block them from getting bail. “Without her we cannot imagine our new life and new struggle,” Noor Zulfikar, one of the nine, told me.

			In Gauri’s martyrdom, her talents were misidentified. Because her job title was journalist—and because journalists in India, and elsewhere, are genuinely under threat—it was assumed that journalism was what she was targeted for, and that journalism was what she was great at. But after talking with so many people who knew her and worked with her and loved her and hearing all the different complicated ways they thought about her, I came to see it differently. Her great talents were those that don’t come with job titles: a talent for friendship, a talent for outrage, a talent for mentorship, a talent for cultivating “local thoughts,” as one friend put it, in the face of a growing movement to homogenize Indian culture. The extraordinary variety of people who came out to protest her murder revealed another underappreciated talent: the ability to align in common cause disparate interest groups that otherwise agitated on separate tracks. “We actually didn’t realize the space she filled,” one activist told me. “Now we can see that no one is ready to fill that space.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 14

			Path of Justice

			IN MAY 2018, EIGHT months after Gauri’s murder, there was a statewide election in Karnataka. At the time, Karnataka was one of only three states, and the only large one, ruled by the Congress Party. Twenty-one were ruled by the BJP.

			Gauri had been anxiously anticipating the state elections in her paper in the months before she died, concerned that the BJP was likely to resume power in the state. Her fear was that Karnataka could go in the direction of Uttar Pradesh.

			Uttar Pradesh is India’s largest state, with a population of 240 million—more people than Brazil. And there, in 2017, Modi appointed as chief minister a street-fighting, saffron-robed Hindu monk who goes by the name of Yogi Adityanath. His example terrified Gauri and other Karnataka liberals. “He’s a vile, awful, sectarian, violent man,” the historian Ramachandra Guha told me. I’d never heard him speak so acerbically.

			Born Ajay Mohan Singh Bisht in 1972, Adityanath abandoned graduate school in 1993 to become a monk at a Hindutva monastery. In 1998, he was elected as the youngest member of the Indian Parliament. As soon as he took office, Adityanath started whipping up attacks on Muslims in his district in the city of Gorakhpur. In 2002, he created a personal militia, the Hindu Yuva Vahini, through which he built a potent militant power base. Anytime there was an ordinary disagreement between two people who happened to be a Hindu and a Muslim, the HYV framed it as a religious dispute and inflamed it into a riot. Adityanath seemed unassailable until 2007, when he was caught on video inciting citywide anti-Muslim violence. “If a Hindu’s blood is shed…we will ensure he kills at least ten in return,” he told his militia, which started rioting even before he finished his speech. He was arrested, but this was a mere speed bump. In 2017, when Modi appointed him chief minister of Uttar Pradesh, the case still hadn’t come to trial, and Adityanath simply disposed of it. The activist who had video-recorded the 2007 speech was arrested and convicted to life in prison on transparently trumped-up charges of rape. Adityanath now has forty million Muslim constituents.

			Modi’s appointment of Adityanath was a clear signal that his administration was committed to pursuing a hard-line Hindutva agenda. When he became chief minister, Adityanath dismantled the HYV. Now he uses the Uttar Pradesh police as his personal militia, dispatching them to arrest protesters or journalists who criticize him or to shut down slaughterhouses, most of them owned by Muslims. Like Modi as chief minister, he’s made police encounters central to his governance—but he’s far exceeded Modi’s numbers. He’s boasted of using the police to extrajudicially shoot thousands of supposed criminals, an initiative referred to informally as Operation Langda, which means “legs,” because that’s where most of the victims are shot. He’s systematically renamed places statewide with Muslim associations, most notably changing the famous city of Allahabad to Prayagraj. His tourism department stopped promoting the Taj Mahal, the very symbol of India for many foreigners, because it was built by a Muslim.

			Karnataka is the southern state where the BJP has fought hardest to gain a foothold. As of 2018, it was the only southern state the BJP had ever governed, from 2008 to 2013. The BJP chief minister who began that term, Yediyurappa, was never an ideologue like Modi. He joined the BJP opportunistically, as did many of his fellow BJP state legislators. In Karnataka, politics tend to be less ideological than caste based; people vote in “banks” associated with certain communities, some of which are aligned with the BJP, some with Congress. It’s more significant that Yediyurappa is a Lingayat leader than that he’s a BJP leader. He brought Lingayats to the BJP rather than the other way around.

			But that made little difference to the state’s booming Hindutva movement, which was emboldened nonetheless by the BJP in power. Communal violence broke out almost as soon as Yediyurappa took office: in September 2008, activists from one of the most aggressive RSS affiliates, the Bajrang Dal, attacked twenty Christian churches in southern Karnataka. In January 2009, the fringe group Sri Ram Sena stormed a pub in the coastal city of Mangalore, beating, molesting, and pulling the hair of young women, because, they said, women in pubs is against Hindu culture. “No case will stand against the boys who attacked the pub,” one activist told the press. “The Sangh will stand firm behind the boys, providing all the support they need.” He was right—although two women were hospitalized, the attackers were acquitted, even though the assault was captured on video. The only effective response came from a self-described “consortium of loose, forward, and pub-going women” led by the Bangalore-based journalist Nisha Susan, who launched a cheeky retort called the Pink Chaddi campaign, which asked opponents of the Sri Ram Sena to mail them pink underwear. Thousands of people complied, and the Sri Ram Sena was appropriately flustered: first they claimed they would send back pink saris, then they said they’d burn the panties in public, and finally they threatened to sue for injuring their reputation (none of which they did). Gauri, of course, loved the Pink Chaddi campaign; if the Sri Ram Sena had been smart, she said, they would have donated all that underwear to poor women, but they were too squeamish to do so.

			Yediyurappa left office abruptly in 2011, when he was arrested and jailed on corruption charges, and the BJP was ejected decisively from power in Karnataka in the 2013 state elections. But as the 2018 state elections approached, with Modi entrenched in power at the center, the mood in Karnataka had once again shifted. “Elections are next year and we have no dearth of Yogi Adityanaths in Karnataka,” Gauri said in March 2017, six months before her death. “Tragically, in Karnataka, abnormality has become the new normal. And I fear that like UP, Congress too will lose next year and we will be saddled again with a communal, casteist and corrupt BJP government.” In their campaign speeches, local BJP politicians seemed determined to confirm her fears. This election “is not about roads, drinking water or gutters,” one BJP legislator said at a rally in April 2018. “This election is about a battle between Hindus and Muslims.” In May 2018, Gauri’s brother, Indrajit, was seen campaigning for a BJP candidate while wearing a BJP scarf around his neck. He told a journalist that he blamed the Congress government for his sister’s death.

			On Election Day, the BJP won the largest share of seats. The BJP candidate, Yediyurappa, was sworn in as chief minister—then abruptly resigned fifty-six hours later after failing to cobble together a legislative majority. Several other parties did barely manage to assemble a majority coalition, and a third-party candidate, from the Janata Dal (Secular), took office as Karnataka’s chief minister. But his hold on power was so fragile that a full return of the BJP seemed possible at any moment.

			Fewer and fewer Kannada newspapers were around to cover the tumultuous election season. One local journalist called 2017 the year of the death of the tabloids. When Gauri died, her eponymous tabloid died with her (although a year later some of her colleagues did start a new weekly in her memory, titled Nyaya Patha, which means “path of justice”). Agni Sreedhar stopped publishing his tabloid in December, shifting instead to a YouTube channel on which he posts daily videos of himself fulminating in front of a green-screened background of blazing fire. Smartphones killed off the rest. The tabloids, which in Karnataka tend to the political left, were supplanted by WhatsApp—a medium where, in India, right-wing messaging thrives.

			

			•   •   •

			GAURI’S FRIENDS WORRIED THAT a BJP victory would have slowed or stymied the SIT’s continuing investigation into Gauri’s murder. Instead, the police kept apprehending suspects: five more men in the month of July, bringing the total number of arrests to ten. Even the former Naxalites, sworn enemies of the Indian police, had high praise for the Special Investigation Team. “They’ve done exemplary work,” said Sirimane Nagaraj, one of the former Naxalites whom Gauri helped to emerge from underground. Others still felt concerned that the masterminds of the murders might never be uncovered. The arrested men “are not bigwigs,” said the writer Nataraj Huliyar. “The people behind them might be bigwigs. These are small people, you know? Hired goondas. They’ve been brainwashed.”

			The SIT overcame enormous odds, and not just because the other police teams had failed to crack the first three murder cases in the pattern. S. T. Ramesh, the former director general of police for Karnataka, sat down with me one evening to talk me through the dire state of Indian policing. “The Indian police is crying for reforms,” he said. “They were created during the colonial days to perpetuate the colonial regime, not to safeguard the life and property of the people. In 1947, India became free, but the police did not change—the necessary attitudinal transformation to work in a democracy did not happen.”

			What’s more, the police are critically under-resourced, to the point where both cases and suspects suffer for it. “They are short of stationery,” Ramesh said. “They are short of discretionary cash for feeding and escorting prisoners. You have a forensic science lab that is choking from overwork.” Sensational cases, like Gauri’s, get fast-tracked in the laboratory queue. “But other cases, the murder of an ordinary man, nobody gets paid, nobody pays attention.” The number of officers is often nonfunctionally low, and many of these officers are assigned to “very stupid” duties like “examination security”—sitting in lecture halls to prevent college students from cheating on their tests. “Then there are VIPs,” he said. “There is a huge VIP culture in India, and they think it’s a status symbol to have policemen assigned to protect them. And this extends beyond politicians: ex-politicians, ex-judges. It has become a bottomless pit.”

			Then there’s bribery. “The whole system is rotten,” he said—a stark assertion coming from a man who was once the highest-ranking police officer in Karnataka. “There is corruption at the investigation stage. There is corruption at the prosecution stage. There is corruption during trial. Nobody is immune to corruption. And nobody ever gets caught.”

			All these problems have “only gotten worse,” he said. “In the National Police Academy where IPS officers are trained, we are all taught lofty things. We are taught your loyalty is to the constitution of India. You should not do politicians’ bidding. You should stick to the law. But in reality, it just doesn’t work. You will be thrown by the wayside. We have all experienced that. We have incurred the wrath of many politicians in the course of our service. We had to pay a heavy price. So even IPS officers follow the path of least resistance. And the distinction between the honest and the corrupt gets blurred.”

			Against these odds, coupled with the challenges inherent to the case—the high media glare, the dearth of clues—he felt the SIT had performed superbly. “If I had done it, I would have been extremely proud,” he said. It helped enormously, he said, that there was strong political will from the state government to crack the case, which presumably meant the SIT was accorded all the resources they needed, including the latest technology.

			But many challenges remained, he warned. The gun used to shoot Gauri was still missing, and under India’s unforgiving evidence law, producing the murder weapon is of paramount importance. “It will be the effort of a genius,” he said, “to prove the case and get a conviction without being able to recover the weapon.”

			I met again with B. K. Singh, who was still the only member of the SIT authorized to speak with me while the investigation remained under way. He beamed with undisguised pride when I congratulated him on his progress with the case. But he was as sphinxlike as ever, once again smiling inscrutably during the silences he drew out before answering my questions. At the end of our conversation I asked him what had made him want to become a police officer. There was a long pause; I listened to birds chirping outside the window. “To be honest?” he eventually said. The birds chirped awhile longer. “Circumstances,” he answered finally. He clearly had no intention of elaborating without further prodding, so I asked him which circumstances. And he explained, slowly and disarmingly, that as a young man he’d actually dreamed of joining the Indian Administrative Service, the elite bureaucracy that is the most prestigious of India’s three civil service divisions. But he didn’t score high enough on the civil service exam, so he’d had to settle for the Indian Police Service.

			I walked away with no new information on the investigation. Except that on Singh’s desk I spotted a rare clue to his thinking: a copy of a book by Subhash Gatade titled Godse’s Children, which chronicles the rise and violent activities of fringe Hindutva groups in India. (The title refers to Nathuram Godse, the man who shot Gandhi.)

			Each of the men Singh’s SIT had arrested so far had links to fringe Hindutva groups—the Hindu Yuva Sene, the Sri Ram Sena, and especially Sanatan Sanstha and its sister organization, the Hindu Janajagruti Samiti. One SIT detective was quoted in the paper describing them as a “terror cell.” But the SIT was apparently unready to accuse any of these groups of direct complicity in the murder. When I asked Singh if Gauri’s murder had perhaps been ordered by someone senior to any of those so far arrested, he said, “May be. May be. Right now I will not say yes or no. May be.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 15

			Bomb Blasts near Mumbai

			WHEN I PHONED MOHAN GOWDA, the Bangalore-based coordinator and spokesperson of Sanatan Sanstha’s activist branch, he usually picked up. But as soon as he realized I was a foreign journalist, he’d scramble for an excuse why he couldn’t talk; he was ill, or too busy. He asked me to WhatsApp my questions to him, and when I did he didn’t reply.

			As I caught up on the news in The Indian Express by Johnson T. A., the best reporter covering Gauri’s case, I began to see why Mohan Gowda might be avoiding me. K. T. Naveen Kumar, the first man arrested for Gauri’s murder, said in a police statement included in his charge sheet that it was Gowda who introduced him to one of the alleged leaders of the plot. Kumar stated that in June 2017 he’d attended the annual Sanatan Sanstha convention at its main ashram in Goa, where he “expressed my personal view that the use of weapons and arms is necessary to protect the Hindu dharma…. Impressed by my speech, many people congratulated me. Mohan Gowda praised me a lot. I told him I can procure guns and bullets. He told me there were many like-minded people and they would be contacting me in the coming days.” A few days later, Kumar got a call from a man calling himself Praveen who said that Mohan Gowda had given him Kumar’s number. Kumar then called Mohan Gowda to ask him about the call: “He told me the caller was part of his organisation and a person with my mindset. He told me to carry on working with the caller.” A few days later, Praveen visited his house and collected a few bullets from him. Then, his statement read, at a Sanatan Sanstha event in Bangalore in August 2017, Praveen pulled Kumar aside and told him they needed his help to kill Gauri.

			Praveen, whose real name is Sujith Kumar, was the second person arrested. Reportedly, police had hoped to arrest him several months earlier; they had intel that he planned to attend Mohan Gowda’s wedding in early 2018. But then a Kannada-language news channel, in its reporting on Naveen Kumar’s arrest, saw fit to mention that police planned to raid the wedding, which obviously spoiled that plan. Mohan Gowda was never arrested. Presumably the police didn’t have sufficient evidence against him or didn’t think he was directly complicit.

			The members of Sanatan Sanstha may be elusive, but the organization offers no shortage of reading material. Jayant Athavale, the founder and guru of Sanatan Sanstha, has a vast personal literary output: nearly two hundred books at last count, dozens of which are part of an ongoing series called the Science of Spirituality. Titles include Autohypnotherapy for a Happy Life; Spiritually Beneficial Clothes for Men; Conquer Your Cancer. And the Sanatan Sanstha’s in-house newspaper, Sanatan Prabhat—published daily in the Marathi language, weekly in Kannada, and biweekly in English and Hindi—always includes a column of Athavale’s “radiant thoughts.”

			As with much religious writing, Athavale’s vast body of work is open to many interpretations. Some of it is bafflingly contradictory. In one book Athavale sounds like a mellow universalist, preaching “amity among all religions.” “The concepts and customs in every religion are different, yet the basic teaching is the same,” he writes. “One should view all other religions and its followers with equality.” Sanatan Sanstha’s websites are a pastel-colored world full of smiles, tidy rooms, and gentle coaxes toward self-improvement.

			The pages of Sanatan Prabhat strike a much more combative tone, especially in their non-English editions. Christians and Muslims are depicted in editorial cartoons with horns on their heads and leers on their faces. “One will perceive how much spiritual progress one has made only when he is compelled to kill someone,” Athavale writes in the book Texts About the Divine Kingdom. “It is easy to make statements like ‘everything is Brahman’ (God). When actually performing the act of killing, if the mind remains steady and does not waver at all…only then can one say that he has realised Brahman.” Or, in an issue of Sanatan Prabhat, Athavale is quoted as saying, “You feel so victorious after killing a mosquito, imagine how you would feel after killing an evil person?”

			It’s easy to find passages of equal violence in the religious texts of other traditions, not least the Bible and the Quran. Skeptics and fanatics both tend to assume such passages are meant literally. But most believers, when they reflect on such passages at all, generally insist that they’re meant to be understood metaphorically. In Judaism and Christianity, the slaughters of Deuteronomy are interpreted as metaphors for religious devotion. In Islam, the concept of jihad can be understood as literal war or as a metaphor for internal spiritual struggle. In the Bhagavad Gita, when Krishna urges Arjuna that he needs to fight and kill for his side in the Kurukshetra War, it’s read as a metaphor for duty. When Athavale writes about the act of killing, does he somehow mean it as a kind of spiritual metaphor, too? Is it intended as merely a rhetorical shock? And if it is, do his readers understand this?

			

			•   •   •

			IN 2002, THE SAME YEAR it opened its ashram in Goa, the Sanatan Sanstha launched an offshoot organization called Hindu Janajagruti Samiti, or HJS—the name literally means “committee for the Hindu renaissance”—whose slogan is “For the establishment of the Hindu Rashtra” and whose function has been to act as the public protest arm of Sanatan Sanstha. The separate name seems intended deliberately to confuse—to help the Sanatan Sanstha segregate its spiritual wing from its activist wing in the public eye, much as the RSS’s proliferation of subsidiaries, with their endless acronyms, help it to compartmentalize its various functions and to protect each division from liability for the actions of the others. For clarity, then, and with the understanding that the two groups, the Sanatan Sanstha and the HJS, are in fact the same organization, I’ll be using their names interchangeably, and will mostly attribute their activities to Sanatan Sanstha.

			The HJS seemed especially concerned about the depiction of Hinduism in the arts: movies, paintings, TV, plays. In the spring of 2008 the group was mentioned in American newspapers for the first time, for leading protests against a forthcoming Hollywood sex comedy called The Love Guru, in which Mike Myers played a cartoonish sage who, for reasons too stupid to explain, comes to the aid of a Canadian hockey team.

			If any film deserved to be met by protests, it was The Love Guru, a movie so bad that it effectively ended Myers’s career. “ ‘The Love Guru’ is downright antifunny, an experience that makes you wonder if you will ever laugh again,” the critic A. O. Scott wrote in his review for The New York Times. In its very slight defense, it could have been worse. First, it’s mercifully short: just eighty-four minutes of toilet, midget, and sports jokes. Second, Myers does not, as I had feared, attempt a heavily accented brownface performance of an Indian character; he instead plays a cynical American guru who for some reason grew up in India. Third, the movie’s crass gags aren’t really aimed at Hinduism. The target of its satire, such as it is, is the gullibility of Americans (and Canadians) when it comes to all manner of New Age self-help hokum. At any rate, Sanatan Sanstha had only ever seen the trailer. And what it found threatening about The Love Guru, it seemed, was the very idea of poking fun at a guru—although satires about gurus have a long history in Indian cinema.

			In its typically precise way, Sanatan Sanstha offered to the moviegoing public a helpful table detailing the divine punishments in store for anyone associated with The Love Guru. To simply watch the movie “without knowing the spiritual science/significance” would earn two units of demerit, thereby banishing the viewer to a hundred years in “the nether region”—a kind of purgatory—after death. To watch it “even after knowing the spiritual science/significance” earns five units of demerit, which would condemn the viewer to a hundred years in the first region of hell. But to have participated in the making of the movie The Love Guru—all such filmmakers and actors would earn thirty units of demerit, which comes with a penalty of a thousand years in the second region of hell. At the time, a number of Indian bloggers found this response pretty comical—funnier than anything in The Love Guru, anyway.

			During the same season in which they raised their objections to The Love Guru, Sanatan Sanstha and HJS also protested against a popular Bollywood film titled Jodhaa Akbar, a sumptuously fictionalized account of the romance between the Indian Mughal emperor Jalaluddin Muhammad Akbar (played by the hazel-eyed heartthrob Hrithik Roshan) and the Rajput princess Jodhaa Bai (played by the green-eyed glamour queen Aishwarya Rai Bachchan)—he a Muslim, she a Hindu. It’s the kind of movie that ends with Akbar proclaiming to his subjects, “Respect and tolerance for every religion will make the future of India glorious!” This did not sit well with the religious chauvinists of Sanatan Sanstha. “Shameful Hindus who throng to watch Jodhaa Akbar, a film which glorifies Hindu hater Cruel Akbar, are worthy of getting killed by Terrorists!” HJS declared on its website. “Even today, the thought of marrying one’s daughter to a Muslim is loathsome.” They also objected to a play called Amhi Pachpute, a Marathi-language satire about five brothers in a property dispute over a paan shop, which they complained drew obvious comic comparisons to the heroic Pandavas, the five brothers who are the protagonists of the great Indian epic the Mahabharata. (Never mind that riffing on the epics has been the richest motif in Indian literature for centuries.)

			While the Sanatan Sanstha was making these complaints, bombs burst in the suburbs of Mumbai.

			On February 20, 2008, in the suburb of Panvel, during the intermission of a matinee screening of the movie Jodhaa Akbar, a bomb went off in the theater. The ingredients of this improvised explosive device were deadly enough (ammonium nitrate, gelatin sticks, and petrol), but the blast was a dud, as loud as a string of firecrackers but no more damaging, and no one was hurt.

			On May 31, in the suburb of Vashi, during the intermission of a performance of the play Amhi Pachpute, an audience member noticed a plastic bag under an empty seat. An officer from the Bomb Detection and Disposal Squad was called in and discovered a bomb of similar composition to the one that had exploded in Panvel, but this one with a more sophisticated detonation system. He successfully defused it. If the bomb had exploded, he guessed, it would have injured or killed everyone within a periphery of thirty feet.

			On June 4, in the suburb of Thane, a watchman spotted an unattended black plastic bag in the parking lot of a theater, shortly before another production of Amhi Pachpute. The watchman pointed it out to the booking clerk, and the two of them informed four of their superiors at the theater. As the six of them approached the bag to examine it more closely, it exploded. This bomb featured an enhancement: it was packed full of nails. The shrapnel ripped into eight people.

			The investigation into these three bomb incidents was assigned to the Mumbai police’s Anti-terrorism Squad, which was led by an unusually energetic Indian Police Service officer named Hemant Karkare. Within a month, by tracking the unexploded bomb materials and the vehicles parked at the theaters, Karkare and his team arrested six men. All six, they found, were activists for the HJS. One of them resided with his family at a Sanatan Sanstha ashram in Panvel, and in his room police found two tickets to Amhi Pachpute at the time and date of the third bombing. They found that the suspects had borrowed two Hero Splendor motorcycles from the ashram to drive to the theaters on the days of the bombings. They found eyewitnesses and receipts that showed that two of the suspects had personally purchased gelatin sticks, detonators, and timers. Among the articles recovered from the scene of the third bombing, they found a copy of Sanatan Prabhat, the daily newspaper published by Sanatan Sanstha.

			Sanatan Sanstha soon held a press conference to clarify its position on the bombs and on the accused. “We cannot deny their association with us, but we had nothing to do with the blast,” said a Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson. Its denials in the pages of Sanatan Prabhat allowed for a bit more nuance. “Though we condemn the act,” one editorial read, “the mind-set and the anger of these people should be understood, and the mocking of Hindu gods should be stopped.”

			It’s been a longtime tactic of right-wing Hindu groups to deny vociferously that there is any such thing as Hindu terrorism and to associate the word “terror” solely with Muslims. Sanatan Sanstha and HJS don’t bother with such denials. When their members are accused of violence, they tend not to deny but to deflect; they call them “misguided seekers” who have “taken the wrong path.” Once at a public meeting, Narendra Dabholkar, the doctor and activist, asked, why is it that so many Sanatan Sanstha devotees take the same “wrong path”? And why is this explanation so readily accepted?

			Later that year, a much bigger attack hit Mumbai. It was a four-day assault that came to be known as 26/11, or India’s 9/11. On November 26, 2008, ten members of an Islamist terrorist group hijacked a fishing dinghy and then used three inflatable speedboats to travel down the Arabian Sea from Pakistan to Mumbai, where they committed a series of bombings and mass shootings that killed at least 166 people. Hemant Karkare, the IPS officer who led the investigations into the theater bombings, was among the victims. Shortly before his death, Karkare twice privately urged the government to ban Sanatan Sanstha; his investigations into the theater bombings had convinced him that the group functioned as a Hindutva terrorist organization. This recommendation was not acted upon.

			On October 19, 2009, there was another bomb incident associated with Sanatan Sanstha: two residents of the main Sanatan Sanstha ashram accidentally blew themselves up in the nearby town of Margao. It seems that their intended target was the town’s big annual festival, which Sanatan Sanstha had long complained was somehow a glorification of evil. But the bomb in the trunk of the men’s scooter exploded prematurely.

			The next day, police finally raided the Sanatan Sanstha ashram in Goa. They found bomb parts similar to those found with the dead men. They learned that one of the two dead bombers lived in the ashram’s Sant Kakshay, or “saints’ quarters,” a section reserved for those who have, by Sanatan Sanstha’s calculations, achieved sainthood. But no legal action was taken against Sanatan Sanstha. It was perhaps not coincidental that the wife of a Goa state minister was a prominent member of Sanatan Sanstha.

			“Had there been no political pressure, it would have been banned long back,” a local police officer said of Sanatan Sanstha to the magazine India Today. The Goan government never stopped running advertisements in the Sanatan Sanstha’s daily newspaper. Later it was noticed that one of the men killed by his own bomb had, back in 2004, written an article for that newspaper denouncing Narendra Dabholkar, saying that the punishment for such people is “to be killed like a mad dog.”

			It took a full three years for the theater-bombings case to meander its way through the justice system. In September 2011, the Mumbai sessions court finally handed down its judgment. The prosecution had inherited from Hemant Karkare, the cop who investigated the case, a vast trove of evidence: a charge sheet of over a thousand pages, including testimony from 195 witnesses, aimed at proving that the six accused had been present at the theaters on the days of the bombings and had purchased the components of the bombs. But the lawyer for the accused—the Sanatan Sanstha devotee Sanjeev Punalekar—pointed out that not one of those 195 witnesses could testify to having seen any of the six men actually planting the bombs. Here, too, the unforgiving strictures of Indian evidence law presented an obstacle: when it comes to circumstantial evidence, it must be so compelling that the guilt of the accused is the only possible explanation. For four of the accused, the judge was unconvinced that this threshold had been met, and they were found not guilty of all charges. The judge found the other two guilty of a violation of the Explosive Substances Act, 1908, which carries a sentence of ten years to life imprisonment. But he acquitted them of charges of terrorism and attempted murder. Punalekar asked the judge to consider as a “mitigating factor” the fact that both men came from “middle class families,” and the judge agreed. “Considering the family background of both the accused, they are entitled to the lesser punishment under this section,” the judge wrote. He assigned them both the minimum sentence of ten years, minus time served while awaiting trial.

			Halfway through the ten-year sentences, Punalekar argued before the Maharashtra High Court that, realistically, it would be many years before their appeals would be heard and that therefore both men should just be released from prison. The court agreed, and on May 28, 2013, the two Sanatan Sanstha men were freed. It was eighty-four days before the murder of Narendra Dabholkar, the first victim in the series of murders that culminated with Gauri.

			In 2018 came damning new evidence: journalists from the magazine India Today made a secret video recording of two of the acquitted Sanatan Sanstha members. On video, both confirmed their involvement in the bombings. One admitted to supplying bombs, and the other admitted to planting them. In response, the government of Maharashtra state “vowed to take action” and said it would look into retrying the men and even banning Sanatan Sanstha. Nothing happened.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 16

			The Barefoot Advocate

			LATE ONE EVENING IN JULY 2018, I met with the lawyer N. P. Amruthesh, who at the time was representing several of the men who’d been arrested for Gauri’s murder. Amruthesh is a member of Sanatan Sanstha’s legal wing, whose mission is to defend “Hindu causes,” as the Sanatan Sanstha defines them. They’re best known for filing defamation suits against journalists and activists and for defending Sanatan Sanstha members and other Hindutva activists who have been accused of terrorist violence. Sanatan Sanstha lawyers represented the accused in the Dabholkar and Pansare murder cases. They’re also known for intimidating their opponents. At one court hearing in the Dabholkar case, the Sanatan Sanstha packed the courtroom with thirty-one of its lawyers.

			I didn’t know what to expect from Amruthesh. As our meeting approached, I thought of an interview I’d read with an activist who visited the Sanatan Sanstha ashram in 2010 and who was “amazed at the all-pervasive silence of the place, the trance-like state of the people there. No smiles, no light-hearted conversation, no laughter anywhere.” A young man he met struck him as “a completely programmed automaton.” “I have met people from many Hindu and Muslim communal organisations,” he said. “The youth always seem so charged up. But there’s something far more ominous here.”

			Amruthesh asked me to meet him at his law office at 9:00 p.m., but when I arrived, he wasn’t in. His neighbor told me he’d gone down the street for coffee. I found him at a lively nighttime snack joint called Hallimane. A slender man with a salt-and-pepper beard and a small red tilak between his brows, he wasn’t at all the forbidding figure I’d imagined. He repeatedly offered me a coffee; I told him it was too late for me. “Coffee is for twenty-four hours into seven!” he said brightly. Tonight, he explained, he needed to stay up late reading legal texts, but he was happy to talk with me for as long as I needed. Seemingly indifferent to appearances, he wore a worn saffron dhoti, and his white button-down shirt had impressive plumes of leaked blue ink below the pocket. Later I read in a newspaper article that Amruthesh was once chastised by his colleagues for showing up at a meeting wearing flip-flops; in a flamboyant gesture of penance, he went everywhere barefoot for a month. “It should serve as a reminder to me to follow decorum,” he explained.

			We returned to his office, which was no bigger than a large closet, explosively decorated with Hindutva imagery and other assorted political bric-a-brac—a bust of the freedom fighter Subhas Chandra Bose; a placard denouncing Mother Teresa—and packed to the ceiling with law books. The Kannada news channel TV9 played silently on a small set behind me. At present, he told me cheerfully, he was representing four of the accused in Gauri’s murder, although when I asked him which ones he had trouble remembering three of their names. Two advocates from Mumbai, he said, were representing the rest, including two men who’d just been arrested the day before: Ganesh Miskin, who was suspected of driving the motorcycle, and Amit Baddi.

			He insisted that the police had arrested Hindutva activists only because leftists pressured them to do so. “This is one cock-and-bull story,” he said. “I am still insisting, you go with the Naxalite movement. And also there is a dispute in the family.” He pointed out that the police still hadn’t found the murder weapon. “Without proper material object, the judiciary is not going to convict. Even if a small mistake is there, the whole case is going to be closed, and all the accused are going to acquit.”

			“But it’s easy to hide a weapon,” I said. “You could just throw it in a lake.”

			“What you said is 100 percent correct!” he said. “If I use this weapon, I will throw it into a dam, or into the sea. How can you recover that?” he asked with a laugh.

			The police, he told me, had tortured his clients as part of their interrogations. He claimed that one of his clients was beaten so badly that he was unable to stand, two were unable to sit, and the fourth had blades shoved under his toenails. He said that when he filed a complaint, the judge dismissed it.

			Unfortunately, the allegations were entirely plausible. The Indian police are notorious for torturing people in their custody. For low-level offenses, police might offer a complainant a choice: Do you want to press charges, or do you want us to “touch him up”? Several people, including crime reporters, warned me that I shouldn’t trust the dates of arrest that police announce for the various suspects. Often, they said, arrests are made official weeks after a suspect is actually apprehended, which gives police more time to file a charge sheet, and also gives them a window in which to torture a suspect. To prove torture, suspects need to show visible injuries, so police have become expert at creative tortures that leave no mark. Gauri, in one of her columns, noted a wide variety of documented police torture methods: forcing a suspect into splits by sitting on his thighs, beating the soles of a suspect’s feet with a belt, injecting petrol into a suspect’s rectum, hoisting a suspect off the ground by his arms with a chain and letting him hang, waterboarding, electric shocks, the “roller treatment.”

			It’s impossible to confirm whether the accused in Gauri’s case were really tortured. The SIT might have avoided torture because the case is so sensitive and they wouldn’t have wanted to compromise it. Then again, the sensitivity of the case might have induced them to torture in their desperation to get results. Amruthesh told me that the next morning he’d be appearing at a hearing in Hall 20 of the Karnataka High Court about his clients’ torture allegations, and he invited me to attend.

			I asked him about the Sanatan Sanstha lawyers’ group he belongs to. “We are working for Hindutva,” he said. “If anything happens, whoever it may be, we are ready to come and help that person. We follow the guru. Whatever he preaches, we are receiving. Whatever he preaches, if you like it, you come. If you are not interested, okay, leave it. That type of freedom Swamiji has given. And we are very transparent.”

			He handed me a notebook with the lawyers’ group insignia on it, along with the phrase “Establishing the Hindu nation.” I asked him what that meant to him. “In the whole world, there is not a nation called a Hindu nation,” he said. “Pakistan has declared as a Muslim country, Afghanistan has declared, the Gulf all countries have declared. One hundred and twenty-five countries are Christian countries. When here also the percentage of the Hindus is more, why not call it a Hindu nation? Nothing will happen. We are not going to say, all Muslims have to go out of the country, all Christians have to go out of the country—no. Only call it as a Hindu nation. Just name change. What is irritating for you? Nothing.” He opened his hands and shrugged.

			I was surprised to learn that he had been a longtime card-carrying Communist Party member and trade-union lawyer who only a few years ago made the unlikely transformation into a right-wing religious devotee. “If I had continued there itself, I would be one of the Politburo!” he said. He left the party after a colleague pointed out to him that all the big communist icons are non-Indians—Marx, Engels, Lenin, Che—and urged him to look for local heroes.

			“Becoming a Hindutva activist must have been a big change for you,” I said.

			“Ah—100 percent,” he said. But his lifestyle, he said, had remained the same. “You have three meals, a good sleeping place, and some books, that is your basic necessity for your life. If you go for a gorgeous bungalow, twenty rooms are there, you are sleeping in only one room, no? You cannot change every hour into another room. Peaceful mind and good sleep will come anyway if your heart is clean. If your heart is very clean, and serving the general public, you will get sleep anywhere, even on the platform of the railway station, no? That is my thing. Whatever money comes, I will spend it for social service. It will come and it will go.”

			While we spoke, a news segment about Gauri’s case appeared on the TV, with an image of a hooded suspect being led into a police van. The RSS, it was reported, had issued a statement saying that one of the arrestees, Mohan Nayak, was not a member of the organization. Amruthesh laughed. “In my opinion, personal opinion, that is not correct,” he said. “When any person is working for Hindutva, it is your duty to give protection to that person. They’re claiming that he’s not our member, but I came to know that he always goes to RSS activities and everything. These organizations, they don’t want to take the responsibility.” Such disavowals, he said, were bad for morale.

			A month and a half after our meeting, Amruthesh published a bizarre and strident op-ed in a mainstream newspaper in which he denounced Gauri, four days after the first anniversary of her death. Now he seemed much less the slightly goofy figure I’d taken him for. “Today, in Karnataka social activists, communists and other such groups are growing rapidly in number,” it begins. “The members of these groups are mainly the elite like Girish Karnad…Kavitha Lankesh and (the late) Gauri Lankesh. They are so-called intellectuals, but in fact are like parasites, queuing up to get awards…just to corner some government benefits. Some of them have a lifestyle which is just about sitting in the Press Club and smoking and drinking in the evenings. They also spend time with the upper classes to build contacts and call themselves part of ‘women liberation’ groups.”

			

			•   •   •

			
			THE MORNING AFTER I interviewed Amruthesh, I went to the Karnataka High Court building to meet him at the hearing about his client’s torture allegations. A monumental stone edifice colored Pompeiian red and embellished with Ionic porticoes and wrought-iron grilles, the court is the oldest and arguably the most impressive public building in Bangalore. Inside was a labyrinth with very little signage; I was immediately lost. A passing clerk, noting my confusion, asked me to follow him. “This building is 1860s,” he said as we speed walked. “British built it. We have no new buildings like it because of corruption.” Having deposited me at the correct corridor, he departed. I found a steady flow of people squeezing in and out of Hall 20 and followed the inward stream; inside, Amruthesh was nowhere. On a nearby bulletin board, I found his name and case listed among dozens of others on the day’s roster.

			As I tried to make sense of the case listings, another fellow doing the same struck up a conversation: a trim old man named Sodhi with a white mustache and entirely white clothes. Sodhi told me that for the past eighteen years he’s been fighting a case against a man who stole his land back in the year 2000. At one point in the proceedings, he said, the land-grabber tried to fake his own demise by submitting a forged death certificate to the court. (It didn’t work.) “I’m seventy-six years old,” he said cheerily. “I’ve got another seven to eight years. I’ll do this job only,” by which he meant attending court to keep fighting his case. “I enjoy it! I know I will win. Why should I worry?” He did note, though, that the system is extraordinarily inefficient.

			Hours passed, but Amruthesh never appeared. He wasn’t answering his phone, and the case was never called. After giving up hope of his appearance, I wandered the building. Unused court halls were stacked high with impossible piles of mildewed files. A basement garage had been converted into more office space, where dozens of clerks clacked away at typewriters in parking spots. Just as I left the building, I was approached by another old man who has devoted his final decades to roaming these halls every day to fight an endless case. His name was Vish, and he was the most impressively hairy man I’ve ever seen: long gray hair tied behind his head, an ungovernable curly beard, hair bursting out of his raggedy red shirt between the buttons. Like Sodhi, he was downright jolly, somehow unbeaten down by this place, and he invited me to walk with him in Cubbon Park, which lay right outside the courthouse—Bangalore’s vastest patch of green, designed by the British to more attractively segregate their settlement from the local population.

			In the early afternoon the park was eerily silent, aside from the strands of bamboo creaking all around us like ancient doors, or like gallows straining under the weight of a noose. I remarked that it’s a beautiful park. “Ah, you should have seen it in its glory,” he said. “You have to spend many years in a city to really know it.” We walked past curving lawns and rows of lurid canna lilies, then deeper into the shadows under the wide-canopied trees. “You walk around this park and think, oh, what lovely birds,” he said. “Then slowly you notice that they eat worms. They’re nothing but carnivorous predators.” I knew what he meant: in the guesthouse I’d been staying in, I marveled at the dozens of black kites circling nearby, and I liked to sit on the terrace in the evening to trace their graceful arcs, until I realized that they congregated there only because there was a slaughterhouse below, and each took flight with a bloody scrap in its beak, sometimes fighting over the raw meat in midair and dropping it into the street. “And then,” Vish continued, “you learn that tree-climbing snakes eat the eggs from the birds’ nests. It takes years to understand who’s consuming who in a place like this.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 17

			The Lists

			VISH’S WORDS TROUBLED ME. I knew that I could never fully understand all the complex forces at work in a place where I was just a visitor, no matter how much I interviewed and studied and commissioned translations of texts whose languages I couldn’t read. I worried, for one, about the complaint that so many BJP members had thrown at me on my last visit to Bangalore when I asked them about Gauri’s murder: that some two dozen Hindu activists have been murdered in Karnataka in recent years by Muslim fanatics, but that neither the press nor the police care—they care only about Gauri Lankesh. I worried that they were right and that my own obvious biases had blinded me.

			During the 2018 state election campaign, the complaints about the twenty-four murders only grew. “Condemn the killing of BJP and RSS workers under Congress rule,” Amit Shah, the president of the BJP, said on an election-season visit to Karnataka. “More than 24 workers have died and the police hasn’t taken any action against the killers. They are roaming around free.” Modi said that the BJP is about “ease of doing business,” while the Congress in Karnataka is about “ease of doing murders.” Many BJP leaders said that all twenty-four were murdered by “terrorists.”

			I followed up repeatedly with two BJP leaders who’d told me about the murders when I visited party headquarters in January, asking them to provide me with a list of names so that I could learn more, but neither responded. As far as I could find, an actual list had circulated only once: in July 2017, the legislator Shobha Karandlaje submitted a complaint to the central government with a list of twenty-three men who she said were “Hindu activists” who had been murdered by “jihadi elements.” “IT IS A BLOOD BATH IN KARNATAKA,” the letter begins. Fortunately for me, in February and March 2018, a superb and intrepid reporter for the website Scroll named Sruthisagar Yamunan spent weeks traveling around Karnataka to investigate each of the twenty-three names firsthand. One of the names on Karandlaje’s list, he noted, was ambiguous, and could refer to two different victims, so he investigated both, bringing the total number of cases up to twenty-four. He met with the families of all but one of the men on the list, talked to as many investigating officers as possible, and studied every police report.

			Yamunan discovered that the very first man on the list is not, in fact, dead. (To her credit, Karandlaje called the man to apologize for including him after his aliveness came to light.) Two committed suicide. Two were apparently murdered by their sisters. According to police and families, the motives for a majority of the murders were real estate, political, or romantic rivalries. Three of the victims could in no way be described as Hindu activists. Among those who were, some were apparently killed by fellow Hindutva activists or BJP members. Several of the victims’ families made a point of telling Yamunan that they have no problem with Muslims and live in peace with their Muslim neighbors. And several were shocked and unhappy to learn that their loved ones’ names appeared on such a list. “I request people to not join any political party,” one widow told Yamunan; her husband, she said, was a BJP politician whose rival had hired a hit man to kill him. “They will use you and then throw you away.” Many of these non-jihad motives, Yamunan found, were clearly reported in local newspapers long before Karandlaje compiled her list.

			In ten cases, Yamunan found, the accused perpetrators were indeed Muslim. All of these perpetrators were linked specifically to a hard-line Islamist organization called the People’s Front of India, or PFI, that operates in Kerala and Karnataka. And most of these ten murders occurred in coastal Karnataka, the region of the state where religious tensions run deepest, especially in Mangalore, a diverse city of around half a million people that’s known as a banking and university center.

			Kavitha told me that in coastal Karnataka the political climate is so fraught that news vendors kept Gauri’s paper hidden, offering it for sale only when asked. “If they kept it out in the stall, the owner would be beaten up,” she said. It wasn’t always this way. Mangalore used to be famous as a cosmopolitan, progressive city. Gauri had a particular admiration for Mangalore’s history of social reform, including an early school for Dalits. The novelist Vivek Shanbhag, who grew up in coastal Karnataka, wrote that decades ago there was a shared sense of community among Hindus, Muslims, and Christians “that words like secularism and tolerance cannot capture.” More apt, he suggested, was the Kannada word “sahabalve,” which literally means “life together.” “Mangalore was a very, very forward looking, very educated place,” he told me. “I can’t believe that it has deteriorated to this level.”

			Now Mangalore is perhaps the most religiously segregated corner of the state. A senior police officer who’s served for years in coastal Karnataka spoke to me about the situation on condition of anonymity, given its political sensitivity. In Mangalore, he said, the Muslim population is wealthier and better educated than in most places in India. This actually makes tensions worse, he said, because both Hindus and Muslims feel they are competing directly from positions of strength, and ostentatious consumption on the part of young men from both sides—nice cars, flashy motorcycles—tends to fan resentments. Another source of tension is that the Muslim prosperity is often new wealth, earned at lucrative jobs in the Gulf by Muslim men who in previous generations would likely have been farm laborers for Hindu landowners. And in recent years, both sides have become markedly more religiously conservative. As the Kannada novelist Sara Aboobacker put it, “There is Hindu Talibanisation and there is Muslim Talibanisation.”

			In recent decades, the police officer said, especially after the destruction of the Babri Masjid, Hindus and Muslims have both built up aggressive religious organizations in coastal Karnataka, each egged on by the growth of the other side. But their memberships consist “mainly of these riffraff boys who had nothing else to do, who had a lot of money, and who didn’t hesitate to commit small crimes or revengeful crimes.” In particular, the PFI on the Muslim side and the Bajrang Dal on the Hindu side would provoke each other: the PFI stealing Hindu cows, the Bajrang Dal attacking Muslim cow transports. The Hindu side became very active with what’s known as “moral policing,” with a special focus on attacking Muslim boys who talked to or merely sat next to Hindu girls. The PFI reciprocated, attacking Hindu boys seen with Muslim girls (although much less often, he said). Often the two sides function simply as gangs, using religion as a cover for turf-based criminal operations, such as land grabbing and illegal sand mining. As they always do, the political parties treat the rival gangs opportunistically: the Congress Party patronizes the Muslim groups just as surely as the BJP patronizes the Hindutva groups. In its early years, Gauri’s Communal Harmony Forum often shared the stage with the PFI and its precursor, the Karnataka Forum for Dignity, naively accepting them as a Muslim rights organization. When the PFI’s culpability in communal disharmony became obvious, the Communal Harmony Forum cut ties with them.

			The two sides clash often in street fights, the police officer told me, especially in election seasons. Some of these fights result in murders, and the murders have spun into an endless cycle of revenge killings, “always tit for tat.” A murder that happens in Mangalore today, he said, can usually be traced back in a chain to a murder that happened in 1999. In recent years there have been so many prison murders in Mangalore that the wardens have been forced to segregate Hindus and Muslims into separate barracks. In Mangalore, he noted, these retaliatory murders are never committed with guns, because a gun wound “doesn’t create that violent scene that is required to drive a message. So it is a policy that you actually commit these murders with sharp weapons and make many cuts on the body. The message should be very, very strong, so the brutality should be visible.”

			He said it’s certainly true that Muslim fundamentalists committed some of the murders on Karandlaje’s list, and also that those victims have gotten far less attention than Gauri, but the context is completely different. Here, he said, it’s “rowdies trying to eliminate each other.” In 2022, the journalist Johnson T. A. did a study of communal murders in coastal Karnataka and found that most were retaliatory, with an equal number on each “side”; the murdered Muslim activists have gotten just as little popular attention as the Hindutva activists.

			Yamunan reported that two of the ten murders committed by Muslims on Karandlaje’s list happened in street fights between Muslim and Hindu toughs at official celebrations of Tipu Sultan, which had become a flash point. Two others were reportedly murdered in revenge for aggressive cow-protection vigilantism (one of whose killers was later stabbed to death in prison with a serving spoon). Some cases blurred the line between religious conflict and gang war. In one case of a Hindu activist murdered by a Muslim activist, police told Yamunan that drug turf was a factor: the victim and perpetrator were both marijuana dealers. In the face of this rowdy, macho, endlessly retributive political violence, the RSS and BJP loudly play the victim without acknowledging that their side commits the same violence, racking up a comparable body count among their opponents. The murders on both sides are outrageous and intolerable. But they are not lynchings, nor are they assassinations of elderly writers on their doorsteps.

			When the discrepancies in Karandlaje’s list were brought to her attention, she called it an “oversight” and said that she would release a revised list. She never did, and she was clearly unchastened. A few months later, she raised an even more inflammatory charge. In coastal Karnataka, an eighteen-year-old Hindutva activist named Paresh Mesta was found dead in a lake, and Karandlaje loudly and repeatedly insisted that “jihadi elements” had split his head open, poured boiling oil on his body, cut off his tattoos of Hindu symbols, and castrated him. The postmortem report showed no signs of assault and concluded that he had slipped into the lake and drowned, most likely because he was drunk.

			I feel that I now have the facts about the twenty-three or twenty-four murders that BJP leaders kept insisting that I examine. They were lying about those murders, and they knew they were lying. By constantly arguing in bad faith in this way, they make it impossible to engage seriously with their position. It’s an appalling thing to do.

			But I’m also appalled with myself—I just spent sixteen hundred words arguing, essentially, that I should care less about those murders than the BJP thinks I should. I think often of a passage from an essay by T. M. Krishna, the renowned South Indian Carnatic singer. “The BJP and company have not only poisoned the minds of their own supporters, they have achieved a larger goal,” Krishna wrote. “They have made the rest of us crass and inhuman to the extent that we are unable to empathise when an RSS member is killed. Of course, this only makes their case for a monolithic Hindu Rashtra stronger and, hence, politically convenient. I know we need to stop this cycle, rediscover empathy, the ethical and sublime, but I do not know how.”

			

			•   •   •

			AFTER THE ARRESTS OF the first suspects for Gauri’s murder, a very different list came to light. On my previous visit to Bangalore, I’d learned that Indian progressives had developed a habit of talking, often with gallows humor, about the List: an imagined ranking of who was most likely to die next. It turned out that the List was real. In the diaries that the SIT recovered from the arrested men, they found two lists of names—the thirty-four people whom the conspirators ostensibly planned or hoped to kill. The first name on one list was Girish Karnad. The first on the other was K. S. Bhagawan, aged seventy-three, a highly outspoken professor and translator, whom the Sanatan Sanstha often denounced on their websites. Devout Hindu Organizations Demand Immediate Arrest of Heretic Prof. Bhagawan! ran one of their headlines in 2015, after Bhagawan declared publicly that Rama is not a god. Two months after Gauri’s murder, police had to escort Bhagawan to safety after a fiery speech he delivered in his hometown of Mysore, a couple hours from Bangalore.

			According to the SIT, the conspirators, after killing Gauri, had decided Bhagawan would be their next target. In early 2018, the SIT had been eavesdropping on the phone calls of the first arrestee, K. T. Naveen Kumar, and had at first planned to wait and keep listening in to gain more information on his co-conspirators. But when they realized from his conversations that an assassination attempt on Bhagawan was imminent, they swept in and arrested him.

			One afternoon when I was in Mysore, I arranged to meet Bhagawan in the café of my hotel. A cheerful man with a shock of thick white hair, he entered briskly along with a large man in a shiny gray suit. “This is my gunman!” he explained. The bodyguard joined him, he said, in 2015. “I gave a lecture on the Bhagavad Gita, which is said to be a very important document of Hinduism,” he recalled. “Certain portions of the Gita must be burnt, I said. I did not burn them, but I said they should be.” Some people “didn’t like it,” he said, chuckling with delight at the memory. “They attacked my house, pelting stones and all that. Immediately the Karnataka government provided me security. There are three policemen in our house, and one gunman will be always with me.”

			“It seems that this group that killed Gauri Lankesh also intended to go after you,” I said.

			“But they will not,” he said blithely.

			He seemed indifferent to my questions about threats and assassinations; he was more eager to discuss literature and philosophy, which he did with relish. He told me he “developed a critical attitude toward the so-called Hinduism” after reading Kuvempu, the greatest of Kannada poets, who wrote a version of the Ramayana that “removed all these Brahminical values.” The thing we call Hinduism, he said, is nothing more than Brahminism. “I don’t believe in religion,” he said. “I believe in spirituality.”

			He talked in detail about his work translating English literature into Kannada, including a number of Shakespeare’s plays; more than once he sent the gunman to his car to see if he could find a copy of one or another of his books. He said that he’s now writing a new analysis of the Ramayana. “Nowhere is Rama an ideal person,” he said. “He was only a killer, killing person after person and branding them as demons.” I told him I didn’t think the stone throwers were going to like that one, either.

			M. M. Kalburgi, he said, “was an intimate friend of mine. Great man. Great scholar. And a true follower of Basavanna.” Gauri, he said, published many of his articles in her paper, and also a book he wrote denouncing the proposed Rama temple in Ayodhya. “The pity is, those who killed them, they’re all Shudras, non-Brahmins. They all belong to the lower strata of society. You see how Brahminism has brainwashed them. The ideology is given by the Brahmin, but no Brahmin is caught so far.”

			After a while we went to his apartment, which is up a flight of stairs, with a terrace outside the door, upon which two uniformed police officers had set up a sort of sniper’s nest, complete with a massive semiautomatic gun laid out on a blanket. The cops rose to their feet as we ascended the stairs, then went back to their distractions from their boring job, one looking at videos on his phone, the other leafing through a newspaper.

			I asked Bhagawan if he worried much about his safety.

			“No, no, no, not at all,” he said. “I feel very happy.”

			“You seem happy,” I said. “Why don’t you worry?”

			“I don’t know,” he said, uninterested in the question. “My worry is about writing only. I must write well. I must read great books. That’s my only concern.”

			I asked him if his wife worried about his safety.

			“No, no, no, not at all, not at all, not at all,” he said. “In fact, she told me, every man is going to die, today or tomorrow. Why worry? You do whatever work you want to do, she said. So from that day onwards I became completely free of mortal concern. I don’t think about death at all. Death comes on its own. Why should I think of it?”

			Girish Karnad also seemed unbothered that he’d topped a hit list. (His son, Raghu, told me later that Karnad was skeptical of these lists.) One well-connected journalist told me that according to the SIT the killers were casing Karnad’s house right around the time I visited him there in January. In August 2018, five prominent left-wing activists and intellectuals were arrested for supposedly inciting a riot; later they were additionally accused of plotting to assassinate Modi. In protest, Karnad attended an event marking the first anniversary of Gauri’s death, oxygen tank on his lap, wearing a sign around his neck that read Me Too Urban Naxal. “If speaking up means being a Naxal, then I am an urban Naxal,” he told reporters. “I am proud to be a part of the hit list.”

			Others were feeling understandably less defiant. “I want to erase it,” said Nataraj Huliyar, a longtime writer for P. Lankesh’s paper whose name appeared on a list. “I’m afraid my mother might see it.”

			Another name on a hit list was that of the lawyer C. S. Dwarakanath, who also wrote regularly for P. Lankesh. An armed policeman sits in the foyer of his office to protect him. A thoughtful, gentle man, Dwarakanath told me that as a student he was actually an RSS member, but Lankesh transformed him. Now his hero was Ambedkar, the author of the Indian Constitution and the prophet of Dalit liberation. He suspected that he was being targeted for a lecture he delivered in Mangalore that was critical of the proposed Rama temple in Ayodhya. There was an uproar when he said that nobody knows where Rama was born or his date of birth—but he was merely quoting the text of a Supreme Court ruling. His point, he said, was that “Rama is in the heart of the people. Don’t impose any Rama on them.” He cited the great mystic poet Kabir, who wrote that there were four Ramas: the first is on the throne of Ayodhya, the second is in the heart of every human, the third is in every particle, and the fourth is beyond human comprehension. “That was my argument,” he said. “They never understood it, because their minds are blocked.” (Bhagawan, he thought, spoke too harshly. “Some people have a very good opinion of Rama and Sita,” he said. “We should not hurt their feelings.”) He used to appear regularly on TV debates, but now that he’s on the hit list, his family won’t let him.

			The police told Kavitha that Gauri was “a great soul” because her death had prevented all those people on the hit lists from being killed. “That makes you feel her death didn’t go in vain,” she said.

		

	
		
			INTERLUDE

			The World’s Longest Dosa

			A FEW MONTHS AFTER GAURI’S murder, the artist Pushpamala N. staged a performance-art piece in tribute to her friend and neighbor. She called it Gauri Lankesh’s Urgent Saaru. Saaru is a spicy tomato-and-coconut curry popular in Karnataka. “Urgent saaru” was Gauri’s funny name for a quick version that she learned from her mother and passed along to Pushpamala and that Pushpamala loved to cook at the parties they both were famous for. For her performance piece, Pushpamala cooked urgent saaru for a live audience while dressed in a Mother India costume, as a poke at the way Gauri’s critics called her “antinational.” The version of Mother India Pushpamala chose was hilariously elaborate, inspired by the Mother India figure that the BJP sometimes uses in their propaganda, complete with a red sari, a towering golden headpiece, straight black hair nearly down to her ankles, and two extra papier-mâché arms attached to her shoulders and hoisting Indian flags.

			She cooked in real time, chopping vegetables from scratch and making full noisy use of a mixer-grinder and a pressure cooker while those flags stuck to the fake arms fluttered absurdly over each step. The resulting dish, which she served to each audience member in banana-leaf cups like a temple offering, was a lurid dark red. The metaphor was clear: “urgent” referred not just to a quick meal but to the urgency of delivering justice for the blood Gauri shed, and for all the related bloodlettings as Hindutva made its violent ascent.

			Although Gauri’s fridge was empty when she died, food was central to her life. When the defamation cases against her newspaper forced her to appear in distant courtrooms, she took it as an opportunity, her friends told me, to learn all the best little places to eat all over Karnataka. When she cooked lunch for her colleagues at the paper, it was her way of fostering both fellowship and egalitarianism. She was deeply aware that food is political—especially in India, where caste divisions are felt most keenly along the lines of who eats what and who shares food with whom. Her own dietary choices could be expressions of her political stances, as when she pointedly ate beef both to thumb her nose at Hindu nationalists who wanted to impose their food rules on everyone and to express solidarity with Muslims who were brutally lynched under suspicion of possessing beef.

			And Gauri was vocal about cooking as a front line in the battle for gender equity, as when she demanded equal housework from her husband during their brief marriage. Seen from another perspective, Pushpamala’s performance was a send-up of cooking as “women’s work,” making a spectacle out of the typically invisible preparation of a recipe handed from woman to woman to woman by putting it onstage and in the hands of the very avatar of Indian motherhood. Left unmentioned in Pushpamala’s performance was the fact that men often dominate even dishes prepared entirely by women. A decade ago I was schooled on this dynamic by the South Indian cookbook writer Chandra Padmanabhan, who was at that time preparing a book with over a hundred recipes for dosa. A driving force behind all those varieties, she told me, is the demands of men. “A man is always the head of the family,” she said. “And he dictates to his family what exactly he wants. So if he doesn’t like a particular ingredient, if he doesn’t want the sambar to be cooked in a particular way, then that family has a different style of cooking. It depends on the man of the house because it’s a patriarchal society.”

			If there is one man who has dictated more than any other what South Indian food tastes like, not just in India but around the world, it is P. Rajagopal, the founder of the world’s largest vegetarian restaurant chain. He was also a convicted murderer, and I’d been following his case since 2013. On July 18, 2019, just when he was supposed to be surrendering to prison, I got the news that he’d died. I was due back in Bangalore for my third reporting trip covering Gauri’s case. But once again I had the nagging feeling, as I did when pursuing the Saint Thomas story in Kerala the year before, that I needed to see this other case through. So once again I made a pit stop in Chennai, the capital of the South Indian state of Tamil Nadu, to catch up on what had happened to P. Rajagopal.

			Rajagopal’s restaurant chain is called Saravana Bhavan: the house of Saravana, aka Murugan, Tamil Nadu’s most popular god. The first time I ate in a Saravana Bhavan was in New York City, on the corner of Lexington Avenue and Twenty-sixth Street. Its dining room is clean and bright and often attracts a line out front. It doesn’t advertise, because it doesn’t need to; its core clientele of global South Indians at its dozens of locations—thirty-three in India, another seventy-eight in twenty-two other countries—knows where to find it.

			Among his peers in Chennai’s restaurant scene, P. Rajagopal was a legend. “He brought prestige to the vegetarian business,” a restaurateur named Manoharan, who runs a competing chain called Murugan Idli, told me. “He made a revolution.” But at heart it’s a revolution of orthodoxy. The goal at each Saravana Bhavan is to make its customers exclaim what one customer told me she said when she first ate at the branch in Edison, New Jersey: “Oh my god, it’s like being in Chennai.”

			Born into a “low” caste in a remote province of Tamil Nadu, Rajagopal came to rule a field that was once the sole domain of Brahmins, updating their traditional fare in a setting that was both respectable and unpretentious, thereby catering to India’s middle class at just the moment it emerged. His business model was so seemingly foolproof that his company acquired an air of invincibility. This held true even when he was found guilty of murder. He was sentenced to life in prison, but soon he was free, and his company continued expanding as if nothing had happened—to Hong Kong, Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, ten outlets in Southeast Asia, fifteen in North America, eighteen in Europe, twenty-seven in the Gulf. Why didn’t the murder he committed seem to matter?

			

			•   •   •

			SARAVANA BHAVAN SPECIALIZES IN the trinity of South Indian snacks known as tiffin: dosa, idli, and vada. All are made from ground rice and lentils, with remarkably different results. Dosas are crispy golden crepes that are most deliciously served with a masala of potato and onion; vadas are doughnut shaped and deep-fried; and idlis, the South’s staple food, are pure white, saucer shaped, and steamed. Saravana Bhavan accompanies all three the traditional way, with a spicy tamarind-vegetable stew called sambar and a pair of creamy chutneys (the white one is coconut; the green one is mint and coriander), along with steel tumblers of southern-style filter coffee, strong, milky, and sweet with jaggery.

			At most branches of Saravana Bhavan in Chennai, you can also find for sale a little book titled I Set My Heart on Victory. First published in 1997, the book is Rajagopal’s memoir and manifesto, a curious blend of mythmaking and self-effacement. His story begins in 1947, ten days before India’s independence from the British, when he was born in the vast brushland in the southern state Tamil Nadu. His village, Punnaiadi, was so inconsequential that it didn’t merit a bus stop. His childhood home was a hut with mud and cow-dung floors. His favorite game was catching field rats in the paddy fields, which could be baked for a nice snack. His father made a living selling tiny onions.

			Rajagopal writes that he quit school after seventh grade, left home alone, and took a job wiping tables and mopping floors at a cheap restaurant in a distant resort town, where he showered in a waterfall and slept on the kitchen floor; leeches would crawl in and attach themselves to him during the night. But he was proud of his work, especially after the restaurant’s tea master inducted him into the mysteries of making a perfect chai.

			Nearly two decades passed before he had anything to do with restaurants again. He moved to Chennai and opened a tiny grocery on the outskirts of the city. His memoir recounts a litany of woes: His bed was the shop’s outside platform, with vegetable sacks for sheets. Drunken dockworkers drove off his two employees; then rowdies demolished his shop. Undeterred, he opened a new shop, then another, then a third. One day in 1979, his entrepreneurial ears perked up when he heard a salesman make a casual remark: he’d have to go all the way to another neighborhood for lunch because this one didn’t have any restaurants.

			A century ago, except for British clubs, Chennai itself had virtually no restaurants. Most people simply didn’t eat out, and few ventured far from home. One exception was workers in the Indian Civil Service, which was then dominated by Brahmins. Their dietary rules dictated that they couldn’t eat food cooked by any caste but their own, and when their work required travel, vegetarian restaurants known as Brahmin hotels arose to meet the need. When Rajagopal was born, the restaurant scene consisted of little else. But as a member of the Nadar caste—a group traditionally assigned to toddy tapping, collecting sap from palm trees to make liquor—Rajagopal wouldn’t have been allowed to eat in most Brahmin hotels, let alone run one. Some Brahmin restaurateurs made their customers show the sacred thread indicating their upper-caste status before they’d serve them.

			This barrier was shattered with the arrival of the Tamil “self-respect” movement in the mid-twentieth century, led by an unshakable feminist, atheist, and southern-chauvinist firebrand named E. V. Ramasamy but known as Periyar. Periyar was like the John Brown of South India, railing against slavery with the white beard and fury of a prophet. Unlike John Brown, he also railed against religion. “There is no god. There is no god. There is no god at all!” he said. “He who invented god is a fool. He who propagates god is a scoundrel. He who worships god is a barbarian.” He was literally an iconoclast: he hefted clay idols of Hindu gods over his head and smashed them in the street. His enemies were patriarchy, northern domination, superstition in every form, and most of all Brahmin privilege. “Will rats ever be freed by the efforts of cats?” he asked. “Will the non-Brahmins get equality through the goodwill and efforts of the Brahmins? Even if these impossibilities become realities, women will not get freedom by the efforts and goodwill of men.”

			He burned effigies of Rama because he saw the Ramayana as Brahmin propaganda that insulted southerners. In protest against the imposition of the Hindi language in South India, he threatened to burn his newly independent country’s flag; in protest against Brahmin dominance, he burned the constitution. He insisted that the southern cone of the subcontinent should secede to form a new country known as Dravida Nadu. It’s easy to forget now how unlikely it seemed that India could function as a coherent single republic. After the horrors of partition, plenty of reasonable people assumed that further fractures were inevitable. It was a country of at least 120 major languages and countless cultures; maybe its natural form would be something more like Europe. Those fractures never came, but the fault lines remain. Tamil Nadu, which sits opposite Kerala on the southeastern side of peninsular India, has always been especially adamant about asserting a distinct local identity, and no one asserted it more adamantly than Periyar. Gauri, of course, loved him.

			It’s impossible to imagine a figure as irreverent as Periyar leading a mass movement in India today. As brave as he is, K. S. Bhagawan—the writer and Shakespeare translator who was apparently next on the hit list of the men who killed Gauri—must live under constant armed guard. Periyar never did: he infuriated many, but he moved about freely and died at the age of ninety-four. His movement inspired most people in Tamil Nadu to this day to abandon caste-based surnames. And in the city of Chennai, Periyar’s followers routinely attacked Brahmin hotels and painted over the word “Brahmin” on their signboards, accelerating the end of their Brahmin exclusivity and opening the path for entrepreneurs from other castes to meet Chennai’s increasing appetite for dining out.

			There was little to suggest that P. Rajagopal was ready to join them. When he opened his debut restaurant in 1981, his struggling shops had left him deep in debt, and he knew little about food service beyond selling groceries. He made the leap only after an astrologer recommended he try a line of work that involved fire. A business adviser insisted that he should use cheap ingredients and pay his staff as little as possible; food workers are vagabonds, he said, and they’ll take what they can get. “I did not like his argument at all,” Rajagopal writes in his memoir. He fired the adviser, started using coconut oil and top-quality vegetables, and gave his workers surprisingly high wages. The business lost 10,000 rupees a month, a big deficit for a restaurant where most items on the menu sold for a rupee apiece.

			But word spread that his food was tasty and cheap, and soon Rajagopal was turning a profit and opening new branches. He granted his workers an astounding package of benefits unprecedented in Indian restaurants: pensions, health care, education, housing stipends, a marriage fund for their daughters. Saravana Bhavan workers started calling him Annachi, a Tamil term of respect that means “elder brother.” His restaurants came to be distinguished by their stainless steel, bright lights, and glisteningly spotless surfaces.

			Soon Saravana Bhavan had established itself as a Chennai institution and a cultural touchstone. Locals sometimes refer to the brand as their version of McDonald’s: fast, ubiquitous, and uncannily consistent. Unlike McDonald’s, the restaurants make everything from scratch. One afternoon, a trio of bright-eyed assistants from the company’s R&D department gave me a tour of one of the branches. I was surprised to find that there were no freezers, just a single walk-in cooler for vegetables that had been bought at the market the day before. Even the rice flour for the dosas was ground on premises, ten feet away from the griddle that completed them.

			When the tour was over, the assistants talked to me about Rajagopal. “He is the same as the father of a family,” one said. “Any problem I have, he addresses it.” I asked if the company had cut back on benefits as it has grown. “They’ve only been increasing,” a second assistant said. The company provides them with magazine subscriptions, a TV, a phone, and a motorbike, he said, and covers the cost of fuel. “My friend used to joke with me, ‘The only thing you can do with your salary is put it in the bank and save it,’ ” the second assistant said. “They take care of everything.”

			In 2000, Saravana Bhavan branched out for the first time beyond India, opening a franchise in Dubai, where Indian expats vastly outnumber native-born Emiratis. They didn’t take out any ads, but the opening-day crowd was “like an evening show for a newly released movie,” Rajagopal’s elder son, Shiva Kumaar, told me. “After lunchtime I’d have to close the restaurant and say, sorry, we ran out of food, just to give the staff a chance to catch their breath.”

			They’d eventually expand to Paris, Frankfurt, London, Dallas, Doha. The strategy was simple: open one restaurant in every city with a large expat Indian population. (One exception is Manhattan, which has two.) Cater to homesick taste buds by importing skilled chefs who can precisely re-create the flavors of Chennai. Don’t bother trying to pursue non-Indian customers.

			In 2002, the year that he opened franchises in Singapore and Silicon Valley, Rajagopal was charged with murdering the husband of a young woman he wanted to marry. In 2003, his restaurant expanded to Canada, Oman, and Malaysia, and he went to jail for the first time. By the end of 2004, the empire had opened twenty-nine branches worldwide, and a local Chennai court sentenced him to ten years in prison.

			Eight months into his prison term, the Supreme Court suspended Rajagopal’s sentence on medical grounds while awaiting appeal, citing his diabetes. In 2009, the Madras High Court not only upheld the local court’s verdict but also upgraded the conviction from culpable homicide to murder and enhanced his sentence to life in prison. After another three-month stint, he was out on bail pending a Supreme Court hearing, which would take years. The courts wouldn’t give him back his passport, but otherwise he was free to go about his life. Despite the health complaints that kept him out of prison, he was clearly well enough to work. All but one of Saravana Bhavan’s seventy-eight foreign franchises opened since the murder.

			Chennai’s tabloids published every lurid detail of the murder allegations, but Saravana Bhavan’s business just kept growing. I asked Geeta Doctor, one of Chennai’s leading food critics, what the popular reaction was to the murder. “Very exciting,” she said. “Since a woman was involved, it just seemed to increase the lubricious element surrounding the brand. It did not diminish the quality of his idlis and dosas one bit.”

			“People thought he was finished,” said Manoharan, of the competing chain Murugan Idli. “But there was no impact.”

			It helped that Rajagopal has little interest in personal fame; he promoted the restaurant’s brand, not his own, which made it easier for customers to compartmentalize. As one Saravana Bhavan loyalist told me, “Some of my friends used to say, how can you go and eat in his restaurant? You’re actually fattening the wallet of a murderer. And I used to tell them, look, I don’t know with whom I do business in my day-to-day activity, whether he’s a drunk or beats his wife. I have no idea, but I do business. So as long as he’s giving me good-quality food, I go there.” It reminded me of what many voters seem to think of Modi: As long as he delivers for India, why should I bother what happens to the press, or to leftists, or to Muslims?

			

			•   •   •

			ONE GLOOMY WEDNESDAY EVENING in August 2013, I went to meet Rajagopal at Saravana Bhavan’s headquarters, passing several of his restaurants as I inched my way through the city’s eternal gridlock. M. Mahadevan, a consultant who has helped with the company’s international expansion, met me in the dining room and escorted me to the boss’s office, introducing me on the way to Rajagopal’s thirty-nine-year-old son, Saravanan, who was gradually taking over the company’s domestic operations. For a while the three of us sat and stared at the walls: every surface was covered with blown-up images of Rajagopal’s family and favorite Hindu deities. Then suddenly Mahadevan and Saravanan rose. The office door swung open, and Rajagopal entered.

			He was grayer and jowlier than he was in the photographs I’d seen. He regarded the room with mild amusement, bowed politely, and walked behind his desk, where he faced a portrait of his guru, Variyar Swamigal, and folded his hands for a moment of prayer. With him was Ganapathi Iyer, his oldest friend, and a personal assistant and a valet. We all sat but for the valet, who stood ready with a glass of water the instant his boss coughed. Nobody relaxed.

			I asked Rajagopal if he eats meat and he laughed. “I taste vegetarian food all day,” he said. “When I go home, I need something different.”

			Saravanan agreed. “Dad always said, our taste was slightly twisted because we came from a non-veg background.”

			“Brahmins use little salt and spice, but we nonvegetarians use a lot of salt and spice in food,” Rajagopal said. “So we put that same taste in vegetarian food and people started liking it.”

			Mahadevan interjected: “He’s addressing a bigger audience.”

			Each question I asked was answered with a similar cascade of replies: Rajagopal would answer in Tamil; then Saravanan or Mahadevan or Iyer or all three would jump in to elaborate or clarify in English, a language Rajagopal doesn’t understand. It was a dynamic that sometimes clearly frustrated the boss.

			When I asked about the murder, everyone started talking at once, until Rajagopal cut impatiently through the chatter. “I’m not responsible for anyone’s death,” he said. “I used to pray to my god, why was I punished for someone else’s mistake?” There was a reason, he decided: “God wanted to give an opportunity for my son Saravanan to learn business.” Saravanan smiled faintly.

			I asked Rajagopal the secret to his success. “Give quality products wholeheartedly,” he said. “Your profits don’t matter—do your work well, and god will give you profits.” Then I raised another awkward topic: Rajagopal’s second wife. In 1972, Rajagopal married a woman named Valli; she’s the mother of his sons, and he’s married to her still. But in 1994 he married another woman, named Krithika, who was already married to one of Rajagopal’s employees. According to court documents, Rajagopal paid them to divorce.

			He frowned when I mentioned her name. “Krithika was in my life for fifteen years, and then she left,” he said. “It’s all over now. It was all there in my horoscope, that all these things would happen at a certain age, and then they would go away.” His astrologer at the time, he said, was a nomad named Ramesh who was impossible to contact—he’d just show up one day, tell Rajagopal’s fortune, charge nothing, and disappear. He gave another example of Ramesh’s powers: ten days before the death of the man whom Rajagopal was convicted of murdering, he said, he showed Ramesh a photo of the victim. “The astrologer predicted he would die and the case would come against me, and it happened,” he said. “Then the same astrologer said that nothing serious would happen with the trial.”

			Mahadevan changed the subject. “Have you ever seen a colorful room like this?”

			By the time we finished talking, it was nearly 11:00 p.m., and Rajagopal’s workday still wasn’t over. In the foyer outside his office, eight employees were standing in line waiting to speak with him. An older man with a handlebar mustache and a proud bearing told me that he was a night watchman and was there to ask Rajagopal for a promotion. Another said he hoped to be transferred to a different branch. A third said he wanted to inform Rajagopal of his coming wedding.

			I went back into Rajagopal’s office. Rajagopal was sitting at his desk with a magnifying glass, studying a spreadsheet that laid out each employee’s reason for seeing him. “My eyes are getting weak,” he explained. He consulted his assistant and then called in the first man. Rajagopal ignored him and barked into a walkie-talkie, asking the voice on the other end what had brought in this man who stood before him.

			From the walkie-talkie came a surprising answer: “They keep fighting the whole night.” That was not what he told me outside. The man hung his head. Rajagopal fired him on the spot.

			The next man came in, and another voice on the walkie-talkie told Rajagopal that he’d been fiddling with his phone in the dining room. It turned out that nearly all the employees in line had lied to me; they were there to be disciplined.

			“You’ve been with us for two and a half years—don’t you know that you’re not supposed to use your phone during work hours?” Rajagopal said.

			“I did it by mistake,” the man mumbled.

			“Answer my question!” Rajagopal snapped.

			“I forgot,” the man said.

			“How can you forget? When you’re in service, you should serve.”

			He decided to give the man another chance. Next up was the watchman.

			“I heard you got drunk and abused everyone and used foul words,” Rajagopal said. “And you should shave off your mustache. These are not good habits.”

			“I’m sorry, Annachi,” he said. “Forgive me.”

			“How can I?” Rajagopal asked. “There’s an age to forgive. At your age, it doesn’t make sense.” The watchman stared at the floor. “Are you listening?” Rajagopal asked.

			Again he decided to have mercy; the man would keep his job as long as he laid off the booze. He whispered his thanks and left without ever looking up.

			The night’s work was over; Rajagopal sat back in his chair. “What to do?” he said. “Everyone makes mistakes.”

			

			•   •   •

			WHAT WAS THE INTENSE HOLD that astrology had over Rajagopal? One rainy evening in Chennai, I made an appointment with the astrologer nearest to my hotel. He gave readings out of a gem shop. There was a short staircase leading up to the shop’s door with a metal handrail, and just as I was about to grab it, an employee came out to warn me not to touch it or else I might be electrocuted. I hadn’t even set foot inside and already I was benefiting from this establishment’s prognostications.

			At the counter I paid 501 rupees for my reading (the extra rupee was presumably for numerological reasons) and was led to a tiny office at the back of the shop. The astrologer was a small, serious man with sensible metal-framed glasses, a striped button-down shirt, and a small yellow smear of ash on his forehead with a dab of vermilion in the middle. The whole place, astrology office and gem store alike, was free from cosmic props or theatrics; from a distance you’d have thought I was meeting with my accountant. He’d already filled a page with notes—beforehand I’d texted him my surname and time and place of birth—and printed out a takeaway form for me. He consulted a black Compaq laptop for more complex astrological calculations.

			I don’t believe in astrology, but I’ve always enjoyed getting my horoscope read. I enjoy anything like that—astrology reading, tarot reading, palm reading—in which I get to step away from the present, sit down with a stranger, and, in an intimate but esoteric way, discuss my fate. When he told me my lucky number was eight and my lucky day was Saturday, I found, despite myself, an immediate urge to put those insights to use.

			He told me that I take things too much to heart, which leaves my mind a mess. (Confirmed.) Then, for the rest of the reading, he warned me about the negative effect of women on my life. I hadn’t mentioned anything about women or romantic problems. But this was the aspect he wished to emphasize. “They will trouble you, they may deceive you, they will make you incur a lot of expenditures,” he said. His advice was that I should wear two gems, a garnet and a sapphire, set in a silver ring on the middle finger of my right hand. If I wear this ring, he said very seriously, “women will behave very politely with you. You can have control over women.”

			The ring was obviously the upsell; I was supposed to buy it in the gem shop. (I did not.) What surprised me was how quickly and firmly he urged me to gain control over women.

			

			•   •   •

			THE NEXT DAY I stopped by the police station in Velachery, where criminal charges were initially filed against Rajagopal, to ask if they could supply me with any documents related to his murder case. The inspector of police, who serves as the precinct’s commanding officer, welcomed me into his office, offered me tea, and volunteered his opinion of Rajagopal. “He’s a gentleman,” the inspector said. “Fate has affected his life. But normally he’s a good man.”

			The inspector assured me that he had all the documents I wanted to see and that he’d be happy to share them with me, but first I’d have to get permission from the assistant commissioner. The assistant commissioner berated me for calling him and hung up, so instead I drove out to the Poonamallee courthouse, where the case against Rajagopal was originally tried; there I was told that all relevant documents had been moved to the Egmore District Crime Branch Record Bureau, whose officers very nicely referred me to the intelligence section joint commissioner, who told me that I could certainly see the documents but that I’d have to meet with the deputy commissioner in Adyar. When I told the deputy commissioner in Adyar what I wanted, he phoned the assistant commissioner who’d hung up on me, and they spoke for a long time before the deputy commissioner informed me that it would be impossible for me to see any documents related to the case; it could amount to “contempt of court,” he said. A local journalist later told me that press access to such documents was routine, but that I would have had better luck if I’d come ready with bribes. It seems relevant to note here that policemen always eat for free at Saravana Bhavan.

			Fortunately, the Indian court system maintains a wealth of easily accessible records. Most valuable was the appeal judgment issued by the Chennai High Court in 2009, a thirty-thousand-word document that served as its definitive statement on the case. The following is the version of events that the court found most credible.

			In the 1990s Rajagopal became fixated on Jeevajothi, the teenage daughter of one of his assistant managers. Apparently an astrologer had advised him that his business would flourish if he married her, which, if he did, would make her Rajagopal’s third simultaneous wife.

			Jeevajothi was not interested in Rajagopal. She was in love with her brother’s math tutor, Santhakumar. In 1999, Jeevajothi and Santhakumar eloped, but Rajagopal’s fixation persisted; he gave her jewelry, dresses, and several installments of cash to help her open a travel agency. While Jeevajothi accepted the gifts, she continued to resist Rajagopal’s advances, even as he tried to fill her head with wild lies about Santhakumar: he told her that Santhakumar had been secretly drugging her to make her put on weight so that she’d become a movie star; he told her that Santhakumar had HIV. She didn’t believe him. On September 28, 2001, Rajagopal came to Jeevajothi and Santhakumar’s house at midnight and started shouting about her “irresponsible attitude.” He told Jeevajothi that his second wife, too, had at first rejected him, but now she was living “a queen life.” When she warned him that she’d call the police, he offered his phone to make the call and bragged that he could manage the police with money. He warned Santhakumar that he had two days to sever their relationship.

			The young couple tried to flee to a place where they hoped Rajagopal wouldn’t find them, but five of Rajagopal’s employees, led by a restaurant manager named Daniel, intercepted them. The henchmen forced the couple into a car and took them to a warehouse, where Rajagopal appeared. According to the court’s narrative, Rajagopal hiked up his dhoti and gave Santhakumar a beating. Jeevajothi fell at Rajagopal’s feet and begged him to stop. Rajagopal told his men to take Santhakumar to the next room and continue beating him. Jeevajothi sat in the corner and wept.

			The next day, Daniel called Jeevajothi to apologize and suggested that she go to the police. She and Santhakumar filed a complaint at the city police commissioner’s office. Six days later, Rajagopal’s employees kidnapped the couple again and separated them. They pushed Jeevajothi into a Mercedes with Rajagopal, who brandished a photocopy of her police complaint and asked her mockingly about its contents. The next day he forced her along on a kind of supernatural village tour: first to Parappadi, to a specialist in the removal of black magic; then to Veppankulam, to consult with an astrologer.

			Jeevajothi didn’t know what became of Santhakumar. He reached her by phone two days later, telling her that Rajagopal had paid Daniel 500,000 rupees (or around $10,000) to kill him, but Daniel had instead let him escape and advised him to hide out in Mumbai. She urged Santhakumar to come home to her; together, Jeevajothi said, they’d plead with Rajagopal to leave them alone. “It is obvious,” the court wrote, “that their overwhelming love for each other persuaded them to take the risk.”

			Later that night, the couple, joined by Jeevajothi’s parents and brother, went to Saravana Bhavan headquarters to meet Rajagopal. He told them to wait in a nearby room. Then he interrogated Daniel about what happened to Santhakumar. Daniel lied and said that he had tied him up on a railway track, where a train ran him over, and then he burned his clothes. With a dramatic flourish, Rajagopal then called Santhakumar into the room. Who’s this then, he asked Daniel, Santhakumar’s ghost? Daniel started beating Santhakumar there in the office, enraged that he’d revealed his betrayal of Rajagopal. Jeevajothi and her family tried to intervene. Eventually Rajagopal and his henchmen put them all into a van, which, according to the court, took them on the same village tour he’d taken Jeevajothi on: black magic specialist in Parappadi; astrologer in Veppankulam.

			Two days later, Rajagopal’s men forced Santhakumar into a car with Daniel, and they drove north. On October 31, 2001, high up in the Western Ghats mountain range, along a stretch of road that passes a steep plunge into a thick jungle called Tiger Shola, forest officials discovered a body. The gorge below was hundreds of feet deep, and if the body had fallen all the way down, it likely never would have been found. But by chance it had caught on an outcropping just ten or fifteen feet below the roadside. An assistant surgeon at the local hospital concluded in his postmortem that the cause of death was “asphyxia due to throttling.” The unidentified body was buried in Kodaikanal’s Hindu cemetery. It wasn’t identified as Santhakumar until 2003. The police found the murder weapon—a dhoti—under the seat of Daniel’s car.

			The thing that amazes me most about this murder is that those who did the actual killing were not professional hit men but simply Rajagopal’s restaurant employees. They had absolutely no stake in Rajagopal’s designs on Jeevajothi. There’s no indication that he blackmailed or extorted them. What could possibly have compelled them to murder for this man, and for his reasons? If your boss asked you to commit a murder, why wouldn’t you simply quit? It’s similar to the bafflement I feel about the men who actually killed Gauri (as opposed to the men who planned and ordered her killing). Their motivation could be ascribed to religious belief. But they were also just following their handlers’ orders. Parashuram Waghmare reportedly had no idea who Gauri was until he was asked to shoot her. The money it earned him was negligible. Both he and Daniel, who strangled Santhakumar for Rajagopal, were surely aware of the strong likelihood that they’d be caught and sent to prison. Did they slip into a situation that they couldn’t figure out how to slip out of? Conspiracies have a powerful momentum. The more conspirators there are, perhaps, the more momentum the plot has, and the commitment of your fellow murderers, their apparent lack of doubt, makes the plot seem reasonable, sensible, inevitable.

			There’s also a class and caste element. Rajagopal may technically come from a “low” caste, but his caste group has become politically powerful in Tamil Nadu, and he personally had great authority, especially over his employees, as I’d seen that night in his office when several of them lined up to be scolded by him like children. His management style was pure paternalism: to give his employees comprehensive benefits with one hand—a means of control as much as a service—while thrashing them with the other. Mahadevan, the consultant, recounted to me several times an anecdote that he intended as an impressive illustration of the loyalty that Rajagopal inspired but that, in the context of the murder, I just found chilling. “I was at the Saravana Bhavan down the road, drinking coffee with some friends,” Mahadevan said. “The old man”—that’s what Mahadevan calls Rajagopal—“was in prison at that time. These big hulky guys came in, eight of them—they were local rowdies. They wanted to eat without paying. One of them was bullying the waiter, saying, ‘Hey, mister, how’s your boss? Don’t act funny, I know he’s inside.’ ” Mahadevan held his thumb and forefinger an inch apart. “There was a boy pouring water—he was only this fat. These guys were huge. And the water boy told them, ‘You’re talking about my boss. You say anything against him, and I’ll put this jug of water into your mouth. Not on you—into your mouth.’ I was astonished. The boy was three-foot-nothing. And immediately all the waiters came and stood next to him. For him, the old man was a god. Period. He’s got that kind of loyalty. He takes boys from the street, from the villages, and he teaches them. He picks them up and molds them.”

			The working-class men who murdered for Rajagopal had had it drilled into their heads all their lives that men like them took orders from men like him. A similar power dynamic exists among the conspirators who murdered Gauri: many have pointed out to me that the apparent leaders of the plot were uniformly “high” caste while the ones wielding the actual guns were uniformly “low” caste. When you’ve been told all your life whom you must obey, how do you start saying no?

			To be sure, incitement to murder would seem an obvious time to begin. Maybe they felt they had to prove themselves—as men, or, in the case of Gauri’s killers, as Hindus—no matter the cost. Maybe thinking of consequences felt like weakness to them. Maybe they feared the retribution they might suffer if they said no or backed away. Or maybe they were simply drawn to the high drama of murder—a way to feel powerful in an otherwise powerless life.

			Daniel was convicted of murder along with Rajagopal and was also released on bail, but I was never able to track him down. Jeevajothi, too, has made herself impossible to find. Who could blame her? As one local journalist put it, “The Tamil media went on a slut-shaming spree from the moment the story of the murder emerged.” Rajagopal was already renowned for his modesty, his piety, his largesse. The newspapers endlessly maligned the woman he’d widowed as some irresistible temptress rather than the victim of a powerful and murderous stalker. And then, supposedly because of his health complaints, Rajagopal walked free.

			

			•   •   •

			
			CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEMS ARE not primarily about guilt or innocence. They are about how well one manages to navigate an enormously complex and opaque system—either by skill or by luck—and how much navigational assistance one can access or afford. In India, the system’s disconnect from guilt or innocence is even starker than most, because due to the abuses of the police and the sluggishness of the courts the worst punishments—torture, imprisonment—are largely meted out long before a verdict is ever delivered. And in India, the rich and powerful are even more unlikely to be punished for crimes; corruption and overdeference mean that investigations of VIPs are typically sloppy and limp. Evidence is uncollected or disappears. Bail and furlough are easily obtained.

			Defendants without money or connections are more or less forgotten, often waiting in jail for years, even decades, for the system to arrive at a verdict in their case. These “undertrials” make up a full 70 percent of the Indian prison population. Many Indian convicts, upon receiving a guilty verdict, learn that the time they’ve served as an undertrial has already long exceeded their sentence. And the problem is worsening; the proportion of prisoners who have spent more than three years imprisoned while awaiting trial has doubled since the year 2000.

			When conviction does occur, an overt class system follows. Classes are assigned to convicts depending on the level of comfort they were used to on the outside. “A” class prisoners typically get (at a minimum, before corruption is factored in) a cot, a mattress, a pillow, fresh sheets, a mosquito net, a single- or double-occupancy cell, nonvegetarian food twice a week, newspapers, a radio, a TV, a fan, and chairs. “B” class prisoners sleep on the floor of a large hall along with anywhere from 20 to 350 fellow convicts, all sharing one bathroom. The VIP, in contrast, gets better than “A” treatment. “The VIP gets to spend more time with visitors, gets better food, gets locked up late, his movements are not restricted, and he will not be ‘shooed’ away like a disgusting creature when it’s time for lockup,” the ex-don Agni Sreedhar said in an interview. “All of this may appear trivial, but try telling this to the faceless thousands of inmates who are treated like subterranean creatures.”

			

			•   •   •

			THREE DAYS AFTER I met Rajagopal in Chennai, I took a short flight to visit the village where he grew up. Rajagopal’s driver picked me up, and he beamed when I asked him what the boss was like. “He’s like a living god to us,” he said. “He understands every problem, and he resolves it.”

			The village’s name had been upgraded from Punnaiadi to Punnai Nagar because of Rajagopal’s development of the area, he told me. The bus even stops there now. In terms of population, Punnai Nagar is no bigger than it was when Rajagopal was born. Yet the village has been transformed. In the middle of the red-dirt moonscape, Rajagopal erected a surreal monument to his success, in the form of a four-acre Saravana Bhavan campus. The centerpiece is a million-dollar Hindu temple, which is flanked by a Saravana Bhavan restaurant that employs 140 people, all for a village that has a few dozen residents.

			A worker took me on a tour of Rajagopal’s house, which he built in 1994 on the spot where his childhood hut once stood and where he had increasingly been spending his time. It was a huge beige block, nearly all of it given over to dormitory rooms for his staff. The only decorations were pictures of gods. The worker led me to a black couch on the second floor, and a few minutes later Rajagopal emerged from a back room and sat on a chair opposite me. Ganapathi Iyer was there again, as were his assistant and his valet, who pricked Rajagopal’s finger for a blood-sugar test. But this time Rajagopal was less willing to let them control the conversation.

			I asked him about a rumor that while in prison he had managed to improve the food served by the prison canteen. “You can’t change anything there,” he said. “I had to spend one lakh,” or 100,000 rupees, “every month in order to get home food delivered to me.”

			“Don’t tell him about this,” Iyer said to Rajagopal. “Do we have to talk about the corruption?”

			“They should know how corrupt we are,” Rajagopal said. “We can’t just keep bragging that we are good all the time. The truth has to be told.”

			I asked him what he likes least about his work.

			“I don’t like employees drinking and lying,” he said. “If you ask me, I don’t like that I went after Jeevajothi.”

			“Sir, not that,” Iyer said, “just office work, office work.”

			“There’s nothing I dislike about the work,” Rajagopal said.

			After a while Rajagopal said he was getting tired. As we got up to leave, he talked about how important it was for successful villagers like him to support the places they came from. “Developing villages was Gandhi’s dream,” he said. “I believe in Gandhi.”

			I asked what he admired most about Gandhi, and he laughed. “I like that he had a girl on each arm.” He turned to my interpreter. “Tell him that having girls around keeps a guy young forever.”

			“Tell him these last comments were just a joke,” his assistant said.

			

			•   •   •

			SHORTLY BEFORE I LEFT CHENNAI in 2013, I met again with Rajagopal’s son Saravanan. This time it was just the two of us, and we talked for hours in the foyer outside his father’s office. Saravanan is a large, gentle man, his husky voice rarely much louder than a whisper.

			He described his father as a “keep-guessing character.” “You don’t know what he will come up wanting,” he said. “A phone call comes, and you have to be dead sure what he’s asking and what you’re answering. That fear is there for everybody.” Is he an intimidating boss to work for? I asked. “When he wants things done a certain way, he’s quite intimidating,” Saravanan said. “It has to be done at any cost.”

			If he’d had his choice, he said, he would have become an engineer. “My dad said, no, we come from a business community; you have to study commerce.” So he did two years of commerce, and then Rajagopal told him he had to study hotel management. From there his father assigned him to a seven-year rotation through the company’s departments: purchasing vegetables, working the graveyard shift in the kitchen, manning a Saravana sweets shop, making ice cream, working in maintenance and accounting and human resources.

			In this last role, one of Saravanan’s innovations was to systematize the hiring process. An in-house medical team recorded each applicant’s vital statistics. A coffee man, he explained, should be small and quiet, while a dosa chef needs to be at least five feet six. Then a staff psychologist interviewed the candidate, and all the information they collected was entered into a software application that Saravanan developed.

			But he was quick to note the limits of such algorithms. Just that morning, he said, the medical team alerted him to their concerns over a particular applicant: they noticed that he had cigarette burns on his forearm, apparently self-inflicted. Saravanan decided to call the man and ask him what happened. “He told me, ‘I had a love affair, it failed, she got married, I got agitated,’ ” Saravanan said. “He made a mistake that was a small part of his life.” The company was strict, but not unforgiving. He told the man he would hire him. And if the job worked out, Saravana Bhavan would pay to erase his scars.

			

			•   •   •

			IN 2019, SIX YEARS AFTER I met Rajagopal, it was remarkable how much had changed. In January 2019, Saravana Bhavan tried to break the Guinness world record for longest dosa. Fifty Saravana Bhavan chefs used thirty-seven kilos of batter and three kilos of ghee on a 105-foot dosa pan designed by the Saravana Bhavan engineering team. But the dosa fell apart when they tried to roll it, and they were disqualified. On March 29, ten years after the Madras High Court sentenced Rajagopal to life in prison and eighteen years after the murder, the Supreme Court finally ruled on his appeal, upholding his life sentence along with those of his accomplices. For health reasons he was given until July 7 to surrender.

			Now that there was no way out, there was a palpable shift in the public mood toward Rajagopal. Three days after the Supreme Court ruling, the company opened a new branch of the restaurant in Auckland, but the launch was rife with problems, including equipment failures and staff shortages. The local Australian operator of the franchise told the press he was distancing himself from Rajagopal. “The brand has outgrown the creator,” he said.

			There was a general sense in India, too, that the restaurant had rapidly declined. A friend in Chennai told me that these days, if a conversation fizzles out, the easiest thing to interject is “The quality at Saravana Bhavan has really gone down,” and everyone will jump in to agree. I could see why. On my first day back in Chennai, I dropped in at a Saravana Bhavan and found it to be surprisingly dingy, with a desultory atmosphere. The waitstaff drifted around, mostly leaning on the counter and chatting with each other. No one came to my table, so after fifteen minutes I left without eating.

			Rajagopal’s decline had been even more abrupt. As his deadline to enter prison approached, his lawyers requested more time on grounds of illness. “Surrender immediately,” a Supreme Court justice replied on July 9, two days after the deadline. “If he was so ill, why did he not indicate illness even for one day during hearings of his appeal?” A few hours later, Rajagopal pulled up to the prison in an ambulance and was wheeled in on a stretcher, with a pulse oximeter attached to his left index finger and an oxygen mask on his face. He was admitted to the prison ward of a government hospital. His dramatic arrival was widely ridiculed as just one more attempt to evade justice by playing sick.

			But he really was ill. On July 13, he had a major heart attack and was placed on a ventilator. Doctors in the prison ward said he was in “extremely critical condition.” On July 16, the Madras High Court consented that he be shifted to a private hospital. His son Saravanan submitted an extraordinary list of ailments he said his father suffered from: type 2 diabetes, stage 3 kidney disease, hypertension, near blindness, fluid on the brain, calcified lung, obesity, sleep apnea, amnesia, and Parkinson’s disease. On July 18, 2019, Rajagopal died in Chennai’s Vijaya Health Centre. On August 2, almost like a final insult, a court ordered Saravana Bhavan to pay 110,000 rupees to a customer for food poisoning.

			Jeevajothi was now thirty-nine years old and had a ten-year-old son. She issued a rare statement to the press: “It was because of my just struggle that the Supreme Court upheld his conviction and his life sentence. As long as I live, I can never forget what he did. Though his death is saddening in some ways, I cannot accept that he died without spending a day of his life sentence in prison. Now my husband’s soul will not be able to find peace. To me it will remain an unhealed wound.”

			When I got to Chennai, I met with one of Rajagopal’s lawyers. “Everybody thought that it was a blatant lie,” he said of Rajagopal’s complaints of illness. “Many people do these tricks. But in this case what we pleaded was real. And it was to be made true only by his death.” He complained wryly about India’s dysfunctional legal system—“the British, even they don’t follow the system which they have given us”—and he said that Rajagopal’s whole legal team was shocked that the Supreme Court had upheld his sentence, especially given that his lead counsel was the legendary Sushil Kumar. He said that “not less than ten thousand people” attended the viewing of Rajagopal’s body in his home—most of them current and former employees, he guessed.

			In committing his crimes, Rajagopal was not motivated by religion in the same sense as Gauri’s killers were motivated by religion. There was a sarcastic joke that went around about the team of men whom Rajagopal had bullied into killing Santhakumar: one was a Hindu, one was a Muslim, and one was a Christian, a true testament to Indian bhai-bhai unity, like a murderous remake of the classic Bollywood musical comedy Amar Akbar Anthony. But even if Rajagopal was an equal-opportunity employer of henchmen, in another sense his crimes were clearly motivated by religion. Rajagopal pursued Jeevajothi so single-mindedly only because he placed so much faith in the Vedic astrologer who advised him to do so. After the murder, he forced Jeevajothi to participate in a series of rituals in temples across South India, in a ghastly attempt to sanctify their union against her will. He had total faith that the South Indian deity Murugan, also known as Saravana, was guiding his life. Before he died, his lawyer told me, Rajagopal “very staunchly believed he will never go to prison. ‘Lord Murugan will not leave me to suffer,’ he would say. And ultimately that’s what happened.” For most of his life, Rajagopal was devoted to the guru Variyar Swamigal, who died eight years before the murder. By all accounts, Variyar was a wise and good guru. Even the guru-hating Periyar admitted to admiring him. But Variyar’s goodness and blessings seem to have convinced Rajagopal that he, too, was imperviously good.

			In social psychology, there is an idea known as moral licensing: the seeming paradox that the more good a person does, the more license he allows himself to do bad. That’s why, the theory goes, you’ll so often find heinous scandals behind the scenes at the most idealistic of charities, or unspeakable sex abuse committed by the most benevolent-seeming clergymen. It’s not mere hypocrisy, the theory goes—it’s an unconscious moral calculus. One version of the moral-licensing theory is known as the moral credits mechanism: the idea that the more good deeds a person racks up, the more he feels he can withdraw from that account to do bad. But the version I find most compelling—and which I think applies in Rajagopal’s case—is that when a person is praised incessantly for doing good, he can come to think that anything he does is intrinsically moral. In the years leading up to the murder, Rajagopal’s every action was eagerly endorsed by his various religious advisers, and he was so profoundly admired by his employees that they referred to him as a god. So he began to act like one.

			What is religion for? Is it a guidebook to loving and ethical behavior? Is it a framework for coming to grips with a painfully confusing universe that science falls far short of explaining? Is it a method for reconciling the acute sense of alienation we humans feel in our strange, unique, lonely role among animals? Is it a compendium of our species’ most timeless feats of wisdom and imagination? Is it a tool for finding and binding earthly communities? Is it a propaganda machine for endless war with communities that aren’t yours? Is it an emergency help line for times of impossible crisis? Is it a cosmic blame-laundering scheme? Is it a terrible, inscrutable flaming sword of justice? Is it a next-life or afterlife insurance policy? Or is it a magical system for getting what you want, at any cost? For Rajagopal it might have been all of these things at different times.

			I like to believe that religion can encourage goodness and selflessness, but another person’s idea of a good and selfless act might be horrifying to me—patriarchal or repressive or violent. Religion can just as easily justify or even encourage the absolute worst atrocities—as with Rajagopal’s murder, or with America’s most prolific serial killer, Samuel Little, who told police, “God put me on earth to do what I did. He made me.”

			Gauri’s killers seem to have convinced themselves that murder itself was a good deed. As with Rajagopal, the idea that they had divine approval—and, perhaps, the idea that their guru, Jayant Athavale, the leader of Sanatan Sanstha, was God himself—cleared their consciences. Further rationalizations might not have been necessary. Many scholars of Hindutva have noted that its most fervent activists are often largely ignorant of the details of Hinduism. “It did not take much to impersonate Hindutvawadis,” writes the investigative journalist Ashish Khetan, who has done extensive undercover reporting among Hindutva activists. “You needed no real knowledge of the Hindu scriptures nor to be well-versed in Hindu religious practice…. Spew some abuse in the direction of Muslims and you were most of the way to being welcomed into the fold.” I’ve heard the same about typical ISIS recruits: most know very little about the scriptures and teachings of Islam. What they do know is that God is on their side, and therefore that victory is assured.
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			CHAPTER 18

			The Kingdom of Absolute Truth

			ON NOVEMBER 23, 2018, the Special Investigation Team submitted a charge sheet accusing eighteen men of conspiring together to murder Gauri Lankesh. By then they’d arrested sixteen of those men. The two remaining men were still at large. The charge sheet was a whopping 9,235 pages in length, a record of all the evidence the SIT had assembled against the men to make the argument that they should be charged with murder: forensic reports, handwriting samples, witness statements, statements from most of the accused, narrative summaries, and much, much more, most of it in Kannada.

			Johnson at The Indian Express gave me a scan of the thing when I got back to Bangalore in the summer of 2019, but I needed time to get the relevant parts translated into English. I was especially impatient to read the statements of the accused, in Kannada and Hindi, which alone totaled 255 pages.

			There was one long English-language document included in the charge sheet: an entire book, titled Kshatradharma Sadhana, multiple copies of which were found in the suspects’ possession. Its author is Jayant Athavale, the founder and guru of Sanatan Sanstha. Eighty-six pages long, the book is volume 1E in Athavale’s Science of Spirituality series; its subtitle is Spiritual Practice of Protecting Seekers and Destroying Evildoers.

			“Violence towards evildoers is non-violence itself,” he assures the reader. “It is a sin not to slay an evildoer…. The sin of killing the undeserving is the same as not slaying one who deserves it.” And for these killings, the law of karma “does not apply”: “Destroy evildoers if you have been advised by saints or Gurus to do so. Then these acts are not registered in your name…. But this is also not registered in the name of the saint or Guru because They both are the manifest forms of God.” The spiritually motivated assassin is sure to succeed. “It does not matter if one is not used to shooting. When he shoots along with chanting the Lord’s name the bullet certainly strikes the target due to the inherent power in the Lord’s name.”

			The book is nothing less than a manual for murder in the cause of spirituality. It makes a point of repeatedly clarifying that this is not a metaphor: it is an extended argument for the “physical destruction” of any people whom “seekers” determine to be “evildoers,” complete with many quotations from multiple scriptures, all of them framed in a way that seems to exhort the reader to kill. The book enables murder as an act of goodness.

			“Society has been invaded by germs in the form of evildoers. If these germs are not destroyed then the entire society shall be destroyed,” Athavale writes. “In order to protect yourselves it is now imperative to destroy evildoers in society otherwise they will destroy you.”

			In typical Sanatan Sanstha style, everything is broken down mock-empirically, complete with multiple tables. “In general, society comprises of 5% evildoers and 10% seekers. The rest of the 85% are passive, self-centered good-for-nothings from the social point of view as they are concerned only about their families.” The “crusade against evil,” Athavale calculates, is 65 percent a spiritual battle, 30 percent a psychological battle, and 5 percent a physical battle.

			When a seeker is ready to destroy evildoers, the first thing to do is “start making lists of evildoers.” He suggests consulting the pages of Sanatan Sanstha’s newspaper, Sanatan Prabhat, for inspiration in compiling a hit list, because it publishes “news about evildoings.” When the time comes to kill, the seeker should show no mercy. “Evildoers do not deserve to be pardoned. One should certainly not be moved by the emotional talk of an enemy and should never let him go scot free or pardon him.”

			“This subject is quite different from others,” Athavale admits in the book’s conclusion. “Consequently you will probably be stunned. However you should contemplate on the topic then you will realise how essential it is for you with regard to spiritual progress.”

			

			•   •   •

			BEFORE ANYTHING ELSE I caught up with Kavitha. We met in her office on the top floor of her father’s office building, a room lined with posters of her own and her father’s films, along with favorites by other directors: Kiarostami’s Close-Up, Tarkovsky’s Nostalghia, Kurosawa’s Ikiru, along with Roman Holiday (Lankesh was an Audrey Hepburn fan). She looked stylish in a dark blue kurta and tortoise-shell glasses, and as usual she cried silently and continuously whenever we spoke of Gauri, wiping her tears away with a pink handkerchief.

			Since I’d last seen her, she’d released a new film called Summer Holidays—a light, charming adventure about a group of kids who stumble on a mystery and learn a lesson about conservation. It was a family affair: in her film debut, Kavitha’s daughter, Esha, played the lead, alongside one of Indrajit’s sons. Even one of the family dogs had a role. And Gauri appeared in a cameo, which Kavitha filmed two months before her death—as a crusading journalist, naturally. She was still deciding what to make next. “I got a very bad offer for a film that I didn’t like, so I refused to make it,” she said. “Some coming-of-age comedy, four boys trying to lose their virginity. You know how it is. I’m not in that mental state of mind. I mean, if I was twenty, maybe I would have thought of it. I’ve got another idea with two women protagonists. And one more. I seriously want to work on Gauri’s film, actually. A film on Gauri.”

			The next day we met at her home in southern Bangalore. Kavitha mentioned that her neighborhood, because it’s well-off, is a BJP stronghold, and she constantly hears her neighbors sing the praises of Modi. Her neighbor across the street stopped talking to her after Gauri was murdered. Esha appeared to say hello, a tenth grader now, bright and polite and seemingly happy. I’d told Kavitha I’d wanted to interview Esha, but in the event I couldn’t bring myself to do it. It didn’t feel right to interrupt a fourteen-year-old’s good mood with a journalistic interrogation about her aunt’s murder. Anyway, I knew how she felt because she’d published an essay about it a few months before. “One of the feelings I have thought about the most is pain,” Esha wrote. “A year has passed but I feel the pain as if it was yesterday. Maybe I am not crying anymore like I was back then, but the void inside me still feels just as deep as it did that day. Initially, I felt very angry towards the killers. I wanted to hurt them the way they hurt her. I wanted them to experience the pain we felt. I still do. But the bitter truth is that my aunt will not come back even if they suffer.”

			Gauri had always had a special connection with children; “in her spontaneity, she was like a child,” her friend Mamta Sagar wrote. She kept a stash of little toys to give to friends’ kids when they visited. If someone brought a kid to one of her parties, she’d sit on the floor and devote her attention to them. “She was very genuinely interested,” Vivek Shanbhag told me. “And they loved her, because she was very gentle with them.”

			Esha was born just seven months before Gauri Lankesh Patrike debuted, and she was the only thing that could pull Gauri away from her newspaper and her activism. When she was little, Esha wrote, Gauri would tell her bedtime stories of Cinderella—but Gauri’s Cinderella was always a career woman who would never pine for a prince and who had adventures on her own terms. When Esha was older, Gauri would take her to hear speeches by student activists or make her watch them on YouTube. But she didn’t want children of her own. In a 2015 interview, Pratibha Nandakumar made Gauri laugh by asking her how her life would be different if she were married. “They’d have left me by now!” Gauri said, listing her weekly, her publishing work, her activism, and her court cases. “This leaves no room for me to miss anything. I am not one of those ‘traditional Indian women.’ ” At some point she had an abortion; I’d heard from one friend that she’d been pushed into it and regretted it, but Kavitha told me this wasn’t so.

			“I knew what she did, I knew what she loved and I knew especially what she hated, but I did not know how many lives she had influenced,” Esha wrote. She was astonished to see how many thousands showed up to view her body. “I wish I had spent more time with her,” she wrote. “I wish I had told her more often how truly I loved her. I wish I had told her how proud I was of her and the work she did.”

			

			•   •   •

			A FEW DAYS LATER I finally got to meet with M. N. Anucheth, the lead investigator of the SIT. Now that his investigation was nearly complete—“95 percent done,” he said—he was able to talk and generous with his time. We met at the Bangalore police’s Criminal Investigation Department complex, which is where the SIT is headquartered, and as we passed through its generic white cubicles, he told me that now there were 15 members of the SIT, but at its peak there were no fewer than 226 police officers working on the investigation into Gauri’s murder, and 40 or 50 people whose contribution was significant. “It is not just a one-person show,” he said. “It was not Mr. B. K. Singh or it was not Anucheth who cracked the case. It was this SIT. So we always refer to ourselves as the team, never individually. That was a decision we took from the beginning: we swim together or sink together.” (Later in our conversation, though, he did single out Singh for praise: “I think he’s a genius! Very soft-spoken. His mind is always working. Even when he’s sleeping, I think he’s always thinking about this case.”)

			Handsome, fit, and very serious, Anucheth walks fast and talks fast, although sometimes he’d freeze while searching for a word, apparently out of total exhaustion. (A few months earlier, citing his success in the Gauri investigation, the Supreme Court handed him an additional assignment as the new lead investigator for the Kalburgi assassination, on top of his primary duty as a deputy commissioner of police.) He wore a khaki uniform, a navy-blue beret, and a tidy black mustache, and laughed only when I asked him an unexpected question, but otherwise never smiled, and often winced.

			From the police perspective, “it was a blind murder case,” he said. “The motive itself was not clear. We were groping in the dark. That was the biggest challenge. So we probed along the Naxal line, personal enmity, something to do with her official dealings, something to do with her writings, her personal life. A lot of people had filed defamation cases against her. There was a rumor that some Naxalites were unhappy with her, but we were able to talk with them and we sent feelers out, and that angle was ruled out. We probed even Indrajit Lankesh, because there was a fight with Gauri, and there was some bad blood, but it had been sorted out. We were not able to get clear direction. But we started eliminating the chaff from the grain.” He quoted a famous Sherlock Holmes line: “When you have eliminated the impossible, whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth.” (In my experience, Indian Police Service officers love to quote Sherlock Holmes.) “We started closing in. There were only a few angles remaining. Finally we narrowed it down to this right-wing thing.” The clincher for focusing on the right-wing angle, he said, came around two months into the investigation, when ballistic testing definitively proved that the same gun had been used to kill three of the victims in the pattern: Gauri, Kalburgi, and Pansare. Pansare had been shot with two guns, and the SIT was furthermore confident that the second gun used to shoot Pansare was also used on Dabholkar, the first victim in the pattern—meaning that only two guns were used for all four murders. One of the suspects told the SIT that he’d thrown the guns into Vasai Creek, near Mumbai. The Central Bureau of Investigation was now attempting to search the creek for the weapons. It sounded like an enormous headache, not least because the search was constrained by environmental regulations since the creek is a protected mangrove area.

			Before filing their 9,235-page charge sheet, the SIT had invoked Karnataka’s organized-crime law—a move that suggested that Gauri’s murder had been committed on behalf of a larger organization or syndicate. The invocation of the organized-crime law also had the benefit of extending the deadline to submit the document by another ninety days. The reason the charge sheet needed to be so unusually long, Anucheth explained, is that there were no direct eyewitnesses to the murder—and under Indian law “ocular evidence” is paramount. That, he said, was their second-biggest challenge. So they had to collect an enormous amount of circumstantial evidence to compensate for the shortcoming.

			Among the sixteen men so far arrested, he said, “some have been very reluctant to cooperate with the investigation. Some have cooperated with the investigation. I would say that the person who shot her did cooperate with the investigation.” He said that they had custody of Parashuram Waghmare, the suspected shooter, for fifteen days, and he cried the entire time. In contrast, Amol Kale, the man they suspect of being the group’s ringleader, “just doesn’t care. He’s remorseless, just so coldhearted.” But when Kale realized how much they’d already figured out, “he was shocked. We were able to tell him that whether you cooperate or not, we’re going to find out. The shock on his face—that was good.

			“This gang had done everything possible to conceal themselves,” he said. “It was very carefully and meticulously planned. They conspired, they planned, they rehearsed, they practiced, they executed. All five stages were done very professionally. The amount of evidence we get is very less. So we had to use some scientific techniques.”

			Their first breakthrough after the ballistic match was aided by machine-learning analysis of phone data. First they compiled a list of phone numbers associated with thousands of different extremists, both on the left and on the right, and focused on calls placed in the two or three months leading up to Gauri’s murder. Based on the patterns they detected, they put a small number of people on the list under surveillance and intercepted their phone calls. “One of them happened to be K. T. Naveen Kumar,” he said. “He was not known to us before this. We were not initially sure of it.” But then, in late October 2017, they listened in on a phone call in which Naveen Kumar told a friend that he’d been in hiding because of Gauri’s murder. “At random, why would a person talk about Gauri’s case?” he asked. “And why would he be absconding? We continued our surveillance. Then we realized they were planning the murder of Professor Bhagawan.”

			They also collected all of the Bangalore traffic police’s CCTV footage from a five-kilometer radius around Gauri’s house and used artificial intelligence to pick out all motorcycles carrying two helmet-wearing people. This process helped them determine exactly one thing: the make and model of the motorcycle. Based on its local prevalence, this reduced the number of possible motorcycles from around five million to around thirty thousand.

			They used AI, too, to help generate images of some of the suspects still at large. The accused deliberately knew very little about each other, precisely to make it difficult for the police if any of them got caught. “So we’ll get probably a fake number, fake name, fake accent,” he said. “The only thing we’ll get real about him is his physical description.” These images helped them make their second arrest, Sujith Kumar, whom they knew little about aside from what Naveen Kumar told them.

			Local tech companies aided the SIT with these AI and machine-learning techniques, he said. “They don’t want to be named. But there are two companies which helped us.” I said that he must have had a lot of help to choose from, given that Bangalore tech firms are where lots of AI innovation is happening. “It’s…happening, but not many people want to cooperate once they realize it’s a criminal investigation,” he said. “They don’t want to get involved. It was difficult to find a company which does it and is willing. We did find. They did help us out. And we are very grateful for that.”

			In the CCTV footage recovered from Gauri’s house, the shooter appears for only six seconds, and his face is obscured by his motorcycle helmet. And because it was night, the camera was shooting on infrared mode, which further muddied the image. “We had to prove very rudimentary things, like, is this the same guy, was he at the spot?” Anucheth said. “So we did something called gait analysis.” In June 2018, after the SIT captured Parashuram Waghmare, they brought him to Gauri’s house and had him reenact the shooting to see if he moved in the same manner as the figure in the footage. “We reconstructed the entire sequence of events and recorded it using the same CCTV camera, and then it was matched frame by frame.”

			Another suspect took the police to a wooded area where Waghmare and the other conspirators had practiced shooting. The SIT came equipped with an EDAX machine (for energy dispersive X-ray analysis). “We looked for holes in the trees, and we’d use this machine to see if there’s any copper or iron in it. That means a bullet has passed through, and we’d just cut it down and find it.” One of those bullets was a ballistic match for the ones that struck Gauri.

			Given how little many of the suspects knew about each other, the interrogations were a challenge. “They kept the information compartmentalized,” Anucheth said. “It was on a need-to-know basis. There was only so much he could tell you. So it is like doing a big jigsaw puzzle where you have only few pieces of the puzzle.” Sometimes it was literally a puzzle—the police had to decode hundreds of phone numbers written in a cipher and dozens of aliases and code names that they found in the diaries they recovered from five of the suspects. Mostly, though, the contents of the diaries were genuinely diaristic. “Generally their feelings, their perceptions in life, daily thoughts,” he said. “There is a rule in Sanatan Sanstha that you have to write your own faults. A lot of the diaries had this kind of faultfinding. So one guy writes that he had a dream about a girl and he had those nasty thoughts. They write down their faults, and they discuss it, and he tries to overcome it. That’s one of the techniques in their cult. It did give us an insight into their psychology.” The killers, it turns out, were writers, too. Unfortunately for me, their diaries are not included in the charge sheet.

			Finally, there was genetic evidence. At one of the group’s hideouts, the SIT found a few strands of hair. DNA testing matched them to Amol Kale, the suspected ringleader. DNA was also essential when the SIT recovered four toothbrushes. One of the suspects had been tasked with destroying all the killers’ clothing and other personal effects. He was supposed to have burned everything, but the things he couldn’t destroy by burning he threw on the roadside on the outskirts of Bangalore; every hundred yards or so he’d throw more evidence out of his car window. When the SIT captured him, he showed them the spots where he’d tossed the items. They found a bag with four toothbrushes in it, and one of the toothbrushes was a DNA match for Waghmare, the shooter.

			Anucheth seemed entirely unbothered by the constant criticism the SIT received when it appeared to the public that they had made no progress in the first half year after Gauri’s murder. “Naturally, we were derided, teased, criticized, mocked,” he said. “There was a lot of sarcasm spewed on us. But that never affected us, because when you’re doing a professional job, you can’t put a time limit on it.”

			I asked him about the suspects’ allegations that they’d been tortured in custody. He groaned audibly. “Yeah, see, this is a standard tactic adopted by this set of advocates for this organization wherein they make allegations against everyone,” he said. “Right from the beginning they started making allegations against the police, citing custodial torture, assault, ill treatment.” He categorically denied that the SIT had tortured or otherwise mistreated the suspects.

			I noted that the charge sheet includes the entirety of the Sanatan Sanstha book Kshatradharma Sadhana and asked him if the SIT had concluded that the killers were taking orders from the group. “There’s a link which is missing,” he said. He said that they know that the group was inspired by the writings of Sanatan Sanstha, and at least four of the accused had been members of the group, but the SIT found that they quit the Sanatan Sanstha “specifically to go underground” and start their nameless assassination syndicate. “Specifically whether the orders came from Sanatan Sanstha, we have not been able to prove conclusively.” He said that they came quite close; in the course of their investigation, they found that the top editor of Sanatan Sanstha’s daily newspaper—Shashikant Rane, alias Kaka—was very close to the assassins. But Rane died of a heart attack in April 2018, before the SIT knew of his involvement and before they’d arrested anyone but Naveen Kumar. He seemed to think that the moment to directly implicate Sanatan Sanstha had passed. Two of the suspects named in the charge sheet were still at large, but he did not expect any additional people to be charge sheeted.

			I asked him about the reports that a local TV news channel had ruined the SIT’s plan to arrest one suspect at a wedding. Anucheth laughed with surprise, then looked miserable. “Yeah, it happened,” he said. “It’s all water under the bridge.” In the end they did capture the suspect, albeit several months later. “The setback was that someone on our team had leaked operational information,” he said. “I was more worried about that, because it would put the operation in jeopardy and my team on the ground in physical danger.” The officer responsible was removed from the SIT. After that, the SIT members shared their findings with each other only on a need-to-know basis. It occurred to me that this precaution paralleled the way the killers compartmentalized information.

			I asked him if he had any concerns that any member of the SIT might be politically sympathetic to right-wing extremism. This struck me as highly probable, given that hundreds of policemen were assigned to the SIT at its peak. “Well, I think we were lucky to have a very professional investigation team which put aside its personal ideology or personal beliefs and just concentrated on doing the job at hand,” he said. “I don’t for a single instant believe any of our people were compromised or put their personal beliefs or ideologies ahead of their own professional work. I think we were lucky. This team was handpicked. So that helped. I myself, I’m a practicing Hindu. And that doesn’t mean that I have to compromise on my work. I mean, see, I don’t care who’s sitting next to me in a train, man. Or when I go to a hotel, I don’t ask, has it been used by somebody? I will not use that plate. When I’m traveling in a flight, I don’t mind chatting up the next person. I don’t ask him what is his religion or what is his caste. Majority of us are like that.”

			I asked him if, in the Indian police in general, there are political sympathies in one direction or another that interfere with police work. “I don’t think so,” he said. “I’ve been in the service for ten years. Never have I found any political party or anybody telling us to work in one particular way or favor one particular—never. See, end of the day, any person sitting in a responsible position understands the gravity of the situation. You cannot have a situation where people are killed for their voice or their beliefs. I think freedom of speech and expression is a fundamental right, and I think we should do everything in our power to uphold it. And everybody does so. There are some fundamental things which everybody believes in like the right to life, the right to speech. Everybody should uphold it, and they do uphold it. I’m talking about people in power. Otherwise it’s not possible to have a democracy. Democracy is on some fundamental principles. I think there’s a lot of focus in one section of the media to highlight intolerance, or so-called atrocities against the minorities. But I don’t think it is true. I think it is a perception created by certain sections of the media. No government supports any of these activities. When they come to the responsible post, everybody behaves responsibly.”

			It was one of the naivest things I’ve ever heard anyone say, and it was impossible that such an intelligent and perceptive man could be that naive. We were inundated with evidence of irresponsibility and intolerance among those in authority. It’s well documented that Hindu nationalists work systematically to increase their numbers in India’s police forces, and that Hindutva militias have often worked closely with police during riots and pogroms. But Anucheth said it with total conviction, and he made a point of saying it. Maybe the only way to function in India as an honest cop, as Anucheth seemed to be, was to lie to yourself.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 19

			New India

			INDIA’S SEVENTEENTH GENERAL ELECTION since independence occurred in seven phases in April and May 2019. In early 2019, there was much chatter that the BJP seemed to be weakening—they’d lost some state-level elections—although Modi’s opponent for prime minister, Rahul Gandhi, seemed no better prepared to challenge him than he was in 2014. In his first term, Modi had nearly fulfilled his promise to build 100 million toilets across India, a significant achievement against a problem that India has long struggled with. But he’d met few of his other campaign promises for development, infrastructure, anticorruption, and employment, and the economic mood was distinctly unfavorable for the incumbent. Unemployment was at its highest level in forty-five years, and farmer incomes had plummeted. One journalist I spoke to was already describing Modi as a “lame duck.” “He is just preening, making speeches, but I don’t think he’ll come back,” he said. “I think people have seen the shit. The real people of this country are the poor, the downtrodden, the marginalized, the minorities. They’re huge in number, and I think they’ve been really taken for a ride. They will hit back. And I think his best allies have deserted him or are going to desert him.”

			The mood changed dramatically on February 14, when a young Kashmiri suicide bomber killed forty members of the Indian Central Reserve Police Force in Pulwama, the deadliest attack in Kashmir in decades. The Pakistani militant group Jaish-e-Mohammed claimed responsibility. Modi responded with ferocious nationalistic speeches, and his approval rating soared. On February 26, Modi ordered an air strike across the border in the town of Balakot, which he called a “non-military preemptive action” against a Jaish-e-Mohammed “terror camp.” Modi-aligned media crowed that the strike killed hundreds of terrorists. Many TV channels endlessly aired what they called actual footage of the strike—which turned out to be archive film of an unrelated bombing.

			In fact, nothing significant was hit in Balakot; the bombs landed on an uninhabited hilltop, and the only human injury was a sixty-two-year-old man who suffered a small cut above his eye. The BJP coined a new election slogan: “We will enter your house and kill you. This is New India.” At one rally, Modi bellowed, “Are you happy that Modi kills by entering homes? Doesn’t your chest puff out with pride?” At another, Modi urged voters to press the BJP button as if they were “pressing the trigger to shoot terrorists in the chest.”

			The election results were released on May 23, 2019. Modi won in an even bigger landslide than in 2014, becoming the first Indian prime minister to win two absolute majorities in Parliament in a row since 1971. “It was a big shock,” Gauri’s friend Shivasundar told me. “This kind of mandate nobody expected. This kind of massive defeat for the people who otherwise actually had some hope.” Forty-three percent of the incoming parliamentarians had criminal charges against them, including rape and murder. The most notorious of these was a Hindu sadhu, or ascetic, named Pragya Singh Thakur. Thakur was a prime suspect accused in a terror bombing in the city of Malegaon, in Maharashtra, in 2008, in which six were killed and over a hundred injured. Although Thakur’s trial in the Malegaon bombing case was ongoing and she was out on bail due to health complaints, the BJP had selected her to run in Bhopal, Madhya Pradesh. In May, Thakur called Godse, Gandhi’s assassin, a “patriot.” She won her seat overwhelmingly.

			Among the losers was Prakash Raj, a South Indian movie star who was close to the Lankesh family. He had run for election on what could be called the Gauri platform. “They thought she could be silenced, but she lives through us,” he said in January 2019. “And if I end up in the Parliament, it will be Gauri’s voice that will be heard there.” He got so few votes that he didn’t get back his election deposit. In acknowledgment of his second consecutive defeat, Rahul Gandhi stepped down as president of the Congress Party. The next day he appeared in court to plead not guilty to defaming the RSS for linking them to the murder of Gauri. “Anybody who speaks against the ideology of the BJP, against the ideology of the RSS, is pressured, beaten, attacked and even killed,” he had said the day after her murder.

			As Modi ascended to new heights, another Indian giant exited. On June 10, 2019, Girish Karnad, the playwright and polymath who’d introduced Gauri to activism, died in his sleep at the age of eighty-one. When I saw the news, my first reaction was relief that he’d made it to the end without being murdered. As part of his dying instructions he had refused a state funeral, and his family sent away the police who came to give him a twenty-one-gun salute. The many remembrances that followed struggled to capture the sheer breadth and variety of his life and work, the way he seemed to embody Indian civilization itself. “The sums don’t add up: All of this couldn’t just relate to one man,” one wrote.

			In Ramachandra Guha’s tribute to Karnad, he recalled a 2017 protest on the steps of Bangalore Town Hall against the increasing lynchings of Muslims. “As we stood silently holding up our placards, it began to rain,” Guha wrote. “We carried on standing, in the open. A figure slipped in silently on my left. It was Girish. He had walked at least ten minutes in the rain from whichever side road his driver had parked his car in, carrying his cylinder and his tubes with him. He stood, and asked the person to his left if he could hold his placard. A student rushed in with an umbrella, which he opened and passed on to Karnad, who immediately shared it with the person to his right (me). Meanwhile, a group of Muslim men, in the row in front of us, murmured with delight and approval. One of them said to the other, in English: ‘Girish Karnad Sir has arrived!’ That so many Hindus (and Christians) had come from all parts of the city mattered to them; that this particular Indian had come mattered most of all.”

			After the election, there was an immediate spike in physical attacks on minorities. In May, an Adivasi professor in Jharkand was arrested for a 2009 Facebook post in which he defended the right to eat beef. In June, a BJP leader in Uttar Pradesh wrote on Facebook of Muslims, “There is only one solution for them. Hindu brothers should make a group of 10 and gang rape their mothers and sisters openly on the streets and then hang them in the middle of the bazaar for others to see.”

			On July 23, the BJP received another unexpected gift: in Karnataka, the unstable governing coalition finally collapsed. This time the BJP successfully formed a government. Three days later, Yediyurappa, Karnataka’s first BJP chief minister, was once again sworn in to the state’s top office.

			Many progressives had warned that if Modi won a second term, he would move more aggressively to implement an authoritarian and overtly Hindutva agenda. They were absolutely right. A pair of nakedly authoritarian moves came early. On July 25, the new Parliament passed a law gutting India’s powerful Right to Information law (its equivalent of the U.S. Freedom of Information Act). On August 2, Parliament amended the UAPA, or Unlawful Activities (Prevention) Act, giving the central government the power to unilaterally declare any person a terrorist, without trial. The central government immediately started putting these new powers to use on opposition figures.

			Hindutva activists have a long-standing wish list of the changes they’d like to see in India: A temple for Rama should be built on the former site of the Babri Masjid in Ayodhya. Article 370 of the Indian Constitution, which granted special status to India’s only Muslim-majority state, Jammu and Kashmir, should be revoked. The constitution should be further amended to remove the word “secular” from its preamble and to formally declare India a Hindu rashtra, or Hindu nation. Hindi should be imposed as the official national language, a demand captured in the right-wing slogan “Hindi, Hindu, Hindutva.” The civil code should be made uniform so that religious minorities would no longer be allowed their own variations in personal law. And Muslims in particular should be segregated, suppressed, and marginalized.

			In the first half year of his second term, Modi seemed to be working through most of the items on that list one by one. First came Article 370. On August 5, his government suddenly and unilaterally revoked it, and also stripped Jammu and Kashmir of its statehood. In anticipation of the revocation, the central government preemptively arrested as many as thirteen thousand people (including three former chief ministers) and shut down all schools, offices, public transit, and communication technology. The silence from the region was eerie, and the state cracked down hard on attempts to get information out. On September 6, for example, the Kashmiri activist Shehla Rashid, a friend of Gauri’s, was booked for sedition for tweeting that the Indian Army had ransacked homes and tortured civilians in its crackdown after the revocation. (In one of the saddest reversals of recent years, Rashid now offers nothing but praise for Modi.)

			On September 14, Amit Shah signaled that the government was prepared to move toward the imposition of Hindi, asserting in a speech that Hindi should be declared India’s official national language. Hindi may be India’s most widely spoken language, but it’s still a minority language; only around 44 percent of Indians, mostly in the North, can speak it. The imposition of Hindi has long been staunchly, even violently opposed among speakers of India’s many other languages, especially in South India, where only a small minority know it.

			On November 9, after decades of delays, a panel of Supreme Court justices finally issued its ruling on the question of constructing a Rama temple on the site of the former Babri Masjid in Ayodhya: permission was granted. The court handed over the site to the very groups that, by the court’s own admission, had illegally demolished it. The leader of the panel, Chief Justice Ranjan Gogoi, retired from the court immediately after the ruling. Four months later, in an unprecedented move, the BJP government nominated Gogoi for a seat in India’s upper house of Parliament, which he accepted. “This is totally disgusting, a clear reward in quid pro quo,” said the president of the Supreme Court Bar Association. “The semblance of independence of the judiciary is totally destroyed.” Two other justices on the panel accepted attractive postretirement sinecures shortly thereafter. The case represented a double prize for the BJP: a decisive victory in the Ayodhya case and a submissive judiciary.

			On December 11, the Nanavati-Mehta Commission, which had been tasked with investigating whether the Gujarat government bore any responsibility for the Godhra train burning or the riots that followed, made its full report public. It found “absolutely no evidence to show that either Modi, the then Chief Minister of Gujarat and/or any other minister(s) in his council of ministers or police officers had played any role in the Godhra incident or that there was any lapse on their part in the matter of providing protection, relief and rehabilitation to the victims of communal riots.” Modi’s followers could now claim that he’d been absolved, which they did triumphantly, boasting, as the Indianism puts it, that he’d been given a “clean chit.” Left unmentioned was that the Gujarat government itself had ordered the commission. It reminded me of when Trump’s physician declared that he “will be the healthiest individual ever elected to the presidency”—the lie so baldly overstated that it gives itself away.

			On that very same day, the Indian Parliament implemented a major amendment to the country’s citizenship laws. Those changes, coupled with an announced plan to implement a National Register of Citizens and a National Population Register, were openly designed to strip citizenship from large numbers of Muslims. An enormous and sustained protest movement erupted in response.

			As I watched the protests gather strength, I was also reading a detailed account of how Gauri was murdered—my translator had sent me English translations of the 255 pages of police statements made by the men arrested for killing her.

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 20

			The Nameless Group

			IN 1986, THE KANNADA NOVELIST U. R. Ananthamurthy wrote a nuanced essay about religion and superstition titled “Why Not Worship in the Nude?” (Its title is a reference to a controversial Hindu sect whose adherents pray unclothed.) The essay teems with complexities and questions, including the following: “Haven’t I become what I am by demythifying, even desecrating, the world of my childhood? As a boy growing up in my village, didn’t I urinate stealthily and secretly on sacred stones under trees to prove to myself that they have no power over me?”

			The essay was little known until June 2014, when M. M. Kalburgi referred to the quoted passage in a speech. This time it landed in a political climate that hungers to be offended, and this passage of Kalburgi’s speech attracted wide media attention. But the media (including Sanatan Sanstha’s daily newspaper) immediately got two things very wrong: first, it was reported as Kalburgi describing his own childhood experience, not referring to Ananthamurthy; second, it was reported that he’d urinated not on sacred stones but on Hindu idols, a far more grievous act of desecration. Some even claimed that Kalburgi had urged his audience to urinate on idols. A brief, contextless video clip of this bit of Kalburgi’s speech played repeatedly even on mainstream TV news channels and circulated widely online.

			It was this episode—this garbled reporting of a literary reference that Kalburgi made once—that motivated his assassins to murder him, the SIT found. The killers didn’t care about, and never read, the hundred books he wrote. They were indifferent to his stance on the Lingayat issue. His entire life’s work and thought were reduced for them to this one misunderstood moment, then whipped up into an offense so intolerable that they could not permit him to live.

			Dabholkar and Pansare seem to have been murdered for more obvious reasons: their insistent campaigns against superstition, which right-wing Hindu groups saw as a direct threat to their religion and culture. But why did they murder Gauri?

			In India it is common for police complaints to be filed against people for “hurting religious sentiments,” a phrase that is perhaps unique to India and that is frequently invoked in the news media. The relevant law, Section 295A, is obviously well meaning: religion is a volatile subject in India, so a disincentive to needless religious provocation seems wise. In practice, though, Section 295A seems to have encouraged a very vocal minority from all religions to develop a hair-trigger sensitivity to any potential insult (including satire, legitimate criticism, unintended implications, and innocent misstatements), and even to seek out opportunities to be offended, because the law seems to enshrine an actual right not to be offended, at least when it comes to religion.

			In its charge sheet, the SIT concluded that the assassins’ motivation for killing Gauri was very specific: a single speech she gave, in Kannada, at a Communal Harmony Forum event in Mangalore, on August 2, 2012. “What is this Hindu religion?” she said in the speech. “Who is the founder of this religion? We know the founder of the Christian religion and its holy book, we know the Muslim religion and also its holy book, likewise about the Sikh religion, the Buddhist religion, Jain religion, but who is the founder of the Hindu religion?…This is a religion without a father and mother and it does not have a holy book. It never existed, and it was named only after the British, can it be called a religion?”

			A video clip of this speech circulated widely on YouTube and WhatsApp with the caption “Why I hate secularism in India.” And the SIT found that as each new member of the assassination team was inducted into the conspiracy, the ringleaders would show them this particular clip, often repeatedly, as the primary motivator of their will to kill. They told their recruits that in making these remarks, Gauri had “caused great damage” to Hinduism, and that further harm will befall Hinduism “if she is permitted to continue to speak this way.”

			In December 2016, Gauri herself posted a link to the video, writing, “I am facing a case because of this speech. I stand by every word I said.” Police had booked her for what she said in the speech, not under Section 295A, but under Section 153, incitement to riot (although there had been no riot). A court hearing in the case was scheduled for September 15, 2017, ten days after her death. Her friend Vivek Shanbhag told me he saw this clip circulate much more widely on social media after her murder—“certainly to convey that this is justified.” These repostings were often captioned with lines like of course killing is wrong, but look at what she said.

			It wasn’t important to the killers even how influential their targets were. They themselves had mostly never even heard of Gauri until they were shown this video. The important thing was whether the target had done or said something—even a single quotation, and ideally captured on video—that could crystallize outrage against the target. It turned out that it wasn’t about suppressing unfavorable journalism, and it wasn’t about the Lingayat debate. (The killers didn’t care about vote-bank politics.) It was because the killers simply believed they had a duty to kill those who had, in their view, intolerably insulted Hinduism, regardless of their stature and influence. As the Sanatan Sanstha book Kshatradharma Sadhana put it, the seekers had to slay the evildoers.

			Beyond that imperative, it seemed to me that the killers weren’t strategic at all in their choice of target, although Gauri’s friend Shivasundar disagreed with me. “I think they have multiple strategies,” he said. “One of the strategies is to kill the local problematic people. They may not be high profile, but they are an immediate impediment. Writing in local languages, immediately they’re a threat. They did not think that Gauri would have so much national and international attention, because they didn’t do much homework on Gauri, I don’t think. So this actually blew up beyond their imagination. It boomeranged. But other people in the target are local, state-level kind of leaders. I think that is the new strategy, assassinating these kinds of people.”

			There is no concept of blasphemy in Hindu scripture. It’s an idea that comes from the Abrahamic tradition. Christianity and Judaism seem to have retreated from it, by and large. But Hindutva has adopted it; in recent years Sanatan Sanstha has been agitating for an Indian anti-blasphemy law. Hindutva hard-liners, in defense of their touchiness, often point out how touchy many Muslims are over any negative comments on Islam or Muhammad, which is of course true. But it’s a strange thing to aspire to the touchiness of the most insecure Muslims. A great deal of Hindutva seems to be geared toward imitating the most reactionary qualities of the religion (Islam) and the country (Pakistan) that they claim to hate the most.

			It’s important to note that the current level of Hindutva sensitivity is a recent development. Gandhi was assassinated not because of particular things he said but because the Hindu right wing thought that he’d used his enormous influence over the future of South Asia to “appease” its Muslim population en masse and thereby, supposedly, give away half the country (in the form of Pakistan). The author of the Indian Constitution, B. R. Ambedkar, converted to Buddhism in 1956 along with hundreds of thousands of his fellow Dalits. “I am ecstatic! I have left hell—this is how I feel,” he said the next day. “Because of the Hindu religion, no one can progress. That religion is only a destructive religion.” Those words haven’t stopped the BJP and RSS from attempting to co-opt his legacy in the hopes of attracting a Dalit following. K. S. Bhagawan, the next person the assassins planned to kill, pointed out to me that he’d been saying inflammatory things about Hinduism for decades; only recently did anyone threaten to murder him over it.

			Still, several of Gauri’s friends and colleagues told me that while obviously she deserved no harm for anything she said, they didn’t honestly like that she could be so pejorative about Hinduism instead of reserving her criticism for Hindutva. “I really think that the way Gauri, or some of us, or many such people addressed these issues was not correct,” said H. V. Vasu—a progressive activist whose secular credentials are impeccable. “You may be an atheist, but there are people who are religious. And especially when irrationality is growing, and more and more people are going to the other side—even common people who are actually voting for an ideology that oppresses them. Then what approach should you take? You should stick to your ground in fighting for democratic rights, secularism, all that is true. But people do need God. Even when Marx said that religion is opium, there were other sentences attached to it—he said that religion is the heart of the heartless world and the soul of the soulless world. There’s so much suffering and insecurity in this world. You must acknowledge that people have spiritual needs.”

			

			•   •   •

			ON NEW YEAR’S DAY 2012, in the northern Karnataka town of Sindagi, six young men were arrested for hoisting the national flag of Pakistan on the flagpole in front of a local government office. The men were members of the fringe Hindutva group Sri Ram Sena; their intention was to whip up tensions with the local Muslim population. The man who actually hoisted the Pakistan flag was a twenty-year-old college student named Parashuram Waghmare. Five years later, he would shoot and kill Gauri Lankesh. The ringleaders of the group who conspired to kill her recruited him precisely because of the initiative he’d shown in the flag-hoisting incident.

			Waghmare had never heard of Gauri until those conspirators told him they wanted him to kill her and showed him the video of her speech. But Gauri, oddly enough, had heard of Waghmare. His flag-hoisting escapade was notorious in Karnataka. In the January 28, 2012, issue of Gauri Lankesh Patrike, she even wrote about it for her lead editorial. “It has been proven now that patriotism, nationalism, and religiousness are simply a few table topics” to Hindutva activists, she wrote. “Their true agenda has been to instigate communal hate between different religions of India through acts of terrorism.” She called Waghmare and his accomplices “Hindu hooligans.” Her next issue’s cover story was an investigation into the flag-hoisting incident by one of her reporters.

			But another group was already rising, one that Gauri knew nothing about yet. I derived all of the information in the following account of that group from the 255 pages of statements of the accused included in the SIT’s charge sheet, as well as newspaper articles by Johnson T. A. of The Indian Express and K. V. Aditya Bharadwaj of The Hindu, who are universally considered the two most accurate and reliable reporters on the assassination of Gauri Lankesh. At the time I’m writing this, the trial against these suspects is ongoing, and every sentence that follows should be presumed to include the word “allegedly.”

			The founder of the assassination organization that murdered Dr. Narendra Dabholkar, Govind Pansare, M. M. Kalburgi, and Gauri Lankesh was Dr. Virendra Tawade, an ENT surgeon who had been a longtime member of Sanatan Sanstha. Tawade had led Sanatan Sanstha’s protest campaign against Dabholkar’s anti-superstition organization, MANS—one medical doctor versus another. Tawade founded the assassination group at the urging of Shashikant Rane, alias Kaka, the top editor of Sanatan Sanstha’s newspaper, Sanatan Prabhat. In 2010 or 2011, Rane convened a meeting at the Sanatan Sanstha ashram in Goa with Tawade and two other Sanatan Sanstha members: Amol Kale and Amit Degwekar. Amol Kale was a leader of the Sanatan Sanstha’s offshoot Hindu Janajagruti Samiti and served as a salesman of the organization’s publications. Amit Degwekar lived at the Goa ashram and worked as a promoter and proofreader of Sanatan Prabhat. His roommate at the ashram had died in 2009 when he accidentally detonated his explosives while attempting to bomb the festival in the nearby town of Margao.

			Dr. Tawade was founding the new group, Rane told Kale and Degwekar at the meeting, because “Hindu dharma is in trouble.” The law would clearly not protect their interests, so they needed to take the law into their own hands. Hindu youth must be gathered, a sense of revolution must be instilled in them, and they must carry out the religious work of destroying evildoers. Dr. Tawade was not giving the organization a name, Rane explained, because a name would only make it easier for the police to identify and thwart them. Rane would remain in his role at Sanatan Sanstha and help fund the new nameless group (until he died in 2018, inconveniently for the SIT). The other three men at the founding meeting—along with two other early members of the group, Sujith Kumar and Vikas Patil—would henceforth disassociate themselves from Sanatan Sanstha. Degwekar would serve as liaison between Sanatan Sanstha and the new, nameless group, as well as its treasurer.

			Over the next few years, as they enlisted dozens of recruits, the Nameless Group developed a strict set of protocols. To aid focus and avoid mistakes, chant mantras every day. When mistakes occur, write them down. When meeting other members of the Nameless Group, don’t request or share anything personal, including line of work, and especially don’t ask or offer names or personal phone numbers; only call other members using specially assigned burner phones. Everyone would be assigned a code name, numbers would be written in a cipher, and all references to criminal activities would be conducted in code words.

			It’s important to note that the co-conspirators barely knew one another. They often didn’t have fluent languages in common because they came from several different states. They met at bus stands, wearing caps to recognize one another, and at training camps in remote areas, where they received practical education in weapons (guns, petrol bombs, IEDs) and subterfuge (how to mislead the police; how to endure police torture). It’s only after they were arrested that most of them spent much time with one another.

			One member was a used-car salesman. One was a goldsmith. One ran a fragrance shop; another ran a computer-assisted design company. One was a civil contractor and former elementary school teacher. One worked as an astrologer and Ayurveda specialist. One sold incense sticks; another was a vegetable vendor. The day job of another, incredibly, was personal assistant to a Congress Party legislator. One was a motorcycle mechanic, who, more to the point, was also a skilled motorcycle thief. The mechanic said that when Dr. Tawade met the new recruits, “he filled our heads with all his thoughts. He kept emphasizing the point that if we did anything for dharma, our family would be safe in all the seven lives to come.”

			Sharad Kalaskar, who was selected to shoot Narendra Dabholkar, worked as a farmer. After Kalaskar committed the deed, on August 20, 2013, Dr. Tawade told him that he would be uplifted in all seven births, that he would go to God as Arjuna (one of the warrior heroes of the Mahabharata), and that even though he had committed a big “event”—their code word for “attack”—the police would not catch him because God’s grace was upon him.

			Around that time, several members held a meeting to brainstorm whom they might kill next. One new recruit—Mohan Nayak, who served as a leader of the Karnataka branch of the Sanatan Sanstha offshoot HJS—made a list that included a supposed Naxalite, a Muslim politician, and Agni Sreedhar. A more senior member explained to him that he should not include Muslims, Christians, or politicians on the list; their priority, he explained, should be Hindus by birth who had become traitors to Hinduism and who were therefore threats to their own faith. Such people were bigger threats to the faith than Muslims. Nayak got the idea and suggested a different name: Gauri Lankesh.

			But that would wait. On February 16, 2015, the Nameless Group killed Govind Pansare. On August 30, 2015, they killed M. M. Kalburgi; for this killing, the shooter was Ganesh Miskin, alias Mithun, who would go on to drive the motorcycle for the Gauri Lankesh assassination.

			On June 10, 2016, the Central Bureau of Investigation arrested Dr. Tawade for Dabholkar’s murder—three years after Dabholkar’s murder and two years after the CBI had taken over the investigation from the Maharashtra police. After the arrest, Rane, the editor of Sanatan Sanstha’s newspaper, summoned Tawade’s deputy, Amol Kale, to the Goa ashram and made him the new head of the Nameless Group. “You take up the lead of the dharma work and continue,” he said. “We’ll provide you with all the assistance from time to time.”

			

			•   •   •

			IN JUNE 2016, THE group’s main recruiter, who goes by the alias Praveen, showed the other senior members the video clip from the speech Gauri had delivered in Mangalore in 2012, in which she ridiculed Hinduism for not having a “mother or father.” In the last week of August they called a meeting with several junior members of the group, at which they discussed the Sanatan Sanstha book Kshatradharma Sadhana and each drew up lists of evildoers. They soon coalesced around Gauri as their next target. Kale’s diary revealed the group’s code name for their plot to kill Gauri: Operation Amma (“amma” meaning “mother”).

			Kale introduced a different operational style to the Nameless Group. Whereas Tawade’s plots were straightforward—case the victim’s house, then show up and shoot him at an opportune time—Kale’s plot against Gauri was much more elaborate and compartmentalized, with separate teams running each facet of the operation. They were more careful than ever, but also more confident.

			In October 2016, the Nameless Group enlisted Parashuram Waghmare. They had been particularly impressed by Waghmare’s arrest for hoisting the Pakistan flag. They told him there was someone who needed to be murdered and urged him to meditate and pray. That same month, the group’s mechanic stole the Hero Honda Passion Pro motorcycle that the hit team would use for Gauri’s murder and gave it to Amol Kale.

			Meanwhile, Kale gave Gauri’s office address to two of the younger recruits—Ganesh Miskin and Amit Baddi—and assigned them to do reconnaissance. In late March they traveled to Bangalore, stayed at the house of a friend (lying to him that they were in town for work), borrowed the friend’s motorcycle, and tailed Gauri for a couple days. In April they met Kale again, gave him her home address, and reported that she lived alone. The best time to kill her, they said, would be when she gets out of her car to open her house’s gate. Throughout the summer of 2017, these three men were crawling all over her neighborhood for weeks, continuing to study her movements, surveying all lights and CCTV cameras near her house, practicing multiple variations on routes, absorbed invisibly into the traffic of Bangalore. In July they brought Waghmare on a reconnaissance visit to Bangalore, but blindfolded him so that he’d know as little as necessary.

			Throughout that summer the group also did firearms practice at a remote farm shed owned by one member, using a polystyrene mannequin as their target. They mostly used air pistols because real bullets were in short supply. Between shooting and karate they did meditation and yoga.

			In June 2017, they recruited the final member of the team: K. T. Naveen Kumar, the one who slipped up first and gave them all away. That month, at the annual Sanatan Sanstha convention in Goa, he gave the impromptu speech, about the need to use weapons to protect Hindu dharma, that had so impressed his fellow convention goers. The HJS spokesperson Mohan Gowda then introduced him to Praveen, the Nameless Group’s recruiter. When they first met, Naveen Kumar gave Praveen two bullets, but came up empty when the group asked him again and again for more. Naveen Kumar talked big, but those two bullets were his only apparent contribution to the plot.

			In the second week of August 2017, members of the Nameless Group stayed in the Bangalore suburbs for several days. There Kale gave them their assignments. Waghmare was assigned to shooting. Miskin was to drive the motorcycle on “event” day and to be the backup shooter—and also to shoot anyone who tried to interfere with the assassination. Baddi was to wait in a van en route to Gauri’s house to help the hit team with their clothes and guns, to retrieve the guns and clothes from them immediately after the “event,” and then to bring the guns and the motorcycle to the city of Belgaum. Kalaskar, who shot Dabholkar, was to continue training Waghmare and Miskin in shooting and to collect the guns from Baddi in Belgaum. A member named Bharat Kurne, code-named Uncle because he was a family man, was assigned to cook for the hit team, to ensure they got out of town on a bus on the night of the “event,” to bribe police if necessary, and to help keep the hit team’s minds “stable” by leading them in meditation and prayer.

			After shooting practice, Waghmare selected the gun that he was most comfortable with, which happened to be the same gun that shot Pansare and Kalburgi. Miskin told Waghmare that he shot Kalburgi in the forehead and Waghmare should shoot Gauri in the forehead, too. Baddi advised Waghmare to chant God’s name while shooting, as is recommended in the Sanatan Sanstha book Kshatradharma Sadhana.

			On September 2, 2017, Kale and another member traveled to Bangalore along with the hit team’s clothes, two guns, and twenty-five bullets. For the week of the murder, the Nameless Group had set up two hideouts in the southern suburbs of Bangalore. The core hit team—Waghmare, Miskin, Baddi, and Kurne—stayed together. When Waghmare was brought to that hideout, on September 3, the others again blindfolded him so that he wouldn’t know where it was.

			September 4, 2017, was the day they chose to kill Gauri. The hit team woke up early to pray for an hour or two. Kurne cooked them lunch. As the time for the “event” approached, he instructed the hit team to use the toilet, to eat little food, and to carry cash. At around 6:30, Miskin gave Waghmare a pistol and kept one for himself. On the way to Gauri’s house, they stopped to put on their second layer of clothes and cover their faces with handkerchiefs and put a fake license plate on their motorcycle and load their guns. They arrived at the park near Gauri’s house at around 7:45. They waited there until 8:00, and then Waghmare walked over to Gauri’s house and found that she was already at home.

			On September 5, 2017, they tried again, following the same plan and arriving at the park near Gauri’s house at around 7:50. When Gauri’s car appeared, taking a right turn by the park, Miskin pointed her out to Waghmare. They followed her on the motorcycle. When she got out of her car to open her gate, Waghmare stepped down from the motorcycle, aimed his gun at her head, and fired, striking her twice in the abdomen. She screamed and ran. He fired two more bullets, one of which struck the wall of her house, the other hitting her below the right shoulder. Meanwhile, Miskin turned the motorcycle around. He and Waghmare fled, stopping to reverse their disguises on the way back to the hideout. The gun was out of Waghmare’s possession fifteen minutes after the murder; he passed it to Baddi, who passed it to Kale, who wrapped it up and put it in a red suitcase, which went into a storage space rented for that purpose. At the hideout, Kurne was waiting for the killers with their luggage to get them to the bus out of town.

			Half of the accused conspirators were outside Bangalore on the day of the assassination and only learned of its success the next day. On September 7, at a construction site in Belgaum, Kale met the core assassination team—Waghmare, Miskin, Baddi, and Kurne. He fed them chocolates and gave Waghmare 10,000 rupees, or around $150. Waghmare soon spent it all, 4,000 rupees of it on hospital treatment for nasal problems.

			

			•   •   •

			BY OCTOBER 2017, THE Nameless Group had turned to the next item on their list: the assassination of Professor Bhagawan. In the first week of November 2017, most of the conspirators met at Kurne’s farm for further training and discussion of plans. As usual, their training session alternated between weapons training and dharma talks, prayer, and meditation. Despite the successful assassination in September, Kale appears to have been increasingly frustrated with his co-conspirators. He reprimanded one for not being in Bangalore to help during the “event.” He was angry at two others because he assigned them to do reconnaissance for three days on a social activist in Pune, but they came back with nothing.

			Meanwhile, Praveen, the group’s recruiter, had been calling K. T. Naveen Kumar about the plot to kill Bhagawan, again asking him if he could procure more guns and bullets. Naveen Kumar told him he’d do literally anything to protect dharma and bragged, implausibly, that he could get guns from the late bandit Veerappan’s gang with a week’s notice. It was these phone calls that the SIT intercepted, giving them their big break and beginning their series of arrests.

			In December 2017, led by Kale, ten members of the Nameless Group met in Pune to organize a bomb attack on the Sunburn Festival, an electronic dance music event, because they considered it contrary to their idea of Hindu culture, but they abandoned the plan after two members accidentally got caught on CCTV cameras while doing advance reconnaissance. The following month, Kale organized an attack on movie theaters showing the historical epic Padmaavat, because it is, as Kalaskar put it in his statement, “a misrepresentation of the history of Hindu kings” and might encourage Muslim men to pursue Hindu women. “We intended to cause loss of property and create an atmosphere of fear,” he said. In this they were successful: the group exploded bombs at two movie theaters. No one was hurt, but panic broke out and screenings of the film were canceled.

			Around this time, Naveen Kumar asked the senior members of the group to meet him in Davanagere because, he said, the “things” had arrived for killing Bhagawan. When they arrived, Naveen Kumar gave them the runaround for a while before admitting he still had no guns—there was apparently “no signal” from “his side” because “they did not trust us enough.” Kale was furious. After this, Naveen Kumar never again picked up their calls.

			On February 19, 2018, Naveen Kumar was arrested. The senior members of the group had an urgent meeting in Madgaon. They decided to collect their weapons stashes and move them to a safer place, to shave any facial hair, to wear glasses and caps, and to hide out for a while in a different house. But Kale assured the other conspirators that the arrest of Naveen Kumar wouldn’t affect them; they should meditate and pray and prepare for more dharma work. While in hiding, Kalaskar accidentally shot himself in the hand while cleaning a gun.

			On May 20, 2018, Praveen, the group’s recruiter, was arrested; police found twenty-two phones, and many more loose SIM cards, in his kitchen, along with his diary and a copy of the book Kshatradharma Sadhana. The next day, police arrested three others, including Kale, while they waited for Praveen at a bus stand; they didn’t yet know of his arrest. In Kale’s possession police found twenty-one phones, plus three diaries at his home. In the possession of Degwekar, the group’s treasurer, they found several envelopes of cash, totaling over 150,000 rupees, that had been withdrawn from a Sanatan Sanstha bank account, along with the passbook for that account. Degwekar claimed that the money was subscription payments from readers of Sanatan Sanstha periodicals. Police found that the various diaries referred to over two dozen collaborators with the Nameless Group in Karnataka and dozens more in Maharashtra—over sixty arms-trained and radicalized recruits total (most of whom had not yet participated in any hit jobs). Intelligence agencies immediately put as many of them as they could under surveillance if they didn’t yet have the evidence to arrest them. These recruits mostly came from a tristate area: southwestern Maharashtra, Goa, and northern Karnataka. The annual Sanatan Sanstha convention in Goa, it seemed, was their central recruitment hub, where they sought out young men with violent tendencies and a history of communal incitement.

			After learning of Kale’s arrest, the members at large destroyed their burner phones. Mohan Nayak destroyed the bomb gelatin he was storing for future attacks. Kalaskar, the member who’d shot Dabholkar and who’d helped train Gauri’s killers, burned his phone and his three diaries, which included his notes on how to make guns and bombs. On June 11, Waghmare was arrested.

			Kalaskar still had the guns. After Waghmare’s arrest, Kalaskar met with the Sanatan Sanstha lawyer Sanjeev Punalekar. To cover their tracks, they had an elaborate method of meeting: Punalekar’s assistant placed an ad in Sanatan Prabhat seeking a security guard, and Kalaskar answered the ad, whereupon the assistant took him to meet Punalekar at his office. Punalekar asked Kalaskar whether Gauri’s murder could be tied to Kale or Tawade, and he asked about the location of the guns. Two days later they met again, and Punalekar told him to destroy the guns used for killing Gauri along with their remaining stash of guns and bombs. “He also asked me how long it would take to make new guns,” Kalaskar said in his statement, “and he said he would pay the cost for making guns.” Punalekar asked Kalaskar extensively about the Dabholkar murder and “various cases,” and told him not to worry.

			I will note here that the account of Kalaskar’s conversations with Punalekar in the above paragraph comes directly from a statement that Kalaskar dictated and signed before a magistrate, which means that it is admissible as evidence in court. Later, in 2019, the Central Bureau of Investigation would arrest Punalekar in connection with Dabholkar’s murder. The SIT investigating Gauri’s murder said they considered Punalekar a “person of interest” in that case for advising Kalaskar to destroy the guns, but they did not arrest him.

			On July 18, 2018, Mohan Nayak was arrested. On July 23, Kalaskar disassembled the guns in his possession, including those used in Gauri’s murder, then, with the help of Punalekar’s assistant, threw the guns’ slides and barrels into Vasai Creek, near Mumbai, which empties into the Arabian Sea. He kept the remaining gun parts for making new guns, calculating, apparently accurately, that only the slides and barrels were ballistically identifiable. Over the next three weeks, the SIT arrested seven more members of the Nameless Group, including Kalaskar, Kurne, Miskin, and Baddi.

			On August 19, 2018, the Maharashtra Anti-terrorism Squad raided the house of the assistant of the Sanatan Sanstha lawyer Punalekar and found an enormous cache of explosives, plus sixteen complete pistols and many partially made pistols and pistol parts. The ATS concluded that most of these pistols were made or obtained after the arrest of Naveen Kumar six months before, which suggests an alarmingly rapid rearmament of the Nameless Group, even while their members were being arrested. In the past the group had lain low for as long as two years between hits, to let things cool down. Kale apparently wanted to accelerate the group’s work, to assign multiple simultaneous assassination plots and bombings to several teams. The bust also implied that the group had grown large enough that it was possible that enough members remained free to regroup and kill again.

			On August 20 and September 8, two more members were arrested. Now only two of the eighteen men charge sheeted for Gauri’s murder remained at large, both of them senior members of the Nameless Group. “Sanatan Sanstha has no connection with these killings. Due to propaganda by the Communist Party, the misunderstanding about us has been created,” said a Sanatan Sanstha spokesperson on September 6, 2018, the day after the first anniversary of Gauri’s death. “Violence was never, is never and will never find any place in the mission of Sanatan Sanstha, which believes in working in a constitutional manner.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 21

			Take This Freedom

			IN HIS 1939 MANIFESTO We, Our Nationhood Defined, the RSS’s most important ideologue, M. S. Golwalkar, wrote that Indian Muslims must be “wholly subordinated to the Hindu Nation, claiming nothing, deserving no privileges, far less any preferential treatment—not even citizen’s rights.” On December 11, 2019, the BJP-dominated Indian Parliament moved toward fulfilling that threat with the passage of the Citizenship Amendment Act, or CAA.

			The new law was essentially a religious test that established a clear path to citizenship for migrants with the explicit exception of Muslims. The BJP claimed that its intent was simply to help offer refuge to persecuted Hindus, Buddhists, Jains, Sikhs, Parsis, and Christians in the neighboring Muslim-majority states of Bangladesh, Pakistan, and Afghanistan. But it was clear that the law wasn’t just about refugees and migrants. For months the BJP government had also been promising that it would be implementing a National Register of Citizens, or NRC. Earlier in 2019, a citizenship registry had already been implemented in the northeastern state of Assam. All thirty-three million residents of the state had to show documentary proof that they or their ancestors were citizens of India. Huge numbers of poor Indians, many of them illiterate, have no such proof, even if their families have been Indian for generations. In Assam, registration officials were fired if they didn’t find at least 10 percent of applicants illegal. The process ended up leaving an estimated two million people off the citizenship rolls. Now these two million were considered migrants, even if they’d lived in India all their lives. And now the CAA would apply to them: if they were any religion but Muslim, they could apply to claim their citizenship; if they were Muslim, as most of them were, they could not. Modi’s deputy, Amit Shah, repeatedly referred to such Muslims as “termites.” The Indian government was already building a huge network of detention camps to house those struck from the citizenship rolls.

			And the government had promised a third step: the National Population Register, or NPR. Under the NPR, a list of residents is to be published in each locality, and any resident can object to the inclusion of any other listed resident. Residents with objections against them will be marked as a “D-voter”—D for “doubtful”—and flagged for possible internment or expulsion from India. “No Hindu, Sikh, Jain, Buddhist, Christian, or Parsi will find their name in the D-voter list,” a BJP informational booklet clarified. There was no telling how many of India’s 200 million Muslims would be left stateless, or worse, when the CAA, NRC, and NPR were applied everywhere.

			Muslim Indians understood the implications immediately, and massive protests erupted nationwide. Pluralist-minded Indians of many other religions joined in and swore they’d declare themselves Muslim in solidarity when the NRC came. In the cities where protests were largest, Modi called in the Indian Army, imposed Section 144—a British colonial law that prohibits gatherings of four or more people—and shut down the internet. (Modi’s government has shut down the internet far more often than any other government in the world.) “Those creating violence can be identified by their clothes,” Modi said, in one of his typical winking references to Muslims. In many places, Muslim university students led the protests, particularly women. Shocking videos emerged from Jamia Millia Islamia after police stormed the university’s campus, set off tear-gas canisters in the library, and beat students indiscriminately, women and men alike. At a similar raid of Aligarh Muslim University, a student had his hand blown off by a police stun grenade. At Jawaharlal Nehru University, police took no action as a hundred masked men—evidently Sangh Parivar activists—rampaged through the campus for four hours beating students with sticks and rods.

			In Uttar Pradesh, on the orders of the state’s authoritarian chief minister, Yogi Adityanath, posters with the names, photos, and addresses of protesters went up on the walls of cities, and police raided and vandalized Muslim homes. In Karnataka, the newly seated BJP government was little better. “Be careful, because we are 80% of the population while you are just 15%,” one BJP leader said, referring to the state’s proportion of Hindus to Muslims. “You are just a minority, and I want you to think what will happen if the majority comes out on the streets against you all.” Another made the threat more explicit: “If you’ve forgotten about what happens when the majority loses patience, just look back at what happened after Godhra. The majority here is capable of repeating it. Don’t test our patience.” In Bangalore, the historian Ramachandra Guha was arrested in mid-sentence by police in riot gear while talking to a reporter at an entirely peaceful protest.

			Many people in Bangalore pointed out that it was strange not to have Gauri’s presence at the largest protests in decades. The moves the government had taken were exactly what she’d been warning about, and the massive public pushback, for the first time since Modi took office, was exactly what she’d been hoping for. A quotation of hers circulated widely: “I will do what I can and I will say what I should. These intolerant voices find strength in our silence. Let them learn to argue using words instead of threats.”

			The threats from right-wing counterprotesters had become perfectly overt: they’d adopted “Shoot the traitors!” as their slogan. Inevitably, on January 30, 2020 (the anniversary of Gandhi’s assassination, as many noted), a teenage Hindutva activist brought a gun to an anti-CAA protest and shot randomly into the crowd. His bullet struck a student in the hand. Then he shouted to the protesters, “Here, take this freedom,” a reference to the protesters’ frequent cries of “azaadi,” which means “freedom,” before police grabbed him. He later emerged as a hero to the right, much like the shooter Kyle Rittenhouse in the United States, and was invited to give speeches in which he called for attacks on Muslims. He used a news image of himself shooting into the crowd as his social media profile pic and signed his posts “Godse 2.0,” in tribute to Gandhi’s assassin.

			

			•   •   •

			THE YOUNG WOMAN WHO’D translated the charge sheet statements for me messaged to let me know that she’d need more time to complete some other translations because she’d gotten deeply involved in the protests. Her name was Amulya Leona, and though she was only nineteen years old, an undergraduate studying journalism and English literature, her talent for public speaking had led organizers to invite her to give speeches at several rallies protesting the CAA. Later she told me how she’d cleverly used the dating app Tinder to spread the word: she put an anti-CAA poster as her profile pic, and if anyone expressed curiosity, she’d invite them to a protest.

			A friend had recommended Amulya to me for the translation work I needed help with, and I’d met her in the summer of 2019 at the Indian Coffee House on Bangalore’s Church Street. In our meeting she seemed poised, serious, smart, and, I thought, rather quiet. She was also enormously polite. In our subsequent email exchanges she always addressed me as “sir.” I asked her repeatedly to please just call me by my first name. She reluctantly agreed. Then she switched to calling me “respected sir.”

			So I was shocked, on February 20, 2020, to check the news from India and find that the top news story in the country was Amulya. Police had arrested and booked her for sedition against the Indian state. Every Indian news site was posting videos of what happened. In Bangalore’s Freedom Park, at a rally called “Save Constitution,” Amulya had been invited to speak. “Say it loud,” she began in Hindi. “We are one.” Then she said two more words: “Pakistan Zindabad,” or “Long Live Pakistan.” In an instant, the organizers scrambled to take the mic from her, six men shouting her down as she tried to continue; the last words she got in were to say repeatedly, “Hindustan Zindabad,” or “Long Live India.” Then several police officers dragged her away, shoving her stumbling down the stage’s steps. In addition to sedition, which carries a maximum sentence of life in prison, she was booked for her two-word statement under sections 153A, 153B, and 505(2) of the Indian Penal Code, which cover “wanton vilification,” “assertions prejudicial to national integration,” and “statements creating or promoting enmity, hatred or ill will between classes.”

			A few days earlier, she had posted on Facebook what she intended to say in her speech: “Hindustan Zindabad. Pakistan Zindabad. Bangladesh Zindabad. Sri Lanka Zindabad. Nepal Zindabad. Afghanistan Zindabad. China Zindabad. Bhutan Zindabad. Whichever country it is—zindabad to all countries. You teach the children that a nation is its soil. We children are telling that a nation is its people…. I don’t become a part of a different nation just because I say zindabad to that nation. By law I am an Indian citizen. It is my duty to respect my country and work for its people. I will do that. Let us see what these RSS guys will do.”

			That evening, drunken Hindutva activists went to her family’s home in their remote, faraway village of Gubbagudde, smashed windows, and forced her father to denounce her and chant a nationalist slogan. Even before the CAA protests began, he had been urging her not to get involved in any protests because he was afraid of what might happen to her.

			Throughout the 1980s, there was only one television channel in India: the famously boring state broadcaster Doordarshan. Now there are nearly a thousand, hundreds of which are twenty-four-hour news channels, many of which are owned by political parties. These channels have come to be dominated by informationless “debates” that make Fox News look like PBS. On the worst shows, incessant chyrons and flashing graphics assault the senses while as many as a dozen guests, all hostile to one another, appear on-screen simultaneously in stacked boxes, shouting over one another to the point of total unintelligibility, with frequent interruptions from the show’s host to stoke the argument or bellow insults of his own. TV producers often turned to Gauri when they needed a panelist to fill one of the boxes with, say, an angry perspective on Bangalore problems or a sympathetic take on Naxalites. She was conflicted about the invitations; she knew that her presence on these shows was less about offering a diversity of viewpoints than it was about presenting the illusion of diversity—or, worse, giving the host a foil to shout down. But she’d agree to appear if she trusted the journalist inviting her.

			For days these shows made a meal of Amulya, including nearly all of the top hosts, showing the video clip of her arrest on an endless loop while talking heads tried to outdo one another in denouncing her. Every twist in her case got a new Breaking News banner. The Kannada news channels called her simply “Traitor Amulya.”

			Protests against Amulya began the day after her arrest. At one anti-Amulya protest, her roommate was nervy enough to hold up a sign that read Muslim, Dalit, Kashmiri, Bahujan, Adivasi, Trans Liberation Now. They, too, were arrested. Disturbingly, the Sanatan Sanstha’s protest wing held a rally against Amulya in Bangalore, complete with posters of her face, x-ed out, just as they’d done with Narendra Dabholkar’s face. The Sri Ram Sena—the fringe Hindutva group that Gauri’s shooter was associated with—held a rally against Amulya at which one leader offered a million-rupee bounty for killing her. “If she is released, we will kill her in an encounter,” he said. He was not arrested for the direct threat.

			Karnataka’s BJP chief minister, Yediyurappa, held a press conference about Amulya and said there was proof that she had “Naxal links.” (It was unclear why a Maoist would offer kind words for Pakistan.) His home minister, Basavaraj Bommai, said, “The police are investigating her antecedents. We are looking for answers to questions like who is backing her and who has trained her. We are investigating the case from all angles.” He called a meeting of all senior police officials to create an action plan for preventing similar incidents. Karnataka’s minister of agriculture, a former police officer, said that there needs to be a law allowing anyone who utters pro-Pakistan slogans to be shot on sight.

			No topic in Indian discourse is more loaded than Pakistan, as only a family dispute can be. “When the saffron goons are ejecting toxins,” Gauri once wrote in her typical colorful and derisive way, “Pakistan is never ever very far.” The most reflexive response to any dissent is that the dissenter should move to Pakistan. Pakistan is so fraught in India because it’s both a boogeyman and a mirror, a hostile neighbor and an estranged brother.

			In the Hindutva worldview, Muslim Indians are presumed to be a fifth column, collectively serving as actual agents of Pakistan. I don’t doubt that there is a contingent of Muslim Indians who feel affinity for Pakistan—although in all my years as an in-law to a large Muslim Indian family I’ve never heard a Muslim Indian say a good word about Pakistan. Actually, Pakistan almost never arises in conversation. And when Muslim Indians speak of emigrating to escape the deteriorating situation for them in India—as I’ve increasingly heard them do—it’s certainly not Pakistan they’re dreaming of. But the insinuation is deep-seated, which is why even the organizers of the protest were so alarmed when Amulya said, “Pakistan Zindabad”—a seemingly innocuous sentiment that is perhaps the most inflammatory pair of words one can say in India, especially in a highly charged moment like that season of protest. Defenders of the CAA had been waiting to seize on such a slipup. It made their caricature of the protesters far easier.

			A week and a half after Amulya’s arrest, a mentally ill man who’d been watching a lot of television entered a government office in Karnataka and shouted, “Pakistan Zindabad!” He, too, was arrested and booked for sedition. Ever since the anti-CAA protests began, the Karnataka police had been freely booking people for sedition, setting a record for the most sedition cases booked in a single Indian state in one year. In the city of Bidar, police booked teachers and parents at an elementary school for sedition, and repeatedly interrogated children as young as nine, for staging a brief satirical play about the CAA. In Anegundi, a Kannada poet was arrested for sedition for reciting a poem titled “When Will You Show Your Documents?”

			India’s sedition law, Section 124A in the Indian Penal Code, was introduced by the British in 1870 in response to the growing independence movement. In 1922, the British imprisoned Mohandas Gandhi under the same sedition law. A lawyer himself, he knew precisely the law’s dangers. “Section 124A under which I am happily charged is perhaps the prince among the political sections of the Indian Penal Code designed to suppress the liberty of the citizen,” he told the court. “Affection cannot be manufactured or regulated by the law. If one has no affection for a person or system, one should be free to give the fullest expression to his disaffection, so long as he does not contemplate, promote or incite to violence.”

			Postindependence, Indian politicians found it convenient to maintain most repressive colonial laws. In its December 2023 revision of the Indian Penal Code, which it framed as “decolonizing” Indian law, the Modi government claimed to have finally repealed the contentious sedition law. In actuality, it rebranded sedition as “treason,” broadened its definition, and increased the penalty: under the new law, anyone who “excites or attempts to excite” any undefined “subversive activities” can be punished with life in prison. “In Indian conditions,” the journalist Shastri Ramachandaran wrote, “it is almost a given that if a law has the potential to be misused, it will be misused unabashedly.”

			When three women lawyers attempted to represent Amulya in court at a bail hearing, a large group of male lawyers uninvolved with the case drove them out of the courtroom for defending a “traitor.” “If such people are represented, then more people will start saying such things,” one lawyer explained. With no advocates for the defense, the hearing was canceled. Recognizing that they’d need the strength of numbers, over twenty progressive lawyers—including B. T. Venkatesh, Gauri’s longtime advocate—formed a team to represent Amulya. When it was time for Amulya herself to appear before the court, her legal team, fearing that she’d be physically attacked, arranged for the hearing to be held discreetly at a magistrate’s residence instead. “There have been very sharp judgments from both the Supreme Court and the high court explicitly laying down instances in which sedition charges can be filed,” Venkatesh told Johnson T. A. “In none of these cases have any accused insulted India. And Pakistan isn’t a declared enemy state. But this rot of Hindutva is so deep that it is impossible to reason these things out with bar association members or the police. We just hope better sense prevails.”

			Amid the denunciations, a few voices of reason did appear. A retired Supreme Court judge asserted that Amulya hadn’t committed any crime, much less sedition. A Supreme Court lawyer wrote a letter to the chief justice of the Karnataka High Court urging him to dismiss Amulya’s case, noting that her behavior “does not reveal anything that reflects promotion of enmity between different groups. It perhaps does the opposite.” The only major TV news anchor to defend Amulya on air was Ravish Kumar, who was arguably the last brave, honest, uncompromised major news anchor on Indian TV. He has since resigned.

			If she were alive to do so, surely Gauri, too, would have defended Amulya in her paper, would have shown her speeches to Esha, would have adopted her as a “daughter.”

			While Amulya was in jail, I messaged with a friend of hers, who said Amulya was staying strong in prison. She said that when Amulya heard about the million-rupee bounty on her head, she laughed. Gauri would have laughed, too. But the friend and I were worried, and we brainstormed ways to help Amulya seek asylum after she got out, given the very direct threats on her life. I noted that if Amulya did get asylum status elsewhere, she’d likely never be able to return to India. “What’s in India?” her friend replied. “Sorry, but I believe peace of mind is what is required.”

			The idea was moot; Amulya had no interest in applying for asylum. Even if she had wanted to, she held no passport, and she wasn’t eligible to apply for one until her sedition case finished crawling its way through the courts.

			Amulya finally got bail in June 2020. The court didn’t want to allow it; at first it rejected her bail on grounds that she was likely to abscond. But shortly thereafter she was granted “default” bail, at a cost of 100,000 rupees, because the police had failed to file a charge sheet within the prescribed ninety days. To mark the occasion, Sanatan Sanstha issued a sarcastic press release mocking the cops who’d filed the charge sheet late.

			

			•   •   •

			AMULYA HAD BEEN IN JAIL for 113 days. I talked to her on the phone as soon as possible, and she also sent me a reflection she’d written on everything that had happened. “I wonder if I am mature enough to contemplate all of it and put it across in the form of words,” she began. The incident at the protest, she wrote, made her lose her trust in her ability to convey what she means. “That day, even if my intentions were honest, I did not articulate it well.” She felt horrible that she’d “jeopardized an entire movement” with those two words. “If I was smart enough,” she wrote, she would build a time machine to go back to the day when she happened on a social media post that inspired her to attend her first anti-CAA protest. “I would unsee it! Maybe this would prevent all the chain reactions which followed. Maybe I would still be the same Amulya Leona who was a keyboard activist.”

			Prison, though, was not among her regrets. In some ways, she wrote, it was even a “beautiful” experience. Her first morning was tense: “Everyone had a different look on their face when they saw me. Some of them had murdered, some had stolen, some had committed fraud. But I, a nineteen year old—4’11”—short hair—wearing jeans and tshirt, mostly looking like someone around 14–15, had been arrested under the most serious charges.” One prisoner shouted “traitor!” at her. But after Amulya explained herself, her fellow inmates accepted it. They knew what it was like to be misunderstood. “One woman said, I have come here for murder and this girl is here only for saying Zindabad. What nonsense is this?” She grew close to a number of people, inmates and guards alike. “I listened to so many beautiful-painful stories of people,” she wrote, “those we don’t know even exist.” Her fellow inmates taught her to read and write in Malayalam and Tamil and how to knit and embroider. “There were people in prison for more than 10 years. People in their 60s and 70s counting their last days and hoping they’d be released someday. Mothers who hadn’t seen their children…Those who did not have lawyers nor a family that could find them one. Against all these people and their miseries, I felt grateful.”

			She wasn’t permitted to watch television, although she caught a glimpse of a TV news banner that read Worm of Pak Amulya Leona. While she was in jail, COVID-19 went global. New prison precautions disallowed all visitors; Amulya wasn’t even allowed to call home for two months. As part of the quarantine rules the prison stopped getting newspapers, leaving her further in the dark. She did learn, though, that the news media was inventing whatever they wished about her. When her mother visited her in custody for the first possible time, the first thing she said was, “Why are you asking for chicken biryani?!” Before Amulya answered, a police officer jumped in and said, “Ma’am, don’t watch the TV channels. She’s a very well-behaved prisoner.”

			On her first night in custody, she said, a sympathetic police officer told her that they understood what she meant to say but that they were under a lot of pressure in her case and it was their duty to pursue it. That they did with vigor. She was extensively interrogated by four different police authorities: a Special Investigation Team, the Intelligence Bureau, the National Investigation Agency (which is India’s counterterrorism task force), and the inspector general of an anti-Naxalite task force. The latter three were primarily interested in probing Amulya’s alleged links to Naxalites. They grilled her about her high school classmates and made her hand over the passwords to her social media accounts. The NIA interrogators, she said, were particularly aggressive. These Naxalite-related interrogations occurred, she said, before police allowed her to speak to a lawyer.

			As coincidence would have it, Amulya’s supposed Naxalite connection related to one of the ex-Naxals whom Gauri had helped emerge from underground, Sirimane Nagaraj. Around ten years before Amulya was born, and before Nagaraj joined the Naxalites, the forest near Amulya’s home village was threatened with destruction. Nagaraj, then an environmental activist, helped Amulya’s father with a campaign to save the forest. It was a popular cause; even P. Lankesh visited Amulya’s village to support it. Given this history, years later, Amulya’s father vouched for Nagaraj and Noor Zulfikar, another ex-Naxal whom Gauri had helped, before the courts when they were trying to emerge from underground. Amulya had nothing to do with any of it.

			Most of her interrogation, though, was performed by a Special Investigation Team assigned to her case. One policeman told Amulya that this SIT was composed of many of the same officers who were investigating Gauri’s murder. “I was intimidated by the number of policemen, the camera recording the interrogation, so many higher rank officers trying to understand why I said what I said,” she wrote. They asked her when and why she started writing, who inspired her, why she was interested in journalism, and, weirdly, why she wore her hair short. It soon emerged that they had a theory: they thought Amulya was trying to become just like Gauri Lankesh. “You slowly began turning into her,” they said to her. As I know from talking to her, this simply isn’t the case; Amulya admires Gauri but is by no means a fangirl. “Honestly, I found it funny,” she wrote. On Amulya’s computer, the SIT found all those documents related to Gauri’s murder from their own investigation; she explained that I’d hired her to translate them. (This didn’t seem to interest them much; they never called me to confirm.)

			The SIT also interrogated her friends, family members, employers. The first thing they asked everyone, she said, was whether Amulya was right or wrong to say “Pakistan Zindabad,” and they insisted on an answer. They asked Amulya’s mother why she let Amulya wear her hair short, and when she brought Amulya books, they asked her, “Have you still not learned? Reading is what led her to become this way.” The interrogators told Amulya that her friends had exploited her to instigate people against the government. Isolated from everyone she knew, sitting under bright interrogation lights, she started doubting herself; had she in fact been used? She felt exhausted and disoriented by days of “pointless questions over two words I uttered onstage.” She made a point of saying that the police did not abuse her, physically or mentally. But some of them made remarks that sounded abusive to me. One evening in the interrogation room a cop came in and said, “Why are we videotaping this? Is she Sunny Leone?” referring to a famous Indian-Canadian hard-core porn actress with a similar last name. TV journalists and online trolls made many similar jokes about her.

			When her interrogations were over, Amulya was brought before the police commissioner of Bangalore. He told her not to make any more mistakes and to lead a better life. He added that the protesters were misguided and the CAA and NRC were meant for the good of the people. (Soon after, he retired and joined the BJP.) Then it was time for the police to take her back to the prison. “I am not sure what they saw in me,” she wrote, “but all the officers,” including the investigating officer and the assistant sub-inspector, “were too emotional. The IO brought me a notebook that I had been asking for. The ASI teared up and she hugged me tight.”

			For Amulya, the emotional moment was when the news got around that she’d finally gotten bail. “I saw everyone with eyes that longed to break out of those walls—women who were falsely accused, women convicted, women who murdered their husbands, women who stole, women with little children back home, women who missed their families, women just existing,” she wrote. “I was afraid of what awaited outside. Was my release going to be a blessing or a curse?”

			On the outside, the world was transformed: we were now solidly in the pandemic era. Her university had expelled her. Her father had received an anonymous letter saying that they would kill Amulya just as they’d killed Gauri and the others. Her parents now had police protection, two cops in the house at all times. She found her social media inboxes full of death and rape threats, which even now have never ceased. “I am disgusted by those people,” she wrote. “It does not make me afraid though.”

			After much negotiation, she found a college in Mangalore that agreed to enroll her under an assumed name. “I have been granted a seat on the condition that I do not participate in any political activities. Justifiable demand,” she wrote. “The lecturers seem supportive as of now. But I wonder how they will react after knowing that they’ve been teaching Amulya Leona.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 22

			Electoral Autocracy

			JUST DAYS AFTER AMULYA’S arrest in February 2020, Delhi went aflame with its worst communal riots in decades. The BJP politician Kapil Mishra gave an ultimatum at a rally: if the protesters against the citizenship laws don’t disperse, he and his followers would force them out. Hours later, thousands of rioters led by Hindutva activists and BJP politicians stormed the Muslim neighborhoods of northeast Delhi, invaded houses and attacked the residents, set at least two hundred and sixty houses on fire, looted Muslim shops, tore down their markets, desecrated mosques and cemeteries. “Modiji, cut these Muslims into pieces!” they were heard yelling. “India is ours, not even one Muslim will stay here!” Police joined in, too, throwing stones at Muslims, looting, chanting, “Jai Shri Ram.”

			In the aftermath, police accused Muslim politicians, human rights activists, and students of plotting the pogrom against their own community. Kapil Mishra remained free. A few months later he was the headline speaker at a Sanatan Sanstha convention.

			When COVID-19 arrived, Modi announced, in one of his signature surprise moves, a strict nationwide lockdown with only four hours’ notice. The anti-CAA protest movement shut down. But the Rama temple in Ayodhya proceeded as planned. On August 5, 2020, on live television, Modi himself conducted the priestly rituals at the temple’s groundbreaking ceremony on the site of the demolished Babri Masjid. And on January 22, 2024, he led the temple’s consecration. News outlets that in 1992 had reported on the destruction of the Babri Masjid as one of the darkest days in the history of independent India now unabashedly celebrated the temple that had risen to replace it. The day felt like a milestone: the triumph of Hindutva. The BJP announced that it was the inauguration not just of a temple but of “a thousand years” of Ram Rajya, the Hindu utopia. Was Modi presiding now over a theocracy? In his first term he’d presented himself as a dandy with a taste for expensively tailored clothes, including a suit striped with his own name in gold thread. In his second term he cultivated the image of an ancient sage; his hair and beard flowed long, and his office released images of him meditating in a cave or feeding peacocks, far from worldly concerns.

			The pandemic provided a distraction that allowed police to make mass arrests of students and activists who had taken part in the anti-CAA protests. At the end of 2020, when Indian farmers launched a massive protest movement against new farm laws that would deregulate the industry in favor of big corporate agriculture, police took that opportunity to make mass arrests of environmental activists. In Bangalore, a twenty-two-year-old climate activist named Disha Ravi was arrested simply for sharing a document of activist strategies with Greta Thunberg. Police said that the document “exposes the conspiracy by an organised overseas network to instigate the farmer protests,” and Ravi took her turn as the news channels’ public enemy number one.

			Ravi’s arrest left Amulya shaken. “To be honest, I have not been doing okay,” she replied when I emailed her to check in. “The amount of propaganda, the amount of hate she is receiving is bringing back all the memories. My friends message me saying they wonder when they will be arrested too. It is so terrible to hear them count the days. On the 20th it’ll be a year since my arrest. Things have only gotten worse. Sir, I am scared. I am scared for this country and its people. I am scared for all of us. I did not feel this even when I was arrested. I did not feel this way in prison. I am feeling this way now—seeing the number of sedition cases increase, seeing students like me go to jail, seeing journalists being booked under what-not cases—it’s become an everyday thing. My family only gets more paranoid and their instinct to protect me escalates each passing day. It has reached an extent where I am not allowed to use the phone, not talk to my close friends. A few days ago my lawyer sent me a few good books and now they’re suspicious about the lawyer too! Everything scares them. I understand why they feel the way they do, I understand why they act the way they do. That is how scared every family is feeling these days about their children who are on the front lines. There is no room for dissent anymore. Not outside, not even between the walls of our own houses. Yes, people all over the world are saying something about this—the world is watching, they say. But arrests have not stopped, right? There is no outcome from international outrage! So I ask myself—when is this really going to end? There is still so much time left until the next elections. What will happen to my country by then?”

			All opposition was targeted. The Enforcement Directorate, which is supposed to pursue economic crimes, raided dozens of government critics and seized their assets; they even arrested and jailed the Chief Minister of Delhi, a leading opposition figure. The Modi administration canceled the licenses of tens of thousands of NGOs, with a particular focus on human-rights organizations. At the end of 2023, the BJP-controlled Parliament summarily suspended 146 opposition legislators.

			The state began withholding without explanation its permission to enter or exit India. Gauri’s friend Rana Ayyub was pulled off a flight to London, where she was scheduled to give a speech on the trolling of women journalists. A Kashmiri photojournalist was prevented from flying to New York, where she was to receive the Pulitzer Prize. The Kannada actor Chetan Kumar—who’d starred in Agni Sreedhar’s first film—was arrested for writing that “Hindutva is built on lies,” and the government canceled his Overseas Citizen of India status. Foreign journalists and academics who have commented critically on the government are routinely sent back when arriving at Indian airports. I felt the chilling effect of this tactic. I wondered if I’d ever be allowed to visit my in-laws in India again after the publication of this book. And if not, was it worth it?

			“What’s depressing is that over the last couple of years, I’ve stopped teaching and speak less and less in public,” wrote the scholar Arshia Sattar, best known for her translations and analysis of the Ramayana. “What used to be healthy and impassioned discussions can now easily become charges of sedition.”

			The arrests seemed to come down heaviest on Gauri’s friends. In October 2019, police arrested Gauri’s close colleague D. Narasimhamurthy, claiming that he’d eluded them for decades and accusing him of weapons charges, criminal conspiracy, extortion, assault, rioting, and attempted murder in cases dating back to 1994. The idea that Narasimhamurthy had been in hiding was absurd. He was the general secretary of a local political party. He was also serving as secretary of the Gauri Media Trust, which had launched a new newspaper in her honor. He lived directly across from a police station; when people went to visit him, they’d ask the cops where Narasimhamurthy’s house was. He spent seventy-six days in jail before all charges were dropped for lack of evidence.

			In September 2020, police arrested Umar Khalid, one of the young activists whom Gauri had “adopted” as her “son.” Back in 2018, when Khalid was walking into an anti-hate event called “Freedom from Fear,” a man shot a gun at him. “I immediately thought of Gauri,” he said at the time. “In those 10 seconds, I thought—this is the end of my life.” The shooter later released a video in which he said he’d hoped to murder Khalid “as a gift to the nation.” After his arrest, the shooter was promptly granted bail and then ran for political office. Now police claimed that Khalid, a Muslim, had masterminded the anti-Muslim riots in Delhi in February 2020. Police said he’d instigated the violence in a speech he delivered a week earlier in a city a thousand kilometers from Delhi. The video of that speech is on YouTube in full. “We will not respond to violence with violence” is what Khalid says. “We will not respond to hate with hate. If they spread hate, we will respond to it by spreading love. If they beat us with lathis, we will hold aloft the tricolor. If they fire bullets, then we will hold the constitution and raise our hands.” Khalid was charged under antiterrorism law, and as of this writing he is still in prison.

			In April 2022, another of Gauri’s “sons,” the Dalit politician Jignesh Mevani, was arrested for tweeting criticism of Modi. Immediately after getting bail, he was rearrested, supposedly for assaulting a police officer while in custody. The following month he was sentenced to three months in prison for holding a rally without permission in 2017. Then he was sentenced to six more months in prison for blocking a road during a protest in 2016.

			And in June 2022, Gauri’s friend Teesta Setalvad, the journalist and activist comrade she worried about most, was arrested. Setalvad is best known for tirelessly seeking justice for the victims and survivors of the 2002 pogrom in Gujarat, for which she’d earned Modi’s and Amit Shah’s eternal enmity. For Setalvad, her friend Vijay Prashad wrote, “faith in the judicial system was absolute: the necessity of bringing the culprits to book so that they could be judged based on the Constitution was an axiom of her life.” And now the judiciary had come for her.

			Setalvad had helped Zakia Jafri, whose husband was hacked limb from limb and set on fire in 2002, to file a petition before the Supreme Court challenging its absolution of Modi for any responsibility. On June 24, 2022, the court dismissed the plea and urged that Setalvad be prosecuted instead, for “abuse of process.” Less than a day later, police filed six cases against her. She was still in jail when, in August 2022, with the approval of the Modi administration, the Gujarat state government granted early release to eleven men who were the perpetrators of the single most notorious atrocity in the Gujarat pogrom. The men had been sentenced to life in prison for gang-raping a pregnant woman named Bilkis Bano and for murdering fourteen members of her family in front of her, including her three-year-old daughter. The justification for their release, a BJP leader explained, was that “they are Brahmin people. And as it is with Brahmins, their values were also very good.” (In January 2024, in an increasingly rare show of independence, the Supreme Court ordered the men to return to prison.)

			Narasimhamurthy, Khalid, Mevani, and Setalvad were just four of countless activists who became political prisoners under Modi. The worst political persecution fell on a group of activists who became known as the Bhima Koregaon 16, who were arrested for supposedly instigating a riot at a Dalit pride event at a village near Pune by that name. Only two of the sixteen had even attended the event in question, but all sixteen had two things in common: all had made careers advocating for India’s most vulnerable, and all were vocal critics of Narendra Modi. Soon another familiar charge was attached to them: that they were plotting to assassinate Modi.

			One among them was the eighty-three-year-old priest Stan Swamy, who’d devoted his life to working for poor Adivasis. Swamy had Parkinson’s disease, which made him struggle to drink from a cup, but for months the court ignored his request for access to a drinking straw. He died in jail of COVID. A digital forensics lab discovered that the primary evidence in the case against the sixteen had been planted on their laptops by hackers using malware, and a digital security firm found damning evidence that the source of the hacks was the Pune police. Despite these findings, at the time of this writing, only five of the surviving Bhima Koregaon 16 have been released on bail. The other ten remain in prison while all await trial.

			

			•   •   •

			ONE AFTERNOON IN BANGALORE, I sat down with four journalists, all of whom had quit senior reporting jobs to maintain their independence. I said that I knew that press repression was nothing new in India, but I wondered if the Modi administration was the first to treat the press as an ideological enemy. The journalists all laughed heartily at that. “The press is a major ideological ally!” one explained.

			In Modi’s second term, Indian major-media ownership consolidated among a few billionaires with close ties to Modi. India’s once-neutral public broadcasters, Doordarshan and All India Radio, now source their daily news exclusively from the RSS’s news agency. One journalist coined a term for the TV channels and newspapers that had submitted fully to the party line: “godi,” or lapdog, media. Now nearly all the major news channels had gone godi, vilifying Modi’s opponents while praising his every move as a “masterstroke.” In its annual World Press Freedom ranking for 2023, Reporters Without Borders demoted India to 161st place out of 180 countries: worse than Venezuela, Belarus, and Afghanistan.

			Journalists who exposed government scandals were increasingly charged under draconian laws such as the Unlawful Activities (Prevention) Act, which is aimed at terrorism—especially if they happened to be Muslim. In Uttar Pradesh alone, eleven journalists were booked or arrested for reporting on the state’s failed response to India’s second wave of COVID-19.

			The BJP also tightened its control over the historical record. In Modi’s first term, his culture minister assembled a fourteen-member committee—none of them Muslims, Christians, or women—assigned to, in the minister’s words, “rewrite history.” Together they worked to match archaeological evidence with ancient Indian scriptures to prove that the great Hindu epics literally happened. In Modi’s second term, the effort focused on revising history textbooks. In BJP-controlled states, chapters on Tipu Sultan, the 2002 pogrom in Gujarat, Jawaharlal Nehru, and the constitution disappeared. The most sweeping changes related to the Mughals, who were either deleted or demonized. Approval of Gandhi’s murder emerged as a mainstream position. “Nathuram Godse had his reasons to assassinate M K Gandhi,” the head of the BJP’s IT Cell tweeted. “A fair society must hear him out too.”

			Above all, the Hindutva culture wars of Modi’s second term focused on crushing Muslims. Hindus were increasingly urged to boycott Muslims entirely. From social media to village squares, some Hindus pledged not to buy anything from Muslim shopkeepers or to sell to Muslim customers. One by one all ordinary Muslim practices were vilified: the call to prayer, the prayer itself, Muslim food, Muslim festivals, Muslim clothes. To the news channels, every ordinary thing a Muslim did was framed as “jihad.” Muslims praying in public was called “land jihad.” The call to prayer was “loudspeaker jihad.” Muslims selling fruit in majority Hindu neighborhoods were waging “street-vendor jihad.” Muslims seeking work were waging “job jihad.” A professor in New Delhi said that high-ranking Muslim college applicants from Kerala were waging “marks jihad.”

			Most of all, Hindutva activists, BJP politicians, and news-channel shouters accused Muslims of waging “love jihad.” The term first arose around 2009: religious demagogues in Kerala began claiming that bad Muslim boys were gaining converts by tricking good Hindu girls into marrying them. “Love jihad” was clearly imaginary, and back in those more innocent days my wife and I made a joke of it: I was a reverse-gender victim of her “love jihad” plot, lured to marry as part of her treacherous ruse to snare another infidel. It was easy to mock, at first. And then the conspiracy theory metastasized, spreading nationwide—with the help of steady propaganda from Sanatan Sanstha activists—and young interfaith couples were relentlessly harassed and beaten and even murdered. Now it’s taken hold so fully that it’s impossible in India for a Hindu and a Muslim to marry in peace.

			There has never been evidence that “love jihad” exists, so Hindutva activists started inventing evidence, and treated every instance of interfaith romance as a certified case. Undercover journalists caught BJP and RSS leaders on hidden cameras admitting that they’d filed false kidnapping and rape cases against Muslim men who’d married Hindu women, then bullied the women into testifying against their husbands. During Modi’s second term, BJP-ruled states started legislating against “love jihad.” The goal is total segregation. In 2020, the big Indian jewelry brand Tanishq ran a TV commercial featuring an interfaith couple, with the tagline “The beauty of oneness.” Complaining of “love jihad,” Hindutva activists organized a boycott, and Tanishq withdrew the ad. The conspiracy theory grew so outlandish that it leapt species. In West Bengal, an RSS group took a zoo to court because a lion named Akbar (the name of a Mughal emperor) shared an enclosure with a lioness named Sita (the name of Rama’s wife in the Ramayana), calling their cohabitation “a direct assault on the religious views of all Hindus.” The cats were separated pending the court’s ruling.

			“Things that I would have grown up believing were impossible, impermissible to think, let alone say, even in the privacy of your own home, and now being ranted by politicians from public platforms,” the Congress leader Shashi Tharoor told me. BJP leaders called Muslim neighborhoods “terrorist hideouts,” said Muslims should be stripped of voting rights, and bragged that they’d made their Muslim constituents afraid to be seen in public. Right-wing social media teemed with messages that dehumanized Muslims, including mock “auctions” for the opportunity to rape prominent Indian Muslim women.

			“We are ready to kill them, we are ready to go to jail,” a Hindu monk told a large crowd at the end of 2021 in the northern state of Uttarakhand. “We need a hundred soldiers to kill two million of them.” BJP politicians were in the audience, and none in the party spoke against this incitement to genocide, even after international uproar. RSS groups have subsequently led a harassment drive with the stated purpose of “cleansing” Muslims from the state, which they refer to as “Dev Bhoomi,” or God’s land. In some towns, all Muslim-owned shops were marked with an X. Dozens of Muslim families in Uttarkhand have fled their homes.

			In April 2022, violence swelled. In many cities across northern, central, western, and eastern India, religious processions led by Hindutva groups passed deliberately through Muslim neighborhoods, brandishing saffron flags, swords, tridents, and sometimes guns, while DJs blared anti-Muslim hate music. In BJP-ruled states and municipalities, police blamed Muslims for the dozens of riots the Hindutva activists had provoked and took swift extralegal action: they arbitrarily bulldozed Muslim homes and shops to the ground. The bulldozers came out again in May to raze the home of any Muslim who protested after a BJP spokesperson called the Prophet Muhammad a rapist on TV. Many TV news channels reported on the demolitions with open delight. The BJP embraced the bulldozer as a symbol.

			

			•   •   •

			
			WITH THE BJP BACK in power at the state level, Karnataka was especially hard on its eight million Muslims. One BJP legislator announced that he would “cut all facilities” for Muslims in his constituency because they don’t vote for him. A bus stop was modified because another BJP MP thought it looked too much like a mosque. A train station was repainted because it was green, a color associated with Islam. In Gauri’s hometown, Shimoga, an RSS group forced a play to stop mid-performance because they felt it had too many Muslim characters; it was an adaptation of Fiddler on the Roof in an Indian Muslim milieu. In 2022, the state government ordered a ban on Muslim headscarves in college classrooms statewide. The following month it banned Muslims from doing business in and around Hindu temples.

			In December 2022, Amulya wrote to me just after she’d visited Chikmagalur, her home district in Karnataka. There she’d happened upon a large Hindutva crowd waving saffron flags on their way up to Baba Budangiri, the site of the Hindu-Muslim shrine where Gauri became an activist. “I feel disturbed to see what’s become of my native place,” Amulya wrote. “What shook me was how young all these boys on bikes were. Young women—somewhere around my age and younger—donning saffron shawls too. I was making the rounds of these Muslim shops. Such helplessness on their faces. I can’t wrap my head around it.”

			

			•   •   •

			IT’S ALL TOO EASY for non-Muslims to tune out. I’ve noticed that even sympathetic Hindus often have no idea how frightening, precarious, and humiliating life has gotten for Indian Muslims. Their struggles are largely hidden away in ghettos, and the mainstream press mentions them only to further vilify them. Those who chose to pay attention were increasingly worried: Was this the advent of a genocide?

			“Genocide is not an event, it is a process,” the founder of Genocide Watch, Gregory Stanton, told the U.S. Congress in 2022. In India, he warned, the conditions for genocide were building fast. “You have to stop it now,” he said, “because once the mobs take over it could really turn deadly.” He’d made much the same warning before the 1994 genocide in Rwanda, five years before it happened.

			Stanton identifies ten processes of genocide, of which extermination, and then denial of the extermination, are the final stages. The processes that precede it are: Classification, in which people are divided into “us and them.” Symbolization, in which the targeted group is reduced to features such as the clothes they wear—as when hijab-wearing college students in Karnataka were singled out for exclusion. Discrimination, as with the Citizenship Amendment Act. Dehumanization, as when Amit Shah refers to Muslims as “termites.” Persecution, such as the ghettoization of Muslims and demolitions of their homes. Organization and preparation, as the RSS has done for a century with its paramilitary training of millions. Polarization, which speaks for itself.

			The political scientist Ashutosh Varshney proposed an alternative way of looking at the crisis: Jim Crow Hindutva. The Jim Crow regime of the American South, Varshney noted, “deprived Black Americans of their voting rights, subjected them to lynchings, and forced segregation upon their neighbourhoods, churches, schools, businesses and social lives. Inter-racial marriages were outlawed and inter-racial sex, especially between a Black man and a White woman, was violently punished.” Similarly, in India, “laws are being made to turn Muslims into second-class citizens; mob lynchings and intense hatred are instilling fear; and both law and violence are being combined to prevent religious mixing and deepen communal segregation…. What race was to the American South, ethnicised religion is to Hindu nationalists.”

			I’ve sensed this bigotry secondhand ever since I married. When in India, if I happen to mention that my wife is Indian, I’m often asked immediately what her name is. The tone is congenial, but the question is likely intended to suss out her caste status. It comes as an unpleasant surprise when I reply with a Muslim name. I’ve come to expect an automatic flinch of displeasure before the questioner quickly changes the subject.

			When I look at Hindutva social media, I’m reminded of the lynching postcards that circulated widely in the early twentieth-century United States. Hindutva toughs now often make videos of their assaults on Muslims and post them proudly. These boastful recordings serve multiple purposes: threatening other Muslims, inspiring copycat attacks, and establishing Hindutva bona fides. In one typical video, badly beaten Muslim men are forced to eat animal shit. In another, a fourteen-year-old Muslim boy is kicked in the genitals for the offense of entering a Hindu temple to drink water. Hindu vigilantes who have murdered Muslims are now routinely invited as guests of honor at Hindutva events.

			On July 22, 2022, Nelson Mandela’s eldest granddaughter published an essay warning that India is in danger of becoming a religious apartheid state. On that same day, I was chatting with my father-in-law, one of the most committed homebodies I’ve ever known. All he wants from life is to live in the house he built in the neighborhood where he’s lived for decades, eating the extremely specific Kerala food he grew up on and meeting with his lifelong friends (of all religions). He shocked me by saying he was thinking of emigrating. “You have to look over your shoulder every fifteen minutes,” he told me. “It’s intolerable to have to live on high alert just because you worship a different God.”

			Very few Indian Muslims can afford to leave, but many of those who can are doing so. Indian Muslims already living abroad have started setting up networks to help others who see no future to get out. The scholar Thomas Blom Hansen, who studies violence in India, compares it to “the emigration and flight of educated Jews out of Germany in the 1930s.”

			But the hate, too, had gone international. In Leicester, England, a town where the South Asian community had long lived in harmony, Hindus and Muslims fought in the streets for weeks, egged on by BJP activists. In Edison, New Jersey, the Indian Business Association ran a bulldozer decorated with posters of Modi and Yogi Adityanath in the town’s annual Indian Independence Day parade.

			

			•   •   •

			
			SINCE 1947, INDIA HAS held the proud claim that it is “the world’s largest democracy.” This designation is arguably outdated. Every year the Sweden-based Varieties of Democracy Institute issues a granularly detailed report on the state of democracy in 202 countries. “India has continued on a path of steep decline, to the extent it has almost lost its status as a democracy,” the 2020 V-Dem report stated. By the following year, V-Dem considered that status gone. Since 2021, V-Dem has categorized India as an “electoral autocracy,” alongside countries such as Congo, Egypt, Iraq, and Russia.

			Yet poll after poll showed that Modi was the most popular politician in the world. What explains it?

			Unlike many demagogues, Modi is extraordinarily smart, savvy, and hardworking. His talent as a communicator, especially as an orator, is unrivaled; he has an uncanny ability to cast even his most obvious failures as victories. Foreign criticisms only fuel his narrative that India’s Hindu majority is under threat. His government has made a broad and highly visible investment in infrastructure, which gives the appearance, at least, of a booming economy. He has made himself synonymous with the state; every popular program is branded with his name. His face is omnipresent.

			Business leaders, sports champions, and movie stars have all learned that to praise Modi effusively is mandatory. Any country is vulnerable to such cults of personality, as I know all too well after these years of Trump. But India is perhaps particularly susceptible. “In India, bhakti, or what may be called the path of devotion or hero worship, plays a part in its politics unequalled in magnitude by the part it plays in the politics of any other country in the world,” B. R. Ambedkar, the author of the Indian Constitution, warned in 1949. Modi offers the fantasy of a supreme hero who can fix all the country’s problems alone. But he’s building on the groundwork laid by the RSS, the world’s largest organization, which has made a painstaking, impeccably disciplined, century-long effort to close Indian minds.

			This chapter’s long litany of injustices must be punishing to read. Yet it still feels inadequate to me, a mere sampling of the cruelties I could have included. In the months since I first drafted this chapter, the lynchings, the bulldozings, the calls for genocide have all continued. In Manipur, a state in India’s perennially overlooked northeast, an outright civil war erupted between regional ethnic groups, stoked by local BJP leaders. After a point these things stopped being treated as news. But I keep gathering notes on each new political prisoner, each new raid of a news organization, each new hate crime. I feel an obligation to witness for as long as the lie persists that everything is fine.

			But this, too—all was not lost. There were still lovely moments of communal harmony all over India. Hindu temples hosted iftar dinners. Muslims in some cities defused tensions during Hindu religious processions, showering them with flower petals and offering hugs, and their Hindu neighbors hugged them back. In West Bengal, three young Muslim men saved thirty Hindus from drowning when flash floods swept them away during a riverside ritual. In Kerala, two Islamic studies students won an annual Ramayana quiz. In early 2023, Hindutva activists tried their hardest to organize a boycott of a new action movie called Pathaan, starring the Muslim megastar Shah Rukh Khan—and it became the third-highest-grossing Hindi movie of all time.

			In September 2020, after a five-year hiatus, the Pattanam dig resumed, with the blessing of the Archaeological Survey of India, and with P. J. Cherian again in the lead. A seventeen-year-old girl volunteering at the site had the thrill of discovering an ancient seal ring engraved with a sphinx.

			In May 2023, the BJP was trounced by the Congress Party in state elections in Karnataka. Before the election, the BJP’s state president said to party workers, “I am asking you people—don’t speak about minor issues like roads and sewage. If you are worried about your children’s future and if you want to stop love jihad, then we need BJP.” The voters, it seemed, preferred to hear about sewage.

			At the end of 2022 there were hopeful signs even at the national level. Rahul Gandhi embarked on a five-month walk from the bottom tip of India all the way up to Kashmir. He called it Bharat Jodo Yatra, or Unite India March. It was a stunt—and it was surprisingly effective. At long last Rahul seemed to have grown into his role as the leader of a major political party. (It helped that he allowed his beard to grow as he walked, roughing up his still-boyish face.) The walk put India’s dazzling variety on daily display. Thousands of ordinary people flocked along the route to walk with him, and he demonstrated keen skill as an empathetic listener. When he walked through Karnataka, he invited Kavitha and Indira Lankesh to walk alongside him. “It was a long walk and a long talk,” Kavitha told me. “We spoke about both of us losing our loved ones to violence and how we are coping with it.” He told Kavitha that as a boy he used to play badminton with the bodyguards who would later assassinate his grandmother. “He asked me how I felt about Gauri’s killers,” she said. “Was I angry? Was I sad? I told him of course I am angry but also sad because the system has corrupted them, poisoned them, and made them hate to the extent of killing. He asked me if I had forgiven them. I said no and I don’t know if I can.”

		

	
		
			CHAPTER 23

			The Trial

			THERE HAD BEEN A LOT of talk since Gauri’s murder that her case would be “fast-tracked” in the courts to propel it through the system’s notorious thicket of delays. That did not happen. It was not until October 30, 2021, that the court framed charges against the accused—almost three years after the SIT submitted its proposed charges, more than three years after most of the arrests, and more than four years after her death. The charges included murder, criminal conspiracy, gun crimes, and organized crime.

			It was that last charge that caused the biggest delay. Lawyers for one of the accused, Mohan Nayak, the man who had first suggested targeting Gauri, had argued before the state’s high court that Karnataka’s organized-crime law did not apply to him because he had never before been charge sheeted for a crime. On April 22, 2021, the court ruled in Nayak’s favor. The implications of this ruling were profound. Only six of the accused—mostly the junior members—had ever been charge sheeted in previous cases. The high court’s ruling, it was feared, might allow most of the accused to get released on bail. And it would complicate the prosecution of the case enormously, likely forcing the suspects to be tried individually rather than in a single trial, which would almost certainly cause the whole case to fall apart.

			The Karnataka state government, now ruled by the BJP, had ninety days to file an appeal before the Supreme Court. But they did not, despite the SIT’s urging that they do so. Finally, in exasperation, Kavitha Lankesh approached the Supreme Court, which agreed to hear the appeal and stayed the high court’s order. The Karnataka state government finally did file its own appeal application—four days after the deadline had passed, and only after Kavitha’s petition had already rendered it irrelevant. Finally, in October 2021, the Supreme Court ruled in favor of the prosecution, writing that the Karnataka High Court had “clearly exceeded its jurisdiction in quashing the charge sheet.” The journalists I spoke to told me that the Karnataka government’s behavior in this episode was a definite attempt at undermining the case against Gauri’s killers without too obviously appearing to.

			The framing of charges was a major step toward commencing the trial. But the pace was still leisurely. December 6, 2021—more than a month after charges were framed—was scheduled as the date when the court would schedule the date when the trial would actually begin. That, too, was postponed. Finally the date of July 4, 2022, was fixed as the first day of the trial—eight months after the charges had been framed. The judge, C. M. Joshi, announced that the trial would be in session only one week out of each month.

			Due to the pandemic, I didn’t get back to Bangalore until 2022. As luck would have it, the plane ticket I’d bought put me in town just in time to start attending Gauri’s trial from its third day.

			Given the prominence of the trial, I’d expected a big, dramatic courtroom full of family, friends, observers, and journalists. But the room was ordinary and small, maybe a thousand square feet, with cheap-looking beech-colored wood paneling on the walls and eight rattling ceiling fans above. In Indian jurisprudence, architectural grandiloquence is reserved only for the highest courts. The side walls were lined with benches, but hardly anyone showed up. Kavitha couldn’t bear having to look at her sister’s killers beyond when she was required to testify. Of all Gauri’s countless friends, Shivasundar was the only one who’d come. He planned to attend the trial every single day, no matter how many years it lasted. There was nothing else he could do with all the endless loyalty and love he’d accrued for his indispensable, incorrigible, unsalvageable murdered friend.

			The only other spectators were a handful of journalists, who wandered in and out. The largest contingent in the courtroom was the defense’s legal team: four principal lawyers with perhaps eight assistants, plus additional representation for some of the suspects. All wore black suit jackets, some with stiff white two-pronged bands around their necks, in traditional English style. As they prepared for the day’s hearing, the atmosphere among the defense lawyers was surprisingly jolly, with lots of smiles and little jokes.

			As a COVID precaution, the judge’s bench and the witness box were both encased in transparent plastic boxes. At the back of the room, the bench for the accused, too, was surrounded by plastic, but it would remain empty. Ever since the pandemic began, the arrested suspects had been appearing in court virtually, through a video feed. (There were seventeen of them now; the seventeenth suspect was arrested on January 9, 2020, while working at a petrol station in faraway Jharkhand. At the time of this writing, the eighteenth charge-sheeted suspect remains at large.) Pre-pandemic, the accused men had to appear in person, which was another major cause of delay; the seventeen were in three different jails in two different states, and wrangling them all into the courtroom for a hearing was a feat. But their live court appearances had offered a unique chance to observe them. Shivasundar told me about one session in 2019, when ten of the suspects appeared live in court for a bail hearing. They stood all in a row in a large defendants’ box; on one end was Amol Kale and at the other was K. T. Naveen Kumar. At one point, Shivasundar said, Kale whispered to Waghmare, who was next to him, then Waghmare whispered to Miskin, Miskin whispered to Baddi, and so on down the line, and then they all closed their eyes and started silently praying in unison with the aid of prayer beads as the court proceedings continued around them.

			Only Naveen Kumar declined to pray. He seemed to be estranged from the others, Shivasundar said. Shivasundar had heard from a friend who was in custody in the same jail (on charges of Naxalism) that Naveen Kumar wanted to somehow meet with Kavitha to explain himself and try to break away from the other accused. (They did not meet.)

			The prosecutor was S. Balan, a committed communist and labor activist; most prominently, he had organized Bangalore’s pourakarmikas, or municipal sanitation workers. Gauri’s murder trial was, worryingly, the first case he’d ever prosecuted. But he had a long history as a trial lawyer for the defense, including for Gauri. He seemed to me confident and tough. Today, though, he was late, and the proceedings didn’t begin until noon. While we waited, Shivasundar and I went to the court canteen, and he caught me up on the first two days of the trial over coffee.

			In the Indian system, the witnesses for the prosecution testify first. The very first witness in the trial, Shivasundar told me, was a former friend of Naveen Kumar’s. This friend had also met Kale, the group’s leader, and Degwekar, the treasurer, because they’d asked him to join the conspiracy to kill Professor Bhagawan, but he declined. In court, he was asked to identify all three. The suspects knew this was coming, so, in an attempt to confuse the witness, all seventeen had grown beards and were wearing white clothing. But the witness identified Naveen Kumar, Kale, and Degwekar easily.

			The second witness was Kavitha Lankesh. In their cross-examination, Shivasundar said, “the defense pounced on her.” Kavitha is the one who filed the initial police complaint about Gauri’s murder, and the defense team tried to pick apart any discrepancy they thought they could find in it. In her complaint, Kavitha had told the police that Gauri was not married. “You’re her sister, how can you say she wasn’t married?” the lawyers asked her, pointing out that Gauri had been married (to Chidanand Rajghatta). They treated it like a big gotcha. I was baffled as to how this sort of irrelevant nitpicking could aid their case. Shivasundar said their strategy was to challenge every little detail, relevant or not, so as to build the impression that the police narrative was a fabrication. They asked Kavitha about Naxalites. They asked her about a piece of family property that they alleged she and Indrajit had argued over; she denied it. They asked her about a former editor at Gauri Lankesh Patrike who had left on bad terms. Kavitha said she knew nothing about it. Your office was just above Gauri’s, they challenged her, were you not meeting every day? No, she said, we didn’t poke into each other’s business. “They could not understand that,” Shivasundar said.

			And they grilled her about her own personal life, heavy with innuendo. They noted that Kavitha had gone to the crime scene with her daughter, then asked her when she got married. Kavitha replied that she’d never married. “Then who is the father?” they asked, with mock confusion. “How do you have a child?” The judge instructed the defense not to ask such “offensive” questions.

			“I’m not offended,” Kavitha shot back. “I’m a single mother.”

			On the second day, there was just one witness: a photographer whom the police had hired to take pictures of the evidence. Shivasundar said that the defense lawyers tried to insinuate that he’d tampered with the evidence.

			We headed back up to the courtroom to wait for the third day’s hearing to begin. The judge entered in black robes, wearing a stiff white bib, a white mustache, and a white surgical mask strapped uselessly to his chin. To his left sat the clerk, who promptly reprimanded me for crossing my legs in the courtroom. The proceedings were entirely in Kannada, except when questioning a witness who didn’t speak Kannada; then it was in Hindi. Shivasundar gave me recaps. But even if I’d understood the language, Indian trials are difficult for a spectator to follow. There is no jury, and as a result the lawyers are much less performative than in a U.S. criminal trial; everything happens at the bench and is directed at the judge. The atmosphere was soporific.

			The seventeen suspects appeared in segments on a flat-screen TV in view of both the judge and the witness. In a larger box on the screen’s upper right side, the fourteen suspects jailed in Bangalore sat in a row. In another box sat two more prisoners at a different jail; in a third box a prisoner sat alone. They were no longer all wearing white; most were wearing polo shirts of various colors. I examined the group to try to pick out Waghmare, at least—I’d seen his photograph many times, and he has a very distinctive face—but from my vantage point I couldn’t make him out, nor could I distinguish any of the others. It was amazing to me that any witness could be expected to identify them in these small boxes on a not very large TV.

			There were three witnesses scheduled for the day. First was a cable repairman, who had arrived at Gauri’s house to fix a malfunctioning channel immediately after the murder. (I remembered how Gauri was so eager to get that channel fixed because she wanted to keep up with the show This Is Us; the show had aired its finale just a month before the trial, five years after Gauri watched her last episode.) He testified that when he arrived at her house, he didn’t realize at first that she was dead; he thought she was still just parking her car. So he went around the corner and waited for about ten minutes so that he wouldn’t rush her as she settled in at home for the evening. When he returned, a crowd was already gathering. The cable guy was supposed to be testifying on what he’d seen, but in his cross-examination a defense lawyer took a different path and asked him if it was unusual for a cable guy to be dispatched in person to fix a single channel. The judge asked the lawyer if he was implying that the cable guy could have been a part of the murder plot. The defense lawyer said, well, you can’t rule it out. The defense then floated an outlandish alternate theory in which the cable guy was in fact a Naxalite. The judge scolded them for “fishing.”

			The second witness was the caretaker of a building under construction across the street from Gauri’s house, who’d heard the gunshots. At one point there was laughter, and Shivasundar explained to me that a defense lawyer cracked a casteist joke at the witness’s expense. The witness had mentioned that on the night of Gauri’s murder he ate dinner at around 7:30. “So you took your bath and had food?” the lawyer asked. No, he just ate his food, the witness said. “Without having a bath, you ate?” the lawyer responded, pretending to be incredulous. The joke was that orthodox Brahmins always bathe before eating. This guy was no Brahmin, the defense made clear, and thereby introduced a hint of unreliability about the witness. Unfortunately, even the judge—who is a Brahmin—had laughed.

			The third scheduled witness didn’t show up. The actual proceedings for the day lasted little more than an hour.

			The next morning I woke up sick with COVID. After I recovered, Shivasundar caught me up on what I’d missed. On day four, Prasad and Lakshman, both office assistants at Gauri Lankesh Patrike, were scheduled to testify. The defense asked Prasad if he was aware of any Naxalites visiting the office. Prasad replied that many people came and went and he couldn’t have known who was a Naxalite; if Gauri asked him to offer a visitor coffee, he offered them coffee. The second witness, Lakshman, had unlocked Gauri’s house for the police on the night of the murder. The defense refused to cross-examine him, saying that if they did so, they’d be giving away their line of questioning for another witness, a photographer who entered Gauri’s house at the same time as Lakshman. So court adjourned, and on the fifth day, Lakshman completed his testimony and the photographer gave his about what they saw inside Gauri’s house.

			That was all for the month of July. Shivasundar said that around three hundred witnesses had been listed for the trial, and we calculated that if it continues to hear from around eight witnesses a month, the trial will take over three years, especially with the inevitable stalling and delays.

			In August 2022, the trial was in session for only a day and a half: on the week it was scheduled, the judge was on leave on Monday, Tuesday was a government holiday, and on Thursday the prosecutor went to the hospital with a leg complaint. It was the judge’s second week presiding over the trial, and it was also his last week: it was announced that he had been elevated to the Karnataka High Court. In September 2022, the trial didn’t meet at all, while the court arranged a replacement for Judge Joshi. For five days in October, the trial resumed with a new judge. Four months later that judge, too, left the case to take an appointment on the high court. “Given the pace of trial,” Shivasundar told me, “it’s likely that a few more judges might hear the case before it reaches the stage of argument.”

		

	
		
			EPILOGUE

				Last Days

			IN THE YEARS SINCE Gauri’s murder, Sanatan Sanstha has flourished. Its activist wing, the Hindu Janajagruti Samiti, is now taken seriously in a way it never had been before. “Ironically, HJS was a fringe organisation unknown before members associated with it were busted and charged for murders of writers in the state,” one of the police officers investigating Gauri’s murder told Aditya Bharadwaj of The Hindu. “They have consistently become part of the mainstream discourse since then.” Police now regularly cancel events—Muslim stand-up comics, progressive gatherings, the release of a book about the prime minister of Pakistan—simply because Sanatan Sanstha activists complain about them.

			Sanatan Sanstha spokespeople appear regularly on TV panel discussions to represent the views of Hindus. The chief minister of Goa personally inaugurated a Sanatan Sanstha book fair. When the Modi government defended the CAA, its anti-Muslim citizenship law, in front of the Supreme Court, it presented a letter from Sanatan Sanstha as part of its evidence. In 2023, when granting bail to a Sanatan Sanstha member who’d been arrested on weapons charges, the Bombay High Court declared that Sanatan Sanstha is not a terrorist organization; as its sole evidence for this assertion, the court cited Sanatan Sanstha’s own websites.

			In 2020, Facebook determined that Sanatan Sanstha was too dangerous to ban. Leaked internal documents showed that Facebook’s safety team had recommended banning Sanatan Sanstha from the platform, but the company decided against it because the possibility of violent backlash was too great a threat. The following year, Facebook made a halfhearted attempt to belatedly delete the group’s various accounts, but missed most of them.

			On the fourth anniversary of Gauri’s death, Sanatan Sanstha hosted a two-hour live YouTube webcast titled “Gauri Lankesh’s Murder: The Reality and Propaganda.” “Playing politics over the murder is more heinous than the death itself,” the webcast’s host began. One guest said that “calling Gauri Lankesh a journalist or a writer is an insult to other journalists and writers.”

			When they weren’t shutting down events and smearing Gauri, Sanatan Sanstha was focused on the end times. At the height of the pandemic, Jayant Athavale, the founder and guru of Sanatan Sanstha, wrote that things were only going to get worse. “Bad times have to be endured before good things happen,” he wrote. “Accordingly, before the advent of ‘Hindu Rashtra’…India and the Hindus in India will have to face wartimes. Here, war means World War 3, cross-border war and civil war! Huge casualties are expected to take place during this period…. It will not be possible to protect everyone in such a crisis; therefore, give priority to protecting Saints, those who perform spiritual practice, Sattva predominant, devout Hindus and patriotic Hindus only. This is the spiritual practice according to the times. After the war, the ‘Hindu Rashtra’ will certainly be established—have faith in this!”

			The pages of Sanatan Sanstha’s newspaper, Sanatan Prabhat, were filled with similar excitedly apocalyptic warnings. In the Abrahamic traditions, the end times are final. In Hindu cosmology, all is cyclical: all beings reincarnate until they escape this world of illusion, and even history itself repeats over and over, an endless cycle of four ages, with a total destruction and regeneration of the world between each cycle. Only the memory of the Vedas abides. The first age is Krita Yuga, a golden age when lives are long and virtue reigns. The second is Treta Yuga, still a noble time, but a time whose shine is growing tarnished; this is the age when the heroics of the Ramayana occur. The third is Dvapara Yuga, the era when things fall apart; this is the age when the wars of the Mahabharata take place. The fourth is Kali Yuga, the worst age, a time of avarice and debasement and cruelty, which is the age that we are living in now. But when it ends, Krita Yuga begins anew.

			I find this idea of time as a cycle, repeating or iterating or spiraling, to be enormously comforting. When humanity was younger, when change happened slowly and our only knowledge was local, it was easier to imagine that time could be nonlinear. But now we’ve all been forced into history, and it’s a struggle to unsee it. Everything in the world seems to be accelerating in some uncontrollable and frightening direction. A city like Bangalore is expanding until it explodes, “developing” toward an unknowable but surely inferior future. There is no relief from Kali Yuga. The dead stay dead.

			This is exactly the sort of disaster thinking that Krishna warns against in the Bhagavad Gita, when he reassures Arjuna, and us: “Sambhavami yuge yuge,” in every age I will come again.

			Gauri hated this idea. That way, she felt, lies fatalism and inaction. You can sit on your ass waiting for deliverance, her ex-husband recalls her saying in response to this line of thinking; she would be out there fighting. Our duty in this life is to decry the cruelty that surrounds us right now and to save whomever we can, no matter which religion they adhere to or none.

			When I was finishing this book, I came across a poem called “It’s Also Fine.” Its author was a Palestinian poet, Mourid Barghouti, and he’d written it long before Gauri’s murder. But when I read it, I was struck with the uncanny sensation that he’d captured her choice precisely. Then I realized that it seemed to describe her precisely only because there are so many like her, in every corner of the world, who have chosen to stand up to cruelty and gotten a bullet in return—this endless chain of pointless murders of the best among us, murders that don’t even benefit the murderers but leave infinite pain in their wake. The poem goes like this:

			
				It’s also fine to die in our beds

				on a clean pillow

				and among our friends.

				It’s fine to die, once,

				our hands crossed on our chests,

				empty and pale,

				with no scratches, no chains, no banners,

				and no petitions.

				It’s fine to have a clean death,

				with no holes in our shirts,

				and no evidence in our ribs.

				It’s fine to die

				with a white pillow, not the pavement, under our cheek,

				with our hands resting in those of our loved ones,

				surrounded by desperate doctors and nurses,

				with nothing left but a graceful farewell,

				paying no attention to history,

				leaving this world as it is,

				hoping that, someday, someone else

				will change it.

			

			Gauri wanted action, not a graceful farewell. Still, I can’t help imagining her last day coming back again in the cosmic loop, with a chance for it to end a different way, with her head resting on a pillow instead of the pavement.

			On her last day, the last two people to have a real conversation with Gauri were two old friends, Madhu Bhushan and Kalpana Chakravarthy, who dropped by the newspaper office in the afternoon to search the archive of Lankesh Patrike for poems that Chakravarthy’s recently deceased husband used to submit. They ended up sitting and talking for two and a half hours, as if time had stopped and none of them had anything to do, even though Gauri’s paper was supposed to go to press the next day.

			Four months after Gauri’s death, I met Bhushan, a feminist activist, at Hotel Chalukya, whose restaurant is famous for its big red triangular dosas. As she ate, she marveled at the vitality, the appetite for life and fight and fun that Gauri had displayed just hours before she died. I asked what they talked about.

			“What didn’t we talk about?” Bhushan said. “It was an incredible conversation. We were catching up on twenty years.” They talked about their shared college days, about their mutual classmate Saketh Rajan, about the era of P. Lankesh, but most of all “nice, juicy gossip.”

			They talked and laughed until around 6:00 p.m. “She said, god knows what my colleagues will be thinking about the way that we’re laughing,” Bhushan told me. “She also said, it’s been such a long time since I’ve had this kind of a conversation with women friends.” As I often saw when Gauri’s friends talked about her, Bhushan’s eyes glowed as she recounted the time she spent with her, as though the pleasure of her company still lingered. “She was a very, very genuine human being,” she said. “I guess that’s the most radical thing one can be.”

			Shortly after her friends left, Gauri went down to her car to drive home. But as she drove off, she remembered that she’d left behind in the office the dinner that Kavitha had cooked for her. Earlier that week was Eid al-Adha, the most important Muslim festival, a day when Muslim Indians traditionally eat mutton biryani, so that’s what Kavitha had made for Gauri, even though she herself is a vegetarian. Gauri called up to ask her office assistant, Prasad, to bring it down to her; at that time of evening in Bangalore, trying to park again would have been a headache. So he brought her the biryani. Even in that moment, he thought it was odd that before she drove away, she just kept saying goodbye to him. Goodbye, goodbye, goodbye: she said it at least three times before finally driving home.
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